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Dedication

“Go. If You Die, Perhaps | W ill Live™ 1s dedicated to all the victims of Murambi, and
to the few survivors who lost their families and friends there, and whose lives were
shattered by what they endured on 21 April 1994




“My daughter, Francine Uhwihoreye, who was 18, staved with the other refugees in
Murambi. She didn’t know which one of us might survive. Before I left Murambi, she
told me this: ‘Go. If you die, perhaps 1 will live. And if we are exterminated here, then

maybe you will live.” My daughter s words still haunt me and I regret the fact that I

left her in the camp that day.”

Vital Twagirayezu, 62, a farmer in commune Nyamagabe, had nine children in 1994,
While his wife took the other children to her parents’ home, Vital and Francine joined
the refugees in the primary school of Gikongoro parish on Sunday the 10™ and were
taken to Murambi that same day. A worker from the Bishopric of Gikongoro, where
Vital was an employee, ¢vacuated him on 20 April. But his daughter chose t0 remain
at Murambi. The following night, the refugees i Murambi were massacred. Vital said
he heard the “roar of gunfire from 3:00 a.m. until dawn.” His daughter was among the
victims. And from the bishopric, be saw the bulldozer pass by on its way to Murambi
to bury the bodies.




A Few Words of Appreciation

African Rights would like to extend a special thank you to the two researchers, Dévota
Gacendeli and Félicien Bahizi, who went beyond the call of duty to record
exceptionally detailed, powerful and moving testimonies for this book. T hey worked
often under difficult conditions, but they persevered and for that we are grateful.
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ACRONYMS AND GLOSSARY

CDR Committee for the Defence of the Republic

CERAI Integrated Rural and Craft Centre

CIPEP Intercommune Centre for Personnel Development

DRC Democratic Republic of the Congo

FAR Rwandese Armed Forces

FARG Fund to Assist Survivors of the Genocide

FDLR Democratic Forces for the Liberation of Rwanda

ICTR International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda

MDR Democratic Republican Movement

MRND National Republican Movement for Development (1975-1991) and

National Republican Movement for Democracy and Development
(1991-1994)

PL Liberal Party

PSD Social Demaocratic Party
OAU Organization of African Unity
RPA Rwandese Patriotic Army
RPF Rwandese Patriotic Front
PSD Social Democratic Party

UNAMIR United Nations Assistance Mission to Rwanda
Terms for Administrative Units and Their Corresponding Administrators

Rwanda’s local administrative structure was changed between 2001-2006. However,
in this book we have used the geographical locations, the names of administrative
units and their corresponding administrators as they existed in 1994.

Préfet (Governor), the head of a préfecture;

Deputy-préfet (Sous-préfet). A deputy-préfet was either in charge of certain
responsibilities within the office of the préfecture, or was the head of a group
of communes grouped together in a sous-préfecture:

Bourgmestre (Mayor), the head of a commune;

Councillor, the head of a sector:

Responsable, in charge of a cellule.

“Refugee™ The term is used in the testimonies for people who fled their homes
because of fear or violence, though they had not crossed an international border
according to the standard definition under international law,

Inkotanyi is used to refer to the RPF by both its allics and opponents. The term means
“fierce fighter” in Kinyarwanda.

Invenzi means “cockroach™ in Kinyvarwanda. After the massacres and expulsions of
Tutsis 1n 1959-1963, a group of exiles called inyenzi tried to stage a comeback and
were defeated. The term was used to refer to the RPF during the Habyanmana
governmertt, but during the genocide it was shorthand for all Tutsis.




R B TR R A SR R e A R e T A R

Zone Turquoise: The area established n June 1994 by French forces of Operation
Turquoise in the western préfectures of Cyangugu, Kibuye and Gikongoro.

Rwandese names: For the most part, each family member has his or her own
individual surname, as well as first name.

Meassue: A club studded with nails,




THE PLANNERS, ORGANIZERS AND EXECUTORS

* Laurent Bucyibaruta was the préfet of Gikongoro and lives in exile in France;

» Captain Faustin Scbuhura was the deputy head of the gendarmerie in
Gikongoro and is believed to be fighting with the FDLR in eastern DRC:

e Col. Aloys Simba, a retired armny officer, was appointed in 1994 as the head of
civil defence for the préfectures of Gikongoro and Butare. He was arrested in
Senegal on 27 November 2001 at the request of the [CTR, He challenged the
order in the Senegalese courts, but failed in his efforts and was finally
transferred to the ICTR’s detention facilities in Arusha on 11 March 2002, In
December 2005, he was sentenced to 25 YEars in prison;

* Frodouald Havugimana, known as Havuga, was a deputy-préfet and is
behieved to be living in the DRC:

» [Pélicien Semakwavu was the bourgmestre of commune Nyamagabe in which
Murambi is locazed. He is thought to be living in the DRC:

* Joseph Ntegeyintwali was the deputy-préfet of the sous-préfecture of Karaba
made up of the communes of Rukondo, Kinyamakara and Karama. He is in
Gikongoro central prison;

» Emmanuel Nteziryayo, the bourgmestre of Mudasomwa, was arrested in the
UK on 28 December 2006 and is awaiting hearings for extradition to Kwanda;

* Désiré Ngezahayo, the bourgmestre of Karama, has been sentenced to life
imprisonment in Rwanda:

* LtCol. Augustin Rwamanywa was a logistics officer in the army and 1s a
native of Mudasomwa, TTe remains in exile abroad:

* Dcéms Kamodoka was the director of the Kitabi tea factory in commune
Mudasomwa. His whereabouts remain unknown;

= Callixte Munyankindi was councillor of sector Cyanika in Karama. He is said
to have died in the DRC;

|
i * Frédéric Mureramanzi, councillor of sector Remera, Nyamagabe, His
| whereabouts remain unknown;

» Justin Ayurugari was the manager of the Electrogaz station in Gikot iporo. His
whereabouts are unknown;
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o Emmanucl Ngoga, a driver at the Kitab tea factory, 1s said by some to have
died, but there are also reports that he may be alive and hving in the DRC;

e Francois Gakuru, a teacher and president of the CDR in Mudasomwa, lives in
exile;

e [sragl Nsengiyumva, a businessman from Mudasomwa, has been sentenced to
life imprisonment 1n Rwanda;

e Fdouard Karamage, a businessman from Mudasomwa, 15 mmoured to be
living i Kenya;

e David Karangwa, alias Rufigi, was a clerk at the district court in Nyamagabe
and is thought to be living in the DRC,

« Vénuste Gasana, a businessman, lived in Kigeme. Nyamagabe. He died in
(iikongoro central prison;

s Francois Gasana, alias Bihche, 15 a welder by profession; he remams 1in exile
abroad;

e Vincent de Paul Nsabiyera was the head of a vaccination programme in
Gikongoro; he is in Gikongoro central prison.
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INTRODUCTION

“Go. If You Die, Perhaps I Will Live”: A Collective Account of Genocide and Survival
in Murambi, Gikongoro, April-July 1994 is a record of the massacre at a technical
school under construction in Murambi, in the south west of Rwanda, Compiled from
testimonies collected by African Rights between 2004 and 2006, it brings together the
individual stories of survivors, witnesses, and perpetrators. Their experiences are
Juxtaposed and arranged chronologically, with introductions to guide the reader. The
result 15 a detailed narrative that encompasses the varied perspectives of 91
Rwandese. Such an intricate and nuanced account of these events has never
previously been heard.

The reasons for publishing this book are many. Despite the passage of more than 13
years, many of the detals of this massacre, in which an estimated 50,000 Tutsi
women, men and children perished, have remamed publicly untold. This account
provides information that can advance justice initiatives and enrich the debates about
the causes, nature, and consequences of the genocide. The research also offered
participants an opportunity to voice their personal encounters and emotions which are
generally guarded in silence. In recording these memories, we hope to ensure that the
victims of Murambi are remembered within Rwanda and internationally.

This project is a contribution to the necessary and ongoing initiatives by institutions,
groups, and mdividuals who are committed to preserving the memory of the victims
and survivors of the 1994 genocide. More specifically, it aims to support the work of
genocide prevention, to which the Murambi site has been dedicated. The book stands
alongside the physical preservation of the massacre site to enable an accurate
interpretation of the visual record of horror that lies there.

In this book survivors bravely recount terrifying and painful experiences. Their stories
are harrowing, but there are occasional redemptive moments. The solidarity of
starving refugees who shared food or water in the last days of their lives and who
organized themselves to withstand their assailants, reveal selflessness and the
restlience of the human spirit. Amid threats and betrayal there were still some friends
or neighbours who offered help. They did not often succeed in defying the officials
who orchestrated and supervised the killings, but gestures of humanity, however rare
or futile, menit acknowledgment.

Accounts from militiamen also make extremely distressing reading. The sometimes
mechanical and dispassionate nature of their actions, and their detachment from those
whose lives they took, 1s chilling. Nothing can lessen the enormity of these atrocities
and no explanation of the causes could ever be adequate, and the perpetrators show
little remorse for the appalling crimes they committed. Nevertheless, they provide
important insights into the pressures and inducements Hutu males, in particular, faced,
as well as into the organization and execution of the massacres. They speak at length,
for mstance, of the critical role plaved by local civilian and military officials. The
participation of those who killed and those who were witnesses is crucial in forming a
record of the past.




This project does not accommodate all the recollections of the genocide in Murambi;
many are unwilling to speak about how they lived out those days. The massacre n
Murambi is a recent trauma that continues to overshadow the local community.
People live with the burdens of grief, pain, anger, ot suilt—private emotions within
which memories are often sealed. African Rights is grateful to those who,
understanding the importance of documentation, contributed their testimonics to this
book. We hope that others will feel able to do the same in future.

Those who spoke o us were willing to confront painful pasts. The consistencics n
their accounts are remarkable. However, there are some who persist in denying their
participation, despite the substantial evidence against them. It is also worth bearing m
mind that some gaps are inevitable in a collective account composed of many
different stories. In a few cases, what has emerged appears to be a rendering of events
unique to a single person. The book does not seek to identify or resolve contradictions
as might be necessary for a project solely oriented towards justice, but instead aims to
establish a firm framework within which people situate their own experiences. We
hope that any weaknesses or shortcomings of this study may prompt others to offer
publicly their personal testimonies in the years lo come. Recovering history 1s a
continuous process that is necessarily open-ended.

In the course of the research for this study, there was a resurgence of violence against
curvivors and witnesses of the genocide in Gikongoro in an attempt to discourage
people from testifying in gacaca hearings and to enable perpetrators to evade justice.
This underlines the urgency of exposing the crimes and those responsible for them.
But it is also a reminder of the challenges still facing all the people who live in this
region, whose perceptions of the past are also shaped by present struggles. Some
current residents of the area still have difficulty in accepting that the bloodshed at
Murambi was genocidal, as became apparent through a series of interviews conducted
by African Rights among people living near the massacre site. Included at the end of
the book, these interviews illustrate the very real need for the details of events to be
documented and discussed. “Go. If You Die, Perhaps I Will Live” strives not only to
inform people outside Rwanda or future generations, but also to further recognition
within affected communities themselves of what happened, in the words of one
resident, “under the cover of night” on 21 Apnl 1994,

African Rights hopes that this book, as a shared account, may serve {0 counter
attempts to deny or minimize aspects of the 1994 genocide. By drawing on the words
of individuals from diverse backgrounds—from survivors, genocide perpetrators, as
well as bystanders—this study demonstrates the potential in Rwanda for a collective
understanding of the genocide that can emerge through dialogue and education. If
descriptions of what happened are sometimes disjointed, incomplete, or very personal,
there are many points of accord. All of them, at a minimum, recall some aspect of the
extreme horror of the genocide in Murambi. In some small way, we hope that “Go. If
You Die, Perhaps I Will Live” may help to heal social fractures, promote justice, and
enable Rwandese to move forward towards a peaceful future,

Go If You Die, Perhaps I Will Live is based on micrviews taken by Dévota Gacendeli «
and Félicien Bahizi. It was written by Rakiya Omaar, Rachel Ibreck, and Elizabeth
Ashamu.,



THE ROAD TO MURAMBI
A Summary of Key Events

The death of President Juvénal Habyarimana on 6 April 1994 sparked the genocide of
Tutsis throughout Rwanda and the murder of prominent Hutu opposition politicians in
Kigali. In Gikongoro, interahamwe militiamen began to set fire to the houses of Tutsis
as carly as 7 April. They abandoned their homes en masse between the 7" and the
10™ From the communes of Mudasomwa, Kinyamakara and Karama. streams of
people made their way to Gikengoro town, located in commune Nyamagabe. Tutsi
residents of Nyamagabe soon followed suit.

On 13 April, Laurent Bucyibaruta, the préfet (governor) of Gikongoro, organized a
meeting at which two decisions were taken which would facilitate large-scale
massacres. The first was a directive to local officials to establish a network of
roadblocks, which would serve to monitor the movement of Tutsis, make escape
impossible as well as provide a convenient site where those who were captured could
be killed on the spot. Secondly, the same officials were told to encourage Tutsis to
seek sanctuary in public buildings, such as churches. schools and commune offices, so
that the largest number could be congregated in one place. Bucyibaruta was assisted
that day by two men who would soon emerge as central players in the planning of
Murambi: Col. Aloys Simba, a retired officer who was appoinied the head of civil
defence for Gikongoro and Butare in 1994 and Captain Faustin Sebuhura, the deputy
head of the gendarmerie for Gikongoro.

Roadblocks were duly set up all around Gikongoro préfecture. Tutsis initially
assembled in churches, especially the Catholic Parish of Gikongoro, and other public
buildings in Gikongoro town. Before long, local authoritics, in particular Bucyibaruta,
Simba, Sebuhura and the bourgmestre of Nyamagabe, Félicien Semakwavu, directed
them to a technical secondary school under construction on the crest of hill in
Murambi cellule, sector Remera, on the outskirts of town. Tens of thousands of
people were taken there, most of them under official escort, to empty unfinished
school buildings. Rather than offering security, as many refugees believed it would,
this move facihitated their chmination.

Some were murdered at roadblocks before they even had a chance to reach Murambi.
Those at the school waited in vain for assistance and protection. Some died from
untreated injunies, hunger and dehydration. The water supply was disconnected and
milinamen surrounded the camp and cut short the lives of those who tried to break out
or g0 out o look for water and food.

To spare the Hutu women and children living in the vicinity—whose husbands and
fathers had been enlisted as militiamen—Bueyibaruta, Semakwavu and Sebuhura
relocated them between the 18™ and 20" to an artisanal centre known as CER Alanda
sccondary schoel. the ACEPER, both in Gikongore town.

' On the moming of 19 April, the refugees resisted an initial assault upon the school,

Later that day, the president of the interun government, Dr. Théodore Sindikubwaho.
met with Bucyibaruta and senior officials m Gikonegoro town. Sindikubwabe and

9
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Bucyibaruta gave the green light for implementing the policy of massacres. Military
officers and local government officials held meetings to make the necessary
preparations for a large-scale offensive against Murambi by infensifying propaganda,
recruiting milinamen and distributing guns and new machetes.

On the afternoon of 20 April, Bucyibaruta, Sebuhura and Semakwavu visited
Murambi to search for weapons. The gendarmes who accompamed them confiscated
any item that could be used for self-defence, including the machetes and axes used for
chopping wood and sticks for herding cattle. But they went on assunng the people
there that their security would be guaranteed and all the while increased the campaign
to sign up large numbers of milittamen.

On the night of 20-21 April, thousands of interahamwe militiamen were brought to
Murambi from Nyamagabe and nearby communes. The different teams were given
instructions to meet up at Kabeza, a collection of shops about one kilometre south of
the school in Murambi. Some were transported in vehicles and others walked. They
were advised not to make noise and not to light cigarettes to avoid alerting their
would-be-victims. The men were told to disguise their faces with a variety of leaves,
both as camouflage and as a means of distinguishing them from the “enemy.”
Gendarmes armed with guns and grenades joined them.

Shortly before 3:00 a.m., the men were met by Bucyibaruta, Semakwawvu, Sebuhura
and his sub-ordinates, as well as other leaders. Sebuhura told them to “wake up and to
get ready to begin the war against the Tutsis” The militia were given the
responsibility to encircle the camp.

Then at 3:00 a.m. the massacre that would leave an estimated 50,000 Tutsis dead
began when the gendarmes opened fire. The refugees tried to retaliate, but armed only
with stones, they were quickly overwhelmed. The explosion of bullets and grenades
quicted in the morning, but the bloodshed continued as militiamen with machetes,
axes, spears and clubs finished off the wounded and trapped those who had found
hiding places. With the echool tightly surrounded, there was little opportunity to elude
the formidable array of weapons.

At the end, the authorities called the militiamen to attention. The préfet thanked
everyone for the work that had been accomplished. He singled out the men from
commune Mudasomwa for their contribution. As a reward, they were given vehicles
to transport them north to the nearby Catholic Parish of Cyanika in Karama commune
to lend a hand to the officials and interahamwe who had begun to massacre the 10,000
Tutsis there, mainly from Karama and the surrounding communes of Kinyamakara
and Rukondo. They were given assurances that Tutsi stores in town would be theirs to

loot once they had completed the new task at hand.
Some of the few survivors from Murambi ran to Cyantka. Many were murdered en

route, and those who reached the church were killed there within a few hours, along
with all the others.

10



During the next few days, the men who had killed at Murambi returned to the camp to
seize the victims® belongings. At the same time, there was a meticulous hunt for
survivors: Those who are alive today attribute their survival to good fortune and to the
help of Mutu friends and relatives,

An attempt followed to conceal the killings so they did not come to the attention of
visiting journalists and the international community. Bulldozers were used to remove
the corpses at both Murambi and Cyanika and to dump them in mass graves. Any
women and children who survived were taken back to Murambi in order to convince
mternational opinion that Tutsis had not been massacred in Gikongoro. This small
group was found at the end of June by French troops of Operation Turquoise who
stationed themselves at the school. Since many of the perpetrators were also taken to
the school after the defeat of the interim government in carly July, the survivors chose
to leave for Butare in August 1994,

N




“OLD STORIES OF PREVIOUS KILLINGS
ARE STILL HERE”

“A genocide does nol happen at random or accidentally”, commented Simon
Sebagabo, “it is prepared for a long tme.” The Rwandese genocide, he added, was no
different.

The senocide in Rwanda against the Tutsis was nurtured and developed for several
decades:

Fr. Tatien Kagangare, a Catholic priest, echoed a similar view, saying that “the
genocide was an affair that was long premeditated, an 1dea that had been distilled in
the people for a long time by unscrupulous politicians.™

Adult survivors of the 1994 genocide understand the events of 1994 in Murambi
within the framework of previous violent episodes they experienced and witnessed in
Gikongoro. The reflections of survivors and residents born in Gikongoro between the
19205 and the carly 1950s together provide an important perspective on the turbulent
past of Gikongoro and the relationship between this history and the more recent
renocide.

These survivors describe multiple waves of unrest and bloedshed in Gikengoro, cach
of which had an impact on the thinking and mindset which laid the foundations for the
1994 genocide. The rising tension in the period leading up to independence, and the
electoral reforms associated with decolonization, heralded the founding of political
parties, and fierce competition between them. The first organized anti-Tuts1 violence
occurred in 1959 when the Tutst monarchy was overthrown and political space was
opened up to Hutus, and then limited to them, Approximately 10,000 Tutsis were
murdered and thousands were forcibly removed from Ruhengen, Gikengoro and
clsewhere towards Bugesera, while others became fled to Burundi, Uganda and Zaire.
Their homes were stripped bare and bumed down.

When exiled Tutsis mounted the fmyenzi invasions of December 1963, known as the
Bugesera invasion, repression was swift and merciless, and was particularly bloody
Gikongoro which had a high density of Tutsis. In what would become all oo fammliar
in 1994, survivors remember that the killings of 1963 mvolved enthusiastic popular
participation, actively instigated by the préfet, André Nkeramugaba, with backing
from more senior government officials. They also recall that these campaigns werc
well-orzanized, that the officials responsible were appreciated and promoted. that
there were no expressions of regret and remorse, and that no one was punished for
footing and burning the homes of Tutsis and killing the occupants.
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1959: “A Turning-Point”

Political and social tensions had been rising in Rwanda from the mid-1950s.
complicated by a number of competing factors. With the demand for an end to
Belgian colonial rule, colonial authorities switched their allegiance from the minority
Tutsis, whom they had long favoured for political rule, economic privileges and
educational opportunities, to the far more numerous Hutu majority. The demographic
reality dictated their decisions which were put into practice in a short space of time
and with a show of force. 1959 was, m the words of Sebagabo, “a turning point”, the
moment when power shifted from Tutsis to Hutus, when brute force was used widely
and perceived as a legitimate weapon to dispossess, drive out and kill Tutsis.

Nathalie Nyirabuseruka, bom in 1944 and the mother of five, lives in Gikongoro
town. What she highlighted about the events of 1959 is that they were preceded, as in
1994, by discussions behind closed doors.

People began to run away in 1959, It all began with the meetings to which only
Hutus were invited. | was in Gitantu [Nyamagabe]. Théophile Mudahunga prepared
and directed these discussions.

The next day, the massacres started. irst, they bumt Mukazi's house: she was the
widow of the late Murindabigwa, who had been a chief. They did everything at night.
They set the house of Francois Rupari, a teacher, on fire; they chased him and he took
off for Nyamata. Afterwards, they burnt ali the houses of Tutsis in Gikongoro.
Nkurikiyimana, nicknamed Kajugujugu, was the bourgmesire of Nyamagabe, which
was the name of Gikongoro al the time. No one was punished.

Costasic Mukagasana, in her 80s now, was living mn commune Rukondo. Tn 1959 she
fled Gikongoro with her children, her mother and her two brothers, Athanase
Karangwa and Anastase Gakumba, and came to Nyanza in Butare. Other relatives
scattered elsewhere.

When we gol lo Nyanza, someone lied to us and told us that security had been re-
established in Gikongoro. My mother and Athanase left for home.

But they never made it there.

My mother was thrown into the Mwogo river and Athanase was killed by a machete.
His body was exposed in the street and was caten by pigs.

When Costasie’s children grew up, two of her children—her daughter, Odette
Mukasafani, and her son, Nyiridandi—left Nyanza and went back to live in
Gikongoro. They died there in 1994,

Zéphanie Nzabandora, also in his 80s, lives in Murambi. He talked of the actions of
the man who was 1n charge of the area known as Bufundu, which encompassed what
15 now Murambi.

Rwasibo spoke to the Hutus of Nyamugali. He told them: “Every Hutu must take up a
weapon, anything capable of killing. Kill the Tutsis! They are at the root of all
problems.” They obeyed the order, brought out their traditional weapons and
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massacred Tutsis. Some ran to the parishes, Afterwards, some were obliged to leave
for Nyamata and Kibungo. Then life came back to normal.

e

While many Tutsis were atlacked in Gikongoro between 1959 and 1961, many more
were expelled from their hoines and taken under duress to Bugesera, a dry
uninhabited region infested with tsetse flies; there was no medical cure at the time for
the diseases associated with tsetse flies. The move was, commented Scbhagabo, “a real
death-trap.” This policy of banishment is among the traumatic events that Euphrasie
Nyiranzikwesa, in her mid-seventies, related to the 1994 genocide. Euphrasie has
been left to face old age alone—her husband, children and grandchildren all died in
1994. She used to live in Mudasomwa, but has since moved to Gikongoro town.

Sebagabo sees the expulsions as indicative of the belief “that Tutsis must leave
Rwanda because they were foreigners within it.” More than thirty years later, in 1994,
the notion that Tutsis did not belong in Rwanda because they were “foreigners™ was at
the heart of the justifications for the genocide.

Mathalie spoke of the “reconciliation”™ which officials urged people to observe.

The day after the massacres, Mudahunga came o visit us in Gitantu. He ordered the
Tutsi families to bring beer as a gesture of reconciliation and then made a speech,
saving: “There you go. You see that the Tutsis have accepted our reconciliation. We
should not be vengeful, What happened is regrettable; 1t will not be repeated. Let us
live as we did before, let us marry each other.™ The killers didn’t give anything by
way of reconciliation.

Unpunished, Théophile Mudahunga, whom Nathalie described as playing a central
figure in the events of 1959, would again distinguish humself in 1963,

Christmas 1963 in Gikongoro: “The First Major Rehearsal”

Throughout the early 1960s, Rwanda remained tense. In Gikongoro, said Nathalie,
they did what they could to rebuild their lives, but did so under a menacing shadow.

People still bumt Tuisi houses, When you were talking to a friend, they would wam
you by saying: “Why are you farming your land? Do you really think that you will be
eating that? The war is here; still more of you will be killed.”

In December 1963, a group of Tutsi exiles who had formed guerrilla bands known as
inyenzi, mounted incursions into Bugesera from Burundi. They failed, and their
failure was visited upon the Tutsis living in Rwanda, much as the military activities of
the RPF in the early 1990s would be used as a pretext to arrest, detain, interrogate,
torture and kill Tutsi “accomphices” of the RPF. Elsewhere, civil servants and
educated Tutsis were singled out for repression in 1963, but in Gikongoro the
reprisals were ferocious and indiscriminate.

As always, the complicity of local authorities in fomenting hostility was a clhief
characteristic, For those who tell the story of 1963 mn Gikongoro, the name of André
Nkeramugaba, who had become préfet of Gikongoro on 19 April 1963, dominates
their accounts.
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Older Hutu residents like David Muzungu from Cyanika confirm the sequence of
cvents.

Tutsis were sent to Nyamata in 1961. And in 1963 they were massacred throughout
Gikongoro and thrown in the Mwogo river. Later, Nkeramugaba himsell murdered
the Rwandese refugees that Obote threw out of Uganda.

What was different about the killings in 1963, said Nathalie, is that women and
children were not spared. Much else remained the same as 1959, especially the
responsibility of local authorities, the verbal accusations and the reluctance to hold
troublemakers accountahle.

First, they would burn the houses during the night. Then in the moming they would
murder the inhabitants. Mudahunga was at the forefront of the killings in Gitantu,
Nkeramugaba, the préfet, gave the orders but he didn’t come to our area regularly like
Mudahunga. They were killing all the Tutsis: the women, the men, and even the
children. After three days, a ceasefire was ordered. Anvone who didn't respect the
ceasefire was sentenced to just two days’ imprisonment.

Even if the massacres in 1963 were short-lived, Anastase Rugema, 72, emphasized
the fact that they were co-ordinated.

We saw houses in flames. At night, they burned the houses of M urindabigwi, Rupari,
Ruzibukira and the others. The first night, they set six homes on fire. During the day,
they just looted. And then they killed when it became dark. The Tutsis took went to
Nyamata and Burundi,

They would first do a census. This meant that they would know the precise address of
the target. It didn’t last like it did in 1994, but it was orchestrated.

It was also sponsored at the highest level; President Grégoire Kayibanda himself
travelled to Gikongoro. Anastase was trying to find a way out of the préfecture when
he saw Kayibanda.

Kayibanda made the trip to Gikongoro in person to give useful on-the-spot advice. |
saw him personally on Saturday 21 December 1963 when I was waiting on the
roadside for a vehicle to take me to Butare.

And the prefet, commented Anastase, had aides he could rely on.

Nkeramugaba was being helped in this task by assistants who were experienced in
these methods. The most important ones are: his brother-in-law, ¢ frégolre
Munyarubindo, who had been given Rukondo commune; Gérard Mucumbitsi, who
presided over the commune of Kinyamakara, and the rowdy Jean Nkuriyimana,

nicknamed Kajugujugu, who was still around
Asking Tutsis in churches and schools to fill out a census was the precursor to many
of the massacres in 1994, including Murambi itself. There was another sumilarity

mentioned by Anastase.

The councillors distributed the land of the Tutsis who had been assassinated or who
had taken Night. The leaders gave the people the order to kill, and they oo lent a
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hand, for example, Nkeramugaba and Nkurikiyimana, who was a bourgmestre. Later
on, Nkeramugaba would orgamze expeditions all over the préfecture, saying: ©1 want
to be rid of these Tutsi imbeciles, kill them, but especially seek out and follow those
who are nich.”

A massacre in Nyamugali is foremost in Euphrasic’s memory.

The massacres which took place while Nkeramugaba was the préfet were worse than
any preceding ones. He contributed a lot to the organization and execution of these
killings. In our area, there was also a man named Murindahabi who ravaged the
region. In Nyamugali, many Tutsis were killed, including women and children.

Fr. Modeste Mungwarareba, the secretary of the Episcopal Committee of the Catholic
Church in Kigali before his death in May 1999, was aged 12 and was on holiday at
home in Bunyambiriri, in northern Gikongoro.

The authorities instigated a wave of genocidal killings in the course of which Tutsis
in Bufundu and Bunyambiriri were massacred; some families were completely
decimated.

1 ran into the bush, but T was discovered. Beaten and left for dead, 1 was woken up in
the afternoon by rain and was then saved by a Hutu neighbour called Berchmans. He
took me to his house during the night. But every day, he had to take me to the bush
very carly in the moming—at about 4:00 am., so that the dew could erase the traces
of his footsteps. He used to tell me that I was at nsk. But 1 couldn’t beheve that an
adult could harm a child. T didn’t know that the adults had received the order to kill
all male Tutsis.

This tradition of killing the Tutsi was instituted by the Rwandese themselves.

In 1963 Fr. Kagangare was a student at the Semnary of Kansi in Butare. For the
Christmas holidays he went back home to Gikongoro, more precisely to Kaduba in
commune Karambo. For three days and nights the Tutsis of the area were massacred.
Kagangare's father, older brother, six cousins and three uncles were among the
victims. He kept out of sight in the bush and then made his way to the Parish of
Kaduha. A government minister came to visit the survivors at the church. Kagangare
remembers his explanation for the massacres.

The minister was called Damica Nkezabera. He said the killings had been committed
by men who had drunk too much, that order had now been re-established, that we
could go hack to our homes, in peace, repair our houses and take up our work in the
f1elds.

Like Kagangare, Sebagabo was studying in Butare at the seminary of Kansi and
travelled home to Gikongoro for the Christmas holidays. He found two Tutsi residents
of Gikongoro locked up in Gikongoro police station, accused of being part of the
invenzi tebels.

This was the first major rehearsal for the 1994 genocide. The new préfet, André
MNkeramugaba, was mandated to carry on with the work that he had begun in the
commune of Remera when he was a deputy chief and bourgmestre. He also had both
new and old hands to help him out: bourgmestres, communal councillors etc... Butat
must be said that the vast majority of the population didn’t share his opinions.
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He pointed out three significant factors which limited the impact of 1963, and which
differentiate it from 1994,

Firstly, most people stayed loyal to the friendships which were part of the social
fabric, and therefore still took neighbours into their homes. I, for example, was
wamed and lefi on Saturday 21 December. Also, because the trouble lasted for a
limited time, people with good intentions didn’t lose heart. It wasn’t like 1994 where
it went on for 100 days or even longer in some places like Gikongoro, Finally and
most importantly, the parishes played an essential role, especially in Cyanika. Thanks
to the dynamism of the priests who were there at the time, for example Stany de
Jamblinne, around 7,000 people in the presbytery and mside the church were saved.

Simon paid a warm tnbute to the priests.

The priests were soon overwhelmed. They opened their doors to people and watched
over them, and they also went out to look for people. They soon called on their
colleagues, especially their fellow White Fathers and Sisters. Some responded,
particularly Fathers Martinez and Davos, Brother Gratien and Sister Catherine who
was working as a nurse and midwife.

The majority found their way there by themselves. Others came with the help of the
priests who knew where to look for them.

Even the local officials who were otherwise busy telling Hutus to tum their back on
the Tutsis brought the friends they wanted to save to the parish.

The first people came to the parish from the home of Xavier Bizimana, the then-
bourgmestre of Karama. Before launching the assault, even Nkeramugaba, the local
orgamizer of the massacres, brought Claver Sevumbi, his old friend and fellow student
at Zaza, as well as this man’s entire family, to the parish.

The compassion of the clergy and the security Tutsis found in churches in 1963
created a tradition m which this pansh, as well as others, became a magnet for the
fearful and the wounded three decades later. But in 1994, the house of God offered
little in the way of sanctuary cither in Cyamka or anywhere else in Rwanda.

When Fr. Modeste retumed to the seminary, he was struck, and then angered, by the
decision not to discuss the distressing events, even though they were still fresh in
CVEryone's memaory.

I was scandalized to see that our teachers didn’t want us to talk about what had
happened. Te talk was to nvite bad spirits, But one day, in a religiouns class, [ decided
to bring 1t up. Everyone histened to me, stupefied. But no-one responded.

[ didn’t hear a single voice raised against the massacre of the Tutsi, They were killed
but 1t was covered up and no-one knew about it. No-one was punished for killing the
Tuts in Bufundu and Bunyambinri in 1963,

This came as no surprise to Euphrasie.

Who was gomng to hold them to account when the authoritics themselves were
implicated?
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When the Hutus decided to stop the massacres, we returned to our land and began life
from scratch. They left us alone and were mdifferent as if nothing had taken place.
Even the State didn’t react. You'd think the autharities didn’t see what was
happemng.

She sees this attitude, like the expulsion of Tutsis to Nyamata and the Kibungo region,
then known as Rukumbeni, as part of the mindset that led to the genocide.

Simlarly, in Kansi, Fr. Kagangare observed a lack of concern about the atrocities.

No one at the seminary commented on what had taken place during the holidays.
Rather, some of our colleagues seemed to be laughing. But we were young and we
didn’t lend much importance to such sarcasm. However, it was then that 1 became
conscious of this thing about Hutus and Tutsis.

The massacres were followed by segregation, humiliation and exclusion.

And the crisis was indeed “settled” at that time by not speaking about it. By
promoting this silence, he said, the murder of a Tutsi came to be regarded as
“normal.”

As m 1959, officials emphasized the need for reconciliation, But it was Just a word to
them, said Anastase.

The lcaders ordered people to find beer for reconciliation. But it didn’t mean
anything. A few days later they were meant to kill Tutsis again and to take what they
wanted from their houses elc.

In the years which followed, Fr. Modeste noticed that those who had killed and looted
m 1963, and who had inspired others to do so, were not only living in freedom, but
they were also the people who prospered the most.

We were the ones who were nervous. They knew that we knew. They were only
awaiting the occasion to make us disappear because we were their bad conscience.

“In Gikongoro, the effectiveness of the 1994 penocide lies in the fact that those
implicated in the massacres of 1963 had not been punished.”

Take a man like André Nkeramugaba, the préfet in 1963. He was the most virulent.
But the population appreciated him to the point that they elected him as a member of
parliament. Others became bourgmestres or local officials.

And the denials and distortions of the 1994 genocide are just as potent with regard to
the carlier periods. Zéphanic Nzabandora gave this interpretation of what took place
n 1963. :

The Tutsis again began 1o kill the Hutus and the impenzi invaded the country. The
Hutus defended themsclves, but didn’t kall the Tutsis. As faras | know, Mkeramugaba
didn’t do anything bad. And that’s how things were also in 1994, 1t’s al ways the
Tulsis who are at the root of massacres.
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At 65, Isaie Sebudandi, who also lives m Muramba, 15 considerably younger than
Nzabandora, but shared a similar perspective.

There were o killings in this region in 1959, Only houses were burned and the Tutsis
went to Zaire, Uganda, Burundi and even to Kibungoe, But they came back, even the
anes who looked after the herds with us. | saw them myself, And it was Lhe same
thing in 1963. Houses were set on fire, and people ran away but no onc was
murdered.

Frédéric Gakwaya, from Gikongoro town, was 31 in 1959,

I never saw any houses burning. As for the killings, they started recently, in 1994,
Before thal, no one was affected. As for the Tutsis who went nto exile, they are like
the people who fled in 1994, You think they had sumething to run away from? Not at
alll Quite simply, they found out that their Jeaders had gone, 50 they oo took to the
road. No one chased them away. And those who were sent to Nyamata were sent
there as a form of protection. They wanted to save them from the Hutus who had just
taken power.

1973: “A Veritable Intellectual Genocide”

The decade following independence in 1963 was dedicated, in large part, 1o removing
Tutsis from positions of authority and political influence. This exclusion from the
political arena, the anmy and the upper cchelons of the civil service made a large
number of educated Tutsi males gravitate towards the Catholic Church. They were
well represented in the seminaries and in educational establishments as the Cathobe
Church still controlled much of Rwanda’s educational system, including the
University of Butare.'

In February 1973, seminaries, the University i Butare and all schools were purged of
Tutsis. Civil servants were also targeted. The exception was, once again, Gikengoro,
where there were indiseriminate killings. Despite disclaimers, it was apparent that the
purges had the blessing of the government. 1 15 possible, as many believed then and
wow. that the Minister of Defence at the time, Juvénal Habyarimana, provoked the
turmoil as a pretext to launch, on 5 July, the coup d"état which he had planned.

Fr. Kagangare was training at the Grand Seminary of Nyakibanda, Rwanda's leading

educational centre for preparing young men for the Catholic priesthood. The

' seminary, located in commune Gishamvu, Butare, had been intimidated by students
fram the university, but the priest in charge held firm.

[ While all the educational institutions it Rwanda—primary, secondary and superior
were shaken by the hunt of Tutsis, Nyakibanda remained peacelul. This was due
uniguely to the courage of Fr. Frangois Niyibizi. He called all the Grand Seminarians
topether and warned us against the temptation to imitate the rest of the country. If we
didd that, he said that everyone, Hutu and Tutsi, would be sent away, We had been
worried that roublemakers would come from the university. But after they sent away
l'utsis, the university was almost paralysed by a disagreement about the fate of

"The University in Butare was founded by the Domumcan Fathers from Canada and they continoed to

controd 1.
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stedents of muxed parentage. Preoccupied by the need (o settle this thomy question,
they Torgot aboutl Nyakibanda,

TR —TT—

Sebagabo was not as fortunate as Kagangare. The turbulence of 1973 forced him mto
exile.

At umversity and in the secondary schools, the hunt took place in broad daylight. At
work, lists would be created at might and then put up in front of the offices or other
workplaces from where the undesirables, the Tutsis, would have o get out. The move
was the same all over the country. It was about educated people. 1 myself was kicked
out and I lefi for Zaire on 26 February 1973.

Another man who left Rwanda m 1973 1s Fr. Joseph Niyomugabo, the rector of the
Tumor Seminary of Kansi. Rather than betray his Tutsi students, he preferred to go
mto exile with them to Burundi. He retumed to Rwanda in the 1980s after he
completed his studies in Europe. Tle was at the Parish of Cyamika in April 1994 and,
as later detailed in this book. was murdered there.

Under Habyarimana, the exclusion of Tutsis from educational opportunities and
important positions was maintained under a policy of “ethnic balance.” Fr. Kagangare
noted that once agamn order was restored. peace was declared and silence shrouded
what had come 1o pass. At the same time, the marginalization of Tutsis became an
every day affair.

The only exceptions were those whose sisters were married to powerful Hutus or

whase parents had wealthy and powerful friends. Habyarmana inaugurated a

veritable intellectual genocide. Tt was the same thing for access to emplovment. 1t was ™y
a big lic. The regime talked of balance, but openly practised exclusion. H didn’t take '
long for people to become aware of this and to begin to talk about it. The government

changed 1ts tactics. It decided to apply the policy of balance in schools, but fo always

select the Tutsis who were doing poorly and were at the bottom of their classes. Asa

resull, they were Toreed to repeatl a year. Those whoe could sent their children abroad,

io Burundi, Zaire or Uganda. The others went into petty trade or developed all kinds

of tricks to get hy.

Sebagabo said that “the tools of discrimination were refined”, but that the end
remained the same.

Habyarimana’s regime, in spite of a more subtle language, was no less destructive
than that of Kayibanda.

For the next 17 years, discnimmnation bred resentment and exiles pushed for the night
to return home, but the penedic outbursts of open aggression against Tutsis ended.
The fault lines in Rwandese politics shifted. and political attention focused on the
mononaly of political space and economic resources and opportunities by politicians,
businessmen and military officers from natives of the north, the préfectures of
Ruhengen, Byumba and especially Habyarimana’s home region of Gisenyi.
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October 1990 - 6 April 1994

On 1 October 1990, the Rwandese Patriotic Front (RPF) an armed rebel group
cstablished by Tutsis m exile, invaded Rwanda from Uganda. In addition to its
military response, the government immediately identified all Tutsis inside Rwanda as
a fifth column, and sought to punish them as “accomplices” of the rebels, otherwise
known as ibyirso. Between 8,000-10,000 people, overwhelmingly Tutsis, were
arrested and imprisoned in the wake of a fake offensive on Kigali the night of 4
October, which was attributed to the RPF. Fr. Modeste was among the detainees. Fr.
Nivomugabo was denounced for having links with the RPF, but avoided
imprisonment. The detainees were held, for up to six months, in appalling conditions
and subjected to endless and harsh interrogation. Many were severely tortured. They
were released after intense and concerted international protests. Some civil servants
were dismissed from their jobs.

For the next three and a half years, intermittent war between the Rwandese Armed
Forces (FAR) and the RPF, and the regional and international efforts to put a stop to
the fighting through negotiations, dominated politics, along with the demands for, and
the creation of, opposition political parties. To maintain its hold on power, the
leadership of Habyarimana’s party, the National Republican Movement for
Democracy and Development (MRND), established and provided military traming to
the interahamwe, a militia loyal to the hardliners within the party.* The intense rivalry
between the MRND and the opposition parties led to government efforts to disrupt
opposition rallies and ignited clashes between the interabamwe and the youth wings
of the other parties. At the same time, Tutsi individuals and communities were
targeted as such. The most serious incidents were the February 1992 massacres of
Tutsis in Kibilira, Gisenvi, and in March 1992 in Bugesera. Throughout 1992 and
1993, interahamwe ageression became more and more pronounced against Hutu
political opponents and Tutsis.

Peuce seemed to be on the horizon in August 1993, with the signing of the Arusha
Accords which brought the fighting to an end and spelt out how the government, the
RPF and the political opposition parties were to share power. But the implementation
of the Accords stalled, even afier the deployment m December 1993 of a UN
peacckeeping force, the United Nations Assistance Mission 1o Rwanda (UNAMIR), to
oversee and police the agreement. A broad and powerful range of insiders- —mcluding
politicians, senior officers, businessmen and relatives of Tabyarimana and his wife—
saw the Accords as a challenge to then power and economic privileges, and as a threat
to the culture of impunity which had long protected them, and so remaned adamantly
opposed. Thev used the media to turn the Hutu population against the peace deal,
describing 1t as a betrayal of Hutu interests. In September 1993, they set up a PIVALe | o cweSr
broadeasting station, the Radio Télévision Libre des Mille Collines (RTLM).

For the next few months, KTLM, remforcing the belicfs of the ultra-extremist
Coalition for the Defence of the Republic {(CDR) and magazines hke Kangura,
dedicated 1tself to giving political expression to the ideology of Hutu cxtremism. It
sought 10 unite Hutus by convineing them that they had a common adversary, namely

" Al wmilitia came to be known popularly as intershamwe durning the genocide, but the professional
wrerahamwe, who had feceived military waming and wore uniforms, were established much eaibier.
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the RPF and Tutsis who were portrayved as one and the same, and said to be bent on
driving Hutus out of power and subjugating them. Tutsis in Rwanda were depicted as
a political hability, offering fighters, money, intelligence and moral support to the
RPF. Hutus were urged to put political differences aside and to come together in order
to form a united front against Tutsis. To this end, most of the epposition partics
splintered, with one faction known as “Power” which had embraced the political
doctnine of “Hutwsm.” RTLM advocated the use of force apamst moderate Hutu
politicians and Tutsis i general and ridiculed the Arusha Accords.

By the time President Habyarmmana died in a plane crash in Kigali on the evening of 6
April 1994, along with all the other passengers, the ground had been well-prepared for
the genocide which began within hours and which lasted until early July. The board of
directors, shareholders and stall of RTLM would all become key players. The crash
was, said Sebagabo, merely the “kick-off signal ™

The malicious terahamwe, which had been created and trained w camry out the
genocide that had been piloted thirty vears back in Bufundu and other areas of
Rwanda, began a widespread and thorough campaign,

Fr. Kagangare, like most Rwandese, did nol expect the scale of the slaughter that
unfolded.

Despite what we had alrcady lived through, the horror of 1994 is beyond our
comprehension.

“The 1994 genocide was an affair that was long premeditated, an idea that had
been distilled in the people for a long time by unscrupulous politicians.”

In reality, the genocide began a long time ago. I's something that was taught. It's not
something innate. But it bad been taught 1o the point of becoming instinctive. The
hatred towards the Tutsi is something the Hutu learnt and which they assimilated.

What changed in 1994, he added, was “the scale of the massacres.”

In 1963, the massacres remained limited to Gikongoro and lasted only a few days. In
1994, the whole country was affected and 1t lasted for three months. But it was the
same mossue, the same axe, the same machete and the same hideous scenes of
children dying from having their skulls smashed against a wall.

Euphrasie echoed a similar view.

The 1994 genocide was meant 10 wipe out all Tulsis, without exception. Not even one
child was meant to remain behind. But the techniques which were used were the same
as before, except for the extreme torture that became common in 1994.

LEuphrasie outhined what she called “the three stages in the destruction of the Tutsis of
Gikongoro.™

' For a detailed discussion aboul the background to the genocide, see Death, Despair and Defiance,

African Rights, Fevised Edition, August 1995
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Massacres of Tutsis had been organized and carried out in the préfecture of
Gikongoro for a really long time The first phase was tl 1elr relocation to Nyamata and
Rukumberi [Kibungo]. The sccond consisted of the early massacres wh ich, because
all Hutus did not agree with the policy, had a limited impact. The third was the tinal
phase of extermmation. And this time 1t was very successful. This time, all Hutus felt
concerned because they were getting rid, once and for all, of a common foe. Even
children, young girls and women were all driven by this need to see the “enemy™

ikl SR

vanquished,
Fr. Modeste mentioned some of those who were “vanquished” in Gikongoro,

The survivors of 1963, who had tried to patch up their lives, were exterminated in
1904,

And many of the perpetrators of 1963 were still alive and eager to make their
contribution in 1994, Some who were too old to kill with their own hands acted as
advisors, using their knowledge of history to point out Tutsis who had changed their
ID cards, or they cheered from the sides. In some instances, said Anastase, they
passed the baton to their children.

1n 1994, the old men like Mudahunga and Nzabamwita were still around, They no
longer had the strength to hunt and kill Tutsis themselves, but they had enough force
to give advice and to tell thew children to make sure that no Tutsi remained alive.
i Their children were the true murderers here in Gikongoro. Mudahunga’s children
died in Congo and Nzabamwita's are in prison.

Nathalie also mentioned Mudahunga’s son, Francois Rwemcra, as well as
Rwandanga’s son, Antoing, nicknamed Kajyunguri, as among the men who
devastated Gitantu in 1994, They knew that their parents had enjoyed unpunity and
expected the same outcone.

Tn the coincidence of political. social and economic factors which led to the genocide
in 1994, the killing, dispossession, expulsions and arrests of Tutsis between 1959-63,
in 1973 and in the early 1990s, are of sigmificance. particularly n Gikongoro, They
established a principle that many Rwandese who took part in the genocide acted upon:
killing Tutsis was not viewed as a punishable crime. And this 15 because, comnmented
Fr. Kacangare, “in this country, to kill a Tutsi had become a tradition and 1mpunity

the nom.”

For lurty yeurs, genocide has been officially taught and several times tried out with
the blessmg of semer government officials. Each time the government used to
' announce the end of the massacres, ask the killers to put down the spears. to stop the
[ killings, sisninigamure ferm, and would call on survivors to come out of their biding
' places. Then, as if nothing had happencd, life on the hills would resume its nonmal

CONLTSE,

In 1994, Désire Neerahayo was (he bourgmestre of ¢omunune Karama where the
Parish of Cyanika i located. He has spoken at length about his own participation in
the genocide. In reflecting on his own jourmey to ecnocide, and that of the country as
a 'nl‘u.r|l_ he identified two major factors: unquestioning obedience to authonity and the

habit of acting upon orders to abuse the rights of Tutsis.
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The mimpunity which was widespread both before and duning the genocide was a
decisive factor 1 1994,

A

In the 1960s and 19705, many Tutsis could not go (o secondary schoal and teachers
kept lists accordmg to whether students were Tutsi or Hutu, After the RPF invasion of
COctober 1990, we bourgmestres were asked by the mielligence services to make a list
of all the parents 1 our communes whose children had gone to fight on the side of the
RPF and we did so. Azsain i October 1990, on the night of 4-5 October, when there
were false rumowrs that Tulsis wanted o kall Hutus, this was used as a pretext for
systematic searches for weapons in the homes of Tutsis. Many other Tutsis were
mmprisoned as accomplices of the RPF. We were told to imprison people regarded as
sympathetic to the RPF, particularly educated people like tcachers, and we didn’t ask
any questions. In 1993 we were asked to form militia groups and we did so. We were
requested to provide military training for them and we complied. All of this was part
of the preparations for the genocide. That's why [ think 1t is very important to ensure
that justice 15 done, so that the impumty which facilitated the penocide 15 a thing of
the past.

Jean-Damascene Sinaboye was a deputy bourgmestre of Mudasomwa, a commune
which made an exceptional contribution to Murambi, and to the genocide more
generally in Gikongoro, Butare and Kibuye.

The bourgmestre of Mudasomwa, Emmanuel Nieziryayo, used to brag openly about
what he, as the bourgmestre, had accomplished in the genocide and about ihe
importance of his commmune to the success of the genocide in Gikongoro. He did this
because, like so many others, he saw himself as fulfilling a national duty. We
ourselves looked upon him during the genocide as a great nationalist. We did this
because we didn’t think there would ever be any conssquences (o our actions. And we
certamly never thought there would be prosecutions. We were, in our eyes, domng
what the radio and the newspapers were asking vs to do—nid the country of its
enemies. Nteziryayo behaved as he did because he believed, like all other officials,
that distinguishing himself in the genocide would lead to good things for him, like a
better career prospect and wealth. And he thought he was helping Rwanda rid itseif of
traitors to the nation.

Tlis history sets the context not only for the attitudes of many residents of Gikongoro
towards the killings of Tutsis in 1994, but also for the conduct of local officials. To
understand Murambi, perpetrators, survivors and witnesses alike emphasized, again
and again, the burden of responsibility that should be placed upon the civilian and
military authorities in Gikongoro, as well as the prominent backers of the extremist
political parties.
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“WE COULD NOT CHALLENGE THE WORD
OF OUR LEADERS”

Rwanda 15 a society with a strong tradition of unquestioning respect for those in
positions of power and authority. In the rural areas. where most Rwandese live, the
word of a préfet, a bourgmestre or a councillor commanded obedience. Educated
people, whether they worked as civil servants. for the Church, mn the private sector ar
in civic organizations, were treated with deference and their opmnions generally went
unchallenged. Against this backdrop, instructions from above, coupled with
manipulative propaganda, were able to unlock a capacity for betraval and murder
among many Rwandese who until then had been ordinary men and women.

When they heard the news that President Habyanimana had been assassinated, all the
residents of Gikongoro, in common with cvery comer of the country, looked 1o their
local officials for guidance. They put the blame for the massacres at Muramb1 upon
their shoulders. They suggest that it was the actions and decisions taken by the most
senior civilian and military authorities in Gikongoro from 7 April onwards, which
directed the killings and ultimately determined the fate of the refugees at Murambi. In
the words of Vincent de Paul Nsabiyera, who worked alongside these local leaders:
“The extermination of the Tutsis was not a haphazard affair.”

All the steps taken by our officials, especially the préfet of Gikongoro, the
bourgmestre of Nyamagabe and Captain Sebuhura of the gendarmerie, to ensure that
the Tutsis of the region were massacred, shows, without any ambiguity, the character
ot the government of the time which prepared and directed the genocide,
According to the contributors to this account, all the major political figures in the
préfecture had a part to play in the tragedy of Murambi. The préfet. Laurent
Bucyibaruta; the deputy-préfet, Frodouald Havugimana!, known as Havuea: the
deputy head of the sendarmerie, Captain Faustin Sebuhura and the bourgmestre
(mayor) of Nyamagabe commune, Félicien Semakwavu, are repeatedly implicated.
They were frequently seen together and, as the testimonies in this book make clear,
they encouraged Tutsis to go to Murambi, they called for the erection of roadblocks in
the area and actively mobilized and armed the militiamen. A visit from the president
of the interim government, Dr. Théodore Simdikubwabo, and his discussions with the
local authorities of Gikongoro, endorsed the initiatives they had taken to date and
confirmed that they had the backing of the highest political authority in the country.
Retired mulitary officers lent their expertise to a campaign supposedly aimed at
“security.” Chief among them was Col. Aloys Simba from commune Musebeya i
Gikongoro who, in 1994, was appointed as the head of cjvil defence for the
prefectures of Gikn’ng@m and Butare.

" Althouzh he is referred w0 as a deputy-préfer, he did not hold this post n an official manner in 1994,
He had been dismissed from his position as depidy-préfet of Burmnmya sous-préfeciure in Cyangugu
préfecture for disciplinary reasons. In carly April 1994, he wus in Nyanza, Buare, and was the
secretary ol s deputy-préfet in the region, He returned quickly to his native Gikongoro at the beginning
of the genocide and resided near Murambi
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Combining thewr considerable authorty, influence. human, logistical and financial
resources as well as web of contacts, these men reached oul to & formidable network
of local sovernment officials, soldiers, policeinen, teachers, doctors, directors and
emplovees of para-statals, clergymen, busingssmen, petty traders, staff of non-
sovernmental organizations and a huge pool of peasants and unemployed young mein.

«We Had Confidence in Qur Officials”

The men they reached out to, and eventually persuaded to throw their weight behind
the genocide, or those who waiched closely as Hutus turned against Tutsis, provide
msights into the precise methods used by the leaders. Jean-Pierre Sindikubwabo. a
peasant farmer from Kabacuzi in sector Gikongoro, was among those swayed by
official arguments to kill relatives, friends and neighbours, as well as strangers. He
spent eight years in custody and regained his freedom in May 2003 after he confessed
his crimes.’

I realized the genocide of the Tutsis was incvitable when 1 saw militiamen buming
their homes under the noses ol local officials. I first saw columns of smoke n sector
Gasaka on 7 April. The same thing happencd in scctors Cyizi and Gikongoro the
following day. The sudden appearance of some officials in our cellule convinced me
that everything had been prepared n advance. For example, Lt. Col, Rwamanywi,
from Mudasomwa, visited Rurangwa, the prefel’s scerctary. He wanted 1o know why
the Hutus hadn’t yet begun to go alter the Tatsis. By asking this; he in effect gave us
the green light to begin the hunt for the imyenzi, The very same day, many Tutsis who
had been hounded out of their homes, left 1o seek help at the Catholic Parish of
Gikongoro.

Théonéste Karamage was a guard at the Intercommune Centre for Personnel
Development (CIPEP) in Gikongoro. As a result of what Sebuhura, Simba and
Semakwavu told hin, he came to look upon Tutsis as his natural foes. When he fook
the lives of Tutsis, he iaterpreted the massacres as a form of Hutu self~defence. His
testimony highlights the extent to which the planners sought to drive a wedge between
comumunities. and to make it easier to kill Tutsis by dehumamzing them.

«f didn’t kill Tutsis for the sake of killing them. I considered them as enemies.”

When you are told that someone 1s your opponent, and thai they have a plan to make
you disappear from the face of the carth, you have to pre-empt them.

1 decided to take an active part in the exiernination of Tutsis following the efforts to
sensitize us by various people. They presented the Tutsis 1o us as people bent on the
wholesale extermination of Hutus, This propaganda pushed the majority of people
nto the genocide: We'had confidence in our officials. We could not challenge the
ward of our leaders.

© A law was passed on | September 199610 expedite justice through the estnblishmem of a confession
zed according Lo the serlousness of the crime of which

and guilty plea procedure. Suspects arc categon
they are accused, with the senocide organizers and mdividuals responsibie for the worst atrocitics
placed in category one and exempted from the procedure, unless they confiess before they have been
officially listed i this category. Those in categorics tr-o-four are offered sentence reductions i return
for full confessions in which they name their accomplices
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The genocide was strongly endorsed by people who were much more aware of what
was happening than we were. How could we £0 on tolerating Tutsis, faced with what
Caplain Sebuhura and Col. Simba were saying? When they told us that they were
aware of the Tutsis” plan, we took them seriously. Above all, the officials closest to
us collaborated with soldicrs to spur the masses to commit genocide. These officials
include Semakwavu, whe crisscrossed the entire commune to awaken Hutus so that
they could contribute to the genocide,

=1

With so many tasks to see to, it was not possible for Simba, Semakwavu and
Sebuhura alone to recruit volunteers for the genocide. They worked throush the local
administration and their network of likeminded leaders amoeng professionals and
businessmen. Businessmen, in a position to offer money, vehicles, meeting rooms and
drinks in their bars, shops and hotels, were particularly significant to the suceess of
the genocide. Like many others, Laurent Sebagenzi, a farmer from Nyamagabe, spoke
of the actions of Francois Gasana in harmessin g support for the genocide.

I'admut that I took part in the massacres of Tutsis at Murambi. Gasana was the one
who galvanized us. Preparations to invade the camp began on the eve of the assault,
Gasana, in collaboration with Murwanashyaka, who has been freed from prison, sent
a band of militiamen to us. They confirmed that orders had come from the autharities,
including the préfet, Sebuhura and Semakwavu, This was their propusal; the Hutus
must unite in order to defeat the Tutsis who want to conquer the country. No-one
raised a question; mstead, we began to collect our weapons.

David Rwamihigo, alias Nyantaryi, described how Gasansa was assiduously courted
by Semakwavu and Sebuhura so he could promote their agenda widely. Rwamihigo,
60 1n 1994, had retired from the army and was living in Nyamagabe.

Under the leadership of Gasana, Tutsis were hunted down in next to no time. The
population felt fortified by the constant presence of Semakwavu and Sebuhura whe
were always coming to consult with Gasana, Even on the day when Murambi was
invaded, these two officials came to talk to him. It was casy to fire people up. The
militia from our sector |Kirehe] were transported by a car that Gasana had seized

from a Tutsi,

Confusion and anger about Habyarimana’s death were not in themselves sufficient,
argued Innocent Ndibyariye. to bring about a catastrophe. It was the conduct of
government officials, he insisted. which tumed the plane crash of 6 April into an
opportunity to widen the ethnic gulf and sharpen differences.

From 7 April onwards, hatred of Tutsis was nurtured by civil servants, including
government employees working in the office of the préfecture and elsewhere, They
drove in their cars to get to the population throughout the commune. They urged them
to put up roadblocks everywhere to inhibit the free movement of Tutsis. Others went
into people’s homes to tell Hutus to kill Tutsis. The men who immediately committed
themselves to this macabre plan include:

s  Semakwavu:
= (ol Simba:

*  Muzungu, an employee of the préfocture, deceased;
* Rurangwa, also an employee of the préfecture. in exi le;
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« Alphonse, a promigent interahamwe. Since then he’s put oo a rilatary
uniform and has become a warrant officer

Describing the security situation in Gikongoro town by 9 April as “alarming”,
Ndibyariye also recounted how the presence of local officials legitimized and incited
hostilities against Tutsis. Their use of cars and megaphones, he remembers, helped
certain slovans to reach the ears of the Hutu population.

The presence of these officials in the residential areas pushed the Hutu population fo
commit more and more atrocities against Tutsis as the days went by. Phrases like:
“The imyvenzi have killed our leader,” or “The minority wants 10 rule over the
majority” were used a great deal as a weapon against Tutsis. As a result, Tutsis
flocked in massive numbers to the Parish of Gikongoro.

Starting 11 Apnl, there was a campaign to “clean up the city.” I saw Scbuhura and
Semakwava whipping people up on many oecasions. Each one used his own car
They would g to different places to motivate the population. Semakwavu used a
megaphone and was accompanied by mmlibamen.

The ground had been “so well-prepared by the 20" added Ndibyariye, “that
everyone had become convinced of the necessity to mount an offensive agamnst
Murambi.”

The power of propaganda 1o L filtrate minds and affect sentiments was such that
Sylvestre Maniraho, alias Mwami, was completely won over.

| killed about ten Tutsis I'd never met, ] simply felt the pleasure of killing the
adversary,

Young people were especially  attentive 1o the conduct of officials. Saleh :
Mbakuriyemo, only 17 in 1994 and now a prisoner. stood guard at somc of the

deadliest roadblocks used to channel Tutsis to Murambi, He felt justified in killing

Jarge numbers of Tutsis at such a young age

] wasn’t ashamed of killing during the genocide. It felt eompletely normal,
especially because Semakwavu and Sebuhura came regularly to the roadblocks.”

They gave us a message of encouragement. The bourgmesire Jiked to use this
Rwandese expression: “Nimukomere, rrabashyigikive”, which means: “Keep strong,
we are behind you.” And Sebubura ased to tell us: “You must not let the enemy gel
away.”" | saw the préfet twice, hesding towards Mudasomwa. He oreeted us. None of
ihese three anthorities stopped us from putting up roadblocks. That was why we felt
we had the right to kill the Tutsis.

Survivors are cqually certain that nmich of the responsibility for the killings lies wath
officials. Séraphine Mutegaraba, a farmer from Mudasomwa. was emphatic m her

VIEW.

The political leaders of the region deliveéred the Tutsis 10 their death
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Simon Mutangana, currently the responsable of Nyamigina cellule in Mudasomwa,
on the border with Nyamagabe, agreed and added that the authorities used the local
population to achieve their ends.

The killings in Murambi were prepared and exccuted by the authorities in connivance
with the population. President Sindikubwabo came to Gikongoro and spoke with the
civilian and military officials of Gikongoro, The préfet, Bucyibaruta, was physically
present during the massacres in Murambi. When the ammunition ran out, he arranged
for the soldiers to fetch more ammunition, and Col. Simba went to find more
machetes. After he saw that we had been annthilated, Bucyibaruta asked the militia to
20 to Cyanika to help the killers who were extermunating Tutsi at the Catholic Parish
of Cyanika.

President Sindikubwabo’s visit and discussions with the autheritics on 19 April, by
which time about 50,000 men, women and children were already at Murambi, also
struck Sinon’s wife, Annonciata Muhayimana. For her, it underlined approval at the
very summmit of the political hicrarchy for the policies of officials in the region,
comununes, sectors and cellules. Despite the chaos of 21 April at Murambi,
Annonciata caught a glimpse of people she knew that night.

Both civihan and military officials were there, overseeing the progress of the
massacres and giving orders. Almost the entire population took an active part in the
massacres, including key figures, I couldn’t see them all because we were carrying
stones while trying to elude gunfire. The ones that | did see were the préfet,
Bucyibaruta; the deputy-préfet, Havoga: Col. Simba; Vincent Gashegu; Israél
[Nsengiyumva] and many others whose names I don’t remember

Politicians active in the parties which had embraced the agenda of Hutu extremism,
namely the CDR and the Power faction of the Democratic Eepublican Movement
(MDR), proved invaluable allies. Although they did not hold gavernment posts, they
used their positions as leaders in these partics to make Hutus believe they had no
choice but to murder any and every Tutsi. Civil servants and businessmen from
Habyarimana’s political stronghold in the north—the prefectures of Gisenyi,
Ruhengen and Byumba—were also on standby, especially in Mudasomwa where the
presence of displaced northemers helped to ignite the exodus that led to Murambi.
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MUDASOMWA
A Catalyst for the Violence

The massacre at Murambi required careful and cxtensive preparation and ivolved
collaboration among local elites and officials across Gikongoro. But no conmimunc
would be linked more closely to Murambi than Mudasomwa, which lies west of

| Nyamagabe. Mudasomwa, which had been an extremist stronghold prior to the

genocide, was the first flashpoint of violence in central Gikongoro in 1994, The Tutst

' residents of Mudasomwa were among the first to be driven out of their homes and 1o

begin the trek eastwards, to Nyamagabe. This was the beginning of their journey o
Murambi. Militiamen from Mudasomwa would later be despatched to Murambi
where their skill in annihilating the Tutsis there would earn the special gratitude of the
préfet. He showed his appreciation by asking for their assistance in getting rid of the
Tutsi refugees at the Parish of Cyamka.'

Désiré Neezahayo, the bourgmestre of Karama wliere Cyanika is located, pomted to
Mudasomwa “as the source of the ageression’” in both Murambi and Cyanika.

The burning of houses and the hunt for Tutsis started in Mudasomwa, sector Kibirizi.
By 8 April, the same thing started n the sectors of Karama bordering Mudasomwi,
particularly Muganza seclor. [t is the interahamwe from Mudasomwa who first
ambushed our commune. They carried sharp tools and wore banana leaves. Thew
AgOTESSION Was directed only at Tutsis.

In Mudasomwa, one of the first massacres occurred at the Kitabi tea factory

Planting Extremism at the Kitabi Tea Factory

The presence in Mudasomwa of a group of nfluential individuals who shared
extremist ideas was a precipitating factor in the genocide in that commune and
beyond. D¢nis Kamodoka, the dircctor of the tea factory in Kitabn sector, In castem
Mudasomwa, was at the forefront of this group. Kamodoka comes from Rubengeri in _
the north where Hutu extremism had its decpest roots. He worked closely with !
Frangois Gakuru, a teacher and president of the CDR in Mudasomwa, and lsra€l '
Msengiyumva, a businessman. According to witnesses, this tiumvirate instigated and

fanned hatred towards Tutsis mn the commune, beginning in the carly 1990s.

The staff at the tea factory were particularly receptive to their 1deas. Many of them
came from Mulindi in Byumba préfecture, an arca known for the production of tea.

¢ The militia of Mudaseimwa gained a reputation for their fierce commitment 1o the genocide carly on,
and were called upon to take part in massacres throughout Gikengoro as well as in the prefectures of
Butare and Kibuye. In addition to Muramibi in Gikongoro, they also jeined forces with the interghamwe
of commune Mubuga at the Paiish af Kibeho on 14 and 15 April, the Pansh of Cvanika and the Pansh
of Kaduha on 21 April, as well 25 in commune Muscheya. In Dutare, they werle o pronument feature of
the massacre at the Parish of Karama -1 commune Runyinya on 21 Butare, and [ater iy the massacres 10
May and June on the hills of Bisesero m Kabuye.
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Located n the north, near the border with Uganda, Mulindi had been directly affected
by the RPF mvasion of 1990. Many of the staff were relocated to the factory in
Mudasomwa during the war. Their resentment of the RPF expressed itselfl in sharp
and indiscriminate hostility towards Tutsis, including their co-workers. Their arnival
significantly changed the existing commumty relations. Tutsi businessmen in
Gasarenda, Tare | sector, particularly Callixte Gasana and John Niwzli, were
constantly harassed, and both were murdered on the opemng day of the genocide, 7
April.

Martin Kagimbura, now in Nyanza prison, said that the Tutsis in Mudasomwa were
among the first to feel the political consequences of Habyarimana’s death, thanks in
large part to Kamodoka’s presence in their midst.

Francois Gakuru and Emmanuel Ngoga, the pillars of the CDR and the right hand
men of Dénis Kamodoka, worked hard to create a had climate. Kamodoka was a tmoe
segregationist. He used to say openly that Tutsis were enemics to fight. Even though
he was not from our comimune, he made the decisions and was the lcader of educated
people m the commune. He was the one who put forward names for official positicns
in the region.

Madeleine Mukamuyango moved to Mudasomwa in 1980 when she married
Emmanuel Kabasha, employed as a driver at the factory. He later worked as
Kamodoka’s personal driver until 1992 when, Madeleine said, “Kamodoka declared
that he couldn’t abide being seated alongside a Tutsi.” Her husband was replaced by
Marc Hagenimana from Nkuli in Ruhengeri who, in 1994, was active in the killings at
the factory where Kabasha lost his life.

Intirmidation and bullying of Tutsis increased, but Kamodoka did nothing to improve
the atmosphere. Some employees, like my husband, Emmanuel Kayihura from
Gisenyi, Vincent Ndamage and André Sindayigaya from Cyangugu, were particularty
made to feel unwanted.

Madeleine said that meetings of the interahamwe militia were a feature of life n
Kitabr prior to the genocide and took place in Kamodoka’s home. Regular participants
included Juvénal Ndabarinze’, the director of the tea factory in Mata. commune
Fwamiko, also in Gikongoro, and Israél Nsengryurnva, a businessman in Gasarenda,

Eugénic Musabyimana was 29 and a typist at the factory where her husband, Vincent
Ndamage, also worked as a mechanic. She said that Tutsis had problems with
Kamodoka even before 1990, but the situation deteriorated considerably with the
onset of the war. The staff who had come from Mulindi, and especially those from
Gisenyi and Ruhengeri, did not, Eugénie added, “consider themselves like guests.™

They threatened us openly and had access everywhere m the factory. After they got
there, Kamodoka couldn’t stand looking a Tutst in the face. He began to oTEANIZC
sceret get togethers in his office, often with Juvénal Ndabarinze of the Mata factory,
who came from Nkumba commune in Ruhengeri and who was also opposed to
Tutsis. Another cxtremist, Israél, a businessman in Gasarenda and now mn Gikongoro

" Like Kamodoka, Ndabarinze put the vehicles of his factory in Mata ot the disposal of milinamen
throughout Gikongoro. He also took a direct part himself in several massacres, including the Pansh of
Kibeho, For details see Damion Biniga: A Genocide Withowt Frontiers. African Righis, Wirmess o
Genocide Mo 10, June 1999
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central prison, came often to talk to these two men, This is how we lived until
Habyarimana's death.

Julienne Umugwaneza was only 16, but sensed such tension in Mudasomwa that she
was not “very surprised by the massacres.”

Even before Habyanmana's death, members of the CDR. and the MDR stated clearly
that we would, one day, be wiped out,

This antagenism helps to explain the violence that erupted in Mudasomwa m April
and which quickly spread to nearby arcas.

“The Work Must Begin Now,” 7 April

A series of meetings on the morning of 7 April was indicative of the mood in
Mudasomwa on the first day of the genocide. As the head of the district court, Martin
Kagnnbura was mvited to an mitial selective gathering of local leaders at
Msengiyumva’s bar in Gasarenda.

From 7 Apnl onwards, our commune became one of the strategic points for
climinating Tutsis. There were numerous conferences i Isragl’s bar in Gasarenda.
The first, on the moming of the 7", was attended by Kamodoka; Frangois Gakuru;
Ngoga; Nkusi, a mechanic, and others. At the end of it, Gakuru urged the population
to begin the killings.

The participants then spread the word among the general public. Many people,
including Alphonse Mbaciyehe, went to the Petrorwanda fuel station mm Gasarenda
where Kagimbura and some of the men who had just been in Nsengiyumva's bar
stood together. He named some of them:

e Kamodok:a:

= Martin Kagimbura;

=  Kamayugi, a vetennaran. He was ficed, but I'm not sure how or why;
= Emmanuel Nieziryayo, the bourgmestre;

= Francois Gakun;

e MNsanzimana, a judicial police inspector;*

* (Captain Sebuhura, accompanied by six gendarmes,

Three militiamen were sent to call more people to the fuel station, and a crowd began
to form around 10:00 a.m.

Kamodoka's driver, Ngoga, and two other mterahamwe, Théonéste Nkusi and a man
called Louis, brought refreshments from the home of Edouard Karamage, a
businessman. After everyone in the audience was provided with a drink, Karamage
took the floor. He gave, said Mbaciyehe, who was then 22, a convincing call to arms.

This is what Karamage said: “T have no doubt that everyone 1s aware of the death of
our President. We have solid information that the inkoramt were behind it, meaning
the Tutsis in general. They have a plan to purge Rwanda of all Hutus. So we have tg

* Msanzimana has been sentenced to 1ife and 15 held in Gikongoro central prison.
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forl their plan by taking pre-emptive action. We have to work systematically, starting
with the representatives of the fnyenzi in our region, including John Nitwali, one of the
leaders responsible for the death of Bucyana, the president of the CDR killed in
Butare; (Gasana, a businessman; Mureramanzi, a teacher and a university student from
Rubondo in sector Buhoro. The situation has become very alarming. That's why we
are seeking your collaboration. The news must be disseminated in your
neighbourhoods. The work must begin now. Don't be afraid because you will get the
support you necd. You yourselves can see the presence of these personalitics. They
are here to let us know that they are in agreement with us.”

With a group of other men, Mbaciyehe obediently set out that very evening to put
these orders into practice, taking the lead from Francois Gakuru, whom Mbaciyche
referred to as “our guwide.” They began at the residence of the employees of
EMUJECO?", a company which was building a road in Mudasomwa.

We found only Tutsis there, including John [Ntwali]. Some of us had guns, especially
Gakuru. The victims were first shot and then we used traditional weapons, taking
their clothes off in the process.

Mbaciyche added that Bucyibaruta came to Mudasomwa the following day and
visited the commune office where he spoke to various people. Tmprisoned for seven
years, Mbaciyehe was released in mid-2003 after confessing to the charges against
him.

Also on 7 April, at the commune office, Sylvestre Maniraho, alias Mwami, a farmer
from Tare I, attended a meeting convoked by Francois Gakuru for the population of
sectors Tare | and Tare 1L In addition to Kagimbura and Nsanzimana who had earlicr
been in Nsengiyumva’s bar, he mentioned a number of other influential figures,
mcluding:

= [nnocent Mworoha, the commune accountant;

s Kalimunda, a judge at the district court, imprisoned in Nyanza;

» Ngoga, a dnver at the Kitabi factory, in exile;

= Moarthe, Habimana's wife. She was working for an NGO called PASAM which
distributed lime and fertilizers.

(rakuru told us that he wanted Hutus to be united in order to massacre the Tutsis.
Mworoha alse gave a speech full of fire, saying: “You mustn’t delay in tracking down
the Tutsss. If you kill a snake, you musin’t spare a single one. These people are very
nasty. They have a plan for eradicating the Hutus. ™ We didn’t stay there a long time.

Maniraho admitied that the men n the vicinity “responded favourably™ and that they
“immediately began pursuing the Tutsis.”

We were, mn the first instance, attracted by their property. It was a period of food
shortages when a box of sweet potatocs cost hetween 1,500-2.000 francs. The assault
began straightaway in the commercial hub of Gasarenda and the first victims were the
workers of EMUIECO. John Nowali died after Ngoga and Musilikare, in Gikongore
prison, threw grenades at lim. We then helped ourselves to their belongings, Tt was
market day,

Erireprise Murenzr Jean ¢ Compagnie, which was butlding 1the Mudasomwa road.
L : =
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Kagimbura sees the murder of the EMUJECO cmployees as a catalyst for the
population.

T ———

They began to go after Tutsis in their sectors, From that moment onwards, the Tutsis
realized that they weren’t going to get any help from the authorities. Most of them
went towards Gikongoro town.,

sl R

Living close to Nsengiyumva's property in Gasarenda, Séraphine Mutegaraba was
able to comment on the first gathering organized there on the 7. Séraphine was left
alone because her husband, Daniel Nyirnkindi, was a Hutu and a former
bourgmestre. She said that Daniel Mbangura, the mumster of higher education and
scientific research, and Ngayabahiga', alias Kayijuka, were also in the bar.

A lot of people were wondering about the likely consequences of the plane crash. An
hour after the end of their discussion, Gakuru and Israél began to put together a
mulitia force to track down Tutsis. They began with the murder of the employees of
EMUJECO and John Ntwali. Ntwali was marmied to a Hutu woman, Grace Kabalizi,
and his father-m-law was complicit in his death, The house where the victims lived
was invaded immediately after a conversation between Scbuhura and Francois
Gakoum.

“From then on,” said Séraphine, “our commune was engulfed by blood.”

Hutus, provoked by the comment that Tutsis had assassinated Habyarimana, became
convinced that Tutsis must not be allowed to live. Some Tuisis left immediately for
Gikongoro town in the hope that the authorities would intervene.

Séraphine herself was at great risk and had only her husband to rely upon. But within
days, the interahamwe of Gasarenda had become embuoldened.

“They said they wanted their children to wonder what Tutsis used to look like.”

Julienne Umugwaneza saw the corpses of the EMUJECO staff as they were loaded
onto a van. She was still young at the time, and remembers how she and her family
stayed at home in Uwinkomo, sector Tare I, on 7 April, in accordance with the
mstructions from Radio Rwanda. But others were still “moving around without
restriction.” By the evening, the world she knew had begun to change.

At about 6:30 p.m., the interahamwe went after the Tutsis of our cellule, starting with
the house of John Ntwali. a well-known shopkeeper. We spent that might 1 the bush.
John was not there at the tune because he was with the workers of EMUJECO. There
were eight of them plus John. They threw a prenade into the house, then went inside
and hacked them with machetes. 1 saw their bodies cut into pieces with my own eyes.
And 1 was also there when they put them in a van owned by the company. They went
to ask the bourgmestre of Mudasomwa commune, Nieziryayo, where they could
dispose of the bodies. [ didn’t find out where they buried them |

On the 8", Julienne and her family went to the commune office to ask for help after
their house had been burnt down. Tt was soon apparent that they were not safe there

* Ngayabahiga 15 said to be in Uganda since his release from prison.
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from the interahamwe and the bourgmestre offercd no assistance. Later that day, they
hired a vehicle to take them and some other people to Gikongoro.

We paid the gendarmes who escorted us to Gikongoro. The interahamwe saw us
leave, They threw stones at us. In Gikongoro town, we settled in the CERAI buildings
next to the Catholic Bishopric of Gikongore, Many other Tutsis from different arcas
of Gikongoro were also there.

“A Message of Despair”

The directives given in Gasarenda guickly affected Kitabi sector, east of Gasarenda
and bordering on Nyungwe forest. Tutsi workers at the factory and their families
expected the worst. Eugénie and Madeleine are among the very few left to tell the tale
of what happened there.

As both Eugénie and her husband were factory employees, they lived in one of the
staff residences grouped in the compound. Eugénic pleaded with her husband to stay
at home. Almost immediately, the director, Kamodoka, ordered all employees to carry
out patrols within the compound, setting a trap for Tutsis.

At about 10:00 a.m. on the 8", Kajangwe, a stall member who lived in Gasarenda,
brought what Madeleine described as “a message of despair.”

He said a raid on the Tutsis in the factory was being prepared in Gasarenda. There
was still solidarity between us and some of our Hutu colleagues and their families.
We all decided to get together m the factory in the hope that Kamodoka would keep
us from harm.

The tension increased when people from Kitabi, as well as Mujuga and Nkumbure
sectors, came m large numbers. When a driver by the name of André Sindayigaya was
murdered close to one of the residences the same day, the Tutsis inside realized the
dangers of venturing out. In the evening, Madeline saw the bourgmestre, Nteziryayo,
and communal policemen gomg towards the canteen and then head to Kamodoka’s
home. According to Bugénie, Kamodoka then sent word through his driver, Marc
Hagenunana, “that he didn’t want Tutsis in the factory.” The Hutus retumed to their
homes and the Tutsis, said Madeleine, were left 1na predicament.

With militiamen roaming around the buildings, our options were limited, To leave
meant death, bot not to leave was tantamount to disobeving our director. In the end,
we decided to stay, inspite of pressure from the messenger sent by the director,

They had no choice when Kamodoka came in person to force them out. But there was,
added Eugcnie, nowhere to go.

We didn't know which direction to take. We were completely terrified and fell
hemmed . The world scemed too small to us. Even though tea plantations
surrounded the huldings, we couldn™ go there since the interahamwe were watching
us very closely, Nor could we take the risk ol going mto the nearby Nyungwe forest
because the road had been blocked.
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Because Tuts males were particularly sought after, some slipped away, leaving their
wives isolated and apprehensive. Before they had decided which direction to take,
Muyovu, head of the secretariat at the factory, came to leok for his Tutsi wife.
Hopeful that Muyove, as a Hutu, could help them, the women followed him into his
home and he agreed to take them in. Eugénie said they spent the entire night praying
for God’s intervention.

Same interahamwe had spent the whole night in Kitabi, absolutely determined to kill
us. Kamodoka wasn’t bothered in the slightest. He never took the trouble to come and
see the situation we were in for himself. He didn’t want to save us even though there
were soldiers there for his own security, He was a very influential man in the
préfecture and he could have asked the local authorities to take measures.

Kamodoka’s mdifference left Eugénie and her companions in no doubt that their days
were numbered. As a last resort, very early on the morning of the 10™, Eugénie's
husband, Vmecent, and two other men—Emmanuel Kabasha and Elias
Uwademokarasi—risked going to ask Kamodoka for transportation and an escort of
gendarmes to accompany them as far as Gikongoro town. Before they even had a
chance to speak with Kamodoka, his soldiers threatened to shoot them. They jumped
over the enclosure and ran through the bushes. Vincent and Elias passed northwards
through the Nyungwe forest and reached the commune office of Musebeya where the
bourgmestre, Viateur Higiro, gave them a car as far as Murambi. Emmanuel, trapped
and wounded by the interahamwe, was cventually taken to Kigeme hospital in
Nyamagabe.

The situation was equally bleak for the group of about 20 people who remained
behind in Muyovu’s house in Kitabi. The watchmen at the factory had followed them
and knew of their presence there. At around 5:30 a.m., a crowd led by a man named
Batete, carrying grenades, massues, machetes and sharpened bamboo sticks forced
them to come outside.

They immediately made us lie on our backs and put our hands up in the air, Family by
faryily. Families thought to be incomplete were taken aside for them to explain why
ore or more family members were missing. When they found Innocent Munyakazi,
alias Gakondo, and his wife, Domina, on their own, they asked them if they had
children. They answered no. They told them they would be killed in a manner
specifically designed for people who didn’t have children.

Since her hushand had left, Eugénie was grouped with the “incomplete farmlies,” and
ordered to stand up. Batete commanded the Twas who had joined the militia saying:
“Daore ngabo, nimukore ba sha,” meaning, “There you are men, get to work!™

All of a sudden, the driver, Hagenimana, cut him off, saying: “Just a minute, I'll show
you how to do it.” He took some grenades and distributed them to some of his
compamions. He took the pins out and exploded them on the people lyving on the
ground.

The shrapnel from the grenades reached the women who had been told to stand aside
in the absence of their husbands, including both Eugénie and Madeleine. Some fell to
the ground and others scattered in the tea plantations, with the militia hard on their
heels. Locals in the surrounding area proved just as eager to track them down.
Eugénie’s younger brother, Edouard Nkundimana, a secondary school student, died in
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sector Mujuga. Those who were caught, like Fugénie, were taken back to the site of
the massacre where they confronted a scene they could never have imagined.

i We were forced to stand close to people who were on the point of death. Some were
: already dead. We had to watch as others were decapitated. We couldn’t bear to look
and, once again, we dispersed, But they came after us, and some people were killed.

Madeleme was also obliged to stand by, but tried hard not to Took.

They ripped off the head of Munyakazi. It was horrible, We tried to run away, but
couldn’t break through the crowd. And they werc vigilant. They dragged us back and
beat those on the ground as if they were animals, We went back into Muyovu's
house.

Fugénie and Madeleine both remember seeing Muyovu in his home gravely wounded
by a grenade. He was also in shock from the fact that he had seen his wife
decapitated. Eugénie and six other people went inside a bathroom, but unable to think
clearly, she forgot to close the door. A militiaman called out her name, vowing to kill
her. She bribed him and he left without noticing the others. Eugénie caught sight of
Madeleine in the bedroom, cut by broken glass and bleeding. While in the house,
Madeleine saw the rape and murder of André Sindayigaya’s wife, Fausta. His son,
Ndahimana, was felled with a machete.

Eugénic listed the Tutsis who had come to the factory and were assassinated either
there or later at Murambi. Very few survived.

s Innocent Munyakazi, a welder, and his wife:
Emmanuel Kayihura, an agronomist;
Basiha, Kayihura's wife;
* Kayihura’s two children who died at Murambi;
= André Smdayigaya;
» Fausta, Sindayigaya’s wile;
= Two of Sindayigaya’s children. One was killed in Kitabi and the other at Murambi:
= Madeleine, Muyovu’s wife, a teacher. Her children died in Murambi-
=  Vincenl Ndamage, killed at Murambi:
= Marthe, Nyirimpunga’s wife;
*  Mukampirwa, Kabasha's sister.

The militiamen then turned their attention to clearing out the factory, but Kamodoka
promptly mtervened and telephoned the gendarmerie in Gikongoro. The gendarmes
came in an EMUJECO van which also transported the wounded to Kigeme hospital.
Eugénie and Madeleine were both in the van, together with Muyovu who was on the
point of death, Sofia, Domina and Sindayigaya’s son, Kibindi. Madeleine cradled her

child whose head had been smashed.

Everyone was astonished to see that he was breathing. He had been pummelled many
times on the head with massues and machetes

f They found many other Tutsis at the hospital from all over the préfecture, lookimng for
medical care as well as protection.




“AMULTITUDE OF TUTSIS FLEEING THEIR HOMES”

As early as 7 Apnl, Tutsis from Mudasomwa, Karama, Kinyamakara and other
communes throughout Gikongoro began to make their way towards Gikongoro town
in Nyamagabe. They came because the préfectoral admimstration, the office of the
préfecture and the gendarmerie camp for Gikongoro were based there. In addition, the
bourgmestre of Nyamagabe had his own communal police force. They hoped to
receive assistance from the authorities there, but as it quickly became apparent that
none would be forthcoming, they turned to the Church for help.

Gikongoro town was also home to the Catholic Bishoprie of Gikongoro and many
found asylum in the parish buildings such as the Integrated Rural and Craft Centre
(CERAI) and the pnmary school, situated beside each other, just down the hill from
the cathedral and the bishop's residence. In Kigeme, near the border with
Mudasomwa, the Episcopal church, hospital and secondary school, located in
Munombe cellule, sector Gasaka, took in large numbers of displaced people. After a
few days, they were all taken from their temporary havens in Gikongoro town and
Kigeme o Murambi,

Kigeme: A Transitory Sanctuary

People from Mudasomwa often fled fust to Kigeme, located just within the
boundanes of Nyamagabe. Some needed medical care at the hospital there, and others
a temporary home at the Episcopal church and secondary school. Others passed
through, heading straight towards Gikongoro town. Those who stayed were eventually
marched to Gikongoro town and then to Murambia.

Philippe Ngendabanga, then 52, lived in Gihanga cellule in Gasaka sector, trying to
make ends meet as a petty trader in Kigeme. On 7 April, the small commercial centre
in Kigeme was crowded, and became even more so as an mcreasing number of Tutsis
poured in.

Tutsis rom Mudasomwa were on the road, walking towards Gikongoro town. They
were on the run from the killings in their commune. 1 identified two teachers, One
was called Vianncy. They were wounded and went 1o Kigeme hospital for treatment.
This was around 2:00 p.m. From the direction they were coming, we could sec
columns of smoke. These were the houses of Tutsis which were on fire.

Vénuste Gasana was surrounded by the interahamwe. He was walking around with a
gun which he had received when the interahamwe militia was founded. He had also
picked up other weapons from the commune office and the gendarmene camp. That
day he ordered all the shops to close.

Ngendabanga, who admuts that he himself became a militia member, watched as these
waves of people descended upon Kigeme.
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By the evening, there were a lot of Tutsis at the Parish of Kigeme. Monsignor
Monman Rayumba. Bishop of Kigeme, took them to the secondary school in
Uwumurinz, a hittle far from the tarmac road.

Simon Mutangana was among those at the parish. In his sector of Nyamigina in
Mudasomwa, Tutsis felt the repercussions of Habyarimana’s death on 8 April, when
Frédérne Nturo and us entire family were killed. On the '5"“"._ some Tutsis in
Nyamigima and Buhoro sector, to the south, lost their lives and their houses were
burned down. Sunon identified Frangois Gakuru, Emmanuel Ngoga, Vincent
: Gashegu' and Frangots Gakunde, alias Kidende" as the men behind the campaign of
: murder and intimidation. Simon became separated from his wife and three children,
t who went straight to Murambi. He spent two days in the forest, and then went to
Kigeme where he found about 100 other Tutsis at the parish. A day later, they were
surprised to be visited by a number of senior officials: Bucyibaruta, Semakwavu and
Captain Sebuhura.

S
3
3
i

They told Monsignor Norman Kayumba that they had come to take us to Murambi,
where there were other Tutsis, so they could better guarantee our security., The next
day. they sent soldiers to take us there. We were with Monsignor Alexis
Bilindabagabao, but he didn't go to Murambi with us,

Simon and the other Tutsis were then escorted out of the Episcopal parish.

We walked, except for the elderly who were driven in the Daihatsu of the diocese. All
along the road, locals hurled stones and insults at us. We found a lot of other Tutsis
when we reached a primary school at the Catholic Bishopric of Gikongoro, and we all
left together for Murambi.

Like Stmon, Jeannette Mukamugema was taken from Kigeme to Murambi. Jeannette,
now 60, came from Nyarwotsi in Buhoro sector. She said the killings began there
immediately on the 7" and she left straightaway for Kigeme hospital with her two
children. Ter husband stayed behind at home where he was murdered. While they
were walking to Murambi, the Nyamagabe commune car prodded them along from
behind. The sight of corpses near the cathedral, and of well-armed civilians lining the
road, made them keep their heads down.

Espérance Mukagashugl became nervous as soon as she heard the news that
Habyarimana had dicd. She expected the worst because, she said, “we had become
almost accustomed to the habit that Tuisis would pay for political disorder in
Rwanda,” As she predicted, the situation quickly “turned acainst them™ when, on the
8", a group of men crossed the border from Kibirizi sector in Mudasomwa to her
village in Gitwe, sector Remera in Nyamagabe. Regarded as looters, Hutus and Tutsis
together pushed them back. But by the 10", the Tutsis started to desert their homes.
Heavily pregnant with swollen feet, Espérance was reluctant to 2o as far as Gikongoro
town and mstead opted for Kigeme hospital, The day after her departure, her husband
and her step-children were killed in their home.

Esperance, who was 27, was among the few allowed to stay at the hospital throughout
the month of April, She 1s only too aware of her luck. first that she was spared the

" Currenthy 1 Cikoncogo prison,
*Curmently in Gikongoro prison,

39



journey to Murambt, and then to have lived through the sporadic massacres within the
hospital itself ;

Trouble Begins in Nyamagabe

The presence of refugees from M udasomwa augured badly for the Tutsis of westemn
Nyamagabe. Kamegeri and Gasaka, which border on Mudasomwa, were among the
first sectors of Nyamagabe where flames levelled Tutsi homes, sencing their
occupants to Gikongoro town. Some had thought initially of going to the office of the
préfecture, to put themselves in the hands of the authorities. But they lost hope when
they saw that Tutsis who lived in the immediate environs of the office were also
looking for sanctuary in the parish.

As Juvénal Munyakavanza made his way back from Butare on the 7" he noticed that
roadblocks had already been set up at the bridge over the nver Mwogo, which divides
Gikongoro and Butare, at Nkungu and also at the Petrorwanda station. In Gasaka, he
ran into Tutsis from Mudasomwa who were on their way to the cathedral. Some of
them were wounded. On the 8", aggression against Tulsis elsewhere, notably Sovu in
Kamegeri sector, created new waves of displaced people who passed through sector
Gasaka. In the meantime, Hutus and Tutsis combined forces in Gasaka 1tself to go on
joint patrols. Two days later, he said, Francois Gasana “put an end 1o our solidarity.”
Munyakayanza, a businessman from Nzega in sector Gasaka, 15 now in prison in
connection with the genocide. His testimony is a reminder that some sensc of
community spirit was alive in the early days of April, but then illustrates how this was
extinguished.

(Gasana addressed people in Nzega and spoke in an inflammatory manner. He openly
declared that Hutus shouldn’t be frightened by what was taking place elsewhere. He
invited us Hutus to distance oursclves from our opponents. From then on the Tutsis
we knew felt unsafe and began lo quit their homes. The first person 1o go was
Munderere. a shopkeeper who had a Daihatsu van. Gasana pursued him as far as
Murambi 1o seize his vehicle.

When David Rwamihigo, living in Kamegeri, noticed the sky black with smoke on
the 7" he assumed there had been clashes between the political parties, especially the
Social Democratic Party (PSD) and the MRND. But as he watched the people filing
past his home in Kirche cellule, as they entered Nyamagabe, he realized that another
political dynamic was at work. .

We grasped the sltuation as SO0 as We saw the road to Gikongoro town filled up with
Tutsis, It was they who were coming from the smoke-filled areas. They told us that
their belongings had been seized. This movement of humans went on until our own
sector got caught up, two days later.

Rwamihigo gave this interpretation of the evenls.
To make people think of the Tutsis as troublemakers, the militia, including a certain
Francois Gasana, starled to point them out lo us as the authors of Habvarimana's

death. Thanks 1o the activities of a group of militia created by Gasana, the Tutsis 1n
our scctor scattered after their homes were humed down.
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Laurent Scbagenzi blamed the speed and intensity of the anti-Tutsi fervour in
Mudasomwa for the pace at which the situation changed in his sector of Kamegeri. It
was Gasana, he said, who held up Mudasomwa as the commune Hutus should
emulate. Talking of the Tutsis he saw on their way to (rikongoro town, Sebagenzi
said: “They were not only frightened, but everything had been taken from them ™
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From Sunday the 10", the people in our sector threw their lot in wi th the interahamwe
mulitia, egged on by Gasana who made himsell the representative of the communal
and préfectoral authorities. He argued that the Tutsis intended to do away with the
Hutus. That's how the homes of Tutsis came to be targered.

The first group of militiamen was created by Emmanuel and Semugeshi, the sons of
the late Edouard Kajeguhakwa, As most of the homes of Tutsis had just been
demolished, and others had been deserted, the houses of Hutu families suspected of
harbouring invenzi were searched, Twagiramungu, who 1s alive, was thought to be
holed up in Semana's home. The militia didn’t find him, They went to Hezéchia's
home and didn’t find anyone there either. So Emmanuel and Semugeshi killed eight
people who were in the home of their brother-in-law, Ndekezi.

Alphonsine Mukaremera was staying with her parents in Kirehe cellule, also in
Kamegeri. She too knew that the smouldering houses were a waming of what was to
come. And when it did, it happened so suddenly that there was no time to pack a bag.

All along the route to Gikongoro town, we saw bumnt out homes. We found many
other Tutsis at a school in the town.

“The Parish was Completely Overflowing”

The refugees at the Catholic Parish of Gikongoro stayed in the buildings of the
CERAT and the primary school in Gikongoro cellule, Gikongoro sector, about three
kilometres from Murambi. Their presence was & clear mdication that anxiety and
mstability were widespread. It also became increasingly evident that the authorities
Were not taking action to pre-empt or punish the troublemakers. Vincent de Paul
Nsabiyera, Emmanuel Nyirimbuga and David Havugimana all lived in the vicinity of
Murambi, and gave detailed accounts of the movement of the Tutsis they would
eventually help to eliminate at Murambi,

Nsabiyera was at the time responsible for a vaccination programme in Gikongoro, He
was about to leave for Kigali to stock up on vaccines and medical equipment when he
heard Radio Rwanda playing classical music carly on the moming of the 7% He
immediately recalled the coup d'¢tat of July 1973 and knew that something
momentous had taken place. When his suspicions were confirmed. he cancelled his
trip. Ignoring official orders, he went out of his house in Murambi cellule to get more
mformation. Given the rivalry between the different political parties, he described the
general mood as one of agitation.

On 8 April, all the roads leading to Gikongoro town were filled with a muliitude of
Tutsis flecing their homes. We saw Jong lines ot people comung from the communes
ol Mudasomwa, Karama and Kinyamakara and from ceriain sectors of Nyamagahe,
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w particular Gasaka, Kamegen, Remera and Rususa, The Parish of Gikengoro wis
thetr first port of call. By about midday, the parish was completely overflowing.

Because the extent ol the turmaoil was visible, he also expected local officials to rein
in the culpnits.

I could sec the homes of Tutsis on fire from afar, in Muganza, commune Karama, and
! j L 3 ; : il

m Gakomeye in Kinyamakara. [from Thursday to Sunday the 107, the cathedral and
CERAI received tens of people cach minute.

Up until then, T was waiting for the authonties, especially the préfet, and Félicien
semakwavn, the bourgmestre of Nyamagabe, the commune to which these people
were coming, to react. The large number of wounded people confirmed, n black and
white, that the killings had already begun. Because the politicians remained silent and
didn’t, up to Sunday. do anything to calm the unrest, we had no idea what awaited the
Tutsis.

In time, Nsabiyera would help to seal their fate. He 1s now in Gikongoro central
prison, as 1s Emmanuel Nyirimbuga. Before dawn on the 7%, Nyirimbuea had left his
home n cellule Muriro, sector Remera and was on his way to Gikongoro town. His
mtention was to meet a colleague, but he ran into a gendarme based there, Alphonse
Gasore.

(asore asked me if 1 knew what was going on. | said | did. He told me to tum back
and to warn Hutus T knew that the Tutsis, who had murdered the president, were
about to be massacred. T obeved has orders.

As soon as it was daylight, | hurried off to Kabeza, which is on the road to Muramb,
Just below 505 (ikongore.” [ knew 1'd [ind some paid work there and; at the same
time, be able 10 exchange information about the situation with passers-by, The next
day, things were looking bad, particularly since the panish in Gikongoro and CERAI
had been quickly overrun by Tutsis,

Nyinmbuga said he helped to direct them.

Mast of them were from Mudasomwa, Kinvamakara, Karama and some scctors of
Nyamagabe, Our sector, however, remained calm until Saturday the 9™

“What really hit me, when I got close to the parish, was that the authorities were
g p 3
taking no action to quell the increasing turbulence.”

It dawned on me that our leaders must be in cahoots with the authors and instigators
of the Tuts: hunt 1n the arca.

Although he did not expect Habyarimana’s death to disrupt the peace, David
Havugimana, 54, soon reahized that his “wishes were an 1llusion.” From his post as a
watchman at the Gikongoro regional health office, near Nyamagabe commune office
and his home in Murambi cellule, Havugimana was struck by the sea of people
walking o the parish starting the g

' An miemational NGO dedicated to canng for orphaned o neglected children, :
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The majonty had come from Mudasomwa, 1 hoped the authorities would take the
necessary measures to stem the human tide and tmprove the situation. On the
contrary, by the end of the week, things became more chaotic and the Tutsis came in
massive numbers, trudging towards the pansh and CERAL On Monday moming, |
found the Murambi technical school filled with Tutsis who had been moved out of the
parish,

At the Primary School: “No-one Helped Us”

Many weary refugees converged upon the barrack-style rectangular buildings of the
primary school. Although merely a stones-throw from the cathedral and the bishop’s
residence, it provided only limited protection. Annonciata Muhayimana, whose
husband, Simon Mutangana, was not with her. had three children to look after.

We passed one restless night at the school. Children were crying a lot and asking us
for food but we hadn’t brought any with us. More and more came every day, but no-
one helped ws, The soldiers were asking us why we were running away. We told them
that our houses had been torched and that some of our relatives had been massacred.
They told us: “Ujva gutwika wrviri ararwageranva” meaning that we should
assemble together in order to facilitate our extermination.

Annonciata stayed there for several days.

No-one came to our aid and gave us something to eat. But Bucyibaruta, Havugimana,
Simba, dressed in military uniform and a captain by the name of Sebuhura came
daily. They registered us by sector. When they saw that there were a lot of us, they
led us to Murambi.

It was the sound of gunshots which drove Domina Uwariraye, a tailor, from her home
in cellule Gikongoro to this same primary school.

Some ol the people at the school were abducted and killed, and some of the women
were raped by soldiers and militiamen. The local residents also came by 1o make fun
of us. They told us that our end was in sight. The priests at the parish, including
Edouard Ntaganda, refused to allow us to g0 mside the church.

No-one, not even the priests at the parish or at the bishoprie, gave ug anything to eat.
They could see thar we were really hungry. but they weren’t interested in us. They
saw our torment as something normal: we were marching towards our destiny, and as
tar as they were concerned, that was what we deserved.

Bélie Mukandamage was left a widow in 1960 when her husband died in the early
waves of anti-Tutsi fervour, Living in cellule Gasaka, sector Gasaka, Bélic headed for
Gikongoro town with her five children and two grandchildren when they realized the
peril Tutsis faced. Once they reached the roadblock at Gatyazo, Bucyibaruta and
Semakwavu pointed out the primary school to them. At about 6:00 p.m. that evening,
these two men returned and ordered them to leave for Murambi, assuring them that it
would be a “good place for our security.”

Bélie's 20-year old daughter, Fugénie Mushimiyimana, cited the reasons they gave
for the move
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They said there were no watchmen at the primary school, and that we were making
too much noise. They considered Murambi a more appropriate place because it was
1solated and had the necessary walchmen and water

Those who would even tually find themselves in Muramb; came from far and wide.
Marie Mujawimana lived in Bugaragara cellule, Buremera sector in eastern
Nyamagabe. Her father-in-law, casting his mind back to the events of the 1960s,
advised her and her hushand to leave, wamning them that the burnin g of Tutsi houses
was likely to be merely the prelude to disaster. What pushed her out, above all, was
the cold reception from people she had known for a long time.

Our neighbours never said a word to us and looked at us strangely.

Of her three children, only her seven year-old child was with her.

Like the primary school. public school buildings across the prefecture came to he
occupied by displaced Tutsis. On Sunday the 10", Marie and her husband left for
CERAI in Bugaragara cellule in the valley of the Mwogo river, where they found
many other displaced people. They camped on the balcony. The director of CERAL
Pie, and his wife opened up their home to them and did what they could to help them,
even when two men forced thejy way into Pie’s house.

They were Martin, Ntabambe's son, and Bahizi. Jonathan Kamanzi’s son. Everyone
[elt that it was the end of their life. Pie looked at them for g long time; they were
stamping their feet and yelling. They came inside the house. Others waited inside the
fence. They carried swards in therr belis, were armed with massues and small hoes,
They were dirty and drenched in blood and sweat, an indication of the work they had
been doing.

Marie’s husband was spared by a militiaman who knew him. Pie warned them that the
men were likely to return. The couple decided to split up. Marie went to ask for help
from a relative of her husband’s, and when this was refused, she turmed to a man
married to a Tutsi.

I begged Kamanzi to take me in. | told him my husband was at CERAJ I was
trembling. He sent his daughter to call my hushand, Kamanzi asked him to take me
with him since T was shaking so much. | asked his wife 1o bury me alive. T wasn’t
aware of what | was saying.

Taking advantage of the dark, Marie and her husband began walking to Nkungu
forest.

We saw soldiers at the roadblock in Nkungu., We begeed them to shoot us. They
asked us where we were going. We replied that we were looking for somewhere safi.
They imstructed us to go to the Parish of Gikongoro, taking the tarmac road, We
respected what the soldiers told us.

They were convinced a trap had been set for them when they ran into a band of, bur
they talked their wav out of the situation. By the evening, Maric reached Muramb;.
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Leaving Home for Murambi

Murambr was the final destination for 50,000 Tutsis, and cach of their journeys was
unique. Although many initially stayed in various public buildings, others who set out
after the transfers to Murambi had commenced on Sunday 10 April found themselves
shepherded directly to the technical school.

Marie-Chantal Mukamunana’s parents remembered that churches were regarded as
sacrosanct in 1959 and again in 1963, so in 1994 they advised their children to seek
shelter at the parish in Gikongoro. Marie-Chantal, who was 20, did not understand
their frame of reference and, along with her older sister and younger brother, she
chose to remain 1n their house in Gasaka. Within a few days, they made their way
through a maze of roadblocks to Murambi.

Suzanne Nyirasuku was already on edge when she saw houses on the hills of
Mudasomwa burning. She became even more distraught when she saw the columns of
people in a rush to reach the office of the préfecture, not far from her home in Nzega.
Suzanne was 40 at the time and had eight children. She went to chat with the refugees
at the pnimary school close to the bishopric.

The next day, they were told to move to the technical college which was still being
built on the basis that there was more space there and it was less exposed to danger.

The assurances proved attractive to Suzanne and her family.
My husband, eight children and T went to Murambi on Sunday [the 10" ].

Conscious of ethnic tensions, Hildegarde Kabagwira expected Habyarimana’s death
to bring about destruction. She was especially concermned about her husband whose
parents, she said, had been killed in front of him in Gikongoro when he was a child in
1963. In the eyes of his neighbours, this made him their sworn enemy. She and her
husband were in their home in sector Gikongoro when his relatives from commune
Karama came to the panish. When she took them food, she found out more about the
widespread nature of the threats and killings. As the days advanced, the houses of
Tutsi within the town began to be set on fire. There were about 100 people camped
mside and outside their home on Nyarusange hill, and it was among the first to be
ransacked and levelled on 12 April. A few hours before dawn, several grenades were
thrown at the house, leaving some dead, wounding many, and forcing all to disperse.
The following moming, Hildegarde, who was pregnant, and her husband returned to
their house to assess the situation.

We met the préfet, Laurent Bucyibaruta, there with a lot of gendarmes. They took the
wounded people to Kigeme hospital. My husband was taken away by the gendarmes:
they tied his hands behind his back with a rope and then beat him up badly. They said
he was the one who had thrown the grenades. Some of them went into our house and
claimed our possessions, taking even the tiles off our roof. Then they set it on fire.

Hildegarde and some of the others decided to go to Murambi.

Grice Mukantarindwa’s father was so confident about the links that bound him to his
neighbours that he saw no reason to leave home in cellule Gitantu, sector (nkongoro.
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He said they had been our friends for a long time and wouldn’t think of kiiling us.

Grice. who was 19, did not share this conviction. The stories of murder and turmaoil
she heard from relatives camping at the bishopric so unsettled her that she chose to go
to Murambi on Tuesday the 12" leaving her family at home.

Bernadette Mukamugenzi’s husband, Anastase Ruzindana, was a busimessman who
awned a bar. He was also active in the opposition Liberal Party. For this reason, they
took the precaution of sleeping in the open. But this was particularly uncomfortable
for Bemnadette who had recently given birth. They fell reassured when they found
their house in Kiraro, Karama, intact. But the Tutsis who passed by wamed them
against staying. The rest of the family went ahead to Gikongoro parish while ;
Bernadette waited for her children to return. Later, with her newborn tied to her back,
she and the children met up with her husband and they carmied on to Murambi.

“The Line was Infinite. “'r’_i"’c Couldn’t Count Them™

All these individuals became part of the convoy that snaked for several kilometres out
of town towards the hill-top technical school on the outskirts of Gikongoro town.
Alphonsine Mukaremera was collecting grass fo sleep on at the primary school when
she heard that everyone must proceed to Murambi.

Soldiers came to chase us away. The order bad been issucd by Bucyibaruta who was
there with the bourgmestre of Nyamagabe, Semakwavu. We left on foot, walking for
about three hours up to Murambi. There were very many of us, and there were
soldiers on all sides,

Domina Uwariraye found that numerous refugees had preceded her to Murambi.

Tradesmen and shopkeepers from Sikongoro had brought them there in vehicles. The
men who transported them include Martin Hategekimana, known as Majvambere;
Lamhbert, a driver at the bishoprie; Gallican, who ransacked many homes, and other
enfreprencurs.

Innocent Ndibyariye read the insults that were flung at them “as an indication of what
was to come.”

I noticed Erasto Kanimba. a doctor at the Nyamagabe health centre, and Fabien, a
businessman, in a military vehicle; a Defender Land Cruiser. On the way to
Murambi, the soldiers stopped outside my house. A lot of Tutsis went past my home.

“The soldicrs told them they were foreigners, and accused them of being the
enemies of Rwanda and of being arrogant.”

Nsabiyera was in Kabeza, along the road to Murambi. the alternoon of Sunday, 10
April.

At about 1:00 p.m., the residents of Murambi saw a long line of Tutsis coming fTom
the parish to the technical school. As 1 lived very close 1o the school. 1 followed this
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displacement closely. They were well guarded by gendarmes and no-one could elude
them. The line was infinite. We couldn’t count them. They kepl coming uniil the
evening. The whole operation was supervised by Bucyibaruta, Semakwavu and
Sebuhura.

‘Claude Singirankabo did nol expecl Habyarimana's death to have dramatic
consequences for the country, an opinion he said was shared by the people hving near
him in Gitwa, Remera sector, both Hutu and Tutsi. “We were just waiting for the
government to choose a leader to resume the negotiations with the inkotanyi.”
Because their cellule remained undisturbed until the eveming of Friday the 8" he
remained confident that the situation would stabilize even after he learned that many
Tutsis had settled at CERAL an indication, he believed, that the authorities could calm

the unrest.

His opinion changed on Saturday mormng, the 9" when he leamed from his children
that all the Tutsis in their cellule had left for the Parish of Gikongoro. On Sunday, he
appeared at CERAI at about 3:00 p.m. to visit some of his friends. Although a Hutu,
he was swept up in the displacement that day and had to march to Murambi. He
remembered clearly Semakwavu’s words announcing the move.

The préfet appeared with some other officials. Semakwavu began to speak. This 15
what he said- “You are in a place where we are unable to guarantee your security.
Morcover, you yourselves could be the cause of this insecurity. We have therefore
decided to take you to Murambi,”

As he realized the move concerned only Tutsis, Singirankabo tried in vain to slip out.

But the gendarmes, who were vigilant. made me stay with the Tulsis, saying that 1
could explain myself at Murambi. They made us form a queuc. We stretched as far as
nMurambi. It was not far, perhaps three kilometres. However, the road between the
diocese and Murambi was not cleared until 6:00 p.m. The gendarmes kept us under
intense scrutiny. Each group of ten Tutsis was guarded by a man armed with a gun
and with his finger on the trigger, ready to shoot if anyone dared to try and ship away.

Singirankabo was set free at the Kabeza roadblock, along with some Hutu women.
However, those who met the definition of the “enemy” were led mto the school.
Singirankabo acknowledges that he helped to massacre them on the 217
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“WE BUILT ROADBLOCKS OUT OF BRANCHES...
The Tutsis Were Completely Trapped”

Between the outbreak of war in late 1990 and the genocide in 1994, roadblocks had
become 2 familiar part of the politicai landscape in Rwanda. Official justifications
were usually linked to the arrest of soldiers who had deserted the front, the need to
stop infiltration by the RPF or to control people without identity cards or with forged
documents. But in April 1994, a vast number of new roadblocks were set up, and their
purpose and use evolved quickly to meet the specific requirements of the genocide.

The decision 1o establish roadblocks throughout Gikongoro was taken at a crucial
summit on 13 April, together with another key resolution—to bring Tutsis together 1
public buildings, such as churches, schools and commune offices. The discussion,
chaired by Bucyibaruta, with the assistance of Simba and Sebuhura, took place at the
premises of CIPEP, a training centre in Gikongoro town. Virtually all the deputy-
préfets and bourgmestres were 1n attendance, as well as a number of men who held
important positions in Gikongoro, including the head of the Electrogaz station, Justin
Ayurugari; the public prosecutor, Serge Semigabo, and the head of intelligence. "It
was this meeting”, said Désir¢ Ngezahayo, “which officially sanctioned the start of
the massacre of Tutsis.”

The order to set up roadblocks was handed down on 13 Aprl. The speech given by
the préfet blended perfectly with that of Simba and of Captain Sebuhura.

In Gikongoro, as in the rest of Rwanda, a dense network of checkpoints became a
central element to the success of the genocide. A uscful mechanism for moenitoring
movement, it was the most effective way to close off escape roules o Tutsis.
Everyone was obliged to present their 1D card at roadblocks. As IDs specified
ethnicity, showing a Tutsi [D card was tantamount 1o a death sentence. People without
an 1D card were presumed to be Tutsis too apprehensive to show their cards. Anyone
who was judged to “look” Tutsi was taken aside. Manned by armed militiamen who
were frequently drunk, approaching a roadblock was a terrifying experience.
Thousands were murdered at roadblocks, or abducted from there and kalled elsewhere.
Waomen were raped nearby, families were separated. and money and valuables were
conhiscated.

Fn route to Murambi. a string of these “one-way” gates spread out across Gikongoro
town and the surrounding areas punctuated, and sometimes cut short the refugees’
flight. For the survivors, taunts, rape and the assassination of their companions mark
their memories of their encounters with armed militiamen at roadblocks.

koadblocks were raised on the roads that led mto Gikongoro town from Cyangugu in
the West, from the East along the road from Butare, and from the North on the road
from Karama. In Gikongoro town itself, there were several more at major road
intersections that all led towards the dusty roadside commercial hub of Kabeza and
eventually to the final roadblock outside the Murambi school. Those at Nzega,
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Kigeme, Gasaka, Petrorwanda, Gatyazo, Gataba, Kato and Kabeza, helped to channel
thousands of Tutsis to Murambi. But many others found that one of these roadhlocks
terminated their journey absolutely—their bodies were disposed of in nearby
lavatories and make-shift roadside graves.

West of Gikongore Town: Kigeme, Gasaka and Nzega

Those displaced from Mudasomwa, who headed east to Gikongoro town, traversed
multiple roadblocks along the way. They first had to navigate one in the trading
enclave of Kigeme, which was initially erected near a kiosk to stop them from going
onto the main road and gaining access to Kigeme hospital.

Philippe Ngendabanga, whose shop was very close by, recalled that the strongman of
Kigeme, the businessman Vénuste Gasana, and Rwamukaya, were in charge of
operations there. He named the people who turned up to work the first shift.

=  Pierre Mureramanzi, a doctor in Kigeme. He works in Kigali,
= (nisiga;

# Evarste, Tatiana’s son, in exile;

=  Kamujyi, in exile.

As planned, Tutsis were killed, Ngendabanga recounted.

The mulitia stopped a car coming from the Kitabi tea factory. Two civilians and two
gendarmes were inside. The militia wanted to go for the civilians, arguing that they
were Tutsis. They didn’t have identity cards, but their appearance classified them as
Tutsis.

One of the gendarmes climbed out of the car and went to discuss the case with Gasana
while the other watched over the two men. Emmanuel, an employee at a pharmacy in
Kigeme, confirmed that one of them was indeed a Tutsi from Mudasomwa.

The militia executed him on the spol. The gendarme who had remained with him
stood up for him, but his colleague, who had spoken with Gasana warmned him off by
saying: “If you decide to defend him, we’ll bury you in the same grave as him.” The
victim was handed over (v Nahaman. He tried to dash away, but in vain. He was
brought back by Sibomana, who lives in Bihanga cellule, and Emmanuel, who was
freed from prison after he confessed his crimes. Nahaman is at liberty.

Roadblocks were strategically moved to new areas once a locality had been emptied
of Tutsis. The one by Ngendabanga’s store was in place for two days and another one
was set up in Kigeme, but this time near the home of Israél Nsengiyumva.

The MDR flag was always flying in his courtyard. Habyarimana, in prison,
Nshutiraguma; Munyenkwaya, who lived near the roadblock and 1 remnforced the first
Leam.

Militiamen who had guns also gave us a helping hand, especially:

»  Harelimana, in extle;
e Kamuvi;
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« [Evariste Nyiringabo, who lives i Kigal:
« Evarste, Tatiana’s son, in exile.

This particular roadblock, according 1o Ngendabanga, was intended as a protective
shield.

It was based on an understanding between Gasana and the Bishop of Kigeme. The
militia of Mudasomwa wanted 10 invade the Episcopal church to kill Monsignor
Alexis Bilindabagabo and the other Tutsis. Gasana, working with Frédéric Bakame",
the councillor of sector Gasaka, pushed them back, saying that they would be dca.il
with by the mulitia in Kigeme. The bishop hribed them to avoid bloodshed mn his

backyard.

The bishop also gave us, who were at the roadblock, 3.000 francs 1o hold back
troublemakers. Later, when the militia from Mudasomwa hegan to get on with
Gasana's group, the lishop asked the gendarmerie to evacuale the Tutsis; they were
taken to Murambi and a small group, mostly the injured, remained at the hospital.

When there were few Tutsis left in Kigeme, the roadblock was again shifted, this ime
on {o the tarmac road near the Gasaka primary school, just in front of the house
Bakame’s house. Ngendabanga stood guard there with:

e  Callixte Ndamukunda, at liberty in Munombe cellule:
= (Gatete, atlargel

s Nshutiraguma, in hiding;

= Kalinda.

A group of about 15 Tutsis were brought to this roadblock after the 21 April massacre
at Murambi by Sebuhura’s driver, a gendarme known as CDR. Ngendahayo 1s one of
the men who murdered them.

CDR was in connivance with Rwamukwaya and Ruzindana. CDR told them to gel
out of the vehicle, on the pretext that it had just broken down. As soon as they did so,
he fired several times in the air. This was the agreed signal for the work to begin. We
used our massues and machetes, The gendarmes left afier that. We dragged therr
bodics into the school toilets.

There was also a checkpoint in Gasaka town, directly outside the house of Fran¢ois
Gasana. Juvénal Munyakavanza, a shopkeeper, took his turn manmng it, and was

there at least once a week. He recalled the names of others who were there
continuoushy:

e Murwanashyaka, released afier he pleaded guilty, He was very formidable
and used to walk around with a hammer. He used it to kill an old woman,
Mélanie, in front of the gendarmes at Gasana's house; .

o  Hamudum, n exile;

= Nzabandora, released;

s  Haruna, who killed a lot of children;

= Bicakumuyange, in exile;

Saleh Mbakurivemo, He also operated at the Gatyazo roadblock.

(R} . . rive pes fasayaars = £
Bakame was released from prison on account of his advanced age.
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“Whenever Sebuhura showed up, Gasana used to tell the militia at the
roadblock: “Kill all the Tutsis. Don’t be afraid; the order was given by our
authorities.”™

e oA e el

: Every time we caught a Tutsi, we used to say “take him to the councillor,” meaning
£ that he would be killed. Two Tutsis from Mudasomwa died in my presence. We
executed them below the roadblock, using this expression,

. Further down the paved road, in the direction of Gikongoro town, there was a
roadblock m the small commercial centre of Nzega in Gasaka. David Rwamihigo said
that he and other militiamen were told to put it in place after a conversation between
Semakwavu and (Gasana m the latter’s home.

We would take it in turns to be there. Gasana already had a gun and some grenades.
The bourgmestre and Sebuhura both visited us; Sebuhura came with his subordinates
and left firearms with Gasana. They said it was for their defence against the fnyenzi.

The importance of roadblocks in concentrating Tutsis at Murambi featured in the
conversations.

They said they weren’t so wormied anymore since the Tutsis were under their control
in Murambi. The gendarmes from Gikongoro often came to see us at the roadblock.
They gave us instructions to look for the Tutsis who hadn’t vet reached Murambi.

Saleh Mbakuriyemo, imprisoned in Gikongoro, has pled guilty to committing crimes
at the roadblocks established at Nzega and Gatyazo when he was only 17. But he was
reluctant to provide details about his specific actions, repeatedly dismissing questions
with the comment: “Suffice it to say that | killed many people.” He himsell hived in
cellule Nzega.

(iasana gave us the order to construct a roadblock at Nzega on the tarmac road. From
then on, all the men were obliged to take turns and stop the Tutsis from getting

| through. Some of them would try to bypass the roadblock by going through the
bushes,

Mbakunyemo adnuts that he stood guard there “permanently.” He mentioned the
names of some of his colleapues:

. Munyangoga, at liberty in Wrega;
- Martin, Mugema, Murwanashyaka and Joseph Nkurikiyumukiza, all at
liberty.

He named the men who helped to orchestrate activities there.

Gasana led the hunt for Tutsis in my sector, Gasaka. He received guns from

Semalowavy and Sebubura,
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Gikongoro Town and Eastwards on the Road to Butare: Gatyazo,
Petrorwanda, the Roundabout and Taba

The most deadly of all the roadblocks was famed to be Gatyazo, located just a couple
of kilometres east of Nzega. Those Tutsis who came mto Gikongoro town would
confront it before reaching the parish, CERAI or the primary school. It was situated at
an mtersection where the main road from Cyangugu divides. with the right side
leading directly into the commercial section of Gikongoro town, and the left branch
going up a hill to the parish and then on to the office of the préfecture.

Orders from Gasana and some gendanmes, remembers Mbakunivemo, led to the
ercction of Gatyazo.

| liked going to this place often because that's where you could find Tutsis. The
guards included civilians, ke Mapengu and Fidéle in Gikongoro prison, as well as
gendarmes.

Mbakurtyemo described Gatyazo as “formidable;” he helped make it the scene of
numnerous deaths.

We cut the throats of around 10 Tutsis there. In order not to confuse them with Hutus,
we first asked them for their identity cards. They couldn’t run; the gendarmes were
vigilant. We bunied therr bodies under a bush below the Catholic bishoprie. T heard
they've been dug up. We took them into a recess which was out of the way. Most of
them were killed in the evening. Except for a man called Bizuru, | didn™t know the
other victims,

She was staymng at the home of a Hutu friend in Gasaka when Mane-Chantal
Mukamunana heard Semakwavu telling Hulus, through a megaphone, to take Tutsis
in their houses to the road so they could be driven to Murambi for their own security.

There were roadblocks everywhere. We were on foot and the bourgmestre’s vehicle
was behind vs with armed gendarmes. At Gatyazo, the bourgmesire took the road that
leads to Gikongoro wown and we walked with the gendarmes to Murambi. The men at
the Gatyazo roadblock had swords. They accompanied us and we left under a torrent
of mmsults, They told us; “Go, you'll retum when Habvarimana is resurrected,”
meaning we wouldn’t come back.

It was at Gatyazo where Mane-Chantal and her companions “realized what awaited us
i Murambi.” Vital Twagirayezu was fortunate enough to leave Murambi the day
before the massacre with the assistance of Madeleine Raffin of Cantas. He passed
through Gatyazo in the opposite direction and recognized a number of the men there.

¢ (Gasimba, in exile;

= Rusatsi.

s Habimana. He was arrested and then set free. He’s living in Gatvazo;
= Ruberanziza, in prison;

= Elisé, in Gikongoro prison;

e MNyabuhene, also in Gikongoro prison.

Mbakurivemo came across many roadblocks, in every direction, because he saw the
exodus of Tutsis as an opportunity to empty out their homes, most of which, he said,
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had already been ransacked by their immediate neighbours. He often went to the
Petrorwanda station in the direction of Butare.

I'would have to cross three roadblocks to get there, namely:

¢ At the place known as the roundabout. Several roads intersected there,
including the one that led to Murambi and the police station;

* Near the two-storey house on the road to Taba, which goes on to the
gendarmerie camp;

* At Petrorwanda,

They were well puarded. The Tutsis couldn’t eross them.

Jean-Pierre  Sindikubwabo recalls the militiamen who were permanently at
Petrorwanda.

« Abecl, who's been released:

Isale Msanzimana, released:

Alphonse Niyonsenga;
=  Ateacher currently at ACEPER and who lives very near Musafin's house:
= Yvette, in prison.

As a street-child, Boniface Kalisa, 13, spent his nights in an abandoned house near the
central market in Gikongoro town with some other young boys. His Tutsi mother
went to Gikongoro parish, his brother was taken for a Tutsi and killed, and his own

life was in constant jeopardy.

I was ncarly lynched at the roadblock near the Petrorwanda station. Abel and
Alphonse were part of the team there. In fact Alphonse saved my life by telling the
others that [ was just a mayibobo [street-child] and therefore didn’t belong to any

ethnic group.

On the 19", a driver who knew Boniface and who was taking cassava to Cyangugu
agreed to give hun a hift.

The journey showed me just how bad things were. We crossed more than seven
roadblocks between Gikongoro and Cyangugu. We were stopped everywhere and told
to produce our TDs. T was still a minor.” Luckily, 1 didn’t look Tutsi. The driver also
defended mé, saying | was just a kid living on the street.

At Gatyazo, there were also gendarmes. One of the civilians was someone nicknamed

Mapengu. At the roadblock in Gasaka, we found Gasana holding a gun. He wanted to
show that he was a powerful person.

" ldentity cards were issued at the ape of 15,
¥
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Northwards From Gikongoro Town

Coming from Karama commune n the north, Tutsis passed through a roadblock at
Gataba, where there is a concentration of shops in Uwinyana cellule, Kiraro sector. As
they approached Murambi, they also met militiamen at a roadblock in Kato, by a :
stream carrying the same name, which delineated the border between the communes :
of Nyamagabe and Karama.

ur

Bemnadette Mukamugenzi showed a paper for a doctor’s appointment to all the guards
at the Gataba and Kato roadblocks in the hope that this would allow her to pass. |

Al Gataba, they let me go by, Only Harerinka was manning the onc near Kato, His
image is engraved upon my memory because he was so evil. 1 told him that my
children were seriously ill. He replied: “It’s these little snakes that vou call children?”
He made us sit down on the ground, then made us stand. This game went on for a few
minutes. He poked my children with a stick and exclaimed: “Is it true that these
snakes don’t die?” They say that the worst assassin is the one who uses his machete
or another weapon, but there’s also the one who kills yvou with his words, In the end.
he let me leave.

in Kato, she stumbled upon another roadblock. But she was too scared to even
approach it when she saw “some furiously angry interahamwe” standing there.

I couldn’t even veer around it. I tumed back and spent the night with an acquaintance
m Kato. I was camrying my newbom child on my back and 1 didn’t have the strength
to walk. The following day, very early in the morning, I set off for Gikongoro. A man
named Gakwaya accompanied me, When we got to the Kato roadblock, we met a
group of Tutsis who were coming from Murambi looking for us. It was my husband
and some other men. We left together for Murambi.

As a Hut, Claude Singirankabo did not have the same sense of dread as Bernadette
when he advanced towards the Kato roadblock, on his way back from trymg to deliver
food to a Tutsi family at Murambi. But he was disturbed by what he saw there.

Two victims were laid out by the roadblock which was being supervised by:
= Frédénc Segatwa, released from prison and living in Nyamifumba cellule. He

is now a gacaca judge in the Murambi jurisdiction.
e Kayihura, som of Meschack, in exile,

The Final Roadblocks

Two other roadblocks, leading directly to Murambi and controlled by militiamen and
gendarmes, were regarded as particularly deadly. One was situated Just below the
SOS Gikongoro buildings in Kabeza, a small collection of shops barely one kilometre
south of Murambi. The second was directly at the entrance to the school in Murambi.

One of the men who helped to construct the Kabeza roadblock is Emmanuel
Nyirimbuga. He had gone to Kabeza on 11 April “to look for work and news.” At

about 10:00 a.m. David Karangwa, a clerk at the district court in Nyamagabe, and a
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deputy-préfet, Frodouald Havugimana, who both lived in Murambi cellule, arrived
together with a gendarme corporal known as CDR who often acted as Sebuhura’s
driver. The three men conferred together; an hour later, they emerged and addressed
the people standing close to the shops and bars. They gave clear instructions,

Nymmbuga said.

They told us to set up a roadblock, saying that nobody should object because the
order had come from higher up, meaning the bourgmestre and Sebuhura, We
immediately formed a group to stand guard, including:

= Appolinaire Nshimiyimana, in Gikongoro prison;

= Feheen, also known as Bingwa, who lives in Kigali;

= Ipnace, Bayigamba’s son; he's probably at home;

¢ Jean Mwongereza, he lives in Kigali;

= (Gakwandi, deceased:

= Célestin, a builder who lives in Nyamata;

s  Emmanuel Mudeyi, in exile;

= Aloys Nkuriza, also in exile;

= Eugene Kabengera, in Gikongoro prison. He has pleaded not guilty and is a
nephew of the former deputy-préfet, Havugimana;

= Japhet Twagirayezu; he's broken out of prison on two occasions;

= Frangois Mudaheranwa, in Gikongoro prison.

We built the roadblock out of branches we cut in the forest just below the SOS
building. We were ordered to make sure none of the refugees went back home
through the roadblock. By contrast, the door was wide open to anyone heading
towards Murambi. Every day, all the roads leading to Murambi were packed with
frightened Tutsis. Some of them had brought their belongings with them, including
livestock. Meanwhile, every part of Gikongoro was now under sicge. And we could
see from the injurics of the passers-by that some evil acts were being perpetrated in
the countryside. The Tutsis were completely trapped, since the roadblock at the
entrance was being carefully guarded by the gendarmes, who were also patrolling
amongst them. The gendarmes were assisted by civilians, including:

= Matusera, who lives in Nyamata;

s CGahonzire; he lives in Murambi:

» Karamage, he’s been released and lives in Murambi:
= MNezabahimana, in exile.

Sebuhura was closely momitoring the movement of Tutsis. He told us to.be careful
and thorough in the job he’d given us.

Domina Uwariraye was not surprised that they met no resistance as they went through
the roadblocks at Kabeza and at the entrance to the school.

Nobody asked us anything since they knew what awaited us in that place where they
were grouping Tutss,

Déo Nsengiyumva, who now works as a guard at Gikongoro central prison, was
among the first people at Murambi. He was 24 and had been living with a Hut friend
in Taba, between Kitazigurwa and Karambi cellules in Ngiryi sector, Nyamagabe. He
said that in the early days, there were some Hutus. However, their families came to
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take them back “and the Tutsis found themselves alone in the camp.” Their numbers
quickly swelled, until there were no new armvals. |

In the first few days, Tutsis were not kalled at the roadblock in Kabeza, Everything
they had on them would be taken. and then they would proceed to Muramb.

After a while, there were so many of us that the killers expected resistance if the
numbers were not checked. And so at one point, Tutsis were stopped from entering
the school. Instead, they were executed at the Kabeza roadblock. We were told that
there was a certain Nsabiyera there.

Nyimmbuga smid that Karangwa and Havugimana came to Kabeza to announce this
change in strategy, after discussions with Sebuhura.

When Sebuhura reahized just how many Tutsis there were in Murambi, he met with
Karangwa and Havugimana. T remember clearly that it was a Wednesday.
Afierwards, Karangwa and Havugimana came to tell us that our task at the roadblock
had now changed. They said the large number of Tutsis in Murambi could be harmful
to the local Hutu population.

“They told us to start checking the identity cards of everyone who came through
and to execute on the spot anyone whose card showed them to be Tutsi.”

That was when the phrase: “Take him to the councillor™ was comed. What it really
meant was “go and kill this Tutsi.”

The new orders were implemented without delay.

We took each one we caught straight to the hollow that was used as a lavatory by the
family of a man called Alphonse. He worked for Electrogaz and is now in exile. That
hollow became a mass grave for the Tutsis. While 1 was there, we threw more than 20
people in there on various occasions.

Frédéric Munyemana, 49, was working as a butcher in Kabeza and described the
roadblock there as “fearsome.™

By 14 April, Semakwavu began condemning the Tutsis to death and many didn’t
reach the camp. Armed with a megaphone, he used a van which belonged to
Nyamagabe commune. He went through our cellule three times and told us to unite to
fight the Tutsis, He went with:

= David Karangwa, in exile;

= Frodouald Havegimana, in exile;

» Vincent de Paul Nsabiyera, in prison;
e A cerfain Félicien who lives in Kigali.

[ used to always sce these four people in Kabeza, giving orders. Semakwavu and

sebuhura visited them all the time. The roadblock at Kabeza became impassable
after these two officials told us to kill Tutsis on their way to the camp.
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Nsabiyera would not disclose his personal actions at the roadblocks, and instead
blamed Karangwa, Havugimana and the councillor of sector Remera, Frédéric
Mureramanzi, for taking charge of Kabeza.

Mane-Goretti Mukantarindwa, living in sector Gikongoro, became anxious about her
family at Murambi, and persuaded her Hutu husband to accompany her there to check
up on them. They set off with three other men and talked their way through several
roadblocks.

The roadblock that we could not pass was the one at Kabeza. We were stopped by
four militiamen. Their collcagues were 1n a ravine trying to capture a cow. They
heard the signal and climbed up, brandishing their weapons. They were happy at the
prospect of killing so many Tutsis, but they immediately realized that the men with
me were not Tutsi. The milittamen included Senuma’s two sons, one of my hushand’s
cousins and many interahamwe from sector Remera.

They turned back, and her husband and the men gained entry to Murambi through
another route.

Executions were carried out in broad daylight, even in the face of foreign onlookers
such as the French Caritas worker, Madeleine Raffin. Frédéric Munyemana and
Emmanuel Nyirimbuga said she was forced to stand by as two workers from the
Bishopric of Gikongoro, Baziki and his sister, Yvette Mukamurera, were murdered,
She tned to go through Kabeza, driving them in a Suzuki.

A gendarme accompanied them. When they reached our roadblock, this gendarme
signalled to us thal we should stop them. Karangwa and Havugimana were there.
They gave us the order Lo scize the two Tutsis. The girl was killed right in front of the
French woman’s eyes by Aloys Nkuriza. Her brother tried to run away, but in vain.
We caught him a few metres away. He was hit with a massue by Vénant Ngwije,
who's in Gikongoro prison. The gendarme fired a shot in the air so Madeleine would
believe he'd tried to save the two victims. But 1t was just for show. Afterwards,
Madeleine went back to the bishopric with her bodyguard.

Laurence [a pseudonym] reached Murambi alive, but only after she had been raped at
the roadside. When the people in her area began sharpening their machetes on Sunday
the 10", she had left her village m Kinyamakara for her family's home in sector
Mugano, Nyamagabe. But her sister denounced her as “half Tutsi” and urged the
militia to kil her and her children. When she saw large groups of Tutsis heading
towards Murambi, Laurence followed suit, and then ran into her brother’s fiancée
along the way.

When we reached the roadblock which led towards where the memorial site is now,
the interahamwe killed all the men and a few women. Some other women, mecluding

my brother’s fiancée and 1, were taken to bushes not far from the site to be raped. I
was raped by five strangers,

Distressed by the crowds of hungry people in the school, Laurence turned around and
left Murambu,

Brigitte Mukamana’s Hutu husband, a former soldier. and her son, a FAR soldier,
were able to keep her from hanm during the genocide. She lived near the school and
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named some of the men, in addition to Havugmmana and Karangwa, who reported for
work at the Kabeza checkpomnt.

R

» Zéphame, who was freed because of old age:

» Schigi; the roadblock was in front of his house;

» Mbanzabugabo; he sull lives in Kabeza and has never been imprisoned even
though he is a génocidaire;

e Nzeyimana, alias Kajangwe; he was released from prison because of ill
health:

= Appolinaire, in Gikongoro prison;

» Ruburajabo, alias Gitwe, also in Gikongoro prison.

B e . T

Brigitte said she saw the bodies of the Tutsis they killed thrown into a large grave,
which was referred to as “chez le conseiller”™

Everything they did was first discussed in the house of a certain Karera. It usually
served as a bar, but during the genocide it was used as an office. Karcra was sct free

because of his confession.

The Tutsis who were excouted at this roadblock include:

= Félicien Nemeyinkiko,

* Mukeshimana, Félicien™s daughter, aged 15;

= Anatolic, Félicien's daughter;

= MNyirantashya, my aunt who was living in Gasaka;
s Cécile Nyirantibangwa, Nyirantashya’s daughter;
s Siméon Nsanzabarinda:

= Kanamugire;

= Kanyemera;

s  Mukamurigo;

« An old woman called Isabelle.

The kst goes on but these were the only victims 1 was able to identify. Afier they
died, T got scared and stayed mside my house. | kept heaning the sound of blows, but I
couldn’t see who was being struck.

Marie-Chantal Mukamunana added to the list.

They were in such a rage that they even cut down some of our companions with
machetes right in fromt of ws, for example Cansilde Nyirabarera and her
eranddanghter who lived near us. Rucakumuyange and Gasongo, both 1n exile, were
both at the Kabeza roadblock,

Those fortunate enough to pass through the roadblocks were at first relieved to have
completed their journey. But they soon realized the trap into which they had been led.

And if they had any thoughts about escape, they soon found out that measures had
been taken to keep them from successfully leaving the camp.
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6
“SURROUNDED BY AN IRON FENCE”

Despite the constant statements from officials that the refugees had noth ing to feel
anxious about, they doubted that the muilitiamen and gendarmes who lined the
enclosure along the perimeter of the school grounds were there to keep them from
harm. Physical and verbal threats from their guards made them inereasingly sceptical.
Therr inability to venture down from Murambi hill prevented them from fetching food
from their homes or even purchasing it from the nearby shops, and from seeking oul
the medical care withheld from the wounded. As a result, some lost their lives.

“To Ensure Our Security”

Emmanuel Hangari wonders how, at the age of 22, he had faith in what his officials
told him.

The préfet called us together; Captain Sebuhura was also there. They promised to
watch over us and brought in many gendarmes. And fools that we were, we believed
they were there as reinforcements.

In reality, said, Julienne Umugwaneza, the soldiers were there “so that no-one could
get away” and to make it impossible for them even te buy food.

The soldiers were themselves quite blunt at times, especially after they had been
drnnking. Jeannette Mukamugema heard what they had to say.

They used to insult us, saying: “You indulged in Habyarimana’s generosity and then
you killed him.”

Hutus in the area, like Frédéric Munyemana, could see the measures that were being
taken 1o confine the Tutsis to the camp.

There were gendarmes and militiamen at the roadblock just at the entrance to the
school, a strategic location for monitoring their movements. They were forced to
remain shut up in the camp because it was surrounded by an iron fence. Some
gendarmes and militiamen patrolled the perimeter day and night so that no one could
get out by making a hole in the enclosure.

The armed presence of gendarmes and militiamen around her only served to heighten
Grace Mukantarindwa’s feelings of insecurity,

They didn’t come into the camp but encircled it to frighten us. They scemed hesitant
to come mside because there were 50 many of us, The buildings and courtyard were
teerming with people, some of them injured. Thev weren’t given any medical
attention,

Sunen Mutangana was similarly troubled by the neglect of the wounded.
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There must have been around 50,000 people or more, Quite a few had been cut by !
machetes on their way to Murambi and had sometimes lost a lot of blood. No doctor

came to see them, not even the Red Cross, :

The days she spent at Murambi, said Marie Mujawimana, could be summed up in a
few words: “Hunger, mistrust, thirst, filth and anxiety.”

Unable to endure the conditions, some tried to make their way through the fence. But
as Nsabiyera confirmed, such attempts were rarely successful, and only brought about
a reinforcement of the human barmicade around the camp.

Those who tried to get oul came up against the machetes and massues of the
interahamwe who roamed around the camp. Also we, the local people, had created a
militia to round them up. And Captain Sebuhura increased the number of gendarmes.

The official promises were belied, in the eves of Valérie Mukamana, by the freedom
with which the interahamwe were able to pelt them with stones.

The men fought back against these minor assaults. We led a really miserable life in
Murambi.

What made the situation truly unbearable, for Valérie and many others, was the
constant hunger and thirst.

We didn’t have anything to eat, nor to drink. No-one stepped in to feed us. Worse
still, we didn’t have water to drink nor to wash or clean the buildings.

She was lucky and was able to leave the school on Monday, 18 Apnl three days
before the killings began. She left behind her husband, Alexis Uwineza, and
thousands of others, to face thege bleak conditions.
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“FACING DEATH THROUGH HUNGER AND THIRST”

Suspecting that their stay at Murambi could last several days, some refugees brought
food, water and cooking utensils. Others did not think they would be gone for long, or
left in a panic and did not have the presence of mind, or the time, to make the
necessary preparations. What supplies they did bring with them were quickly divided
and disappeared. Those with money found it of little use as there was nowhere to
purchase food. They were unable to fetch provisions from home or crops from the
surrounding fields. The water pipes were cut and food assistance from Caritas and the
Rwandese Red Cross, as well as from Hutu friends, rarely made it past the
roadblocks. At the same time, there was no let up in the intermittent assaults.

Suzanne Nyirasuku spoke for many when she said that she felt “abandoned and
alone” during her week at Murambi.

Even if they had not killed us, we would have died of starvation. In fact some did die
of hunger. You cannot imagine the nights of anguish and despair that we Tived
through before the massacres. It was a time of extreme deprivation during which no-
ome offered us any comfort

Féheité Mukamuganga was hungry like cveryone else, even though she lived a mere
10-20 metres from the school. Her Hutu husband had died some years earlicr, and her
children had gone to live with their paternal relatives.

We were gnawed by hunger and thirst. As it was so close to my house, T went back
several times, secretly, to look for something to cat. It was a nightmarish situation as
the water pipes had been smashed by Havugimana and David, who worked in the
court in Nyamagabe. And the hunger made people angry. Still, nobody could move
more than a few metres from the school, even Just to collect water from a nearby
stream, in case they were torn limb by limb. It was obvious that we were going to he
eliminated. All the same, we were left to contemplate our deaths for sometime.

Francine Mutuyimana, a child of 11, lost all sense of time. The two weeks she spent
there “felt like years because of the torment we endured.”

“They Took a Tree Trunk to Break the Pipe”

Hunger set in soon after Tutsis began armving at Murambi. Even the few who had
brought something could not get their hands on firewood to cook the food. The harsh
conditions were compounded by fact that the camp was overcrowded in the extreme.
Emmanuel Hangar1 described the situation to which they were reduced as “truly
pitiful.”

Along with hunger eame thirst and filih, particularly due to the lack of water. People
tried to cook anything just to put something in their stomachs. A few had brought

along foodstuffs which they prepared in empty o1l uns. You had to see thesc
“rasseroles” for yourself and what they put 1n them.
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In addition to being hungry, Tutsis in Murambi, said Emmanuel Nyinmbuga, “were
condemned to being thirsty.”

On the might of 13-14 April, Havugimana, David Karangwa and a man called
Frédéric Mureramanzi, a driver who became councitlor of Remera sector. damaged
the pipe carrying water to Murambi camp. Electrogaz blocked the pipe completely
rather than mending 1t

Claude Singirankabo was taking food to friends in Murambi when he came upon the
three men.

I found Mureramanzi, Karangwa and Havugimana in deep conversation about how o
cut the water pipe to Murambi, They were standing over-a gutter where it passed
through. They took a tree trunk to break the pipe. Seeing that this didn’t work,
Karangwa tned with a big stone and damaged it. From that day om, the Tutsis no
longer had anything to drink.

“There was nowhere to get water,” said Valérie Mukamana.

Scavenging for Water

Some took the risk of sneaking out to the spring a few metres from the school, or the
stream at Kato on the border of Karama commune. But with armed peasants Iying in
wait, this was a perilous undertaking. The soldiers who guarded the area at first
accompanied Déo Nsengiyumva, and others, to fetch water from the spring.

But after a short while, we could no longer go to the spring becausce peasants with
machetes were watching out for us.

Bélie Mukandamage regretted that she had not brought anything for her two
grandchildren to cat. But what upset her most was her inability to quench their thirst
when there was a water source so nearby.

Whoever tried to the spring was slashed with machetes by the peasants, The residents
who lived close lo the school had sworn that they would kill us one day, We lived
through some really gnm trmes, fecling on edge and overwhelmed.

The small spring could not provide water for everybody and some were obliged to go
to the stream in Kato. “In all of these places,” recalled Mane-Chantal Mukamunana,
“they were chased and some of them were killed.” But she was among the lucky few.

I managed to sprint ahead of the killers on every occasion. The men usually had w go
with us. No-one brought us anything to eat all the time we were in Murambi. In
addition to the hunger and tharst, we were terronised by the interahamwe. Every day
brought more anger and despair,

CUne of the men who died when he went to find water 15 Mane-Gorett
Mukantarmdwa's brother, Laurent Hakizimana.
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In their determination to counter their fate, some found an alternative Waler Source
within the school itself, according to Annonciata Muhayimana, but she did not specify
how long this lasted.

They punctured a water pipe that ran through the school yard. And so we had water to
drink and for washing oursclves,

Nsabiyera saw some of those forced out by need.

They pushed themselves through the fence and invaded the fields close by to look for
sweel potatoes ete... Others got as far as the Murambi ravine to collect water.

Attempts to steal away from the camp were held up as an example of the hazard
Tutsis posed for Hutus in the area, explained Jeannette Mukamugerma,

There were always people on the lookout. When they saw our men and children, they
went to tell the commune authoritics that the Tutsis had attacked the Hutus.

It did not take long for Semakwavu and other officials to come to Murambi.

They asked us to tell them about our needs. People spoke up a lot, They begged the
bourgmestre to find a way to take the injured and the sick away for ill medical care.
The lack of water and the foul toilets meant hygiene was terrible. Fools that we all
were, we didn’t realize that what we were saying was alrcady well known and had
been done intentionally. Or perhaps we had grasped this but dida’t want to remain
silent,

Forbidden Assistance

As Claude Singirankabo discovered, Hutus who wanted to give a helping hand to their
Tutsi friends found their efforts thwarted at the roadblocks that led to the camp. On
Monday the 117, Singirankabo went to Murambi to speak with a Tutsi fricnd, Héléne
Nyirambwa, Her family had entrusted him with all their possessions and he had
promised to hring them food as often as he could. On the first occasion. he presented
her with a sack of sweet potatoes. But when he tried to return, the militia on duty at
the Kabeza roadblock harred his way,

Karangwa, who has been released from prison and Semanzi, Mureramanzi’s younger
brother, and others, said they had information that T was bringing weapons to the
Tutsis. They said that my brother, Gaspard Kayonga, who was a gendarme, was
supplying them to me. It was all a pack of lies just to intimidate me. The following
day, they went to see David Karangwa, alias Rufigi, 10 accuse me, along with
someone called Karekezi, of harbouring Tutsis, Our homes were searched and when
they didn’t find anyone, they decided that we must have taken them elsewhere,

Smgirankabo said he tried again to take food to Murambi.
Karangwa madc 1t clear that he would kill me. That day [ ran mto Mukanzayire; she

was bringing food to her mother but had to turn back. She was almost hit by
Muberankiko's massue.
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NGOs in the arca were given little opportunity to offer their services to the needy n
Murammbi, as Simon Mutangana pointed out.

o g s e

While we were dying of hunger, the Caritas diocesan storerooms were full to the brim
with rice and beans. If the militia had just left us, we would have died of hunger
anyway. Hunger is also the reason why we could not hold out for very long on the
217

Felicien Murengerantwali, the president of the Rwandese Red Cross in Gikongoro, is
now in Gikongoro central prison.

The authoritics made no plans abowt food and medicine.

Murengerantwali attended a discussion chaired by Bucyibaruta in the office of the
préfecture to examine the refugees’ needs. The other participants included Rusatsi, the
deputy-préfet in charge of social affairs; Bishop Norman Kayumba, the Anglican
bishop of Kigeme; Father Edouard, the vicar general of the Bishopric of Gikongoro
and Madeleine Raffin of Caritas. It was agreed that they would be given food and that
Murengerantwali and Raffin would lead and co-ordinate the activities. Despite this,
sard Murengentwali, the roadblocks remained an obstacle.

They didn’t open up the roadblocks to allow our vehicles into the camp. They
unloaded the supplies and told Madeleine to go back. She gave up going to Murambi
when the interahamwe grabbed two Tutsis from her car. This was a little before 18
April.

Nsabiyera was well aware of the needless misery at Murambi.

Certain things showed us that the Tutsis were facing death through hunger and thirst.
Even Cantas wasn’t able to feed them, Whenever Madeleine Raffin and Félicien
Murengerantwali brought food, they were held back by the interahamwe at the
Kabeza roadblock, They rarely succeeded. And Pastor Samson Gasarasi, who lived in
the area, was chased away after he tried to take in water and food. All this showed
that the Tutsis were to be disposed of.

“We took steps to deprive the Tutsis of food,” said Nyirimbuga, who periodically
manned the Kabeza roadblock.

The Caritas vehicle was not allowed through the roadblock. And Samson Garasi. who
dared to challenge the measures being taken against the Tutsis, was severely
reprimanded by the three men who'd cut off the water supply. He had no choice but
ta go and stay at his house in Gikongoro town.

Based on what he observed in Kabeza, Frédéric Munyemana also concluded that “the
roadblock wasn’t simply there to stop Tutsis; it was used to starve those shut up in the
camp.”
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“We Couldn’t Eat While Secing Neighbours® Children Crying with
Hunger”

All the refugees were hungry and dehydrated, but they shared their scant resources,
giving priority to the youngest and the weakest, Saying they lived mainly on gruel,
Marie-Chantal is proud of their solidarity, but pomted out the hmitations under the
circumstances

We shared all the food we had, but we were so badly off that some died of hunger.

Bemadette Mukamugenzi described how the people huddled in the same building
with her shared a single sack of rice.

It was finished in a few days because it was divided up among lots of people. We
couldn’t eat while seeing neighbours’ children crying with hunger.

She found the courage to go back to her house in Karama

1 went to get some beans that I'd stored in the anti-erosion ditch in our field. | shared
these beans with others. There was only enough for one meal.

Consolée Mujawamaliya, who had three daughters to feed, commented that she
“didn’t manage well under trying conditions.” She saw other mothers resort to
desperate measures to keep their children alive.

They used empty oilcans as pots. They cooked plant stems or inedible leaves for

their children. It was pitiful, but T didn’t know what to do, faced with a siluation
where my children were constantly hungry, Two people I knew died of hunger.

“On the 20", They Brought Us Some Rice”

Murengerantwali participated in an unsuccessful effort to count and idenufy everyone
in the camp, justified as a prelude to the distribution of rations.

At the end of the first day, we had counted about 5% of the people there, Our censys
only gave details about 1,700 people which we knew was useless,

The census was abandoned, for lack of time.
The purpose of this census was unclear to the men and women at Murambi, but some,
like Eugénie Mushimiyimana, hoped it would unlock the food they needed so badly.

She had been there a week when the préfet, the bourgmestre and some soldiers visited
them.

They said the census was a way of bringing us something to eat. We thought we were
going to be saved,

Some rice was delivered on the Jﬁﬂ', said Jeanette Mukamugema.

It was a trick, to distract vur vigilance, The massacres took place the next day.
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The rice was not entirely free, commented Déo.

They asked us each to give five francs so they could buy fucl and bring us beans the
following day,

The nice was useless to Grice Mukantarindwa since she had no water in which to
prepare it. Bélie had no time to cook her portion before the massacre.

The Cantas food which the refugees were denied was, according to Murengentwali,
mstead given to local Hutu families who were removed from their homes in
prcparatinn fO]‘ the massacre.

o e L b A P sl 0

The food was so abundant that they were also provided with provisions before they
wenl back to their homes;
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“GETTING US READY FOR WAR?”, 18-20 April

As conditions inside the camp deteriorated. outside its iron fence, military and civilian
officials prepared the Hutu population for what they described as a war of self
defence. The days between 18-20 April were devoted to twin challenges: firstly, to
generating fear and distrust of the Tutsis in the camp among Hutus living in the
vicinity, particularly males, in order to convince them of the need for a showdown,
and secondly, to drawing 1n forces from further afield, especially from Mudasomwa.
To spare them, and to enlarge what was $een as a battlefield, Hutu families in the arca
were relocated to the ACEPER and CERAI school buildings in town, The ability of
the refugees to force a group of assailants to retreat on the 19" made Bucyibaruta,
Simba, Sebuhura and their backers think through their strategies and refine their
tactics. The mission of the 19" was aborted. Instead. the day was given over to a visit
by the interim president, Théodore Sindikubwabo. With a strengthened commitment
to elummate the refugees in Murambi, more plans were made and the necessary

resources i men and arms were mobilized.

“The Tutsis Gathered in Murambi Might Attack Us”

When Bucyibaruta, Semakwavu and Captain Sebuhura began to prepare an “enlarged
site for the carnage™, Nsabiyera took his family to the home of a friend.

Havugimana, Mureramanzi and Karangwa spread the word. But as men were going to
be incorporated into the militia, only women and their little children were moved:

It was on 17 April when Frangois Kamanzi, the responsable for David Havugimana’s
cellule, sent out the warning that the local people should leave the Murambi area.

As proot, he showed us a letter contaimng the orders signed by Semakwavu. He said
that the Tutsis in Murambi might attack us. Some left their homes the same day, and

others on the 18"

Brigitte Mukamana, marriced o a Hutu, followed the instructions and left Kabeza for
the ACEPER school with the other women and children.

Havugimana ordered the men to make their women and children wear banana leaves
and 10 bring them to the ACEPER buildings, now a police station. We stayed there all
day long. They hung a flag up to signify that we were displaced Hutus.

Havugimana and Karangwa wrote a document claiming that the Tutsis in Murambi
were plotting to do away with Hutus, They gave this to Sebuhura. The same day,
soldiers came o warmn us thal we would hear gunshols during the night when they
would be getting rid of the Tutsis in Murambi. They told us not to be afraid and not to

make a noise,

Murengentwali made this comment about the decision to distance Hutus from

Muramba
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They didn’t want Tutsi blood 1o dirty the residents of Murambi.

“Lend Us a Hand in the War”

On 18 April, Bucyibaruta and Sebubura visited Mudasomwa to make an appeal for
recruits. They knew they could rely on Mudasomwa, the epicentre of Hutu cxtremism
in Gikongoro in 1994, which had already sent volunteers fo massacres clsewhere in
the préfecture, for example the Parish of Kibeho in M ubuga on 14-15 April.

By 9:00 am. they had drawn a large crowd, mainly from the sectors of Tare | and
Tare 11, including Sylvestre Maniraho.

Bucyibaruta and Sebuhura came in an IVECO vehicle and were escorted by
gendarmes. They stayed near the Petrorwanda gas station, Mworoha, the commune
accountant and Nsanzimana, a judicial police inspector, were there, Frangois Galum,
president of the MDR, came in his own car. a LADA NIVA.

Bucyibaruta took the floor before anyone had a chance to introduce him,

He 1old us: *For those who don’t know me, I'm the préfet of Gikongoro. I'm with the
deputy commander of the gendarmerie in Gikongoro. We have come 10 ask vou to
lend us a hand in the war that we are going to wage against the Tutsis, I'm speaking
about those in Murambi. They are prepared to exterminate you. The vehicles to take
you are available. If you don’t have fuel, the Petrorwanda petrol station is
inexhaustible ™ Afterwards, they went to have a drink at Isragl Nsengiyumva's bar.

The audience remained behind, listening to Frangois Gakuru and Innocent Mworoha
who took up where the préfet had left off,

They told us that the préfet’s arrival showed how alarming the situation had become.
They ordered us to go and ready ourselves for war. Gakuru mentioned the WCAPONS
we should get. “We mustn’t tumn up empty-handed. We need vour traditional
weapons, such as masswes, spears and machetes.” Everyone went to look for
weapons.

Maniraho and some other men drove in Gakuru’s car towards the commune office
where Col. Rwamanywa was waiting to receive them.

I couldn’t mistake Rwamanywa for anyone else. He comes from my sector. His father
1s called Rwandora, Rwamanywa pointed out to us that he had brought weapons for
us to fight the Tutsis. He added that it was his way of helping the people who were
gomg to invade Murambi, We unloaded some boxes from the lorry; they contained
ammunition, some grenades, hatchets and short chains with handles at the two ends,
The chains were going to be used to suffocate the enemy. They had been made in
Gishamvu. Rwamanywa left after the unloading.

Al around 5:00 p.m., Kamodoka, the director of Kitabi tea factory, dispatched eight
Daihatsu vans to take Maniraho and others to Murambi.

As there were a lot of us, the vehicles made several trips. Gakuru and a driver named
Ngoga were in charge; Mworoha and I helped them. Everyone was dropped off at the
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Gratyazo roadblock and at the roundabout below the office of the préfecture, The
other drivers were:

s Nhkusi, in Gasarenda;
= Rugangazi, who works in Kitabi;
= Kidege, in Gikongoro prison. He's been given the death penalty.

.
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Vehicles transported people from nightfall until early the next day. I went with
Gakuru n his vehicle. Kalimunda, a judge, and Martin Kagimbura, were also there.
We all had guns and traditional weapons.

Séraphine Mutegaraba could not help but notice the traffic passing through
(Gasarenda, as well as the mood of the men as they left for Murambi.

From midday, we saw the Kitabi vehicles full of militiamen who thought they had
something to rejoice about. They seemed happy that they were going to carry out a
NAssacTe,

Gaspard Ayirwanda was contacted in Karama.

At midnight on the 17", we were given a directive from our bourgmestre, Désiré
Ngezahayo, that all the men had to go and fight the Tutsis in Murambi. We heard it
via our cellule responsable. Our councillor drove around all the cellules to let
cveryone know. The men all met up in Uwakato, Nyakibyeyi cellule ncar the
Protestant chapel. There were about 300 of us, all carrying machetes, spears and
massues. There were also two military reservists, namely:

= Xavér, in Gikongoro prison. He has refused to confess;
= Mutanindwa, alias Engagé, at liberty. He lives in Nyabubare cellule, scctor
Muganza.

The soldiers had two guns given to them by the commune office. We were under the
command of our councillor,

“Prepare to Invade the Camp™

The call to come armed to Murambi reached miliiamen across Nyamagabe and the
bordering communes. However, despite the impressive contingent from Mudasomwa,
the number of men who convened on the hills overlooking Murambi on the 19™ were
not suflicient to mount a successful offensive. Emmanuel Nyirimbuga was waiting at
the roadblock i Kabeza.

{ The gendarmes told us te preparc to invade the camp, but made us wait for an Ay
| officer who was going to lead us. He was supposed to be coming from Butare and
‘ was a member of the Presidential Guard. Half an hour later, the man came. But he
_ wasn't an army officer. He's called Kagaba and used to live in Kigali. He comes from

sector Muganza in Karama and was a formidable intcrabamwe. The gendarmes were
‘ in cahoots with Karangwa and Havugimana,

With Kagaba, we moved a short distance to 2 place from which we could see the
whole of Murambi. There were probably about 1,000 of us. And on Uwakato hill in
Karama, another group was waiting for the signal to begin.
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But the signal never came.

Because there were too few of us, compared with the thousands of Tutsis. our leaders
postponcd the operation. All of a sudden. Kagaba used a gun to launch a laree nbject
which travelled over the camp and finally exploded in the marshland on the edge of
Murambi. The gendarmes sent Félicien, also known as Bingwa, to tell the Eroup on
Uwakato hill about the change of plan. Everyone went home. | went back to the

Bt et s A

roadblock, i
The men on Uwakate hill, just north of the school in Murambi, were similarly :
disbanded. Ayirwanda said they spoke to Bingwa at 8:00 a.m. t

He had come on behalf of Captain Scbuhura. The officer had taken the decision to
cance] the assault because there were not enough people.

Seéraphine said the men did not come back empty-handed to Mudasomwa.

The militia were celebrating because they had found Mutsinzi in Kigeme hospital,
They brought him to Kitabi to execute him in front of the director, Kamodoka.

Mutsinzi had been hospitalized in Kigeme after the April 10" massacre at the factory,
He was much sought after by Kamodoka who used to say that Mutsinzi would
become the préfet of Gikongoro if the RPF came to power.

In Mudasomwa, the disappointment led to a renewal of energies, Maniraho said.

From then on, Ngoga was given a Daihatsu van by Kamodoka to use permanently for
relays between officials in the préfecture and us. Kamodoka took the car from the
tactory. He is from Gisenyi and said that he had to avenge the death of his President.
also from Gisenyi.

For officials in Gikongoro, the 19" was devoted to a visit from Sindikubwabo, He
spoke to a wide range of senior officials behind closed doors at the office of the
prefecture. Joseph Hiegeyintwali, the deputy-préfet of Karaba® sous-préfecture,
summed up what their leader told them.

“Sindikubwabo said that all the Tutsis in Murambi and Cyanika must be killed.”

The mpact of Sindikubwabo’s visit was felt almost immediately, by the forces of
genocide and by the refugees in Murambi.

" Karama sous-préfecture was made up of the communes of Rukondo. Kinyamakars and Karama.
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“Begin the War Against the Tutsis”

The second round of preparations for Murambi involved the confiscation of weapons
in the camp, drawing in many more militiamen and arranging for their transport to the
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site.

The lirst task for the organizers was to make sure that the Hutu population understood
what was at stake. Semakwavu was relentless, said Nyinmbuga,

Semakwavu drove around with a megaphone and repeated over and over again: “We
have only two enemics—the RPF and the Tutsis. There’s no difference between
them, They are one and the same thing.”

Marie-Goretti Mukantarindwa did not have to go to Murambi because she was
marrted to a Hutu. But her relatives were there and she got an inkling of what was in
store for them after Semalkwavu came to their neighbourhood in sector Gikongoro.

Semakwavu tumed up and stayed with the Ruberabahizi family. It was there they
discussed the best way of gelting the population involved in the massacre. He
brought rice for the militiamen who were being taught how to use guns in this house.
Afterwards, the Tulsis who had not yet reached Murambi were executed. This
happened to an elderly mother called Nyirubuhinga and her family. They were killed

by a group composed of

= Rusanganwa, hiding somewhere;
* Rugemera, Rugenera and Gashumba, all in prison;
s Nzeyimana.

Consolée Mujawamaliya felt the tension rising as the refugees were divested of any
means of defending themselves.

They took away everything that could be used as a weapon, at the same time telling
us to remain calm,

According to Nymmbuga, the search was arranged by the local officials and
conducted by the gendarmes.

On 20 Aprl, at about 3:00 p.m. in the afternoon, Bucyibaruta, Sebuhura and
Semakwavu descended on Murambi camp. They each came in their own car. The
préfet was in a black car, Semakwavu was in a pick-up and Sebuhura was in a white

| four-by-four with a gendarme as a driver and escort. I couldn’t be mistaken about
Sebuhura’s vehicle because his gendarme often used it when they were hunting down
Tutsis. Anything the Tutsis could use to put up a fight was scized, particularly the

| sticks they used to herd their cattle, machetes and axes for chopping wood, etc. They
were put in Sebuhura’s four-by-four and taken to the gendarmerie camp.

| The milttia in Mudasomwa were given notice on the morming of the 20" to get ready.
Maniraho spoke of their response.

As everyone was expecting the call, we didn’t Lesitate, The vehicles from the factory,
with the same drivers, came through the seciors to collect the interahamwe. They
began leaving for Gikongoro in the evening. The process was the same as the
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previous time. They were again dropped off at the roadblock. They walked from there ]
towards Kabeza. In our commune, the sectors of Shaba, Nkumbure, Kibyagira, Tare I
and Tare Il were especially well-represented.

“We left with the intention of wiping out the Tutsis” i

Martin Kagimbura saw them depart.

On 20 Apnil, | saw militiamen leaving in the cars of the Kitabi tea factory. Frangois
Gakuru was responsible for the recruitment drive, Since the 18" he had been sending !
word to all the sectors, asking the population to get ready to fight the Tutsis in '
Murambi. The cars went everywhere to pick up the interahamwe: there was a lot i
traffic coming and going between Gikongoro town and Mudasomwa, |

Juveénal Munyakayanza was among those summoned from Myamagabe. e was
spending the night in his shop with his friend, Félicien Nzikuriza, when two men,
Hamuduni and Haruna, armed with massues and spears, came knocking at 2:00 a.m.

They said we had to go and nvade Murambi, adding that anyone who refused would
be put to death after the invasion of Murambi, together with Tutsi women maried io
Hutus, We didn’t argue with that. Frangois Gasana's vehicle was waiting for us at the
roadblock. The militia who were on permanent guard were already in the vehicle, as
well as other people I didn’t know. The Daihatsu vehicles were busy with the militia
from Mudasomwa. There were a lot of them. We were dropped ofl at the Gatyazo
roadblock by a chauffeur named Rwagikanga, Gasana was carrying a gun. We linked
up with men wearing eucalyptus leaves in the forest below the bishopric. This was to
distinguish us from Tutsis.

To avoid alerting the refugees, Munyakayanza and the others with him were not
allowed to light cigarettes while they walked to Murambi.

When we got to Kabeza, Gasana told us to be calm if we heard gunshots. We soon
heard the sound of guns going off; this told us that the massacre had Just begun. That
was why Gasana and some gendarmes forced us 1o hurry up.

David Havugimana took up his machete after hearing Sebuhura in the early hours of
the 21

Sebubura was with his subordinates, as well as Bucyibaruta, Semakwavu, Karangwa
and Godefield Ndayizigiye. a vet. He spoke in 4 vehement tone: “All the men should
wake up! We want their help to go and fight the Tutsis in Murambi!” They arranged
1o meet us near the shops in Kabeza at 3:00 a.m. and then lefi.

We immediatcly began to prepare ourselves. Everyone took whatever traditional
weapon he could find. We set off around 2:00 a.m. We shared the road with other
militamen  from Mudasomwa, Karama and Kinyamakara. The ones from
Mudasomwa were in Daihatsu vans which dropped them off at the Gatyazo roadblock
below the bishopric. From there, they walked to Kabeza. There was a mass of
interahamwe. Gendarmes from Gikongoro had come with firearms,

Frédéric Munyemana said llavugimana and Nsabiyera were also present when
Sebuhura spoke to them.

.
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We obeyed their orders. We all had the same objective..We stopped off at Kabeza
to give some of the men a chance te look for leaves to put on as a uniform.

Laurent Sebagenzi came on board through the efforts of Gasana.
(Gasana’s vehicle swept the entire sector, picking people up.

Sebagenzi’s group was collected at midnight, He named his other companions.

= Karemera, in detention:

= Isaic Mbarushimana, Gatete, Nyandwi and Uwinkindi, in exile;

»= Alphonse, deceased,

*  Frangois Muzungu, Phocas, Iyamuremye and Elias Habinshuti, who are free:
* Nkurunziza and Onésphore Kayihura who have been released from prison.

In Karama Ayirwanda said that the “sensitization had reached a large number of
people” the second time around.

Our councillor and the cellule responsables were very active. The two Teservist
soldiers came back again. We went to Uwakato, a really good location for people
coming from all over the place. The sectors of Muganza, Kiraro I and Kibirizi sent a
lot of people.

The councillor of Muganza and the two reservists ordered us to wear cucalyptus
leaves to differentiate us from the inyenzi. We left for Murambi at 2:00 a.m. on the

zlsr

Saleh Mbakuriyemo was still on duty at Gatyazo roadblock on the 20™ when he saw
militiamen from Mudasomwa heading towards Murambi.

There were a lot of them and they were in the same vehicles. They began going
towards Murambi on 20 April around 6:00 p.m. The last ones from Mudasomwa
arrived around 5:00 a.m. on the 217, Some groups first went through the forest of the
bishopric to don eucalyptus leaves. | was still on guard at Gatyazo.

Two children, Gakwandi and Mubhire, snuck out of the camp by cuthng an opening in
the enclosure and awoke their family friend, Claude Singirankabo.

They 10ld me thal the people in Murambi were really hungry. I put together a large
stock of sweet potatocs and bananas.

The children were too scared to make their way back on their own, and Singirankabo
agreed to accompany them. At Kato, in cellule Nyamifumba, he saw people walking
towards them with “flaming torches.”

I told the children to run. Then I went in the direction of the light and came upon a
group composed of David Karangwa; Frédéric Segatwa, at liberty in Nyamifumba,
and David Kamenyero, Segatwa’s son, Karangwa was their leader. They all carried
weapons. They wanted to know what 1 was doing there, in the middle of the night. I
said T was looking for traditional medicine for my wife who was in pain. They told
me that the annihilation of the Tutsis was more urgent than anything else. They
enlisted me n the group.

73



The day prior to the massacres, Marie-Chantal Mukamunana noticed that the number
of gendarmes guarding the camp ncreased.

The same day, a gendarme nicknamed CDR got drunk and boasted about what was
going to happen to the Tutsis of Murambi,

The refugees shared the buildings according to the cellules, sectors and communes
they came from. Within these tight-knit communities they knew so well, Marie-
Chantal said they tried to prepare themselves.

Some of the men asked us to keep piles of stones close by. They told us it wasn’t
possible to make it to Burundi because all the roads were blocked.

Consolée said that one man, Gashumba, suggested on the 20" that they could get to
Butare.” But with the school heavily guarded day and night, and a series of
roadblocks set up specifically to confine them to Murambi, no-one gave this serious
consideration. :

Eugénie Mushimiyimana did not know whether to belicve what she heard.

The soldiers on guard mcluded someone from Kibuye, He told someone that we were
going to be massacred that night.

But another mitiative on the 20" hardened her SUSpICions.

Because the building was still only half finished, some people had found a way ol
connecting up some light bulbs to illuminate their hving quarters. On the 20", they
also cut the electrical cables.

Emmanuel Hangari did not doubt the rumours that an attack was imminent,
There were several aborted offensives. When they saw we outnumbered them. they
retreated 1o change their strategy so they would be in a better position when they
returned. And this time, teams of génocidaires encircled us, all arpund the hills
surroundimg the school,

We were certain that one day or another, we would be exterminated.

The fateful hour arrived before dawn on 21 April.

" Apart from some rural communes. the genocide had not yet begun in Butare, but would do so
officially within hours of the massacre ar Murambi
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UNDER THE COVER OF NIGHT
“The Final Solution Was Found On 21 April”

L *miil’!w

Before dawn on 21 April, teams of interahamwe, local peasants and gendarmes from

across Gikongoro converged upon Murambi, some for the second time, They gathered
i strength at Kabeza, where their leaders cheered them on and briefed them about the
strategies for the massacre. Those who came to participate remember particularly the

directives given by the bourgmestre of Nyamagabe, Semakwavu. But other

authorities, including Bucyibaruta, Havugimana, Sebuhura and Col. Simba were also

The militia donned a uniform of green leaves to differentiate themselves from those
tried to venture away

there to oversee the task,
whose lives they were to take. The gendarines were told to open fire on the
encampment, and in a well-caleulated effort to maximize the effectiveness of the

The refugees in the large courtyard at the entrance to the school, mamly men and
armed and experienced

bombardment, the civilians armed with traditional weapons were ordered to man the
boys, were the first to feel the impact of the assault. Courageously, they tried to fend
gunshots lasted until morning. By

perimeter of the camp. Their duty was to cut down anyone who

(AR

from Murambi hill.
off the attackers, hurling stones from the courtyard and from the large two-storied

administrative building. But they were no match for the well-
gendarmes. The cascade of bombs, grenades and
that tune, most of the 50,000 refugees lay dead.

story building were a series of rectangular barrack-style one-story structures. each

were many refugees inside, particularly women and children. so far untouched by the
become a

Peasants and miliiamen entered the school grounds around 9:00 a.m. Behind the
the men

contaming about six small rooms, designed as classrooms or dormitory spaces. There

explosions. Machetes, swords, axes and clubs were used against them.
Some were able to get away from the massacre alive, and many of them headed north
towards Cyanika Parish in Karama comimune, which had, like Murambi,
haven for thousands of Tutsis. When it seemed that there was no-one left to kill at
Murambi, the authoritics thanked and praised the militia. They singled out
g performance” and instructed them to go and help

from Mudasomwa for their “sterlin
¢lummate the Tutsis at Cyanika.
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“By 3:00 a.m. Kabeza was Swarming with Interahamwe”

On the evening of 20 April, Karangwa and lavugimana told Emmanuel Myirimbuga,
“that the Tutsis” end was nigh.” “This was confirmed,” said Nyirimbuga, “at about
2:00 a.m. on the moming of the 21" Standing guard at the Kabeza roadblock, he

watched as armed men grouped around his post.

Interahamwe from various regions joined us at the roadblock to await the order to
invade Murambi. By 3:00 a.m., Kabeza was swarming with interahamwe and more
were arriving all the time. Then the gendarmes came with guns, grenades and other
weapons | had never seen before.

Nyirimbuga hstened closely to the order issued by those in command. At 3-00 a.m., it
was pitch dark and the only way of identifying anyone was by his voice. By then
familiar with their bourgmestre, Nymnmbuga, Claude Singirankabo and David
Havugimana said they had little trouble in picking out Semakwavu’s voice as he spelt
out the tactics he expected them to follow. Singirankabo conveyed the essence of his
speech.

He told us this: “The Tutsi are very treacherous. They don’t want to co-habit with the
Hutu; rather, they are looking for ways to get rid of them, That's why we have had to
relocate the population of Murambi. But this situation cannot be allowed (o £0 on.
The Hutus must be able to come back to their homes! But first, we must overcome
our opponents.”

Havugimana noticed the massive crowd of interahamwe at Kabeza who were “waiting
for the signal to go and cradicate the Tutsis.” They, and the gendarmes from
Gikongoro who were there, all concentrated on the bourgmestre’s instructions.

He said: “You must get ready to begin the war asainst the Tutsis. You are suf ficiently
equipped. There's no need to be afraid! But we don’t want some of you getting
wounded. So you are going to wear something that makes you stand out.” Our
fighting uniforms were eucalyptus leaves for Myamagabe residents and leaves from
the anti-crosion hedges for those from Karama and some other communes.

Nyirimbuga heard the same indications to “put on something distinctive in case Tutsis
insinuated themselves amongst us during the invasion.”

With this precaution taken, Havugimana said that someone else gave additional
instructions.

“You are going to surround the Tutsis’ camp. Your work is to prevent the Tutsis who
are trying to escape the firearms from getting out.”
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“We Formed an Impenetrable Wall”

The interahamwe’s primary responsibility was to completely encircle the school
grounds and fo make sure that no Tutsi had a chance to break through.
Simultancously, the gendarmes were given the go-ahead to shoot. Refugees dodging
death by grenades and bullets confronted barricades of mulitiamen. Nyirimbuga stood
guard with his colleagues to block their flight.

Wearing our special uniform, we surrounded the entire place to form an impenctrable
wall, The gendarmes rained fire on the camp. The sound of gunshots mixed with the
noise of grenades, It meant the end for the Tutsis, Anyone who ran towards us was
greeted with a massue, a spear or some other weapon.

Havugimana also took his duties seriously, and commented that “we respected the
nstructions we were given at Kabeza.,” Armed with 4 spear, he stood in the way of
anyone who wanted to slip through.

Before the gendarmes and soldiers opened fire on Murambi, we walked around to
control the movement of the Tutsis. We were very close together so they couldn't
pass by. When we began to hear the guns and grenades, we took up positions on all
sides. A Tutsi who was trying to slip out immediately came up against us. I was with
Vincent Habimana, now at liberty in Murambi cellule, when a refugee rshed towasds
me. Vincent hit him with a massue and 1 completed the task with a spear. Others
were similarly executed.

Also present was Frédéric Munyemana.

Everyone there had a weapon, Just like I did. We were very close together so they
coutdn’t get through. Anyone who approached us was killed immediately. 1 executed
three victims with a machete and a massue.

Two soldiers standing in front of Munyemana and his companions were using their
guns and grenades. But what struck him the most was the force of the large ouns that
had been positioned on a hill above the school.

They looked like missiles to us. They were back up weapons to paralyze the Tutsis,
And the bullets were falling on the camp, From where T was, 1 couldn’t help secing
how the Tutsis died. A single grenade blew up about 20 of them,

The invasion was about to begin when Laurent Sebagenzi arrived. He stayed in front
of the roofless room at the entrance to the camp.

There were so many of us that the Tutsis couldn’t resist. Shorily afterwards, the amms
started to resound through the camp, Suddenly, the explosives set fire to the inside of

the camp.

“People’s cries, mixed with the noise from the weapons, sounded like the end of
the world.”

I owas the first time T was involved in 4 massive extermination.




A massue was Singirankabo’s weapon of choice.

Bullets and grenades erisscrossed the camp and it was in flames the entire might. Any
Tutst who tried to get away fell into our net: no-one could pencirate our wall, Tkilled
one who was running towards me with a massve.

Sebagenzi found the leaf attive useful in selecting his targets.

Otherwise, we would have had to wail for the daylisht to start the work, So the idea
of wearinyg the strange uniform was very useful to us. There were a lot of militiamen
and they came from several villages. Consequently they could get each other mixed
up.

1 can admil to the death of five people, I didn’t know them. 1 can’t remember their
faces. The act of killing them was to carry out the orders given by our leaders.

Gaspard Ayirwanda and his companions had come from Karama and reached
Murambi at about 4:00 a.m. By then, “Murambi was under fire.”

The sky had turned red because of the bullets and the grenades. Qur group took up g
position al the entrance of the camp, close to a house which didn’t have a roof. We
were told to mow down the Tutsis who wanted to force their way through our wall. It
was easy 1o pick them out because, unlike us, they weren’t wearing anything special.
L killed five people with a muassue.

What indicates the scale of the assault, said Nsabivera, is the fact that the pounding
reverberated “everywhere on the hills of Gikongoro town.”

The sky over Murambi was transformed into flames produced by bombs, guns of
various kinds and grenades. People woke up from sleep to stand outside and stare al
the horror. As everyone knew in advance about the preparations for the extermination
of the Tutsis, no-one could think of sleeping. That entire night, the interahamwe were
running towards Murambi, brandishing their weapons to go and annihilate those they
had defined as the encmies of the Hutus.

“Not One Hutu Stayed at Home”

The magnitude of the offensive astonished the Tutsis in the camp. They had the
impression, as many remarked repeatedly, that much of Gikongoro préfecture, both
people they knew and strangers, had rallied against them. Simon Mutangana retains a
vivid memory of the “enormous crowd of killers” who descended upon Murambi at
3:00 a.m.

There were three or four times more of them than us. It secmed that all the Hutus of
Gikengoro were there. The carnage then began. Inttially, grenades and guns were
used. 'm not sure what type of weapons they were firine at us. but they were heavy.
The soldiers proceeded 1o shoot while the rest of the pepulation and other militiamen
watched to sce that no-one got oul. They shot and launched grenades all night until
7:00 i the moming. By then, many Tutsis had died and the others were worn oul
from trying to resist by throwing stones.

Stmon was able Lo pick out a few familiar faces among the ageressors.
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=  The prefet, Lavrent Bucyibaruta;

+ Havupa, a deputy-préfet who's still in exile;

= Frangois Gasana, ahas Bihehe, also in exile:

« David Karangwa, a clerk in the district court of Nyamagabe. He's in exile:
* Safari, an agronomist in Mudasomwa commune, He's in exile:

s Ngoga in exile;

s Gakuru:

= Kaboyi, in prison;

= Many others whose names I can’t recall.

“Tean’t even guess how many of them there were,” said Julienne Umugwaneza.

There were numerous were seldiers, militia and people from the different communes
of Gikongore. From what [ saw with my own eyes, 1 would say that not one Hutu
stayed at home, The faces that | remember are those of:

= Louls, in prison;
= Kaboy
Ngoga, in exile:
* Kamodoka, the director of the tea factory at Kitabi;
= Gashegu, in prison;
* Aaron Mbangukira. in prison;
= Karamage, in cxile:
= Kayijamahe, in prison.

There were lots of other people but | didn’t know them.

There were so many people that Suzanne Nyirasuku thought they had even come
other préfectures,

It seemed that the residents of all the préfectures had come together. From what I
saw, not one Hutu had stayed at home.

She noted the presence of local authorities and distinguished Bucyibaruta,
Semakwavu and Havugimana.

In addition to Frangois Gasana, Alphonsine Mukaremera drew attention to the
presence of Col. Simba at Murambi. She recalled a batile cry which evoked his name.

Simba distinguished himself in all the massacres. They came to execute us singing
these lines: “Simba told us this; if ever the cockroaches conquer us, they will rule the
country forever.”
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“The War of Stones Against Grenades and Bullets was Impossible”

The men and boys in the courtyard and the tweo-storey building closest to the main
entrance received the full force of the gunfire and grenades and were the first to fall
victim. Though exhausted from hunger and thirst, and from trying to hold off the
interahamwe for the best part of a week, they were nevertheless determined to fight
back. They stood their ground and in a brave but hopeless gesture, retaliated with the
only weapon at hand a pile of stones.

Stmon paid tribute to the men who found the courage to try and defend them.

Kalisa, Musonera who had been a gendarme in the Habyarimana regime, Gatarayiha,
Muvara, Rukwavu, Nkundiye, Hakizumwami and others took charge of our
resistance,

Most women and children had spent the might in one of the buildings, but there were
too many of them compared to the available space. Grice Mukantanindwa, 19 at the
time, was outside in the front courtyard with some voung people her age. Like them,
she was resiing when she heard the sound of shooting and the detonations. Grice
jyumped up quickly and saw the assailants pouring in through the entry gate. Along
with some other women and girls, she tried to back the men up by supplying them
with stones. “They were no match for the well-armed and experienced gendarmes. It
was a hopeless fight,” concluded Grice.

There was defiance, but for some, the horror of those hours made the prospect of
death welcome.

Some refugees were so crazed with fear they jumped out of the building, falling down
into the courtyard. Others were really brave, reassuring us as they carried on fighting.
But they could see there was no way of getting out. They told us to lie down so we
wouldn't be hit by bullets or grenades. But how could we dodge them and carry on
throwing stones at the same time? Those brave men fought right to the very end. A lot
of refugees who were tnt by bullets or grenades weren't killed outright. Some had lost
limbs; others were seriously mjured.

Jeannette Mukamugema, the mother of six children, lost sight of two of her daughters,
Tuyisenge aged seven, and Ingabire aged ten, early on. They had been together in one
of the rooms on the second floor of the large building. Jeannette looked upon the
scene below from an upstairs window.

The men tried to fight back with stoncs, but in vain. The war of stones against
grenades and bullets was futile. Many men lost their lives in the attempt to retaliate,
and others were wounded,

She caught a glimpse of Emmanuel Hangari, who was also in the upper floor of the
admmmistrative building. When shooting began at 3:00 am., Emmanuel picked up a
heap of stones.

Some of us men banded together and we grabbed some rocks. Rocks are nothing,
however, when compared with bullets and grenades. We were soon exhausted in the
facc of this uncqual battle. In the dark of night we were throwing stones without
heing able to see the people at whom we were throwing them. Even within our own
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group, we couldn’t ses each other because of the darkness. We only heard the crackle
of the bullet, the explosion of the grenade or saw someone fall. But we didn’t pay too
much atlention to any of this; we did what we could to defend ourselves.

Fear inevitably took a toll as more and more of their companions fell under the
onslaught of grenades and guns. As they dwindled down to a small force, “everyone
ran to save himself)” added Emmanuel. Still upstairs, Emmanue] quickly went to the
ceiling. A builder, he knew how to enter the rafters to conceal hunself: he took out the
screws and climbed mside. From there, he followed the fate of the men who had been
at his side only moments before.

The brave fighters died from bullet wounds or grenade explosions. The ones who had
not been hit were drenched with the blood of the wounded. Some gave up and tried to
run for their lives, but they were lynched by the interahamwe who were just outside.

They fired on us from afar ar first. As we became more and more exhausted and
weall, they got closer and closer. Some men had climbed onto the roof (o belter aim
their rocks; their grenade-mutilated bodies remained there, amongst them Gasirabo
and Ysaie. Their blood spread out over the roof and dribbled to the ground.

Déo Nsengiyvumva, who was 24, was also inside the multi-level building. He heard the
whistles and the attackers shouting: “Save yourselves, the Tutsis are ¢oming to kill
vou and steal your goods!” The refugees on guard asked him and others to come and
help fight. beggug them “to have the courage to resist so that we would not die like
cowards,” He paid a warm tribute to these colleagues, including Emmanuel Hangari,
Emmanuel Niambovura and Semvumba, who did their best to coordinate resistance in
spite of the darkness, the abrupt nature of the onslaught and the lack of arms
comparable to those of therr opponents.

We surrendered afier a frenzied battle because we were finished. We would hurl a
rock and the response would be a thousand times stronger; a grenade would kill more
than three people at a time and seriously wound many others. What misery and
discouragement in the face of cerlain death! However, our men did not lose hope.
We, the young boys, would transport rocks under orders from the older ones because
we were so scared that we didn™t want to stay in the combat zone. The women
praved.

[Déo saw his father and many other men suceumb to the burst of the first grenade.

They didn’t die right away, they remained there, barcly breathing. Everyone was
engaged in the fight. And since there were 50 many attackers, we couldn’t cven move
them away [rom the grenades and bullets that were coming down like rain. T heard all
sorts of noises: cnes of pain from the dying. women praying, children sereaming,
wounded men asling us not o die withoat a fight and, of course, gunshots.

By the time they reached Murambi, Hildegarde Kabagwira’s husband was already
nursing a wound from a grenade and a severe beating by the gendarmes, so he could
not help her safeguard their children. Given the forces they faced, she is grateful the
men held our as long as they did.

The shots and explosions had injured many of them. Some died instantancously,
others aller enduring vnspeakable pain.

81



_

suzanne was m one of the classrooms with her cight children. She doesn’t know
exactly how her husband died as he was outside hurling stones.

“The final solution was found on 21 April, at around 3:00 in the morning.”

The Tutsis of Murambi were killed with extreme cruelty, but they were really very
brave, highting against the whole préfecture.

“No Idea Where to Go™

The use of grenades and gunfire continued vigorously until the carly moming. Some
refugees scurried in different dircctions and others felt confined to their position
because of the heavy firing. The pervasive sentiment was one of having “no idea
where 10 go.”

Mane Mujawimana was on the other side of the two-storey building, in one of the
rectangular structures. She went outside, but then found she couldn’™t move.

We didnt know what to do. We confronted total disorder m the courtyard. The
wounded stagpered around us, screaming. Often they begged for water 1o drnk, but
who could listen? And if someone paid attention to their crics, where would they have
found the water? They were condemned to the death that the rest of us were waiting
for as well.

Maric saw some people drop from the balcony of the two-storey building where a
railing had not yet been mstalled.

We dispersed as people tried to run from the grenades and the guns. There were dead
bodics and wounded refugees [alling from upstairs and twmbling down to the
courtyard. Even some who hadn™t been touched leapt out because they were so
completely petrified.

The downpour of bullets and grenades lasted until moming, We couldn’t make our
way throngh. Worst still, the intershamwe and the peasanis were kecping watch. The
prospect of being struck by a machete scemed even worse than the bullets.

When she saw all those who had come to fight them, Alphonsine did not stop to think.
She reacted instantaneously and took to running in a confused manner.

I had the impression that not a single Hutu had remained st home. The sound of
gunshot made us all jump out of our skin, I immediately put my baby on my back and
I ran. But where to? I didn't know. Other refugees tried to stop me, but I refused to
listen to them. | ran and ran, but | didn’t leave the school grounds. I had left one place
and without realizing it, retumned to the same spot.

Grenades and bullets were flying all around. T dida’t know how to steer clear of them.
On one side it was someone’s head that got blown off and on the other, somecne’s leg
or arm. Everyone was on the move. It was total mayhem. With all this movement, 1
didn’t see who was dead from a grenade or a bullet, but I heard thewr cries for help.
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i Bewildered, Julienne Umugwaneza hurried to avoid seeing her family and friends die
= m front of her.

3

My whole family was at Murambi. | was with them and our friends when T heard the
sound of firearms. 1 left the building we were in so that | wouldn't see the people |
knew die. 1 was in such a state of panic that [ couldn’ stay still in one place. | ran
back and forth between the courtyard and the buildings.

Her family died in her absence.
They were all slaughtered except for my two younger sisters who weren’t with us,

While Alphonsine and Julienne darted around, Hildegarde stayed “motionless in
complete silence™ in the school building where she was. She fought back tears as she
talked about how her three children died.

At dawn, my children who were with me were badly wounded by a grenade. 1 too
was injured, but only lightly. T couldn’ do anything for them. Because of the bullets
and grenades, moving was out of the question. T stayed beside my children as they
lost a large amount blood. 1 thought about their suffering before 1 saw cach of them
draw in their last breath in the morirg,

Emmanuel was lucky to have found a secure place in the ceiling rafters, and “stayed
there immobilized by fear.”

The cries for help affected me terribly, but I couldn’t do anything (or them. I shiverad
with fear as | imagined mysell going through all that 1f' T was caught.

The firing reached Consolée Mujawamaliya’s room at about 7:00 a.m. By then, those
who had been m the two-storey butlding and in the front courtyard “had already been
eliminated.”

I goot ol just alter the first grenade was thrown at us, not from a reflex to escape, bul
simply to avoid seeing all the bodies shredded by the grenade. A lot of blood was
flowing. A young boy, wounded by a grenade, was trying to get out with the others.
He had lost a lot of bloed and couldn’t get past the entry hall. Evervwhere, the
wounded were howling m pam, but you couldn™ make out what they were saying.

Before the 217, Bernadette Mukamugenzi was used to leaving the camp to go and

look for food; her husband and other refugees would meet her on her return in a
| spectfic place al a specific time. On the mght of 20-21 April, their rendezvous had
heen set for 3:00 am. Surprised when no one turned up, she soon understood why as
she stood stll. trying to make sense of the deafening sounds coming from the school.
Carrying her voungest on her back, she heard someone ai the roadblock comment:
“Those sons of bitches are going to see our strength this time.”

Al T could hear was munfire coming from evervwhere and indiscernible screams from
all sides. Despite cverything, | never imagined that my children would be dead, just
like the adults.

Feliciteé Mukamuganga, whose own house was virtually next to the school, overcame
the panic that made her want to sprint out at the first sound of gunfire. She stayed put
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where she was with the other women and children. With the first hight of dawn, she
got a measure of just how many gendarmes. militiamen and civilians had descended
upon Murambi. The light also gave her the opportunity to see faces she knew among
them.

I saw Kiromba, Nyimimbuga, Nsabivera and Barame who are all in prison, as well as
Havugmmana and David, who are cutside the country, and many many others.

The bodies of men, women and children were all over the place. As 1 was leaving, |
saw somenne called Eugéne killing people with a stone. I [elt like my spinit had left
me and T didn’t know what to do. [ went towards my house and ducked in a sorghum
plantation where | spent many hours. Mbonimana and others were bent over puddles,
trving to rinse off clothes soaked in blood. The clothes had been taken from the
vietims,

“At 6:00 a.m. It Turned into a Pitched Battle”

There were so many people mn the camp that the ammunition on hand was not
sufficient to kill them all. When 1t was depleted, at about 6:00 a.m., the refugees took
advantage of the 20 minutes belore supplies were replenished to create a comidor to
safety. For a brief moment, said Emmanuel Nyirimbuga, it tumed into a battle of

slomes,

The refugees and our militiamen started hurling stoncs at each other and 1t turned into
a pitched battle. Seeing the bodies of their fellows piling up on the ground, the Tutsis
fought furiously to make a way through and get away. They forced us to beat a
retreat. To keep them imprisoned in the camp, our leaders ordered us not to throw
stones, but {0 maintain our position by forming a circle around the Tutsis. They told
us that anyvone who dared to move back would be shot on the spot.

Havugimana gave the reasons why militiamen were told to stop the exchange of
stones. '

They pushed us back a few metres. When they noticed that some were starting 1o
¢lear a way to break out, our leaders told us to drop the stones because the refugees
were using the ones we were throwing to defend themselves.

It took “less than 20 minutes,” said Havugimana, to replemsh the stock of
ammunition.

They sent a certain Mureramanzi to fetch additional ammunition from the pohice
camp. They left in the Pengeot van belonging to a certain Musonera: he's m exile.
Mureramanzi was an excellent driver. He took less than 20 minutes to come back.

At his post in the wall of militamen, Nyirimbuga saw Mureramanzi returning to
Murambi “with some policemen who were carrying baskets full of grenades. guns and
other munitions.” He observed the massacre start anew.

“Between 7:00 and 8:30, we witnessed the most terrible carnage.”
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i They aimed their firepower at any and every cluster of Tutsis, while others threw
;L grenades nto their midst,

In the moming sun, the gendarmes took off their military uniforms, said Nyirimbuga,
“s0 they wouldn’t be spotted by satellite.” The rate at which the refugees died
intensified with better visibility. Havugimana, like the others, found the dayhight
helpful to “clearly see the target.”

A lot of died during the resumption of the shooting and detonations. One grenade
blew up about 30 people. Some of us were chasing the ones who were running out of
the camp.

“None of Us Interahamwe Tad the Right to Turn Back”

[n addition to providing new ammunition, the leaders also focused on their human
resources, which they sought to maintain and enhance by forcing those who were
there to remain on duty, and by bringing in new men.

Gaspard Ayirwanda felt obliged to stay despite his arowing fears.

50 many Tutsis were falling down. The thunder of the gunfire also scarcd me, But
none of us interahamwe had the right to turn back.

Juvénal Munyakayanza and a colleague, Félicien, got to Murambi when the massacre
was already “fierce.” He said he mingled with the militiamen chasing Tutsis as a
prefext to get away from Murambi. He was soon forced to walk back up the hill to the
school.

We got to the shops in Kabeza, We found out that Farangwa and Havugimana had
puta group of men there to wateh out for deserters. We turned back (o Murambi.

Just then a wvehicle brought some ammunition. The gendarmes handed them out,
Giharage from our sector got a gun and two grenades; he ended up in prison. [ stood
behind the others. I could see what was going on. The Tutsis started dying en masse.
They fell one on top of another. Some dashed into the rooms. The gendarmes pursued
them there and threw grenades through the windows. We followed them and used our

spears and machetes agamst anvone who showed any sign of life.

But when a grenade went off in the hands of a militiaman standing in front of him,
Munyakayanza said he again attempted to distance himself from the massacre site.

I didn’t have the time to find out what happened to him. I jumped over several
victims before disappearing into the forest. | avoided the road because | didn’t wanl
to be arrested by the authorities who were waiting for us at the camp’s entrance,

On his way home, Munyakayanza saw interahamwe everywhere on the look out for
Tutsis and he decided o help them,

Evervthing 1 had lived through at Murambi put me m the murderers” camp where [ no
longer had pity for a Tutsi. Therefore | merged with the band without even knowing
where the men were going. We caught two Tutsis near my home, Cassien Murckezi
and Muhire. | adimit that [ helped to kill Murckezi.
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Like Munyakayanza, Singirankabo became apprehensive when a grenade blew up
someone he knew,

I didn’t want to stay through to the end after Célestin Rwandiga, alias Saruhara, the
responsable of Gitwa cellule, had a [atal accident, He had picked up a grenade to
throw at a group of Tutsis who were trying to break through cur position. But it cost
him his life.

Lleft the line with my club in hand. One of the milittamen questioned me. 1 defended
myselll by saving that 1 was following a Tutsi. He couldn’t confuse me with them
because 1 was wearing my banana leaves.

In addiion, vehicles were sent out to scout for new recruits. Jean-Pierre
Smdikubwabo had heard from his home in Kabacuzi cellule the sound of the heavy
weapons in use at Murambi. In the morning, he walked into Gikongore town to
mvestigate what had occurred and met some mterahamwe on his way.

The interahamwe were in Sebuhura’s double cabin Tovolta Each time they met
someone, they stopped the car and made him get in. When they found me at the
Petrorwanda station, one of them said to me: “Hurry up, you have to help the others
at Murambi. You can get your hands on what the Tutsis owned.” [ went with a
machete,

Nsabiyera said he was going home around 7:00 a.m. when two armed men in military
uniform stopped him and obliged him to return to Murambi.

They were with David Karangwa. They were carrying two bags of cement. My
impression 35 that they had just taken them from Murambi where there was a lot of
construction material. They put them on the ground and told me they were looking for
people to go to the front. They ordered me w go and give them a hand. | took a
machete.

“The Turn of Peasants Using Traditional Weapons”

As the militiamen once again began to exhaust their ammunition, Murambi seemed to
quieten down. This time, there was no need to reload guns and to bring in stocks of
grenades. Most of the refugees were dead. Others were gravely injured. Havugimana
noted that “by 9:30 a.m., only a handful of Tutsis were left alive.”

The men who had been using firearms withdrew and gave us, those with traditional
weapons, the chance to enter the camp to complete the massacre. Some of us went
into the buildings and dealt with the dying who were lying on top of the corpses.

As Nsabiyvera confirmed, the calm was deceptive.
Around 9:00 a.m., there were only wounded people pushed back inside the buildings,
and others who were in agony under the piles of bodies. They were killed silently

with machetes, massues and spears under the supervision of Bucyibaruta,
Semakwavu and Sebuhura,
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Because he had been part of a team sent to bring in additional forces. by the time
Sylvestre Maniraho got to Murambi, “the massacre was raging.” He came “with an
important group of interahamwe.” They included Faustin Kanyeshyamba, a former

i
i
I

bourgmestre of Mudasomwa® and Rwakayonza who, Maniraho said, had taught him
E and his collaborators how to handle guns.
=

T There was no time to use weapons. Thousands and thousands of Tutsi bodies were
i lying on the ground. We used our massues, machetes and spears. Those who hadn’t
- yet been killed were already dead from fear. They didn’t scream as they were hit with
a massue. They simply let out a small sob before surrendering their soul.
“Some even demanded to be killed. They were traumatized.
T Survival meant nothing to them.”
: Maniraho said he took the lives of ten Tutsis who were complete strangers. “More
than five” fell at the hands of Nyirimbuga during this final phase of slaughter.

Tknow I killed more than five people with my massue and machete. The final kilhngs
took place in the building right at the entrance to the camp. A few Tutsis there were
shot by a man called Sylvestire Bimenyimana, a builder who lives in Nyarusange,
(Giikongoro town. So far, he's not been punished for the crimes he committed in
Murambi.

The survivors held their breath as they followed Nyirimbuga and the other militiamen
out of the comner of their eyes. Alphonsine stayed immobile as they approached the
arca close to her.

Peasants thrashed the wounded with machetes, spears, clubs etc. .

The first group who saw Suzanne took the clothes off her back. The second group
murdered her cluldren as she looked on,

All my eight children were killed in front of me with machetes. I saw them die the
| most horrible death. T had lost my mind to the extent that | couldn’t even see who
killed them. My children’s names were:

* Espérance Dushimimana, bom in 1979
= Chrstine Uwamahoro, born in 1981;

» Cypricn Ngirinshuti, born in 1982;

= Jean-Bosco Nkurunziza, bom in 1984:
= Claude Uwineza, born m 1986:

= Claudine Uwizeve, born in 1988:

* Samuel Munyaneza, bomn in 1990;

*  Paul Rukundo, bom in 1992,

The youngest was removed from my back and executed in front of me. .. The carnage
is indescribable.... Blood flowed like a river. I didn’t pay much attention to it because
I felt dead myself. T was no longer of this world.

Unable to continue, Suzanne broke down in tears.

" Faustin Kanyeshyanba was freed afier he had served & prison sentence of seven years.
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As clubs and sticks were used all around her, Annonciata Mubayimana “could see
only blood and corpses.” Like Annonciata, Déo Nsengiyumva feigned death to
preserve his hife.

I found an arca where there were lots of dead bodies and I laid down next to them.
Mcanwhile, cries from the wounded unsettled me. Some called for help, others asked
the interahamwe to put them out of their misery. Still others, unable to bear their pain,
sought to enrage the aggressors so they would kill them. They told them: “You, sons
of dogs, you have done nothing...” There were poeols of blood everywhere, people
without limbs and other terrible wounds. I didn’t want to open my eyes to look

In the forest and the bushes around the school, there were many people who had been
mjured, especially on the legs; they had tried to dash away and had been stopped. |
saw a crowd of men bludgeoning them. The people near me were slain before my
eves. Because 1 was hungry and scared, it was very easy for me to pretend to be dead.

In one of the small buildings at the back, Didacienne, 11, huddled with her younger
brothers and her grandparents. Her mother was in another room nearby. The intensity
of the firing outside had been sufficient to trap them nside until early in the morming.

We were [rozen, literally petrified, as we waited for our turn to come. Death stared us
right in the face as we heard indiscernible noises—yells from the killers and cries
from the wounded and the dying.

They fmally came face to face with men carrying an array of weapons.

First, they ordered us to open the door, which was not firmly closed. Nobody moved.
On the upper level, there were some window frames, but none of them had any more
panes. The peasants and interahamwe then forced the door open and came inside.

They went straight for my grandmother and struck her on the forehead with a
machete. She immediately fell to the ground. There were close to 40 people in the
room. They lashed out blindly with their machetes, hitting every parl of the body
indiscriminately.

Didacienne described the killing as collaborative saying, “at least four men struck
cach victim.”

My brother’s skull was fractured by a rock. He began to bleed profusely. He didn’t
die mght away. My paternal aunt, who had watched the whole scene. was completely
terrified. She begged them to spare her and promised to give them moncy. They
didn’t even bother to listen to her, but immediately beat her to death with sticks. None
of the people who were with me were lucky enough to be shot.

What saved her 15 the fact that she was immersed in blood.

I had lay down on the ground from the outset and pretended that T was dead. 1 was
soaked with the blood of the wounded and the dead who were lving all around me.
Some of them were not completely dead yet. They weighed a lot and 1 fokt as if I was
suffocating: I was soaked in more blood than the wounded were. The murderers
dide’t leave even after they saw that no-one was moving, They wanted to make
certain that we were all done for. So they went back to give the final hlow to the
dying,
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When Didacienne was discovered, she lifted her hand and said, *“T'm a Hutu!”

All of a sudden, I felt a machete land on my arm. Luckily, | wasn’t maimed. They
went on killing the others and to add more corpses to the heap. When [ could no
longer hear their footsteps, 1 slipped ouwt of the bodies to see what was happening
becausc | could hear yvelling, 1 saw some people who were on the point of death and a
lot of dead bodies. There didn’t seem to be anyone who was intact apart from me. My
little brother had wounds all over his body. While 1 was still thinking, another group
of men burst in. They cried out loud and alerted their companions to tell them that
there were still somne survivors.

She identified her family’s shepherd among the assailants and prayed that he would
save her.

I said that my Tutsi mother had brought me here without my father’s knowledge, 1
added that | had seen my father among the militiamen, but that | wasn’t able to speak
to him because he was in a hurry to go and lend a hand at Cyanika. Our shepherd
confirmed my claims. | was surprised to hear the voices of my brother and my little
sister as I thought they had already been killed. One of them said that he was my
brother and the other said that she was my sister. She was dying; her stomach had
been ripped open and her intestines had fallen out, One of the men Anished her off
with 2 machete. Ouw: clothes and our skin were drenched 1n blood.

The men gave her and her brother clothes taken from other refugees. One of them
offered Didacienne and her brother an avocado. “They were very happy to have saved
‘one of their own,™ she addad.

She couldn’t see a way out, so Bélie Mukandamage remained in the room she
occupied. Civilians entered with old hoes, machetes and clubs filled with nails and
she watched as they inflicted termble imjuries on those around her. Among these
armed civilians, she said, were children and many old friends and acquaintances.

The children had stones and used them to strike me. [ hardly cried out, 1 just asked
myself what we had become and that really tortured me morally.

“Someone who had bent down to offer you a helping hand before the genocide
was the one who was now dishonouring you in the most inhumane manner
puossible.”

One of the prominent killers stopped the kids from beating me, saying that T was now
on my own and couldn’t be harmful. A lot of the génocidaires were walking around
the bodies o verify that none of them were stll breathing,

Two of her sons, Zabulon Karangwa and Naftar Ndibwami, her daughter, Félicii¢
Mukashyaka, and two of her grandchiidren, Emmanuel Rukundo and Ingabire, were
slam as they tned to run away. There were so many assassing, added Bélie, that it was
hard to pick out individuals.

When we came across one, we didn't dare to look. Some of them were disguised,
weanng banand lecaves. Nevertheless, 1 could see a few of them, including
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Murwanashyaka, who was imprisoned and then released, and Mutabazi who has died.
There were also military figures.

Consolée decided to leave the school grounds between 7:30 and 8:00 a.m. when she
overheard Nsabiyera tell his colleagues to approach their would-be victims.

For about 30-40 minutes, | was scared siiff and remained deadly still. My children
were still with me. I left with some other women and children but afier a few metres,
wewenl our separate ways.

Consolée’s children—Ariane, Grice and Viviane—ran ahead of her, and were still in
her sight when their lives were cut short.

They were executed with a machete right near me. 1 heard their cries but T dida’t dare
look. We were still close 1o the massacre site. and 1 threw myself to the ground. It
was near a small bush. [ stayed there, unable to move.

Eugénie Mushimiyimana was in one of the buildings at the very back and could see
clearly neither the men who were shooting at them, nor the refugees who were
fighting back with stones. By the time she had shaken off sleep, she had no idea
where her relatives were and she was surrounded by strangers in the midst of chaos
and deafening sounds. Jumping over people who were so badly wounded that “you
couldn’t even bring yourself to look at them,” and having to ignore their pleas is one
of the many terrible memories that linger in her mind.

From the window of a room on the ground floor of the two-story building, Maric-
Chantal Mukamunana had watched the men in the courtyard as they tried to do the
umpossible—mount an effective retaliation. The militiamen reached the room where
she was around 5:00 in the morming.

We couldn’t have done anything for anyone except dic with them. The Crigs
intensified in the moming when the interahamwe and the peasants entered in force.
They would strike a person once and then leap to another, but each victim was
flogged by at least three or four assassing.

ll-year old Francine Mutuyimana started rushing around with no particular
destination in mind at 6:00 a.m. in the morming.

I would leave the storied building but then find myself returning to sec if anyone had
survived. I kept tripping over bodies of people I knew. I became numb. 1 looked at
them without reacting, but fear goawed at me.

She crawled out of the school around 7:00 am.

[ had just seen people 1 knew experience horrible deaths. My maternal grandfather,
Rwabukwisi, was killed by a grenade. The dead and the dying filled the courtyard and
the buildings. Bemadette’s husband, Anastase Ruzindana, had been wounded by a
bullet. He was groaning and begging for water to drink. He died slowly, in the
moming. There was also a woman named Daphrose who had given birth to twins that
night. She couldn't move and was hacked with a machete, People were maimed and
mutilated in 50 many different ways. Blood flowed like a river, Added to all this were
the sounds. 1 saw only two children in the courtyard and I asked them to go with me,
but they refused.
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As detatled above, Bernadette, who had gone to her home in commune Karama to
look for food, returned to Murambi Just as the massacre got under way. She entered
the school when she could no longer hear the sound of gunfire and was told by
Euphrasie, an in-law, that her husband and children were among the dead. Euphrasie
herself, though untouched, was in a state of shock.

We saw a soldier. Euphrasie begged him to shoot us because she was so scired of
being cut up by a machete. He replied: “I don't want to waste my bullets. One of you
should strangle the other one right now.” She had lots of money and offered 1t to the
soldier as payment lor shooting her. When he saw the money, he asked her: “How
can | kill you with all this money?" He refused, so we went in different directions,
Later I found out that she died, not far from Murambi.

Bemadette walked towards the room where she had last seen her children, and went
inside.

| didn’t find any child there, or the bodies of my children, I did see the compses of
several acquaintances and of people who lived next door to us. But some had been 50
badly disfigured by the grenades that they were unidentifiable. T had no response to
what 1 saw; T didn’t have any feeling,

“The Préfet Thanked Everyone, Especially the Interahamwe from
Mudasomwa”

The killing subsided at about 10:30 am. when most of the refugees had been
massacred. Bucyibaruta, Semakwavu, Simba and Sebuhura stood around the camp
with the mulitiamen. They offered congratulations and encouraged them to feel pride
in a mission accomplished, but indicated that the work was not over. Nsabiyera, who
had made his own contribution, heard Bucyibaruta’s address.

The préfet thanked everyone, especially the interahamwe from Mudasomwa, for what
had been achieved. Cars were put at the disposal of the bravest so they could go and
lend a hand to the militamen of Karama who had also begun to exterminate the
thousands of Tutsis at Cyanika,

Nyirimbuga was also in the audience.

I realized we were being backed by all the authorities. Bucyibaruta, Semakwavu and
Scbuhura cxpressed their appreciation to us, especially to the interahamwe who'd
come from Mudasomwa. They were asked to track down the Tutsis who had cluded
us and made it to Cyanika. They drove ofT in the DAIHATSU owned by the tea
factory in Kitabi. They'd been using these vehicles throughout the nieht. The
militiamen from Mudasomwa were promised they’d be allowed to clean out the shops
m Gikengoro town once the Cyanika massacre was over.

Ayirwanda confirmed the special honour bestowed on the militia from M udasomwa,
and recalled the phrase used by Bucyibarita to sum up the overall achievements.

The préfet thanked us with these words: “What vou just did is very imponant; the
enemy has now been vanquished.”
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The presence and speeches of govemment officials so inspired the Mudasomwa
malitia, said Havugimana, that they broke out in song.

They sang: “Where 15 Rwigema, leader of the mmyenzi; who had reselved to conguer
Umutara? Al the moment, the infofanyi are powerless betore us, who are strong like
tanks.”

The authonties portrayed the opportumity to take the lives of Tutsis at Cyantka as an
exclusive opportunity for the most outstanding delegation, commented Sylvestre
Maniraho

There were a lot of officials there. The ones I remember are Semakwavu, Bucyibaruta
and Sebuhura. They didn’t want the looting to begm before the Tutsis at the Parish at
Cyantka had been taken care of. The militia from Mudasomwa were handpicked
because of thewr sterling performance at Murambi.

After being assured that the Tutsi-owned stores in town would be theirs to claim once
they had completed the new task at hand, the men from Mudasomwa mounted the
vechicles which had brought them to Murambi and made their way to Cyanika.
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“HEAPED LIKE PILES OF INSECTS IN CYANIKA”

Beginning Sunday the 10" of April, refugees from the communes of Karama,
Rukondo and Kinyamakara, which together form the sous-préfecture of Karaba,
began the trek to the Parish of Cyanika, situated in Nyanza I cellule, sector Cyanika in
Karama. They filled all the parish buildings, including the church and its adjacent
enclosed courtyard, as well as the health centre and primary school only a few metres
away.

The deputy-préfet of Karaba sous-préfecture, Joseph Ntegeyintwali, and Cyanika
councillor, Callixte Munyankindi,” called local residents to a meeting on 17 Apnl.
The next day, a trial assault on the parish revealed to the militiamen and their leaders
that the Tutsis there would have little means of resistance when the time came for a
full-scale assault.

Three days later, Tutsis flecing death at Murambi on 21 April grouped with the
refugees in Cyanika parish. Some of the men who had turned the technical school into
a wasteland only a few hours earlier followed in their tracks and helped the militia of
Karama to confront those huddled at Cyanika.

The parish priest, Father Joseph Niyomugabo, remained with the refugees until their
final hours, taking tremendous personal risk in domng so. As an educated maie Tutsi,
and as someone who had been outspoken and courageous in standing up to
officialdom, he had precisely the profile the forces of genocide targeted. He did what
he could to obtain supplies for them, keep the danger at bay, tend the sick and the
wounded, whilst keeping their hopes alive and sustaming them morally through
prayer. He was taken into safe custody during the major assault. but death found him
only a few days later.

*“To Speak the Truth”

Few of the men who erganized the bombardment of the parish have been forthcoming
with information, limiting our knowledge about the precise nature of the planning and
execution of the massacre at Cyanika. In particular, Joseph Niegeyintwali, who has
been singled out as the leading architect. has steadfastly refused to accept
responsibility and is therefore reluctant to speak out fully and honestly about what
took place in Cyanika

Etienne Urinzwenimana was arrested on 9 October 1994 when he was 19 years-old.
Confident that no-one “would dare to talk about the unprecedented catastrophe that
had befallen the Tutsis in our region,” he did not, for a long time, admit to the crimes
he had commutted,

" Munyankindi is said to have died in Bukavu
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I now acknowledze my participation in the genocide of Tutsis al the Panish of
Cyambka. Before, | was hesitant, I thought that if no one else talked, then 1t would be
in my interest 10 remain silent.

Juvénal Mudenge similarly maintained his silence. He drew strength from the faet that
the detainees in Gikongoro central prison, charged with erimes relating to Cyanika,
had apparently reached an agreement to celiectively deny all the accusations against
them. Their reasoning, he said, is that if they did not point the finger at each other,
there would be insufficient evidence to convict any of them. He decided to speak out,
“and so help the pubhic,” after he was sentenced to ife imprisonment and realized that
he “had nothing to hold back.”

Mudenge worked first as a soldier, then as a customs official and later as a communal
policeman in Karama, but was unemployed in 1994 when he was 44. Before giving a
long and detailed testimony, he expressed his regrets at only doing so a decade afier
he was first arrested.

I followed everything that happened in Cyanika from the beginning to the end as my
home is close to the pansh. Given my contribution to the genocide, | am absolutely
detenmined to speak the truth about the massacres of Cyanika which cost the lives of
more than 10,000 victims. It is a story that T will never forget,

Mudenge identified Sebuhura, the bourgmestre, Désiré Ngezahayo and Joseph
Ntegeyintwali, the deputy-préfet, as the trio who orchestrated the massacre on the 21st
at Cyamika. Ntegeyintwah, he added, has been at pains to obscure his tracks.

MNtegeyvintwali and the policemen were in charge, under the command of Sebuhura.
They are the ones who are truly responsible for the death of thousands of Tutsis at
Cyambka Ntegeymtwali clung to his pistol. I'm surprised that he refuses to confess,
cven up to today. He thought that no-one would shed light on what happened. That’s
why he adopted a strategy of becoming close to all the prisoners connected 1o the
¢rimes committed at Cyanika, in order to inhibit them from confessing and from
speaking about what he himself did.

Ntegeyintwali rejects all the accusations against him, including the charge that he
took part in the meeting with Sindikubwabo on the 19" of April. Ntegeyintwali, now
57, 1s the father of five and is orginally from Nkumbure in Mudasomwa. In an
interview with African Rights, he claimed that on the 21%, he was on his way to the
commune office of Rukondo when he ran mmte a huge crowd of people heading for
Cyanika, after which he heard the sound of gunfire. He did not, he said, “know who
had rallied this crowd.”

As an authority in the region, I immediately went to the parish to establish the facts. 1
went into a house near the parish where T could closely follow the killing. Armed
only with the pistol m my hand, I couldn’t do anything for the Tutsis. And nor could |
do anything to stop the mterabamwe who were like dogs in a rage and who were
supported by zendarmes who had come from Gikongoro town, I realized that a senior
official had sent them and they had & mission to fulfil.

Ie confirmed that the massacre lasted from 7:00 aan, until 5:00 p.m.

Atthe end, | noticed that Cyanika had not only been invaded by the people of Karaba,
backed by the gendarmes. 1 also saw many interahamwe from Mudasomwa. They
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were in the vehicles of the Kitabi tea factory. It was obvious that they were well-
trained. They had orders from their leaders and knew each other. They went where
cven the local population was hesitant to venture.

Laying the blame on the préfet, Bucyibaruta, and the gendarmes, he ended with the
comment that “the lives of the refugees lay in their hands.”

The testimony of the bourgmestre of Karama commune, Désiré Ngezahayo, also runs
contrary to the accusations against him. Despite his position, he argued that his
influence was limited and that he was reduced to being a passive observer of the
IMAsSAcres.

When a lot of Tutsis came to Cyanika parish, the parish priest, Fr. Nivomugabo,
asked me to intervene, We lefi together to find the deputy-préfet, Joscph
Ntegeymtwali. He ought to have taken the decision to distribute food to the refugees.
We had an emergency supply for the commune. The food was insignificant given the
multitude of Tutsis at Cyanika. We counted more than 5,000 people on 12 April, but
their number grew and grew until they were killed.

Ngezahayo admits that he “did nothing about the killings in Cyanika ™ Ile claims
Faustin Nsabikunze, the president of his party, the Social Democratic Party (PSD),
advised him against “interfering” in order to “avoid clashes with J oseph
MNtegeyintwali, the master-mind of the massacre,”

The refugees died without any intervention from the authorities. As for me. I closed
my eyes to what was happening, while others gave a strong helping hand to the
murderers. Ntegeyintwali had a microphone that he used to direct the massacre. He
was also present at the discussion with Sindikubwabo. The killing lasted the whole
day, from 7:00 a.n. until 5:00 pm. Al the end, the militiamen were given the
opportunity to loot from the victims, as well as the parish itself,

“Father Niyomugabo Asked us to Pray to God the Almighty, But
Fervently”

Emmanuel Gakwandi remembers the parish in Cyanika as the place that sheltered him
andl his parents in 1959. He was four at the time. In 1994, he was emploved as a
watchman in a project that repaired roads called PSD HIMO. On 15 April, when “the
tension was mounting and our Hutu neighbours would not have anything to do with
us,” Emmanuel left his home in cellule Rwamagana, sector Cyanika and returned to
the patish with his wife and children, hoping that it would, once again, serve as a safe
haven.

We met many other Tutsi refugees. Every day, the bourgmestre, Ngezahayo, and
some of lus staff members, took a census of the refugees present there. Later, they
sent gendarmes, clamming that it was for our sceurity. Two would stay during the day.
and two others at night. The parish priest, Fr. Joseph Niyomugabo, really believed
that they had come to keep the peace. He was happy and offered each two cases of
Primus beer in order to please them and o motivate them to look after the refugees
well.
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Similarly, Marianoe Nikuze, then 12, and her younger brothers and sisters walked out
of thew home in cellule Birambo, sector Cyanika, on the afterncon of 7 April afier
they saw men torching houses. On their way to the parish, they ran into Ngezahayo.

There were many people. We asked him what was zomg on and he told us: “Wait,
vou will see. Your hour has come.”

They reached a place called Gatyazo and had another unsctthing encounter.

There were lots of armed men on the road and they asked us: “Do you think that you
arc going into a boulder where we can’t enter? Don’t fool yourselves, we will follow
you and kill you.™”

She and her siblings made it to the parish. A few days later, Marianne’s stepmother,
uncle and grandmother met them there. Her father, who had brought his cattle. stayed
outside the parish with the other men watching over their livestock. But two days
later, they too came inside and were housed in the priests”™ houses.

They realized that it was getting serious.

Xavérine Mukansoro became a widow m 1994 at the aze of 41 when her husband
died from poisoning. A week later, on a Monday morning. she abandoned her home
i sector Giikonl, commune Rukundo, and came o Cyanika in a group of about 12,
including her children and her mother-in-law. By then, Fr. Niyomugabo was
beginning to lose confidence.
We got to Cyamka Parish in the moming. The priest asked us: “Where will you go?
It’s serious this time.” There were people with their arms cut off and others with all
sorls of wounds: Fr. Niyomugabo asked us 1o pray to God the Almighty, but
fervently. On Monday and Tuesday we were brought some food. But by Wednesday,
there were 50 many of us that all the food was reserved for the small children.

Though the refugees were apprehensive about the future, for the first week they lived
n relative calm. Mudenge watched thewn enter the church.

We, the people living in the vicimity, left them in peace,

luvénal Gasasira worked for the parish as a driver at the health centre and was abreast
of the situation. Not everyone who was heading for the parish made it inside, he said.

There was a roadblock very near the home of the deputy-prifet, Ntegeyintwali, where
a lot of Tutsis who were coming to the parish were killed.

Lic saw the officials who made regular visits to the parish.

Even prior to the massacre of 21 April, Captain Sebuhura and Ntegeyintwali came
often to see the refugees at the parish.
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“We Had to Outwit Them by Exterminating Them”

: A meeting of residents on 17 April, called by Ntegeyintwali and the councillor,
Munyankindi, coupled with the first death of a refugee that day, signalled that things
were about to change. LEtienne Unnzwenmimana attended and remembered that
personnel from the commune and sous-préfecture offices were among those who
thronged to the Cyanika football stadium, about 500 metres from the pansh.
Ntegeyintwali and Munyankindi spoke for a few minutes in private and then
Ntegeyintwali left. Munyankindi then chaired the discussion. Urinzwenimana
summed up the essence of his intervention.

Munyankindi told us that his words came from the official hierarchy, that 15, the
deputy-préfet and the bourgmestre.

He told us the population was being galvanized in order to stand up to the Tutsis. No
distinction should be made. he said, between Tutsis and the inkotaryi because they
were synonymous. In short, they were the enemies of the Hutu. To make us more
determined to rise up against them, he revealed that the Tutsis had drawn up a plan
against the Hutus. According to him, we had to outwit them by exterminating them
first.

At the end, the councillor handed Urinzwenimana a grenade.

When 1 asked him where it came from, he told me that Col. Simba had made a
commitment to work with the population in providing the necessary weapons,
Eventually, I found out that Simba was distributing grenades and weapons through
Albert’s sons, Mbaga and Charles. Simba’s wife was related to them. 1 was given the
grenade because I had undergone military training,

The same day, Godefroid Ntezimana, a catechist who had been among the first people
at the parish, was murdered near where Mudenge was standing.

He had gone to buy a drink in Gahamanyi's bar. | was near the building and saw him
die after he was set upon by a group of local men, including a certain Ansclme. 1
came upon them as Anselme was hitting him with a machete. They threw his body
nto a toilet

Fr. Niyomugabo came quickly to mvestigate what had happened. But Gahamanyi, the
owner of the bar, warned him not to intervene and revealed the complicity of the local
authorities. Indeed, for Mudenge this was clearly apparent. Several officials were
standing near him while Godefroid was beaten to death.

The wvictim was killed in front of MNeezahayo, the bourgmestre; Munyankindi, the
councillor of Cyanika; and Marc Hanyurwimfura, a former bourgmestre who later
became a member of parliament.” Although they were there at the time, they denied

any responsibility and added that it was the work of'a group of youngsters.
But Fr. Niyemugabo 1gnored the advice of caution.

| was there when Fr. Nivomugabo addressed the public to cstablish the exact jdenuty
of the murderers. | remember that it was 17 April, [ also recall that a gendarme who

* hare Hanyvurwimfira is thought 1o be living in Masigi, in castern DRC.
k g L
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had accompanied him shot in the air. | don’t know why he did that, maybe to show
the priest that he was sorry about what had Just taken place. i

“In reality, however, the gendarmes used to meet secretly with the local people to
tell them that the bell had not vet tolled for the Tutsis.”

“Our Purpose Was to Put the Refugees to the Test”, 18 April

While the tactics for dealing with the Tutsis at the parish were being defined, a militia
was formed and given the mission of launching a trial assault on the parish on the 18"
to gauge the strength of the refugees and determine how they would react to the
onslaught in preparation. Urinzwenimana explained the logic of this practice run.

Our purpose was to put the refugees 1o the test. Tt was a way of evaluating them to
know if they would respond or not when we launched a full-scale assault.

Armed with the grenade the councillor had given him, he enlisted in this militia.

The councillor asked me to go and lend a hand to the militia that had just been set up
and which included:

Vianney Kabera; he's imprisoned in Gikongore but has refused o confess;
Callixte Gahamanyi, in Gikongoro prison:

* Joseph Mbonera, deceased;

= Bizimana Munyu, killed by Gahamanyi over a dispute about stolen property.

Mudenge also merged with the group as they passed by him.

When they told me that the order to strike the Tutsis had been given by the officials in
the region, I didn’t hesitate to respend to their appeal. 1 was, above all, motivated by
the desire (o seize the cows of the Tutsis.

The men divided into teams and shared out the tasks_ as Uninzwenimana made clear,

One team came with me to throw the grenade into the camp, The others took up a
position at the exit in order to thwart all attempts by the refugees to sneak away. |
climbed the wall in order not to miss my target. I lobbed the grenade at a group of
refugees in a calculated manner, that is 1 wanted to be sure it would kill them. And it
did. I don’t know how many, but 1 would say about 30 people.

The toll, as the refugees confirm, was 17 dead and about 30 wounded. Mudenge said
that Mbonera and Munyu helped Unnzwenimana with the grenade. Mudenge himself
was m the other group, standing around the peniphery of the parish, armed with
machetes and massues.

Because we thought that the grenade would make the refugees disperse and rush
outside, we had placed men armed with traditional weapons at the entrance to mow
them down. There were many of us and we were ready to crush our adversaries. | was
m this group. The others mcluded: Vianney Kabera; Callixte Gahamanyi; Maurice,
Ngendo’s son and Damascéne Gatari, all of them in prison and sentenced to life,
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But no refugees aftempted to get away from the parish, leaving little work for
Mudenge and his companions.
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We abandoned our ambush about an hour after the grenade went off, when we
realized that the refugees were determined to die together.

Any suspicions that the refugees were well anmed were laid to rest. Urinzwenimana
also left the parish, “certain that they would not encounter any resistance in future. ™

For the refugees, the grenade shattered any remaining hopes that they would leave
Cyanika alive. Emmanuel realized what was in store for them when he saw the
reaction of the gendanmes who were supposedly on their side.

The gendarmes were openly happy, as opposed to trying to do something for us. That
was the moment when we began to have doubts. We went crazy because we knew
what would come next. The Tutsis who died that day were buried in a mass grave,
and were reburied with dignity after the genocide.

The deaths that occurred in the presence of the gendarmes were also a warning sign
for Xaverine.

1 saw people falling down. T heard someone advise me to lie down. I immediately
dropped to the ground and lay on my stomach, with my child on my back. Fr.
Niyomugabo later took the bodies away and said that we would bury them the
following day. The gendarmes kept on telling us not to worry about our well-being,
but the next day, the interahamwe killed some people and cut off our water pipes.

Concerned above all else to bring together the largest number of Tutsis in one place,
Mudenge said that officials, despite the success of their rehearsal, took additional
measures to avoid panic among the refugees and an early departure.

Local oflicials were still intent, at this stage, on making the Tutsis leave their homes
and getting them all together under one roof. 1 realized just how serous they were
about this when Ntegeyintwali shot Masabo to death with a pistol just behind my
house: He did this because Masabo, a native of Kibungo, was sicaling from the Tutsis
who were trying to make their way to the parish. At first, I thought that the deputy-
préfet wanted to help them. However, my close contacts with the interahamwe made
me realize that he had another aim. Ntegeyintwali didn’t want a wrong move by some
interahamwe, who was simply looking for personal profit, 10 become a waming to
some Tutsis, thereby making them suspect that they would not be safe in the parish
and leading them to get away.

Mudenge also recalls that on the 19™, Mtegeyintwali and Ngezahayo attended a
conference in Gikongoro town. Their attitude on their return did not bode well for

those who filled Cyanika Parish.

They were angry and had an air of decisiveness about them, They went directly to the
pansh. Ntegevintwali told the refugees that he didn’t want to see them outside the
walls of the parish buildings. I was there when he told them this.

Théodore Sindikubwabo led this summit in Gikongoro town. Mtegeyintwali and
Ngezahayo both deny their presence there but confirm hearing from others who
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attended that its purpose was to urge officials to begin the massacre of Tutsis in
Murambi and Cyanika. Sebuhura is known to have been there. Mudenge met him the
following day, and described him as having an air of resolution.

On 20 April, the eve of the killings, Captain Sebuhura went to see the deputy-préfet.
It was about 2:00 p.m. in the afternoon. He was in a red Toyvota Hilux, On his way
back, at about 3:30 p.m.. he found me sitting near the Groupe Scolaire of Cyanika, in
a place known as Mabuye. | was with Francois, who died in the DRC, and other
milittamen. He stopped by to make sure that we were not Tutsis. When he was
confident that we were not, he told us: “Be courageous. We are behind von. No Tutst
must get away.”

“Little Doubt that Murambi was Under Fire”

Deafening sounds coming from the direction of Murambi kept Mudenge from
sleeping in the early hours of the 21*. He walked a few kilometres until he reached an
elevated position from where he could survey the sky over Gikongoro town. From
what he saw, he “had little doubt that Murambi was under fire.”

Bellancille®, who worked at the parish and lived close by, had come to the same
conclusion.

We heard sounds like thunder throughout the night. T found it shocking because | had
never heard the sound of gunfire before. We knew they had begun to massacre the
Tutsis in Murambi. As the hours passed, the gunfire seemed to come closer and closer
10 us. Shortly after 3:00 am. all the refugees at Cyanika went inside. We found out
quickly that some young people had come to Cyanika from Murambi, including Aline
Ntirushwa’s husband, and they told those at Cyanika what was going on.

In the parish, soldiers told Xavérine and the others to listen closely to the sounds
coming from Murambi.

Tney told us that our hour had come and said: “In an instant. you're going to hear
vhat happens in Murambi.” And within a few moments we heard gunshots. Very
early in the moming, we started to receive people from Murambi, but they were
gravely wounded.

Marianne also talked to the survivors of Murambi and was alarmed by their stories.
They were able to enter the parish, she said, “because that night, all the interahamwe
had gone to Murambi.” Some of the refugees took advantage of their absence for a
few hours.

We realized that the same fate awaited us, so people started leaving Cyanika. Even
the men who were protecting us fled.

Spéciose Mukangenzi, who currently has a small kiosk at Cyanika health centre,
found it unbearable to lock at the people who came from Murambi.

Some had amputated arms; some were all red with blood and were stil] bleeding,

* A pseudonym.
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Grace Mukantarindwa was among the crowd running from Murambi to Cyanika. One
thought was uppermost in her mind.

There were a lot of refugees at Cyanika. We wanted to tell them about the killings
that had just taken place in Murambi and to tell them to come with us to Burundi, We
thought it might be possible to leave en masse. OF course, we knew that some of us
would be killed on the way, but we also hoped the rest would be saved.

T

But this hope she said, proved to be *an illusion,” firstly because so few of the
Murambi survivors actually reached Cyanika, and secondly because soldiers and
interahamwe preceded them to the parish. Mane-Chantal Mukamunana Had also
walked from Murambi to Cyanika.

“About 1,500 of us left Murambi, I would say, but not more than 200 actually
reached Cyanika. Many were massacred along the way and others drowned in
the river which had flooded over hecause of the recent rains.”

I almost drowned mysclf, but the water projected me to the opposite bank.

When he tumed up for work at the parish very early in the morning, Gasasira saw the
survivors from Murambi.

They told the people at Cyanika to go with them. Given what they had just
experienced in Murambi, they had little doubt that they were going to come under fire
at Cyanika. But those at Cyanika were hopeful because they were still with Fr.
Niyomugabo.

Some nevertheless were courageous enough to make a run for it, but I don't know
how far they got from the panish before they were killed.

| “The Worst Came on 21 April”

Militia began to congregate at the parish on the moming of 21 April. Mudenge could
see a group forming at the office of the sous-préfecture.

Niegeyintwali began to transport interahamwe from all corners of the region. They
assembled at Miko, He took them from there to his office, less than one kilometre
from the panish. This process began very early in the moming because at 8:00 am.,
Sebubura came to make sure that all the conditions were in place w begin the work.
About 20 well-armed gendarmes accompanied him.

Mudenge was among a mass of men at the foothall pitch, down the road from
Niegeyintwali’s office. Their numbers grew quickly and steadily, and still they waited
for others. Sebuhura addressed them.

He scemed like a man ready to engage in a battle. He spelt out our mission by telling
us: “We have already begun the war in Murambi. Some of the inyenzi slipped through
and have come this way. They are on the way. Tell your relatives to keep their
children inside, otherwise we will not make any distinetions.”

Chattig to the other men, Mudenge saw “a line of Tutsis coming from Murambi.”
= 4 a2
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They scemed really scared, but ready to defend themselves. They were in two groups.
One group, consisting of about 100 people, was on the Kibingo reoad, ncar the
cemetery. Another group fell into our ambush. 1 killed one man on the spot with a
massue. Then a gendarme told us: “Let them unite with their brothers in the camp,
They won’t get away from you. Just make sure that they den’t scatier.” So we
accompanied them as far as the entrance.

The gendarmes stopped us from beginning the offensive until the other militia had
reached us. There were about 1000 of us. Everyone had a weapon. We were ready to
deal with the refugees.

A contingent then arrived from commune Rukondo, driven by Nicgeymtwali in his
white Toyota pick-up, in addition to militia who had been dropped off at his office.
However, the men who were most eagerly awaited, and whose arrival would have the
greatest impact, were the militia from Mudasomwa,

The order to go into action was given when the interahamwe from Mudasomwa drove
in. They were like lions ready to devour lambs. They wore cucalyptus leaves, Some
of them were brandishing their weapons in the air. [Emmanuvel] Mgoga. Frangois
Gakuru, the head of the militia in Mudasomwa, and Louis Hategekimana, who's in
prison here and who had come in a yellow Daihatsu, seemed to be their leaders.
Ngoga was driving the blue Dahaitsu of the tea factory of Kitabi. They brought a ot
of militiamen with them. The blue Dahaitsu made several trips and they also uscd
another wvehicle provided by Capt. Sebuhura to transport the militamen of
Mudasomwa directly from Murambi.

The men from Mudasomwa came with guns, grenades and machetes. Tt was the red
Hilux of Capt. Sebuhura which brought the weapons for the teams from Mudasomwa.
They said they had come to help. About 160 militiamen came from Mudasomwa in
cars and many, many more came to Cyanika on foot. There were even women, about
a dozen, who took an active part in the killings at Cyanika.

When you look at what Ntegeyintwali did to put together the force for Cyanika, and
how much assistance he got from the militia of Mudasomwa, 1'm convineed that
there must have been contact between him and the bourgmestre of Mudasomwa,
Emmanuel Niteziryayo.

A group of gendarmes then approached Mudenge and his companions to discuss the
refugees’ capacity for self-defence.

They came in a vehicle they had seized from Fr. Nivomugabo.

“We had every Kkind of traditional weapon and the support of gendarmes with
firearms who had bullets dangling from their necks like a rosary.”

S0 we were not worried about going against a crowd of more than 10,000 people.
They were worth nothing. The grenades and guns would reduce them to dust. And
Ntegeyintwali kept bringing men to increase our force. using his car and the red
Toyota.

Bellancille, who would have gone to the pansh if she was not relying on her Hutu
husband, observed the préparations from her home with trepidation.
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Early in the morning, three vehicles filled with killers parked near the parish. The
fourth car was Ntegevintwali’s. They were all dressed up in banana leaves and were
carrying machetes, masswes and a wide range of other instruments. Mtegeyintwali had
a pistol. I saw him with my own eyes.

According to Mudenge, Ntegeyintwali gave the green light after he had spent half an
hour confernng with the men from Mudasomwa.

Urinzwenimana reached the scene just before the massacre began. Sebuhura was
already there, “accompanied by more than 100 gendarmes, all armed with grenades
and guns.”

I linked up with a crowd of mterahamwe wearing strange uniforms. Some were
decked out 1 eucalyptus leaves, others those of coffee trees. T also noticed the
presence ol interahamwe from Mudasomwa and Nyamagabe. They came in Daihatsu
vehicles. The gendanmes had just told the interahamwe to move towards the camp.

I immediately received some guns from our bourgmestre, Ngezahayo, although he
claims that he wasn’t there that day. He was the one who told Cyprien Niyonsaba, a
communal policeman, to bring them. Before opening firc on the camp, [ saw the
deputy-préfet with a pistol. Next to him was a policeman who also carried some guns.

In order to confuse the refugees, we took up positions all around the outside of the
camp. Those of us who carried firearms began the destruction and converged on the
camp. Heavy weapons, such as bombs, mixed with the grenade explosions. The
shooting began around 9:30 a.m.

Mudenge was with the militta who had been instructed to surround the parish and to
be ready to strike down the refugees who ran out.

Bullets came from all directions. Most of the refugees were killed by grenades and
bullets.

Watching as the “huge expedition™ began, Gasasira observed that “the assailants were
armcd to the teeth.”

There were soldiers with guns and peasants with traditional weapons. They killed
until 5:15 p.m,

There was, added Mudenge, not much for hun and his colleaosues 1o do.
i f o for ]

[t was a question of sweeping away a few people on the point of death, writhing
underneath the bodies of their brothers. There were also some who, bewildered by the
thunder of guns, didn’t know which direction to take and who ran into us.

Among the people I killed, either on my own or with others, the only person [ could
identily was Bakotanyi, Isaie’s son from Kibingo. He was one of the people who had
survived Murambi.
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I didn’t think about the fact that T knew him. I killed him because that's how |
saw that it had to be. I didn’t have pity for the Tutsis once I had made the
decision to take part in the massacres.

At about 1:00 p.m., Urinzwenimana and the other militiamen saw that the work was

wrapping up.

We reahized that the bodies of refugees were heaped like piles of insects, We entered
the interior of the camp to deal with those who were almost dead.

(Gasasira saw “corpses everywhere in the courtyard and inside the buildings.”
Ntegeyintwali and Captain Sebuhura were particularly active in the killings.

While Urinzwenimana and others busied themselves with the dying, an urgent appeal
went out for militiamen to follow in the trail of refugees who had been able to run
towards Kinyamakara and Rukondo. Urinzwenimana volunteered to go after thosc
who started off towards Kinyamakara.

We pursued them as far as the border with Kinyamakara. We didn't bother to
continue our journey as the local people in the area had been fully bricfed about what
they had 1o do.

As many looters descended upon the church when the killings were coming to an end,
Mudenge hurried off to steal the valuables at the health centre.

I found two other interahamwe there who had come for the same reason, Nkuriza and
Kabera, both in prison. We first went after the Tutsis who were hospitalized. We had
to because Schuhura had told us to make sure that there were no more Tutsis before
we began scouring the area lor valuables.

“We went into the wards to select people from the race to be eliminated.”

We identified the wife of Pierre Karerangabo and her two children. She was very
sick. Nkunza struck her with a machete and cut up her two children as he would a
cabbage. Then we entered the maternity ward. We captured Mukamutara, Lucie's
daughter. She was pregnant, Kabera cut open her stomach with a sword. She died on
the spot. He seized her twins and threw them in the air. In the same room, we found
Jean Bicamagera’s wife; she was with her mother. We killed them with a massue and
a machete.

On leaving the maternity ward, Mudenge and two companions, Onésphore Mageza
and Alphonse Bukeye. returned to the health centre along with several men who had
come Lo burn down one of the rooms where Tutsis had barricaded themselves.

These men included Cyprien Niyonsaba, Hishamunda and a policeman from

Rukondo. They shot the door open and opened fire on the refugees. No-one survived.
There were more than 30 victims.
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Mudenge hoped for a substantial reward but the men from Mudasomwa, who had
come over from Murambi and who had been on duty twice that day, were presented
with the prize booty.

We got household utensils. Objects of value, like a television, a Mitsubishi vehicle
and a motorcycle, were given as a present to the militia from Mudasomwa for their
efforts, which were apparent since Murambi. Louis and MNgoga transporicd thesc
things.

Urninzwenimana was similarly disappointed,

Unfortunately, the interahamwe from Mudasomwa were stronger than we were. They
didn’t allow us to take any useful things.

The reasons for compensating the militia from Mudasomwa handsomely are clear to
Mudenge.

The contribution of the men from Mudasomwa, and the backup they provided to the
others, was very evident. In fact, if they had not come to Cyanika, I believe that the
massacre would not have been as thorough as it was. They were its leaders and they
imposed themsclves very cffectively as commanders. Capt. Sebuhura stayed until the
end of the massacre which lefl about 10,000 people dead, Afterwards the militiamen
started the looting.

“Plunged Back into the Horror”

T'he few people who had come from Murambi, like Grice, were met by the crackle of
[irearms. She made it into the church gates just before the downpour of ammunition at
about 11:00 a.m.

‘We found a huge number of refugees there, though not as many a5 there had been in
Murambi. We were met by the sound of gunfire and exploding grenades. We tried to
turn back, but they had us surrounded us and they forced us into the courlyard at the
pricsts’ houses. They threw stones at us. and anyone who tned to run away was
unmediately shot.

Cyanika was eerily familiar. She not only recognized some of the killers there, but
also found the organization of the offensive and the techniques of annihilation all too

predictable.

Some soldiers who'd come from Murambi were there in a Suzuki. I'd seen them in
Murambi, but I didn’t know who they were.

Cyanika followed exactly the same patiern as Murambi, beginning with the shooting
and the lobbing of grenades. They used fircarms for a long time. This time, T was
terribly afraid; T kept thinking about what I'd just experienced in Murambi. Just when
I thought I'd got away, | was plunged back into the horror agail. I was with a woman
who was carrying a baby in her arms. A grenade went off, severing the baby’s head
and its mother’s hand as she tried to shicld her child. | looked at them, rooted to the
ground by terror and disoriented by what was happening.
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Grice went into a bedroom where she found others waiting for death. In a few hours.
the second phase began.

They found us and beean slashing us with machetes. | was hit in the face with a
machete, on the left side.

As she passed out straight away, her memories of bemng struck and falling are blurry.
She can not remember his face or features. only that the man who hacked at her first
asked for money. Around 3:00 p.m.. Grice opened her eves and found four other
pcople in the room who were still alive.

One of them was screaming a lot: he was in agony from his injuries and was thirsty. It
was raming. I cupped my hands to collect the drops of water that were falling from
the corrugated-iron roof and gave him a drink. Every so often, I'd hear people coming
to check whether anyone was still breathing. When T saw them coming, 1 lay down
again and pretended to be dead.

Grace drifted in and out of consciousness. By the time she was again aware of her
surroundings, the burials had begun.

They were still throwing the bodies inta ditches and giving the wounded the {inal
blow. Some of them were buried alive, particularly the ones who'd lost their legs and
couldn’t move, I didn’t hear a sound from those refugees who were being killed, apart
from the screams of some who'd been tom by grenades.

When the time for plundering came, the number of people moving around the bodies
ncreased, but Grice went on feigning death.

After a while, there were lots of them, even girls, women and old women. They were
coming 1o steal clothes, watches, jewellery and other things from the dead. T started
moving towards the bedroom door. lying down again as soon as | heard footsteps.
They looked at me, saying: “Whoever hit this girl did a good job; he deserves a
reward.” One of them kicked me in the ribs to check T was real ly dead. I didn’t move
and his companion said: “Don’t mess with a corpse; they've been here a while and
nere of them could’ve stayed alive this long ™

But Grice defied the odds and held on. Even more astomshing is what she had to say
about a young boy.

When | saw other people’s injuries, mine scemed minor. T was with a little boy who'd
been hit in the head with a machete. He kept calling out to his older sister to get him a
drink of water, but she was dead. She was stretched out on the ground right next to
him and he didn’t know she was dead.

Unfortunately, the child and another injured boy were not allowed to stay alive for
long.

Their bodies were put on top of me and we were covered with a wardrobe. Just as |
was wondering how Lwas gomg to ‘get out ‘of there; some more men entered the
room. They said there were: people inside the wirdrobe and turned it over. They
poked us with sticks to check we were dead and then wen away again.
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When the coast was clear, Grice snuck away and disappeared into some bushes
nearby.

Luckily for Marne-Chantal Mukamunana, who was exhausted and trailing behind the
other Murammbi survivors walking to Cyanika, the massacre was already underway
when she got there, so she could not enter the parish. She was even more discouraged
when she saw génocidaires who had just completed massacres at Kaduha Parish in
Karambo, arriving to assist with the same “work™ in Cyanika.

We again dispersed, Some returned to Gikongoro town and others went in different
directions. | was dving of hunger and felt so dramed that I could no longer walk.

She sat down n the forest near the church, from where she could hear “the gunfire,
the grenades, the cries and the milinamen callimg out to each other.”

They were done killing around 4:00 or 5:00 p.m. Tired of their grucsome work, they
left the place, grabbed what they could and went to drink beer.

Mane-Chantal crawled to a puddle and drank from the muddy water. It was not until
midnight that she regained the strength and the presence of mind to make a plan.

My intention was to rctura to Nzega cellule where 1 was from. But it took me two
days just to go from Cyanika parish to Gikongoro town! When I dragged myself into
town, 1t was daytime. 1 had to stop. So 1 went to the home of some friends where 1
lived until 20 May.

“I Thought it was the Last Minute of my Life”

The refugees who had been at the pansh for some time, like Emmanuel, were alert
and on edge from the moment they heard the detonations from Murambi.

Very early in the morning, soldiers came with peasants wearing dried banana leaves.
The gendarmes who were guarding us said that there were men armed with grenades
who wanted to kill us. They asked us to come out mnto the courtyard so that they
could defend us better. Many of us didn’t cven know what a grenade was, and so we
followed their orders hlindly.

Emmanuel made his way into the courtyard. where “many peasants with machetes
and other traditional weapons surrounded us.”

The gendarmes started to shoot us down and we scattered. Each ran in his own
direction and the peasants lynched anyone who got out of the buildings. Inside the
courtyard, corpses littered the ground, and the dead included children, young girls and
boys, old men and women. The bodies were lying on top of people who were not
quite dead. No-one wanted to live any more, but the human spirit would not let us die
without doing something, You saw a parent who had just seen all his children die
belore his very eves. Shat kand of Tife would he still want to live?

All four of Emmanuel’s own children died at Cvanika, His younger two were slain in
front of him with machetes.
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Each got two blows on the neck and it was over. There were many in agony among
the bodies. Seme had lost legs, others arms, and still others were seriously wounded.
You heard people asking for water or begging the génocidaires to come and end it all.
But those who asked to be killed were tortured even more. The lucky ones died in
grenade explosions, or by gunshot,

Around 3:00 p.m. in the afternoon, peasants with knives comered those who were
still intact or alive, They also grabbed whatever we had brought with us. 1 had a small
prece of grenade shrapnel and 1 was submerged by the cadavers which had fallen on
top of me.

Emmanuel left the parish with the few others around him who were strong enough to
stand and move.

We thought they would shoot us dead when they saw us running. T was with
Habimana who lived in Rwamagana scctor and some others. When we came to the
outer edge of the parish buildings, they came after us. I immediately ducked into an
anti-crosion ditch and slid underneath the bodies there. Later, | learned that Habimana
also survived that day and was killed back in his home cellule. In the middle of the
night, I got out from under the bodies.

A short distance from the parish, Emmanuel heard men slaughtering a cow in the
road. Unable to get around them unnoticed, he sat by the roadside. Unfortunately, one
ol the men passed close by, saw Emmanuel and alerted the others.

He told them that they hadn't done their jobs because he had just spotted a Tutsi.
They surrounded the bush where I was. I thought it was the last minute of my life, T
thought they would find me and kill me after torturing me. 1 ran out and they were
spon on my heels. When 1 got to the road, 1 veered away and concealed myself in the
forest. They didn’t know where I'd gone. There were many bodies in the forest as
well.

He went to the home of his [lutu brothers-in-law in Gikongoro town where he was
reunited with his wife. They remained there together until the end of the genocide.

Deafened by the banging on the gate and the cacophany of noises, Marianne assumed
the interahamwe had thrown grenades when she saw some people fall to the ground.

But there weren’t any grenades. There was a policeman in a tree behind the house. He
had a gun and was the one using 1t to mow people down. We noticed him afterwards.

From her vantage point in the conference room, she could see the militia cutting down
the mosquito wire netting on the windows in order to create an opening. Everyone
bolted out of the room and went outside the gate, despite the advice to remain indoors.

Gunfire came at us from every direction and everywhere people were dying. Things
got worse by the sccond. Everyone was looking for an exit. 1 got scparated from my
family, for good.

The interahamwe, clothed 1n banana leaves, went on shooting and throwing grenades,
even into the room where we had been. Adults and children alike tumbled down dead.
Some children were trampled by the adults running here and there. It was really
catastrophic.
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Marianne and her friend, Marie-Claire, climbed into the cetling. But after ten minutes
they left, convinced that they would be discovered. Marianne said she preferred to
find the others “so we could die with them.”

Moments later, Marie-Claire was hit by a grenade and she fell down,
The only way out Marianne could think of was suicide.

Only God knows why I didn’t end my own life,
The lives of her relatives were ended for them.

The interahamwe entered where my grandmother, my two paternal uncles and my
little brother were. They went for them with clubs. One of my uncles was physically
handicapped and they used his own orthopaedic canes. I actually saw my relatives
being killed.

She entered a kitchen and stumbled upon her father,

He asked me: “You're still alive? Have you seen the others?” I told him what
happened. He didn’t say anything. He showed me a spot where 1 could stay, When
they had killed all the Tutsis who were there, and there were lots of them, they came
towards us. They started shooting. My father, who was by the entrance, was the first
1o be hit. He didn’t die right away, though [ thought he had.

[ tried to save myself. T rushed to the middle of a little room crammed with people.
This was around 5:00 p.m. There were so many people that you could easily trample
a person to death. Everyone who was there was killed. There was another little house
next door; many Tutsis also died in there.

Earhier, Mudenge had referred to a room at the health centre which was set on fire.
Mananne, who had come into the building as she went from one part of the panish to
another, is one of the people they intended to burn to death.

They brought gasoline and poured it on all the people they had killed in order to bumn
them. For those who were in the back of this room, they brought a drum soaked n
gasoline. They lit the fire to burn us,

Marianne was reluctant to leave the room as she thought she was the lone survivor.

A moment later, [ saw a person jump out of the fire. A few minutes later, a second,
then a third. I also had the courage to leave.

Together with a boy, another girl, and three adult men, they entered the conference
room. The youngsters climbed into the ceiling, using the drums.

Al about 3200 a.m. the adults called us and we lefi the ceiling. We jumped over the
fence. Behind the fence, we saw lots of cadavers: obviously those who had tried o
leap over the fence had not made i We carried on. We weren't scared anymaore, hut
we were very conscious of the death we had left behind.
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Spéciose Mukangenzi decided upon the health centre as the safest place. On her way,
she saw Gasasira leading Fr. Niyvomugabo towards the pharmacy.

In that instant, someone hit me with a machete, and 1 fell down unconscious. | don't
know what happened after that 1 woke up at night and found myself in the lab. |
stayed there, terrified. Almost everyone at the pansh was already dead.

Spéciose left the lab three days later and moved from one bush to another until the
end of the genocide.

“Put Yourself in God’s Hands”

Xavérine was 1n the residence of Fr. Niyomugabo as bullets and grenades pelted the
refugees outside in the courtyard. Amongst the last to be ambushed, her turn came at
the end of the day after those in the primary school near the church had all died.

Fr. Nivomugabo told us: “Keep praying, say the Lord’s Prayer, pul yourself in God's
hands and de not ery out.” After a few minutes, the interahamwe started yelling:

“May the blood that will flow be a curse on Tutsis and their children.”

And so they began 1o shoot at us. We didn’t have anything but bricks as weapons.
They took oftf the doors with their rifles.

When they came inside, they made us lie on the ground and they started to kill us
with machetes. I couldn’t identify them. 1 was almost done for. 1 had eight children
and couldn’t see how to defend them.

They began by cutting down those who were closest to the doors, Xavérine was lying
on her stomach with her youngest child strapped to her back.

I saw his blood and suddenly knew that he was gone. The head of the other child
who had been ¢lose to me wasn’t there anymore. All my children were dead. The
interahamwe flung corpses on top of me, thinking I was onc too. | wondered what
would become of me without children, and with wounds all over my body. That's
when I began to wish | were dead.

Xavérnne picked out Dhidace Hategekimana, the bourgmestre of Rukondo commune:
Jogl Munyandinda, a teacher; and another man called Gasurira among the
perpetrators. Of the young people who got out in time, added Xavérine, most “were
killed in Kinyamakara.” She herself spent the night under a pile of corpses.

The next day. Ngezahayo and Ntegeyintwali returned. The people with them said:
“What a scandal! The blood we’ve spilled will one day cost us dear.” Suddenly the
deputy-préfet told them to get rid of anyone who was still breathing, He said: “Go
into the countryside and eradicate them. These snakes need to be crushed so that one
day Hutu children will wonder what Tutsis used to look like.”

I was desperate, hungry and blood ran all down my body. 1 had wounds on my head

and back. They had hit me everywhere: even my knees hunt. [ begged ome man to just
hit me with a blow to the head. *“Be silent,™ he replied: “Don’t speak anymore. 1711 kill
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«ffis Body Was Stretched Out on the Road”: The Murder of Father

Joseph Niyﬂmugaha, 24 April

: Although his actions Were ultimately unable o BlET the fate of the refugees M
;' Cyanika parish, Father Niyﬂmugﬁbo will never be forgotlen by SUTVIvors of the
\ massacre for his comforting presence and his cofusal to leave fhem to face the
' militiamen alone. Rémy Kamugire was {5 in 1094, His family lived behind the parish
and they went there on 13 April. He paid @ warm tribute to FT. Niyomugabo-
oung, but 1 followed everything that was happening 1@ us, FI.
' Niyomugabo was the only persot making sure that the wounded got the care they
' needed. He was always coming o s¢e how we were doing and to raise our morale.
We were really siruck by his cOuUrage. Not everyone can SnOW bravery undet
clrcumstances like that. He had so many o'pporluniﬁcs (o save his owWn skin, but he
knew how much we were counting oo i, 1t is thanks 10 him that we g0t food and a
place to stay. He was the only ond who cared about us. And he stayed even though he
knew that he was rematning behind with Tutsis who Were soing to be wiped out. He

was everything to us while we were at Cyanika.

1 was sull ¥

m the militia, but he was steadfast and

The priest was himself under constant threat fro
the shooling commenced that he

was stll at the parish o1 the 217 It was only after
Look cover, with the assistance of the hospital driver. (Gasasira.

(Gasasita Itnnk_ him into a roor al the health centre, VET¥ near the parish. (jasasira
:;ilu:ﬂ:;d with him. telling people that he was there to keep an €ye on the medicines. He

idn’t want his co-workers to know that the pricst was there. Later, they wondercd
why (fasasira never {eft the place.
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My nephew, Jean de Dien Kayigamba, revealed Fr. Niyomugabo's whereabouts. His
clothes were ripped off and his naked body was stretched out on the road. n front of
Ntegeyintwall, who then took all the medicines home.

Those who stripped Fr. Niyomugabo and then killed him are “the same ones to whom
he had given food and clothing”, said Spéciose. They had come to get rid of the
bodies at the parish. Indeed, Nivomugabo died on the day when those whose lives he
had tried to save were being hastily buried.
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“EVERYONE WAS SATISFIED WITH
THE MASS KILLINGS”

Access to Tutsi wealth and property was used to encourage and reward participation
in the killings. Bucyibaruta had assured the men from Mudasomwa who travelled to
Cyanika that Tutsi shops m Gikongoro town would be theirs once they had completed
their assignment. Back at Murambi, the remaining militiamen immediately set their
eyes on the possessions of the victims that lay around them, and also in Gikongoro
town. Land, cows and money were among the most sought after treasures to be found
and claimed. But even blood-stained clothing, mattresses and cooking utensils were
regarded as welcome prizes by the perpetrators and by local residents who made their
way up the hill to comb through the camp.

“We Returned to the Camp to Loot”

When Sylvestre Maniraho’s companions from Mudasomwa mounted the vehicles that
were to take them to Cyanika, he quietly shipped away.

I stayed out of sight so that I could take what I wanted from the commercial distriet in
town. Many others, mostly those who lived in Nyamagabe, had the same 1dea. They
were the ones who knew what Tutsis owned. The shops belonging to Hutus who
hadn’t taken part in the massacre were not spared either. I came back with a radio and
a fridge.

Frédéric Munyemana even disregarded the préfet’s summons to the meeting at the end
of the massacre so that he could keep others out of the room he marked out as “his.”

There were mattresses and other household things. I stayed there to guard them for
my family. There were alse some corpses. T didn’t have time to look at them. | just
fixed my eyes on the possessions.

“When the authorities left” said David Havugimana, “we came back to the camp to
clean 1t out.”

There were corpses everywhere, soaked in blood. That didn’t stop us from stripping
{he bodies in order to steal cash and jewellery, There were arguments about cows and
houschold items.

Building materials which had been brought for the construction of the school, a public
building, also disappeared.

Afterwards, I had time to reflect on the atrocity we had committed in Murambi: some
victims still had spears in their bodies and others had appalling gunshot wounds. And
still others had cracked skulls.
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Juvénal Munyakayanza said he had deserted the militia after he saw a colleague die.

But when it came to looting, he “wasn’t scared to go into this underworld where
thousands of people had been slaughtered.”

Everywhere T went, they were robbing from the dead and getting smeared in blood
along the way. 1 got in with a group who were quarrelling over a herd of cattle. There
must have been 300 cows. | wanted one of them, but they had all been given away,

When Jean-Pierre Sindikubwabo came to see what he could seize, the leaders were
still focused on their targets.

“Some authorities and shopkeepers were walking amongst the bodies to identify
wanted men.”

Among them were:

* Scbuhura;

= Féheien Semakwavu:

= Vincent de Paul Nsabiyera;

¢ David Karangwa;

*  Dénis Kamodoka:

*  Ayurugar, the manager of Electrogaz;

= Félicien Munyengoga, a communal policeman.

Sindikubwabo grabbed what he could,

I managed to take a bloody mattress. 1 wasn’t embarrassed o carry it on my head.
Blood trailed behind me on the road. 1 washed it at the police camp. There were no

roadblocks to stop us. Evervone was satisfied with the mass killings. We had all
become criminals,

After scouring the school, Sindikubwabo and others “went on to ransack the town.”

Tutsi shops were targeted, notably those owned by:
* Bwenge,
*  Kawasaki, he died after the genocide:
* Appolinaire, he owns now a shop in Taba.

Déo was among the refugees who saw this episode from the bushes near the school.
They would undress the cadavers and take objects from the victims: watches,
Jewellery, cows... Women and girls would undress other women and girls in order to
see, they said, if the sex of Tutsi women was the same as that of Hutu women. They
seemed 10 find real satisfaction from humiliating Tutsi women. T could still hear the
wounded erying out in anguish and the children sobbing beside their dead mothers.

He saw the faces of several acquaintances and named them.

| caught sight of Semabinga, Nyabutama and Rwamukwaya, all in Crikongoro central
prison, and many others whose names T ean’ recall,
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Déo left the area when 1t got dark and went to Kabeza.

People were grilling meat and saying (o each other: “Let’s be quick, Tutsis can
resuscitate and overtake us.” | went towards Taba where [ lived before the genocide,
Along the way, | again heard Semakwavu tellmg Hutus to kill first because the
belongings would be theirs as no one else would claim them. He was with Bucyana
who worked at the Gikongoro Project for Agricultural Development (PDAG).

Julienne was in a banana plantation. Like Déo, she emphasized that women and
children were also keen to benefit from the slaughter that their fathers, brothers and
husbands had carried out.

| saw people checking if anyone was alive, and women and young girls taking
clothes and other items from the dead.

Officials also personally distributed rewards and tokens of appreciation. Ngezahayo
of Karama, acknowledged that men from his commune played their part at Murambi
and said that Frédéric Kabera, councillor of Muganza sector, which borders
Murambi, led them there. Some of these men received official thanks.

I found out that Lindiro, one of my police officers from cellule Kiraro, sector
Muganza, was given a cow by the gendarmeric and the office of the préfecture
because he had shot so many Tutsis.

Nyimmmbuga and other men who lived around Murambi and who did not proceed to
Cyanika went to fetch their families from the ACEPER secondary school where they
had been relocated prior to the massacre. Their contribution was also given
recognition.

But before going home, each family was given a few kilos of rice. The amount
depended on the size of the family; those with four children got about 20 kilos. The
vehicles which brought the sacks of rice for us came ffom Bucyibaruta's office. |
heard people saying the food came from Caritas

Later on, officials tumed their attention to the sale of Tutsi-owned lands. which for a
largely peasant and farmer population, was the most desired rewards. In Nyamagabe,
Semakwavu personally took charge of the task. Laurent Sebagenzi said he saw him in
his sector of Kamegeri.

After the showdown at Murambi, Semakwavu came to-in my sector with Gasana to
sec about the distribution of Tutsi land to Hutus. Everyone who received a share paid
money to the commune.

Even produce that had not yet been harvested was available for purchase. Innocent
Basomingera, a prisoner who is also from Nyamagabe, said Semakwavu visited his

cellule, Kitazigurwa in sector Nairyi.

He was with our councillor, Munyampundu. They helped with the sale of the crops
which were still in the fields. People got receipts for the value of the goods.
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“THE LOCAL POPULATION HAD TO
BURY THE BODIES”

Both in Murambi and Cyanika, the task of burying the bodies of victims began almost
immediately. Concemn about the spread of disease as well as a desire to rapidly
conceal the evidence prompted the office of the préfecture to initiate the process
without delay. They provided two bulldozers, one of which belonged to the private
company, EMUJECO, as well as a Nissan truck, to expedite the work which was
assigned to residents living in the affected areas. But as many were reluctant, the
préfet called on the prisoners of Gikongoro prison to do the bulk of the work. The
bourgmestres of Murambi and Cyanika, Semakwavu and Ngezahayo, supervised the
procecdings and offered refreshments to the inmates who transported and dumped the
bodies. A few survivors, looking out from nearby bushes, saw the bodies being
covered with earth. With thousands of victims at the two sites, the burial stretched out
over four days. Then, turning on the Tutsis within the central prison, on the orders
from the gendarmerie, inmates put to use, once again, the weapons they had collected
from Murambi.

“The Burial Was Not Organized as a Gesture of Respect™

Callixte Hategekimana was transferred from Kigali to Gikongore in November 1993
by the Ministry of Public Works. Then 28, Callixte was working 1n the department
responsible for roads and bridges and was their representative in the préfecture. The
day following the massacre at Murambi, he received a note from the prefet,
instructing him “to make available bulldozers to bury the victims.”

I provided a Nissan truck to transport the prisoners and a bulldozer to pick up the
corpses. I chose Ntawukuriryayo, who worked at the Mata tea factory, to dnove the
truck. The office of the préfecture and the commune paid for the fuel. Because of the
huge number of victims at Murambi, it became necessary to bring in more equipment.
So the préfecture comtacted EMUJECO, a company that was building a road in
Mudasomwa, and they provided a second bulldozer.

He said the machines were used for both Murambi and Cyanika, but that Cyanika
took one day to clear whereas Murambi took four. While Hategekimana accepted that
the burial “completely lacked dignity.” for him, “the prefet’s decision was ideal.”

The victims who were strewn everywhere were a big environmental headache.
Disease could afflict the entire region and decimate us all. 1t's true that the authorities
in the préfecture played a central role, directly or indirectly, in the extermination of
the Tutsis. Still, they had a responsibility to take into account the health of the
population. Life had to go on. Local residents couldn’t go back to their normal
activities until the victims had been buried.

We couldn’t build tombs and embellish them for thousands of victims. That would
have taken a long time, and the préfecture didn’t have time.
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“Besides, these people were looked upon as an enemy. The burial was not
organized as a gesture of respect for them. Rather, it was a way of sparing the
population the outbreak of an epidemic.”
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Joseph Ntegeyintwal, the deputy-préfet in Cyanika, similarly justified the haste for
the burials there.

The burial lacked respect, but it was necessary to get on with it, otherwise the entire
region would undoubtedly have been exposed to all sorts of diseases.

The prospect of catching a disease from the decomposing bodies made those who
resided near the massacre sites unwilling to be involved in the bunal. Nyirimbuga said
he wanted no part of this clean up, even though some of those who lost their lives at
Murambi died at his hands.

Bucyibaruta and Semakwavu sent David Karangwa and Havugimana to tell us that
the local population had to bury the bodics. We refused because there were thousands
of them lying around everywhere.

In Cyanika as well, the local population ignored calls from their officials. As a result,
the authorities, like Neezahayo, were obliged to tumn to prisoners for help.

The day following the massacre, 1 received a letter from the préfet. He told me (o
bury the victims. He also told me to put them far from the road, out of sight. He
wanted to obliterate signs of the horror that had taken place. I phoned him to say that
| couldn’t find people willing to undertake the work. 5o he took the decision to send
prisoners and a bulldezer to accelerate malters,

Jean de Dieu Habinshuti, aged 21 at the time, was among the prisoners called out to
bury the corpses. While some went to Cyanika, he, a pative of Nyamagabe, was
despatched to Murambi. Recruited as a soldier in 1991, he was imprisoned n January
1994 for desertion. While in prison, the inmates, he said, had followed the news about
the genocide and had heard the explosions coming from Murambi on the 21%. As head
of security in the prison, 1t was his responsibility to select men to complete the
burials.

There were about 80 of us. We stopped by the gendarmerie camp and found
Bucyibaruta and Sebuhura there. They told us to deal with the bodies in Murambi as
quickly as possible. They promised us rewards to make it worthwhile. When we
reached Murambi, Semakwavu was already there, with two communal policernen.
They got us starled right away,

The scene Habinshuti encountered gave him a good indication of the scale of the
slaughter, and how events there had played out.

It was really horrible to see so many naked victims. Children, women, men, all were
totally nude. All the rooms were filled up with piles of bodies. It was also astonishing
to see the huge number of compses outside the rooms, at the entrance doors, This
showed us that they had been struck down when they were trying to gain entry into
the rooms. There were also bodies spread oul all over the courtyard.

He outlined the procedures, supervised by the bourgmestre.
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Under Semakwavu’s instructions, we collected the corpses. We made up huge piles.
Semakwave was standing next to us. On the first day, a bulldozer from the Ministry
of Public Works came. The machine dug huge pits behind the classrooms. We loaded
up the bulldozer with bodies. At about 2:00 p.m., the driver wentl and chucked them
it the holes. Semakwavu offered us beer at the shops in Kabeza before we lefi for the
day.

When we returned to Murambi the follewing day, we found a second bulldozer there.
We went about our work in the same way as the day before, using both bulldozers.
The task continued for four days. We were always with Semakwavu and cach time,
he-gave us beer at the end of the day.

As he carmmed and handled the bodies, Habmshuti could seec how each victim had died.

Some were marked by bullets and grenades. We also picked up a lot of different of
machctes, clubs and spears. Those who had been decapitated had been hit with
machetes. Some bodies still had the weapons mnside. And some were stuck together
because their blood had dried. When we went back to prison, the other prisoners
moved away from us. We smelled ol death,

Towards the end of 1994, when the bodies from Murambi were exhumed, Innocent
Mdibyanye was still able to identify some of them.

| recognized Immaculée Mukamana; her baby was still lying on her chest. It was
awful to see. | also saw Samuel Nkundiye. But [ didn’t have the courage to stay and
watch.

“When I saw all those bodies, | remembered a man called Nyantamyi who used
to never tire of saying, long before the genocide: “Tutsis are going to be
eliminated soon. I know it. It’s a fact.”™™

In Karama, where Ngezahayo oversaw the burals at Cyanika, one of the mass graves
was dug near the convent of the Sisters of Benebikira, very near the church, on an
adjacent hill.

There were about 100 prisoners. | respected the préfet’s instructions, The bulldozer
dug a place some distance from the road, about 500 metres. The prisoners picked the
corpses and loaded them onto the machine.

With the necessary labour and wvehicles, it took from 11:00 aum. untl evening to

dispose of all the bodies. According to Juvénal Mudenge, who had contributed to the
death toll at Cyamika, at the end the prisoners drank beer provided by Ngezahayo.
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«] Heard a Lot of Muffled Cries”

A few survivors were far enough away to avoid attracting attention, but close enough
to watch the proceedings. Consolée had collapsed by a bush not far from the school
and saw many refugees being slain around her. She became apprehensive when a
bulldozer began digging a pit close to where she was, but couldn’t shift away lest she
gave a sign that she was still alive.

I couldn’t move because I could see what they were doing to the dving and to
survivors. | heard a lot of muffled cries.

She left the bush at midnight. As the residents of Murambi had not yet returned to
their homes, she didn’t meet anyone on the road, except for dogs hovering around the
corpses. She made it to her cellule of Gasaka where an old woman, whose husband
and sons were themselves interahamwe, let her stay in her rubbish dump.

From a banana plantation, Julienne also saw the mass graves being formed and filled.
I saw a bulldozer that was brought to dig the graves. They spent the whole day
digging the graves. They came back the next moming and spent two days throwing

the bodies into the holes,

Julienne emerged at night and chose to stay for a while in a forest near the Bishopne
of Gikongoro. From there she went to the home of her cousin, married to a Hutu, and
lived there until the end of the genocide.

In Cyanika, Grice had a clear view from the hedges.
Prisoners loaded the bodies onto lorries. 1 don’t know where they threw them.

She eventually found a way to the home of one of her mother’s goddaughters in
Kibingo, Karama, and retumed to Murambi when she learned that it was under the
protection of French soldiers.

““There are Tutsis Amongst you Prisoners’™

Un their way back to the prison from Murambi, Habinshuti and his colleagues passed
by the gendarmeric camp where they received new orders.

One of the gendarmes told us: “Thank you for the work you have accomplished. Only

one thing remains to be done. There are Tutsis amongst you prisoners, You have to
identify them and kill them.”

They left for the prison m a truck, accompanied by three gendarmes and two prison
guards.

The gendarmes spoke to the head guard, saying:
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“Your prison is the only place which harbours Tutsis in the prefecture. You have
to get rid of them.™

The policemen went back in their vehicle,

In the evening, Uwiragive, from commune K1, one of the prison leaders, gave me a
list of prisoners to seck out. He had just been given this list by the head guard. The
new director, Vénant Nkorunziza, and his deputy, Kalisa, compiled the names.
Kanusu, the former director, had fled because he was Tuts1 and was murdered in
Butare,

Habmshuti went through the prison blocks to identify and separate all the Tutsis on
the list. Inmates took them in front of the small prison cells.

We killed about 80 prisoners with the weapons that we had picked up in Murambs,
The bodies were left inside the prison during the night. Very carly in the morning, the
truck that had taken us to Murambi came back, with the same driver. We sent about
20 prisoners to go and bury them in Murambi, The others were buried among the
coffee trees below the prison.

One evening a few days later, the gendarmes brought three Catholic priests from the
bishopric to the prison. Among them were:

* Fr. Aloys Musoni from Rutobwe in Gitarama préfecture; he was
working at the Parish of Cyanika. As mentioned earlier, he had been
with Fr. Nivomugabo at the pharmacy when militiamen discovered
them on 24 April.

* Fr. Iréné Nyamwasa was from Karama sector in Mubuga commune
and worked at Parish of Mubuga. He took sanctuary in Gikongoro
parish on & April.

* Fr. Pierre Canisius Mulinzi was from Cyumba in Muganza commune,
Butare. He became a priest in the Diocese of Gikongoro in 1992 and
was living with Fr. Iréné at the Parish of Mubuga and followed him to
Gikongoro, arriving at the bishopric on 9 April.

They were assassinated on 14 May in the prison by Habinshuti amongst others.

We removed their clothes in front of the prisoners. We tortured them by submerging
their heads in water, and then beat them with massues, The prisoners who were
mainly responsible are:

* Emmanuel Nizeyimana, alias Procureur;
= Nzayisenga;
= Gafaru, from Bunyambiriri.

All the remaining prisoners were released on 26 May 1994,
The three priests were buried in a coffee plantation near the prison, but for 11 Years,
their resting place remained unknown. Their bodies have since been exhumed and

reburied down the hill from Gikongoro cathedral. A memorial now stands there n
their name.
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“DEATH WASN’T READY FOR ME”
Tracking Down the Survivors

Those who had the good fortune to leave Murambi and Cyanika with no wounds or
minimal injuries faced immediate and continued danger outside, as militiamen
persisted in tracking down survivors. Families inevitably became separated as those
who were still alive walked in different directions. Occasionally, relatives stumbled
upon each other, only to split up again. In the elusive search for peace, these survivors
sometimes got caught up in massacres elsewhere, either in Gikongoro or Butare. And
women faced the prospect of rape and gang rape as they wandered from one bush to’
another.

Julienne had gone to Murambi with almost her entire family, but found herself on her
own in the aftermath of the massacre. “With local people waiting in every direction,”
1t was not, she said, “easy to find a way out of the camage.”

From where she was croucking in the bush, Consolée said she could see “as Tutsis
were cut down by machetes, clubs and other weapons.” Some of them jumped over
her as they ran.

A man called John was telling the others where the refugees had passed,

The interahamwe who slashed Jeannette with a machete and a sword did not intend
for her to live. Jumping over corpses, she left Murambi before 7:00 a.m. when the
peasants rushed in with their traditional weapons. From a banana plantation, she
overheard orders that were, as the mother of six, of special concern to her.

They were saying: “Remember Kagame was still a child when he left Rwanda. Don’t
spare any child, even the infants. They have a lot of children, these Tutsis.”

Faced with impossible odds, 1t is little wonder that the women and men who are alive
to give their testimonies attribute their survival to sheer luck. That luck included the
kindness of Hutu friends and acquaintances, as well as the fact that some of their
tormentors were In great haste, perhaps to run after someone else, or to share in the
spoils of the genocide. But there were also those, especially the elderly or parents who
had lost all their children, who were deliberately left alive in order, as the militia said
50 often, “to die of sorrow.”
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“I Went to the Home of a Huty Friend”

Despite the relentless campaign to present the genocide as a war of “them or us,” and

§ urespective of the intimidation that was central to the strategy of drawing in the entire
Hutu population, some Hurus offered assistance to Tuts friends, relatives and eve
strangers, by welcoming them into their homes, treating their injuries and helping
them to look for a Way to stay alive. As aiding Tutsis carried the risk of severe
punishment, it took considerable courage reach out across the ethnic divide. In their
flight, Tutsis Were, more often than not, turned away, the door shut in their face by a
familiar figure. In that bleak time, a gesture of £oodwill from just one person was
often the differcnce between life and death.

As she ran outside, Colette bumped into her brother-in-law. He did not have news of
her husband. When she reached the bottom of the valley, she lay on a bed of reeds and
stayed there for three days,

The murderers kept returning to Murambi to certify that there were no survivors left. T
saw them repeatedly enter the forest, armed with machetes and canes,

On the third night, she decided to take her own life.
At around 10:00 pm. I got up to commit suicide because T couldn’t bear the idea of

being hacked by a machete. I couldn’t forget the mmage of the people at Murambi who
had been cut up by machetes,

“I threw myself into a small stream that was nearby, but I didn’t die. I told
myself that death wasn’t ready for me.”

! Collette then took the path towards Cyanika, a few days after the massacre of 21 April
there.

I was welcomed by mountains of decomposing cadavers, which gave off a strong and
terrible smell. There were even bodies in the road and there was congealed blogd
everywhere,

family.

I found her in her field of sweef potatoes, | explained that | was coming from
Murambi. Surprised, she asked me: “Are you a Tutsi?" [ told her ves. I begged her to
let me stay with her during the day, saying | would leave a night so that the
mterahamwe didn’t see me.

Colette’s request placed Triphonie in a predicament for her own son was a soldier. She gave
her clothes and food and then proposed that she stay and await her son’s reaction,

* A pseudonvm, The names in this seetion of the lestimony have been changed to protect the privacy of
the witness whao was raped.
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He did nothing to me. He in fact asked me not to leave the house so that no-one
would see me.

=1
=

Triphonie’s decision to let Colette wark in her fields exposed her. Marc, a man who
= knew her, alerted the cellule responsable and insisted that he examine her ID card,
i which she did not have on her. Marc returned the following day, together with the

responsable and a group of other men.

One of them, who was from my home arca, identified me. He said he also knew my
husband and was emphatic that | was indeed a Tutsi. He added: “Get her husband.
He must be here as well.” When [ told him that he had died in Murambi, he slapped
me on the cheek,

She was taken to the councillor so he could decide her fate. He in turn ordered that
she should be taken to a roadblock. As it was market day, she mingled with the large
crowd of people on the move and did not attract attention.

Marc made me sit down to wait for Gaspard Earimutumye, alias Burundu, to come
and kill me. Gaspard, the leader of the interahamwe in our arca, paid people who
captured a Tutsi who had been sought afier for some time. We waited for him. but he
never came. So Marc dragged me into the forest and beat me, tore my clothing, then
raped me and lefi me there. T stayed there naked from 11:00 a.m. until the evening. [
left when it started to drizzle and went back to Triphonie’s home.,

Triphonie, Collette said, was “stupefied” when she knocked on her door. She
remained in her home until the end of the senocide.

Stmon Mutangana and his wife, Annonciata Muhayimana, lost track of each other in
their commune of Mudasomwa, and reunited in Murambi. Leaving behind the bodies
of his two daughters, aged six and four, and his two brothers, Simon left Murambi at
about 9:00 a.m. afler he had been hit by a stone. Weak from hunger after three days in
the bush, he went to a house in Kamegeri in Nyamagabe.

It was the home of a Hutu named Semahembe. He was my cousin’s hushand.

He was overjoyed to find Annonciata there as well, together with their youngest child
who had been strapped to her back in Murambi. Forced out by suspicious neighbours
after two wecks, Simon and Annonciata, once agaimn, went their separate ways. Saying
he had run out of options, Simon returned to Mudasomwa, to the home of a friend.

Isaac Mujegando was very surprised to see that T was still alive. I spent only night
with him because his own son was an interahamwe. He also said that instructions had
been given to kill all Tutsis. And there was a good chance the peasants in the area
would denounce him. So I went to the bush. And then I went to the home of Pascal
Habimana. He kept his cool and despite rumours that he was looking after someone,
he denied it. One time he was very severely intimidated and for that week. he took me
1o the bush and brought me food at night, afier which 1 returned o his home unti] |
heard there were French soldiers in Gikongoro.

Unwilling to leave behind the corpses of her three children, as well as her husband.
Hildegarde, who was four months pregnant, stayed by her children throughout the
21, until she saw the militia return in the cvening. She made her way to Butare town,
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which had just unleashed its own genocide, When the killings began at Butare
University Hospital on the 22" she went to a house in sector Cyarwa, commune
Ngoma, where she expected sympathy and a helping hand from the owner.

I thought of him as a family fricnd. I told him everything that had happened to me. He
threw me out, saying he couldn’t have an tnvenzi in his home,

With nowhere else to go, Hildegarde returned to the hospital, but became nervous
when Hutus she had known in Gikongoro expressed surprise that “they had not scen
her corpse in Murambi.” She found some members of her extended family who were
still at home, close to the office of Caritas in town. She had only been with them a few
hours they came under siege.

They were executed near the Groupe: Scolaire Officiel of Butare. 1 was spared
because they didn’t know me; they were specifically looking for the people who hived
in this house.

Feeling increasingly insecure in Butare, Hildegarde decided to retumn to Gikongoro,
using a Hutu ID card she obtained in Butare. To draw less attention to herself, she
mingled with the Zairian nationals who were leaving for Zaire.

At the roadblocks, they talked about me, but since they didnt know me, they let me
pass. The Zairians also helped me because they waited until T had been released,

[t dawned on Hildegarde, when she reached the border of Butare and Gikongoro, that
her Hutu 1D card “was of no value once 1 entered the milieu where [ was known.” She
told her Zairian companions to proceed without her while she reflected on her oplions.
In Kinyamakara, she leamed the fate of the Tutsis of that commune from a young girl
who was hanging out some washing near a fountain,

She told me that almost all the Tutsis had been killed and their houses reduced to
ashes and that survivors were still being hunted down.

Worried that the girl would alert her parents, Hildegarde reassured her that she was
not a Tutsi and had come from Butare where she had been hospitalized for a long
time. She remained at the fountain while she waited for nightfall, and when it was
dark, began to walk towards Karambi. Along the way she met a young boy who, she
said, “knew very well I was a Tutsi.” He discouraged her from going to Karambi,
saying the roadblock at the trading centre there was particularly treacherous, and
guided her 1o what he considered a safe buch. Overcome by fatigue, she fell into a
deep sleep and was woken up by a torrential downpour at midnight.

1 decided to go to the home of the director of the Youth Training Centre (CFJ) in
Mwogo, Nyamagabe, | got there at about 3-00 am. | knocked on the window of their
bedroom. They let me in and let me stay until the end of the genocide,

The kindness Bélie expected to receive from a relative, she found with simple
acquamntances. Bélie, then 51, was in a forest in Remera when at about 7:00 p.m. on
the 217, she was caught off guard when a man looking after his herd called out her
name. He accompanied her to the home of her niece, married to a Hum,
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After a few days, the father-in-law of my niece threw me out duning the night. My
niece pleaded with him to at least let me stay the night.

Bélie left the next morning, and found welcome in the home of another Hutu where
she lived until the end of the genocide.

Jeannette did not get very far, when she was ambushed by two men in a banana
plantation near the school grounds.

They struck my neck five times with machetes and plunged a sword into my shoulder,
I fiecll down. When I regained consciousness, [ found myself naked, apart from my
.. underwear. [ had blood all over my skin and I was shaking from fear.

She became even more apprehensive when she saw a vehicle filled with militiamen
taking the direction of Cyanika.

But others remained behind to clobber those who weren’t completely dead. Women
and children were taking clothes off the corpses and the dying. | didn’t hear any of
the victims scream, just the groans of the dying. But the murderers were shouting and
whistling, And there were lots of them.

A Hutu she knew led her away, and then told a series of lies to £et her past the
roadblocks. In Kabeza, he was asked “where he was taking this snake ™

He told them 1 was his sister who had married a Tutsi. Tn a place commonly known as
ke ironderi (roundabout), they told us to show our IDs. He replied that mine had been
taken with my ¢lothes, and they let us through,

Jeanette then went to the Nyamagabe health centre where she knew a medical
assistant. She was treated for her injuries, but she was always looking over her
shoulder because injured Tutsis were taken away. When her scars began to heal, she
asked a Hutu friend for asylum, and stayed with her until July. :

Bemadette left the school grounds after learning that her husband and children had
died. She concealed herself behind a pile of cooked bricks. She was later Joined by
her sister-in-law, Marie. Anxious to get away from Murambi, Marie left to ask famly
friends for help, and was later murdered. Bernadette remained in a coffee plantation
tor a while and then went to her father’s house.

He was still alive, but the house had been ransacked. The people living all around us
were accusing him of being an accomplice of the inyenzi, saying his wife's relatives

were in his house. I staved with him. living in deplorable conditions.

But it was the attitude of people that made Bernadette feel the weight of the genocide.

]

All the ncighbours isolated me so much that no-one would even shake my hand.
People were sharing out our property between them in my presence.

Bemadette remained in her father’s house until the end of the genocide.
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“We Lied That We Were Hutus”

To stay alive, while on the run, Tutsis had to rely on help from others. but they also
demonstrated—as people whose lives are at stake must—extraordinary individual
capacity for self-preservation and the strength of mind 1o run or talk their way out of a
series of potentially deadly encounters. For Yvette and Didacienne, their first instinict
was o decerve the interahamwe who approached them by saying that they were
Hutus.

Focused on the need to help the men who were trying to defend them, Yvette had lcft
her two older daughters in the care of relatives in the camp, and did not see how they
died. Nor was she aware at the time that her husband had survived. Carrying her
youngest on her back, she dashed with others into a banana plantation which belonged
10 a man they knew, Munyanziza. The intershamwe were soon on their heels.

We told them we were Hutus who had fled with the Tutsis because we didn’t know
who was killing who.

The militia were not convinced, telling them that their “noses were not Hutu noses.”
Nevertheless, they left their fate to be settled by others. They left and were succeeded
by another group. Yvette and her companions tried their Tuck again, telling the same
story. Again, they me with scepticism.

They asked s to find them someone who could verify this tale. I told them about
Munyanziza. Fortunately, when they asked him if we were Hutus, he said that we
were and they lefi us alone. We spent the day [of the 217] in the banana plantation. At
about 9:00 p.m., Munyanziza came to get us out of there, but told us that we couldn’t
stay in hus house. There were four of us, including my daughter. We went in different
directions.

When Yvette and her daughter reached sector Gasaka, her maternal aunt, who was
marned (0 a Hutu, gave them something to eat and then sent them on their way to the
home of her husband’s cousin in Kamegeri. After two nights, he asked them to leave,
- but unsure where else to £0, she returned and stayed put for a while. It wis a
| precarious cxistence.

They came to look through their house regularly, and again they chased us away
again, [ left without knowing where to go. Children, adults and dogs ran after me with
swords, machetes and clubs.

Former clients she mret on the road took her in, but it was a temporary respite,

The next day, I ran into a former soldier. He was with three friends who helped him
to force me to go to his house. That was around 25 May. My child stayed behind with
the family. I lived with him for 4 long time and 1 became like his wife. It was real
torture for me; it would have been better if I had died with the others.

After about a month, Yvette fetched her child and decided to run away. But the local
shopkeepers refused to find transport for her.

® A pseudonym,
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They said this man would crush them if he discovered they had helped me get away
from him. In the evening, an old woman from the family where I had been staying
before entrusted me to her two domestics who accompanted me as far as Murambi.

Didacienne had seen her family’s shepherd among the militia in the school and
although he had no doubts about their ethnicity, he backed up her story that she and
her siblings were Hutus. Some of the men gave them a chan ge of clothes and then
asked them to point out their house in Gasaka. Their story began to unravel at the
Mzega roadblock.

There we met someone who knew us very well. We had given Kazitunga as our
father's name, but he mentioned our father’s real name. We denied that Mbaraga was
our father. He let us go. Idiot that I was, I took them as far as our house.

The state in which they found the house immediately identified them as Tutsis.

It had been completely demolished. T didn’t know what to say. The people who lived
nearby all came out to mock us. We just stood there, mationless.

Fortunately, two people who lived in the vicinity came forward and took them to
Kigeme hospital where their wounds were tended.

I'had no idea what day it was and I couldn’t tell you how much time we spent there,

Didacienne’s brother and grandfather were both murdered at the hospital. She
returned to Murambi with some other survivors and lived out the final days of the
genocide in Butare.

“Don’t Kill This One”

Stories about what happened in Rwanda in 1994 illustrate not only cruelty and
betrayal and, to a much lesser degree, courage and kindness, but highlight
contradictions and moral ambiguity. It is not unusual to find that even the most
committed organizers, and the most ardent interahamwe, did their best to spare an old
friend or acquaintance. Some of those who took the clothes off a wounded persom
occasionally lefi them alive. Others stopped a killing to obtain a sexual slave or free
labour at home. Murambi was no different, as the details in the narratives below
exemplhiy.

Using his hackground as a builder, Emmanuel Hangari found a secure spot in the
rafters of the ceiling. But his movements disclosed his whereabouts and he soon heard
the sound of tiles being broken and ripped apart. He was ordered out of the ceiling,
and then told to take his clothes off.

Each one wanted to take my clothes and everyone wanted to be the one 1o see me die
by his machete. One of them realized he knew me and slopped them from killing me.
He took me with him and led me to my grandmother’s house. She was 90 vears old
and had been left in an empty house to die from sorow and loneliness.
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After weaving frantically through the dead bodies, Francine Mutuyimana reached the
opposite end of the school complex. She had hardly gone any distance when fell into a
large ditch. At the age of 11, she simply did not have the strength to pull herself out of
there.

I called for help from those who were running by me, bul no-one responded.
Everyone was trying to avoid being cut down. Sadly, many met their deaths only a
few metres from the school. All T could hear were the sounds of the dying who were
being hacked. Finally, I yanked myself out of there.

As she came out of the cavity, she caught sight of her cousin lsaie with his frend
Gakwavu, both nursing gunshot wounds. They took her with them and along the way,
they linked up with others. With the militia never far away, most fell along the way.
Francine was small and could slip between the legs of her would-be killers.

I carried on running. At one moment, I found myself with Isaie’s wife and a child 1
didn’t know. The woman was later caught. When they captured someone, they would
sometimes force them to sit on the ground and order them not to cry before the
machetes, axes and massues came down on their head. Some victims refused to sit
down and asked why they were being killed without any riason.

When she and her young companion found themselves alone in an unfamiliar area,
Francine proposed that they stop running.

We squatted by a heap of stones and stayed there until 6:00 p.m. when we heard a
crowd of assassins pass by,

All of a sudden the child rushed out and confronted them.
she begged them to kill her.

Francine also came out from behind the pile of stones.
The little gir] died night then and there, bashed with a machetz . One of the men, a
stranger to me, told the others: “Don’t kill this one, I'll take her with me so that she

can graze my pigs.”

He took her to his house and the next day sent her out to purchase some tobacco.
Francine encountered a group of interahamwe along the way.

They told me to sit on the ground. I sat down and shut my eyes, waiting for the fatal
blow. I immediately felt the massue hit me twice in the back, and then on the
shoulders.

“I crumbled to the ground, less because of the cuts than because of the total fear
that led me io believe that I was dead.”

I then heard a voice say: “Leave her, she's dead.” They left. After they dispersed, I
got up and went to look for the tobacco. When 1 got back, the man told me not 1o oo
oul anymore.
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After a week mside the house, she began her work of grazing the pigs. She stayed at
this man’s home for about a month.

TR T

Suzanne left Murambi at about 10:00 a.m. on the 21*, wearing only her underwear
: and leaving behind the bodies of her eight children and her husband. Convinced that
: her youngest child, who was taken off her back, was still alive, Suzanne pleaded with
Juvénal Munyakayanza, whom she met in front of the SOS premises, to retum to
Murambi and bring him back to her. Munyakayanza, accused of contributing to the
huge death toll at Murambi, gave this account of their conversation.

She was being followed by Hamani and Gidéon. Two Twas were behind them and
wanted to know her ethnicity. They had just killed the child she was carrying on her
back. Hamani and Gidéon lied, saying she was Hamani's wife. They gave the Twas
2,000 francs to go back home.

She told me that her child had been in the two-story building. She scemed to be
traumatized. | promised to go back when the massacres werc over, but 1 didn’t
believe that the child could still be alive. We took her to our arca. This was around
6:00 a.m, Most of the men were at Murambi. All she was wearing was her underwear,
My wife gave her a cloth and a shirt and she went to live with her Huty brother-in-

law.
Suzanne did indeed go to the home of her younger sister who was married to a Hutu.

Al one point Gasana, the head of the militia came and told me that 1 would be
executed after Habyarimana’s funeral »

Munyakayanza retumed to Murambi around 11:00 a.m. hut to steal, not to look for
Suzanne’s child. Still, he said, “the thought of the child came to my mind as well.”
The thought remained with him and, he added: “[ couldn’t sleep that might, The
thought of this child haunted me.”

He returned to Murambi the next day and watched as prisoners stacked thousands of
corpses on to bulldozers. They had only begun their work, and he said he could not
help thinking: “They have no idea how much grisly work was left to do.”” He wanted
to leave, but was “feeling anxious about something,”

I decided to walk around the camp, | came upon an appalling sight: a huge mound of
naked female bodies. I couldn't look away. As | was about to go, 1 saw a child
underneath the body of a woman. He was clinging to her chest. | didn't know if she
was his mother. At this moment, a mass of thoughts came to me. At first, | wanted to
kill him. Then I thought I would leave the prisoners to decide his fate.

“I stood there, transfixed, in front of 2 mountain of corpses and this one living
child. It was then I decided to save the boy.”

* Tutsi women marnied 10 Hutus were ofien told that they would be killed after the burial ceremonies
for Presidemt Habyarimana, which were planued for 5 July, the anniversary of the coup which broughi
him to power.
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Eventually he stole the child away. keeping him out of the sight of the prisoners, and
avoiding the roadblocks of Gatyazo and Gasaka where militiamen were still on the
look out for “hostile forces.”

From the moment I 100k the boy to my house, the interahamwe were always
harassing me, especially Haruna® Harmuna said his spear shouldn’t spend a night
without being stained by hlood.

I left the child with & poor Muslim woman called Madina. She lived in Gitaniw.
Madina spoke very little which helped to keep the child alive. He was named Masudi
Nzabarcgenimana, His surmname means “1 will complain to God.” It expresses the
suffering he overcame, without even being aware of it. Madina was later given a
house to take care of the child. Masudi lived there until Madina’s death. He MW
lives with the other children at the SOS compound in Gikongoro.

Wearing only a half-slip as she left the school, Alphonsine held her head high and
kept her gaze forward so that she would not catch sight of people she loved or knew
among the bodies she had to step over. She took the same road as the men she had
seen stealing from the camp.

They saw that T came from Murambi, but they let me go on. I was almost naked and
completely unrecognizable.

She came upon multiple roadblocks and remembers those in Kabeza and at Gatyazo.
She recalls the time afterwards as a period when she was “crazy-like.”

I went to see our Hutu friends at Nyagisenyi* where | spent four days feeling very
uncasy. I soon went to Nzega where | stayed until the end,

Alphonsine decided not to go to Murambi when the French military took it over,
saying she “didn’t have the courage to return there afier sceing people burying the
dead in large cavities on the sides of the hill.”

Eugénic Mushimiyimana stuck close to a handful of people as she walked out of
Murambi.

We didn’t know which direction to take. 1 was simply following the others. But to
where? | had no idea. Along the entire road, on every side of it, there were peasants
with machetes, massues and clubs and they used them 1o strike down a ot of the
survivors. [ saw a lot of refugees 1 knew dic in the vicinity of the school or in the.
bushes and roads around the area,

When she could no Jonger walk, Eugénic herself was felled by a large club and she
tumbled into the Muzirankwavu stream. She subsequently hid in a forest and then
walked to Kishaba in Nyabisindu, Butare, where she eventually came across RPA
soldiers.

After eluding death at Cyanika, Marianne Nikuze hid with others in the residence of 4
nurse, next to the health centre. Before lea ‘g at around 4:00 a.m., she said to those
who chose to stay behind: “T know I will die, but I don’t want to be killed here.” She

" Haruna 1s accused, in particular, of murdering many children,
* Located in cellule Nyamugari, sector Gikongoro in Gikongoro town,
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met a five-year old boy and together they started walking towards Kiyumba. Many
groups of interahamwe were on the same road, heading in the opposite direction
towards Cyanika in order to loot the pansh. Mananne and her companion had a series
of close encounters. Luckily for her, as a 12 vear-old girl, she was not considered a

priority target.

They scared us, telling us they were going to kil us. But, in reality we were worthless
to them. They were in a humy to seize what they could in Cyanika.

When Marianne admitted to the first group that she had come from Cyanika, the
militiamen said: “We are going to deal with you. If you're coming from Cyanika you
must be snakes.” But one of them urged his companions that they move on.

He said to his colleagues: “Let's leave these children, they'll be handled by the
others. Let’s get going. They re slowing us down for nothing.™

Marianne told the next expedition of interahamwe that her father was a Hutu and that
the child accompanying her was the son of her paternal uncle.

They left us, saying that we were Hutus like them.

Luck ran out for the young boy when they collided with still more interahamwe. One
of them knew him and “killed him with one swoop of a machete.” Marianne tried
again to deceive the murderers, saying boldlby: “IT you kill me,; 1t"s unfair, because T
am not Tuts”

They responded: “Even if you are lying, it doesn’ matter. After all, you are a girl.
You will never be at the front.”

They left her and she started walking on. She outran the next group and stopped only
when she was certain that they had given up therr pursuit. She washed the blood out
of her clothes at a faucet, and then started out again. A teacher at Cyanika primary
school, where Mananne was a student, caught sight of her at a roadblock. He advised
her to take off her sweater, which she hadn’t been able to wash. Then a peasant man
spotted her near his house and handed her over to some mliiamen, but they too
chose to Izave the job “to those at Kavin river.”

Over the next few weeks, Marianne shared her days and nights between sorghum
ficlds and the houses of family friends. At one point, an old man was clubbed to death
i the same house where she had spent the night. Ntunzimana, the leader of the
operation, mstructed the interahamwe to leave Marianne.

le told them: “She’s Jeanne’s lide sister. We'll deal with her the day we kill Tutsi
women married to Hutu men.

Xavérine Mukansoro was also meant to die at Cyanika, but the man who saw she was
still alive told his fellow militiamen that she “was just a corpse.” When he returned,
xavenne asked him to take her hfe, but he refused. Instead, he took her home to his
family who tended to her wounds and looked after her. Bur the presence of other
mjured people in the house convinced her that it would be searched, and so she set out
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to see her cousin, Patricia, married to a Hutu. Rather than a home. she said she found
“a real slaughterhouse.”

Behmd the house, my cousin’s children were in the middle of butchering people. 1 lay
down next to a corpse there. | regretted leaving the man who had saved me to come to
the home of these killers. After they murdered everyone, they went back inside their
house. I couldn’t help reacting and suddenly found myself saying: “If you spill my
blood on this earth, you will be responsible for it all your lives! | carried ¥ou on my
back, and this is how you repay me?”

One of the sons came out and asked her: “Where will you go?”

“They’ve already given the order that we have to kill Tutsis for years and years
to come, until the race is erased from the face of the earth.”

The response from her cousin made the world seem even smaller.

She said to me: “You come to soil me with your blood. I don’t have any family ties
with Tutsis.”

Luckily, when she knocked on the door of a family friend that night, Charles
Hitimana, Xavérine found a warm welcome.

Charles and his wife lif a fire, she bathed me in hot water while he spent the whole
night digging out a hole under their bed. The hole was comfortable and 1 was safe.
Even when they looked through their house, nobody saw me.

Charles couldn’t trust his son to keep Xavérine’s presence a secret, and so he advised
her to leave and come back after a few days. Another couple opened up their house to
her, but once again her whereabouts was discovered. In despair, her friend suggested a
drastic course of action.

Mubera’s wife, Giraneza, said; “They say they will hunt Tutsis for years and years, 1
recommend that you go and drown yourself at the Rukarara river mnstead of being cut
to pieces by a machete. I'll give you a piece of material to keep your eyes closed.”™

When she reached the river, Xavérine put the cloth over her eyes and tried to end her
torment.

I threw myself into the river, but the river spit me out on its banks, [ tried for three
days, and failed.

In another attempt to precipitate death, she threw pebbles at the home of Manassé
Higiro, “an interahamwe and a major figure in the genocide.”

I'simply wanted to drive him wild with anger. Of course, he came out with his spear,
yelling. I answered it was me and suddenly he threw his spear aside and took me into
the house. T was alrmost naked, His wife washed me in hot water and gave me clothes.
I begged Manassé to kill me, but he said | couldn’t die if | had succeeded as far as
making it into his house
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In July, when people !?f:gan to suspect her presence in Manassé’s house Xavérine
went back to Charles Hitimana and his wife, J

They were happy. Charles assured me, saying that the interahamwe were leaving the
country for Zaire,

She remained with this family until her health improved and she felt able to sete
down on her own.
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“GOING BACK TO NORMAL ACTIVITIES”

As the burials came to an end, it became necessary to find other means to keep the
evidence out of public view and to make it scem as though little out of the ordinary
had taken place in Gikongoro. In reality, as Joseph Ntegeyintwali admitted, by the last
days of April, there were not in fact many Tutsis to target in that préfecture,

“Towards the end of April, Tutsis had been practically wiped out through nearly
the whole of Gikengoro.”

The préfet faced a number of conflicting challen ges. Lirstly, there was a danger that
the pervasive violence of April might create a situation of lawlessness, especially
given the extent to which the population had been armed and the fights that had
broken out as militiamen fought over the belongings of Tutsis. It was therefore
imperative to re-establish order and to calm people down. At the same time, it was
considered a priority to take the genocide to its logical conclusion, and so the pursuit
contiued. Kigeme hospital in Nyamagabe was one of the last places in Nyamagabe
where large-scale killings occurred. By then, in late May, there was extensive
international condemnation of events in Rwanda, and Bucyibaruta and the other
leaders . Gikongoro, as elsewhere, were under pressure from the interim
administration to “halt™ the killings to appease the world. Subsequently, some of the
Tutsis at Kigeme were left alone on orders from Semakwavu. The need (o distract
attention from the tens of thousands buried underground, by showing a few survivors,
became even more urgent in Gikongoro with the news in late June that France would
send soldiers to Rwanda.

But the first order of the day, when the prefet called a meeting on 26 April, was to
celebrate.

“It Was Felt That We Had Achieved a Great Deal”

The gathering was unusually large, attended by virtually all the deputy-préfets,
bourgmestres and councillors. Ngezahayo gave details about the agenda, and the
mood that day,

The prefet asked the bourgmestres to give an estimate of the numbers of victims
killed in massacres in their communes. Joseph Ntegevintwali pave the figure of
10,000 for Cyanika. Biniga gave the number of 17,500 victims for his area, Simba
said 21,000 people had died at the Parish of Kaduha, and the figure of 21,000 was
given for Murambi, which is a serious underestimate because it 1s known today that at
least 47,000 people were killed at Murambi. Other bourgmestres spoke; for example
the number of victims at commune Nshili was said to be 5,000 and 10,000 victims
were said 1o have died at Musange,
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The total nunber of deaths cited for the préfecture that day came to §7,500. “An d
remember,” added Ngezahayo, “that this did not include the true figure for Murambi.”

Satisfied. Simba said he would communicate this figure to the government in order (o
find out what position Gikongoro occupied nationally in carrying out the massacres
of Tutsis.

The general atmosphere on the 26™ was one of contentment, We had some visitors
from Butare, including Col. Tharcisse Muvunyi®, who were impressed with what
Gikongoro had done and told us that Gikongoro would serve as an example o Butare.
Simba suggested that Mudasomwa and Kinyamakara could perhaps lend a hand
Butare since they had distinguished themselves in Gikongoro.

BRI el b e A T "|W‘“1H*'1“W1
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In addition to taking stock of activiti¢s in Gikongoro as a whole, the officials present
evaluated the activities of each commune and their contributions to the death toll.

There was initially an argument as to whether the commune of Mudasomwa or the
commune of Muko was the first to begin the genocide in Gikongoro. Nieziryayo of
Mudasomwa then spoke of all the different massacres where his militiamen had been
active, mentioning both Murambi and Cyanika amongst others. He paid tribute to the
directors of the tea factories at Mata and at Kitabi, Ndabarinze and Kamodoka
respectively, saying that they made it possible for him to dispatch his people to these
different places by providing the necessary transport.

We clapped for the commune of Mudasomwa and what it had achieved in effecting
the genocide, and for Nteziryayo as the representative of Mudasomwa. So in the end
it was apparcnt that the position of number onc in carrving out the genocide n
Gikongoro did not belong to the commune of Muko, but rather to Mudasomwa. And
in fact everyone here in Gikongoro central prison talks about the fact that
Mudasomwa occupies the premier position in Gikongoro for its commitment to the

genocide.

' Afterwards, we had beer and lots of meat. It was felt that we had achieved a great
deal. Our officials were very happy. They had become convinced that (nkongoro
would in fact be regarded as the préfecture which had done the most in the genocide.

7 Lt Col. Tharcisse Muvunyl was the most senior military officer responsible for secunty operations
in Butare and Gikongoro during the genocide. He was also the officer in charge of the School for Noo-
Commissioned Officers (ESQ) in Butare. He was based in Butare. He was arrested m London on 3
February 2000 and transferred 1o the ICTR in Arusha on 30 October 2000, On 12 September 2006, he
was sentenced to 25 years in prison. For details about hus activities in 1994, see African Rights® report,
Lr.Cof. Tharcisse Muvinyi: A Rwandese Genocide Commander Living in Sritain, Wimess to Genocide,
Mo L2, April 2000
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“To Re-establish Order and Authority”

The importance of reigning in the lawlessness in which the carnage had occurred was
another topic of discussion. Ntegeyintwali commented that the genocide had proved
“destructive, both socially and to state infrastructure and property.”

The negative behaviour of the interahamwe started to create a chaotic situation.
Some of them were arguing about the property of Tutsis. And because what was
taken from Tutsis was not sufficient to be shared out among the population, people
also began to go after the infrastructure of the State. Officials at the grassrools
seemed incapable of protecting public property.

The tactics for turning this situation around were at the heart of the discussion on the
26!]:.

Everyone, from the lowest authority to the highest, was invited. The bourgmestres
and their councillors were of course there because they are the two channels for
communicating directly with all the layers of population.

In a few words, this was the broad outline we agreed upon.

* The prcfet gave a report about the general situation. He said there was 1o reason
to maintain the roadblocks since the Tutsis had already been massacred,

* The population should go back to agricultural work.

= State employees should return to work at the beginning of May,

The return to normality was linked to a message intended for the outside world.

The préfet entrusted us with the responsibility of supervising the population, insisting
on these three points because, when security was re-established, foreigners would
have no way of knowing what had happened.

Ngezahayo highlighted another subject raised before participants dispersed: defining
“future strategies” for dealing with the remaining Tutsis.

It was decided that we should say that a truce had been declared, a way of making
Survivors come out into the open, after which they were killed: The purpose was to
ensure that there really would be no one left in the Tutsi community. It was alsg
agreed that military reservists and communal policemen would give military training
to selected young men. Simba distributed guns to these young men, and they were
Hew guns.

Bucyibaruta’s instructions quickly began to trickle down to the sectors and cellules.
Martin Kagiunbura attended a meeting at the market place of Gasarenda in
Mudasomwa on 30 April, held for the benefit of the educated and businessmen. They
were invited by the bourgmestre, Nteziryayo, to exchan ge views about “the future of
Gikongoro after the massacre of the Tutsis.”

Nteziryayo told us about the reunion of April 26 under the auspices of the préfet. He
gave us the mission of going mto the countryside to tell the population to bury all the
victims and o go back to their normal activities, so that the international community
wouldn’t get to know about the slaughter that had Jjust taken place.




The bourgmestre’s recommendation  that all roadblocks should be abandoned
“provoked disagreements”, according to Kagimbura.

Some, including Kamodoka, Gakuru and Ngoga, said there should be no let up in the
hunt for Tutsis. There was another debate about roadblocks on 17 May, Except for
the roadblock in Gasarenda and the one set up at the entrance to Nyungwe forest, the
others in Mudasomwa were dismantled.
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With or without roadblocks, “the month of May was,” in Nsabiyera’s words,
“dedicated to flushing Tutsis out of the bush and Hutu homes.” Men were particularly
sought after. In Nyamagabe, the Nzega roadblock was left standing.

David Rwamihigo acknowledges that around this time, he was inspired by Frangois
Gasana to kill a number of people.

Gasana was always looking for information about Tutsis. When he was sure of their
whereabouts, he rallicd a band of militiamen to go after them, I took part in the
murder of the Nkundiyeze family, which Gasana directed. Nkundiyeze, now dead,
was a Hotu who had married a Tutsi. We found five people n their home;

= The old mother, head of the household;
» Two sons and a daughter;
= Another old mother.

Apart from the two old women, the others were of mixed parentage.

“(asana told us they couldn’t be pardoned because they had Tutsi blood.”

“Not Even the I1l Were Spared”

Kigeme hospital was one of the last places in Gikongoro where there was still a
significant number of Tutsis. The sick and wounded there had heard the explosions
and blasts coming from Murambi, but a large scale assault on the hospital did not
accur for another few weeks. A band of interabamwe visited them on Sunday 22
May. But before they all died, the préfet called for those who were still alive to be
driven to Murambi.

Madeleine Mukamuyango had survived the massacre at Kitabi tea factory in
Mudasomwa and was brought to Kigeme hospital by some gendarmes. Interahamwe
sent by Dénis Kamodoka, the director of the factory, turned up several times to look
for her. Dr. Edison, the hospital director, helped her to evade them. Her security was

regularly threatened, but it was on Pentecost Sunday, 22 May, when her life was
“thrown into total danger.”

The interahamwe searched the hospital and the secondary school on a hill close by,
and made Madeleine and all other Tutsis assemble in the courtyard, between the row

of private rooms and the men’s ward.

When they brought out cven those who were on [Vs, we knew this was our last hour.
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The sudden arrival of Bucyibaruta, Semakwavu and Sebuhura interrupted the plans.

They were ready to hquidate us right in front of these officials. The préfet called them
into a mecting. As we were heading back to our respective places in the hospital, one
of the participants came to give the order to Kill us. They started killing immediately,

While some were “slashed then and there” others, including Madeleine, were led into
the bushes.

I was taken by four milittamen:

« Matwi, he's in prison, but he hasn’t confessed;

= Seruntaga, also imprisoned:

= Phillipe, Kanyamateme's son. He's the one who yanked me out of the room, 1
don’t know if he’s still in prison;

= Biror, deceased, He used to come to my room all the time to harass me.

They took me across the hall separating the maternity ward from the laundry room
and the kitchen, When we were outside the hospital, they made me climb over a bush
and threw me to the ground. They left me near the home of the hospital driver, taking
all my clothes,

“The last words they said were: “The Tutsi problem has been reselved. Murambi
no longer exists. Only the few in Kigeme remain...”

They immediately brought a massue down on my head.

When she regained consciousness, Madeleine found herself in a hospital bed once
again. She remained under treatment until her wounds healed sufficiently and was
later taken by French soldiers to Murambi, where she reunited with her children.

Rosette™ was also seized and shoved into some bushes close to the hospital building.

More than five militiamen took off with me, tearing my clothes off along the wzy.
The scene resembled that of a vulture seizing upon a mouse. My child, who was on
my back, fell to the ground, but | wasn’t even sure where. All I was wearing was a
slip and my underpants. They pushed me to the ground and onc by one began to rape
me; 1 don’t know how many. I closed my cyes because 1 just didn’t want to look at
them.

A Hutu acquaintance had brau.ght Didacienne and her brother from Murambi to
Kigeme hospital. She found her grandfather there, being treated for machete wounds

on his arm inflicted at Murambi. Her brother and grandfather were among the victims.

First, they went for the men and the boys. They dragged my brother along the ground
and he cried out, asking them not to kill his sister. | saw the faces of his murderers:
they were Mukono, still in exile, and Phallipe, in Gikengore central prison.

# A preudonym,

138




Ll

I 1 LR

The death of my grandfather haunts me the most because he had endured so much
and I believed that [ was going to survive with him. His wounds had begun to heal,
When he was being taken to his death, he kept saying to me: “They’re going to kil
me! They're going to kill me!™ Powerless, 1 could do nothing for him.

When one of the militia took her by the hand, Didacienne reacted quickly, telling him
that she knew somcone at the hospital with a lot of money. Tempted, he went with her
back to the hospital.

I lied and told him that the person had left and I didn’t know where he had gone. He
was annoyed and slammed his fist into my head. Then he took off.

After about two hours, a vehicle appeared and took Didacienne and the others back to
Murambi.

Most of Patricia Mukasahaha’s family, and almost all the Tutsis on her hill in
Kabacuzi, Nyamagabe, had gone to Murambi. Her husband chose the Parish of
Cyanika mstead and was killed there, Worried about how her three children would
fare m a huge camp, she went from one place to another and made it to Kigeme
hospital on 21 May with the help of a FAR soldier.

Since the hospital was close to my house, everyone krew me and my family, When
they saw me, they began lamenting, saying that the Tutsis hadn’t died since | was still
around. The next morning, the hospital was invaded. The Tutsi patients, even those
on [Vs, their care-givers and the refugees were massacred. In the midst of all this, the
prefet. Bucyibaruta, strolled in. He was with a gendarme, 2 soldier and the
bourgmestre of Nyamagabe, Félicien Semakwavu, They gave instructions that Tutsis
in the hospital should be spared, but they came too late for marny.

Espérance Mukagashugi is from Kigeme and had been in the hospital throughout
April, her days “filled with terror.” Espérance, who was 21, had Just given birth to
twins and was staying with them in the maternity ward. She first caught a glimpse of
the men from a window. They then entered the ward and asked to see everyone's

identification. Espérance and the other Tutsis were immediately brought outside into
the courtyard.

The director, Edison, insisted they return the sick patients to their beds. We went back
inside the buildings.

They came back, this time with soldiers and civilians.

They took us outside again. Not even the ill were spared, They took the lives of
children and old people, new-horns and pregnant women.

They had started to take Espérance to where others were being killed when the
hospital director intervened. Instructions to board a waiting car came as 4 relief.

As we made our way 10 Murambi, the people in the area and the interahamwe swore
il us and throw stones,

Suzanne Uwamurera was 24 at the ume and made a living as a farmer in Nyamagabhe.
She came to the hospital when the genocide began and gave birth to her first child.
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They assassinated the first group at the primary school of Mwumba and then threw
them into a mass grave. | was m the second group taken to Murambi. We passed
many roadhlocks along the way, and it's only because we were with soldiers that the
interahamwe did not harm us.

Felicité Nyiranzage exchanged her home in sector Gitwa for Gikongoro parish when
Tutsis passed by their house and told them that the killings had begun. Her husband
stayed behind, but Felicité took her daughter who was about to give birth. She pleaded
with a priest and he agreed to give them a car as far as the dispensary in town. They
spent the night there, and the following moming they were taken to Kigeme hospital.
The next day, her daughter gave birth.

But within a short time, the situation deteriorated. The Hutu women wore their
identity cards on their chests or on their arms to prove they were not Tutsis.

She did not believe that she and the other women were being taken to Murambi.

We didn’t have any hope; we thought they were going to kill us just like the others.

“Murambi was a Mass Grave”

The women who made it to Murambi were immediately confronted with the evidence
of the massacres: scraps of clothing, some bodies which had not been buried and
traces of blood on the walls and ceilings and seeping up from the ground. But they
maintained their solidarity and did what they could to look after each other.

Ihdacienne had come alone, but soon found a surrogate mother.
Patricia took me under her wing. T became like her child and 1 staved with her until
the énd of the genocide. The interahamwe would come and some people were taken
away. Patricia got us something to eat, but | don’t know where the food came from.

Patricia found the situation trying, both emotionally and physically.

We couldn’t believe that we had actually made it this far. As far as we knew, these
were our absolute last few moments of existence,

“Being in Murambi was like being left in a mass grave.”

There was still blood on the sol.

Some of the Tutsis with us were abducted and murdered. The FAR soldiers came
when they wanted to rape women and young girls. In addition, we were dymg of
hunger and thirst. We had nothing to eat and the water had been cut off. There were
rumours that we were going to be massacred at the end of the war and used as a
hlanket for the corpse of President Habyarimana,

The cry for help of a young woman who was being raped 1s etched on Espérance’s
Memory.
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When the soldiers raped a student from Kigeme, she screamed all night, but nobody
went to rescue her,

Too weak to move around, Espérance spent much of her time at Murambi i bed.
They were told to clean the rooms, but she had no energy.

Suzanne described a miserable life in Murambi, due to poor sanitary conditions and a
lack of food or water.

On top of that, we were scared. The walls were smudged with blood and there were
pools of congealed blood, blackened by the sun, in the courtyard. There were many
bludgeons, torn clothes and the 1D cards of some of the victims.

She had recently given birth and was with her young baby, but amid so much death,
this new life stood little chance of survival.

My first child died in Murambi because of the bad living conditions. His father, my
first husband, was killed during the genocide, but [ don’t know either where or how.

Félicité lived at Murambi “in all the dirt and blood of our people.”

A shepherd whose name 1 don’t know brought us food only once, otherwise we were
O OUr OWIL

After several weeks of living like this, Félicité and her companions were buoyed by
the news that French soldiers were coming to take charge of Murambi.
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OPERATION TURQUOISE
A Precarious Existence

Operation Turquoise was launched by France on 23 June 1994 when '2.200
paratroopers entered western Rwanda through Bukavu and Goma in the DRC. It was
described by France as a humanitarian mission to save Tutsis whose hves were under
threat. For a variety of reasons, the initiative was beset by political controversy before
the troops had even reached their destination. A unilateral ntervention at a time when
the United MNations and the Orgamzation of African Unity (OAU) were trving to
gamer support for a concerted international or regional initiative drew widespread
criticism, even within France itself.® But above all, it was the close relations which
had existed between France and the Habyarimana regime, and the backing which the
interim government enjoyed in spite of the evidence that it was fully committed to a
policy of genocide agamnst Tutsis, which raised serous questions about the motives
behind Operation Turquoise from the outset. The timing of the French mission, at the
end of June when the genocide was"Comng to an end and when government forces
faced the prospect of nmmminent military defeat by the RPF, only served to harden
suspicions. The fact that the announcement of the mission was greeted with
enthusiasm by those who had prepared and taken part in the genocide—the mterim
sovernment, the army, RTLM and the interahamwe —fuelled this controversy. Once
French soldiers reached Rwanda, it quickly became apparent that they had not been
given an informed and adequate briefing about the reality on the ground, and their
misconceptions and priorities immediately became obvious to all.

Gikongoro served as the nerve centre of Operation Turquoise, which quickly extended
beyond the original humanitarian mission and became a defensive action, with the
creation of a “safe zone™, known as Zone Turquoise.

“It Was a Day of Celebrations”

In the town of Gikongoro and its environs, the technical school in Murambi, the
ACEPER school and the SOS claldren’s village served as bases for the French troeps.
As discussed in the preceding chapter, by the end of May, Bucyibaruta and other
officials in Gikongoro were intent on keeping alive the small and dwindling number
of survivors, mostly women and children, to show that there had been no systematic
killing of Tutsis. For this reason, Emmanuel Nyirimbuga and others were tumed away
from Murambi when they went there to kill the Tutsis who had been brought there.

Towards the end of May, about 50 Tutsis were sent to Murambi and placed under
police guard. They were all women and small children. We didn’t understand the
position taken by the office of the préfecture. Since the Murambi massacre had been
autharized by the anthorities, we didn’t think they’d do anything to stop us. So we got
together under the leadership of Karangwa and Havugimana to go after this little

* For a more detatled discussion of Operation Turguoise see Dearh, Despair and Defiance, pp.1138-
1154, African Rights, August 1995,
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group. The police thwarted us, saying we had to have the préfet’s authorization. The
préfet himself came to see us, telling us we didn’t need to worry about a few womern.
They'd brought them to Murambi to fool the international community into believing
= the Tutsis had been protected. They remained under guard until the beginning of
‘% Operation Turguose.

More Tutsi children and women were taken to Murambi just before the soldiers
landed in Rwanda. Nsabiyera was among those who was instructed to take them there.

They wanted to present them to the international community to demonstrate the
protection Tutsis had received. And once the French came, this same group continued
to Teceive protection, according to plan.

! To further confuse and mislead the French forces, the préfet encouraged Hutus flecing
the RPF advance to join the Tutsi women in the rooms of the school “to convince the
French”, argued Nyirimbuga, that “the inkotanyi were killing everyone without
distinction.”
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All of this was designed to spur the French into thwarting the RPF advance,

Nyirimbuga attended a meeting the day before the soldiers reached Gikongoro. The
cellule leaders set out what they saw as the purpose of Turquoise.

They told us that as France was a friend of the Hutus, the troops were going to force
- the invenzi to retreat right back to Uganda. We were really cheered by this news.

He recalled some of the measures taken by more senior officials to prepare the
population to receive the French soldiers the day they got to Gikongoro.

The authoritics of the préfecture as well as those of the commune, invited us to go
and greet them. We got there very early. We had been advised that the French
soldiers would be coming from Cyangugu, so we arranged ourselves all along the
paved road starting {rom the Electrogaz station up to the office of the préfecture.

The préfectoral leaders had prepared a big welcome for the French soldicrs. We had
all received little flags with the French colours from the interahamwe. We waved the
flags in the air while shouting: “Vive la France, vive le Rwanda!™

The interahamwe ran behind them, carrying machetes and clubs, The French soldiers
didn’t mind all of this excitement. In response to our cheers, they saluted us in the
military style. It was a day of celebrations.

In Jonas Kanyarutoki’s commune of Muko in northern Gikongoro, the French troops
were similarly received.

Everybody was content, above all the interahamwe and our authorities. We sang for
them. The smiles on our faces testified to the hopes we had in the French tronps: 1o
help Hutus defeat the inkotanyi who had taken control of a large section of the
country. With their ammoured vehicles and jeeps equipped with all sorts of modem
weaponry, nothing could have made us worry about the advance of the inkoranyi.
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“It Was Rather God ihe Merciful Who Protected Us™

Despite their initial misgivings, the survivors who were already in Murambi, and
those who made their way there after Operation Turquoise became a reality, expected
both practical assistance as well as a greater sense of security from the French troops.
Patricia Mukashaza, Espérance Mukagashugi, Suzanne Uwamurera and Félicité
Nyiranzage were among the group transferred to Murambi from Kigeme hospital as a
showcase for the international community. They had, in the words of Patricia, spent
almost a month of “hunger, thirst, hopelessness and anxiety” when the French set up
camp in the school.

With few options in sight, other Tutsis came to Murambi as word spread that there
WEre survivors living there, and that French soldiers were now in charge of the arca,
Grice Mukantarindwa had successfully run her Wway out of the massacres at both
Murambi and Cyanika. She went to stay with her mother’s god-daughter in Karama
where she remained unti] the French soldiers entered Gikongoro town.

When I heard the French were there, | went back ta Murambi, I left alone at 4:00 1in
the moming and got there without any trouble. I didn’s know anyone. The French
tended my injurics,

Stmon Mutangana was staying in the home of a Huty friend in Mudasomwa when he
heard about Operation Turquoise.

I made my way to the SOS building in G tkongoro town, but I had o go at night
because there were still roadblocks cverywhere. At 5:00 a.m. I found French soldiers
at the roadblock, but they refused to drive me to Murambi where survivors were
being taken. T insisted, saying I couldn’t walk as it was very dangerous. Finally, they
agreed to take me to Murambi in their Jeep.

The fact that they, the survivors in whosé name Operation Turquoise had been
Justified, were not the roops” first priority surprised Patricia,

For the first few days, they came to observe us ir their helicopter. We cried out while
Lifting our arms in the air, saying: “We are Tutsis, come save us!” They didn’t come
back that day. They came the next day, telling us that they had been told to set
themselves up in Cyanika, where there was 2 camp of displaced Hutus, But they
retumned to Murambi and setrled there. They gave us water and biscuits.

The enthusiastic reception they were accorded by the interahamwe and the officials
behind the genocide was bound to make survivors uneasy. “The génocidaires,” said
Patricia, “were quite pleased.”

We were well aware of their carljer collaboration with the Habyarimana regime. And
they were applauded by the interahamwe and officials of all kinds.

Espérance confirmed the huge turnout.

The whole population went out to greet them, in the garden of the SOS, and all along
the roads they passed through.
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This display of exciternent in (ikongore once the troops landed made Espérance
question the professed aim of Turquoise.

They had heen welcomed by the authorities who had commutied the gernocide and
kept good relations with them. The French knew very well that these people were
responsible for the genocide.

Living conditions improved a little for the survivors in Murambi, though not much, as
the soldiers distrnibuted rice and commeal and some Tutsi women marned to Hutu
men brought them hvestock. But the security they were looking for remained elusive.
SII'I'IJ(‘.ITI Cxplﬁi!'li‘.d W]'E}".

In addition to survivors, there were FAR soldiers armed with guns and grenades
among the Hutus from Buatare displaced by the war. And then there were a lot of
militiamen outside the school, so we felt very insecure and had to stay indoors.

The stay at Murambi was particularly unbearable for the people who had been there
during the massacre, like Grace.

Even though 1 had nowhere else to go, I felt ill-at-ease in that place. I couldn’t stay
there because of everything 1'd seen in the past, The traces were still there: the blood,
clothes belonging to people I'd known. | couldn’t sleep at mght; 1 had nightmares all
the time.

She mmagined that she might be killed by some of the people with whom she shared a
room.

This made me very tense, T kept thinking they'd kill me in the middie of the mght. In
the end. 1 told the French T couldn’t stand it any longer and they let me go to live with
other survivors. We chatted and they comforted me. They shared everything because
I'd brought nothing with me. | began to live again, though we were constantly afraid
the French would one day hand us over to the interahamwe. We didn’™t have any faith
left and the way the French soldiers behaved didn’t reassure us,

The living arrangements at the camp also undermined Patricia’s confidence.

They put ws together with the inferahamwe, gendarmes, FAR soldiers and other
killers, all bumping into cach other on a daily basis. They paid no attention to what
this could mean for us survivors. They made no overt show of protecting us: it was
rather God the merciful who protected us.

What Annonciata Mubayimana saw at Murambi was not what she had hoped to find.

I met survivors yes. But I also met interahamwe, soldiers and gendarmes. There were
also Hutus on their way to Congo, and some of them were stll armed. We kept
thinking that we would again be subjected to the horror that we thought we had put
behind us,

Because they had signmificantly greater freedom of movement, the Hutus at the camp

led a much easier life than Suzanne and the other survivors, who could not put a foot
cutside the camp alone.
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It was simple for the Hutus to go and fetch supplics in Gikongoro town, whereas the
Tutsis couldn’t even pass the school buildings of Murambi, If they even tried to 20
pasL that pomt, there was a chance they would be assassinated.

Other factors worked to widen the gulf between the survivors and French soldiers at
Murambi. Espérance was upset by their lack of interest in what had unfolded at the
site, their reluctance to take action agamst the men they pointed out as génocidaires
and, especially, by their decisions about where to place their tents.

The students who could speak French showed them the graves of the victims of the
massacre at that school. The graves were clearly visible because the blood showed
through the soil. The French soldiers settled themselves there. and set up their tents.
There were many of them. Some of them lived in buildings, others slept in the tents.

Suzanne expected the soldiers to apprehend and question those pointed out as
perpetrators.

We showed them the people who had killed our relatives, and they let them walk
away. But they made it seem like they wanted to track them down,

Madeleine Mukamuyango was evacunated by the French from Kigeme hospital where
she was recovering from severe head wounds. She was still at the hospital when she
learned that her children were alive and at Murambi. The reunion with her children
was a Joyful occasion, but the grim evidence of what had taken place in Murambi, and
the attempt to cfface those signs, were deeply unsettling.

I began to regret my survival when 1 saw the blood of Tutsis everywhere on the walls
of the toilets. The French had asked the survivors who came hefore us to clean up the
bload of their brothers. The task was so great that even when 1 got there, there was
work 1o be done. We were therefore obliged 1o erase the si gns of the genocide of our
people. And the French busied themselves with collecting the arms that had been
used to get nd of Tutsis. They would not give us access to see where our people had
been buned.

A family friend, the secretary of Nyamagabe commune, accompanied Marie-Chanta]
Mukamunana to ACEPER where she said there were about 100 French soldiers. She
found three other survivors there, two girls and a boy. They were driven to Murambi,
but Marie-Chantal remained as a maid at ACEPER as she knew French and had gone
up to the third year of sccondary school. This gave her the opportunity to observe the
constant meetings and the cordial relations between the soldiers and the local officials
who had orchestrated the killings in Gikengoro.

The bourgmestre, Semakwavu, came to visit them often. 1 always made myself scarce
during those times, to stop him from seeing me. One day, the French soldiers called
me ount, 1o present me to the bourgmestre. | was really scared, but there wasn't
anything 1 could do, so T went out. When he saw me, he didn’t say anything. But he
left angrily to reprimand the man who had hidden me,

I stayed there and cvery day I obscrved the visits between the French soldiers and
different officials and organizers of the genocide. The ones T was familiar with were
Col. Simba, Semakwavu, a member of parhament named Marc and the préfet,
Bucyibaruta. The French always greeted their visitors warmly.
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«The First Thing the French Did in Murambi Was to Organize the
Digging of Trenches”

The testimonies given by prisoners who were living in Gikongoro at the time of
Operation Turquoise reveal other aspects of the French intervention which provide
insights into the political and military impulses behind it. Emmanuel Nyirimbuga

outlined what he believed to be their priority.

The first thing the French did in Murambi was to orgamze the digging of trenches.
The interahamwe and the local population dug the trenches. Their interpreters told us
that the trenches would be useful if the inkotanyi attempted to break through the line
demarcating the Zone Turquoise. Trenches were also dug along the Mwogo river and

on all the hills in the direction of Butare.

As the bourgmestre of commune Mubuga in Gikongoro, which became a haven for
Hutus who had deserted the areas under the control of the RPF, Innocent Bakundukize
had regular dealings with French forces. Many of these Hutus settled in the French
created camps in Kibeho, Ndago and Munini. Bakundukize was one of the few senior
officials who confessed his participation in the killings voluntarily and early on, and
has since spoke at length about the genocide.

The French soldiers criss-crossed the entire province, starting from the town of
Gikongoro, scouring the area for inkotanyi coming from Butare,

They came by daily to see about security and to ensure that the inyenzi did not
nfiltrate their territory. They liked to say that the Zone Turquoise was theirs and that
they had the right to administer it however they liked. We became convinced that
they were prepared to repulse any inkotanyi who dared to eross the border.

As news of their presence, their sophisticated weapons and their activities spread, our
commune attracted a large population of displaced people, particularly the
mterahamwe who regarded the presence of the French as their best hope.

He questioned the stated objectives of Operation Turquoise.

I doubt very much that its mission was to stop the genocide. The interahamwe had
already swept through. What was there to stop? If that is what they had wanted to do,
they came too late. It seems to me that the French came to save their friends with
whom they had collaborated in fighting the RPF since 1990, 1 think they came at the
last minute to extend a hand to the interahamwe and the fallen government against the
inkotarnyi and they maintained good relations with them. They didn’t take into
account the damage that had been caused by the zenocide.

In Gikongoro and clsewhere, the French intervention came to be associated with the

systematic looting and destruction of government property, including most factories

and schools,

If it had a humanitarian goal, how could so much infrastructure be destroved under
their noses? They gave the interahamwe every opportunity to destroy everything n
the French-controlfled zone.
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Nyirimbuga had, as his testimony earlier indicates, made a strong contribution to the
massacre at Murambi. He confirmed the accounts from survivors that the French
soldiers at Murambi put up their tents over the mass graves and had the signs of the
killings wiped out. IHe went further in his criticisms.

What surprised me the most 15 the basketball court that the French marked out on the
spot where thousands of Tutsis were buried. It was obvious that the place was a huge
tomb. The blood of all those victims rose 1o the surface some days after the massacre.
A terrible odour hung over the whole place. Each time the bloed started pooling up
on the surface again, the administrative authontics sent people 10 add more dirt. This
was done several times before the French came, Still, splatters of blood on the walls
left clear signs of massive carnage. When they got there, the soldiers guickly ordercd
the Jocal population to wash the blood off of the walls. To me, the decision to place a
basketball court on the site of the mass grave was also an attempt to erasc all
evidence that a4 genocide had taken place there.

The knowledge that they were being shiclded from RPF forces gave the interahamwe
an extended opportunity to persist in eliminating Tutsi civilians, added Bakundukize.

The French named their own local authorities throughout Gikengoro to assist them in
detecting any inkotanyi present in the area. Some Tutsis were killed by the
interahamwe before they even reached the area where the French were staying. The
mterahamwe were on the look-out all over and, so long as the French were around,
weren't too bothered about RPF seldiers in Butare. The country was visibly divided
In two: one arca was under the control of the RPF, and the other was under the
Jjunisdiction of an army from overscas whese main preoccupation was 1o block the

RPF.

Even the expressions that the French soldiers used gave the interahamwe the
opportunity fo pul the finishing touches to the genocide. When the French asked the
local population to show them the inyenzi and the inkotanyi, it was understood 1o
mean the Tutsis and their accomplices.

The emphasis on holding the line against infiltration by the RPF into Zone Turquoise,
and preparing themselves to battle the inkotanyi, ied to unforeseen consequences,
according to Nyirimbuga.

They really concentrated on the hunt for the invenzi-inkotanyi. And God help anyone
who was singled out. They never contested the classification of the people presented
to them. It was sufficient merely to tell them that so-and-so was an inketanyi. Some
people took advantage of the situation to settle old scores. The most well-known case
involved a certain Silas, who lived in Gashiha, He was turned over by his brother
Senkware, who currently resides in Gatebe. The French promptly shot hum to death.
Ayirwanda, now in prison, knows the case well, but he doesn’t want to talk about it.

Felicien Siborurema, a fanmer from Nyamagabe, first met the French soldiers in
Gikongoro town.

They were in their vehicles and were well-armed. They invited us to show them the
inkotanyi who might have penetrated the French-controlled zone. We quickly realized

that they had come to hight the inkotanyi.

The focus on the inkotanyi carried risks.
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The word irkotanyi had come to have many meanings, with all of them converging
on the same meaning. To the French, the name symbolized RPF collaborators.

Kanyarutoki, in Gikongoroe prison, said he revealed the hiding places of some Tutsis
to the French, who “told us they were sending them to the Tutsi camp to safeguard

themn.”

[ showed them two boys | knew called Iyvakaremye, 12, and Hagenimana, 16. What
seems strange (o me 15 that not 4 single person has seen these boys ever since.

Some French actions left Bakundukize perplexed.

A moment came when they took some Hutus as interahamwe and Tutsis as inkoranyi
and led them all together into Nvungwe forest where they were killed, This act struck
me as extremely ambiguous, particularly because the French took such a measure
without ever leading an Investigation.

The accusation that French soldiers took some people into the Nyungwe forest was
repeated by virtually all the prisoners interviewed for this book. “The French cannot
deny that they disposed of people in Nyungwe forest,” said Kanyarutoki. Like
Bakundukize, he said both Hutus and Tutsis were taken to Nyungwe.

They were transported by airplane to Nyungwe forest. This happened throughout
Gikongoro. It was enough to tell the French that this or that individual was planning
to collaborate with the inkotamyi. The worst affected were strangers 10 our commune
whao had a physical likeness to Tutsis. The population labelled them fnkofaryi.

Kanyarutoki gave an example of a fellow prisoner, Félicien Siborurema, calling him
“a Hutu escapee.”™

To the French it didn’t matter that he was an interahamwe. The important thing for
them was the label inkoranyi. The worst thing for the Tutsis 1s that they were
confused with the inkoranyi, cspecially if they were male. That’s why many were
taken to the Nyungwe forest.

According to Siborurema, the French arrested him at Murambi, where he had gone to
sell biscuits and bread to Tutsi survivors and [utu refugees, whose presence he saw
as an “excellent business opportunity.”™

One of the soldiers saw me, and, with a finger on the trigger, said: “Put your hands
up!™ [ couldn’t get very far in cxplaining to the soldiers why [ was there, because [
couldn’t speak French.

After taking him home to check for guns, he said they brought him back to Muramba.

I was taken to a room where there were other prisoners. They beat us up and kicked
us with their boots. It left me with scars on my legs. We were tied up. They threw
questions at us. | think there were both Hutus and Tutsis, all mixed up. That's why
they kept repeating: “Hutus, Tutsis, inkotamy?” Their questions really confused us.
We couldn’t figure out exactly what they were asking us.

Stborurema sard that he was then taken to Nyungwe forest
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Lhey piled us into a big helicopter. We still had our hands tied together, and were
guarded by well-armed soldiers the whole time. They flew us over the hills of
Gikongoro until we were over Nyungwe forest. The plane approached an area thick
with brush. When we were about three mctres from the brush, in the middle of dense
forest, they opened the door of the helicopter and threw us out onto the around. There
were about five of us. The cords binding me had loosened up enough by then so that |
could release myself, after being thrown from the helicopter.

As Siborurema knew the forest well, he was able to make his way out of Nyungwe
and buck to his home in Kibirizi sector.

He pointed out other consequences of the Operation Turquoise,

Their presence provided the interahamwe with the opportunity to run to Congo, and
to destroy valuable infrastructure,

Several others also spoke of the effects of Operation Turquoise on the refugee
movement towards the Congo. Kanyarutoki said he was aware of g French “campaign
to persuade us to abandon Rwanda™ towards the end of July.

They went around cverywhere telling us that the mkotanyi were coming to sht our
throats. They showed us this through sign language.

The French played a huge part 1 the evacuation of leaders and a large number of
intershamwe who were at the head of the massacres of Tutsis in the region. They
came to transport our bourgmestre and others. They took them to the Congo. This
happened when the inkotanyi had reached the western shores of Mwogo river,

Bakundukize’s wife was among those convinced to move away.

I criticize the French for (rying (o persuade people o get out of Rwanda. In that
regard, they sang the same song as the dbatabazi [interim] government, saying that
the inkotanyi were going 1o kill evervone. | was there myscll when all this was
happening and heard this with my own ears. Their propaganda led my wife to leave
me and go to Congo.

When he met the soldiers, David Rwamihigo, a farmer from Gasaka, was given a
warning that makes it easy to understand the mass exodus to Congo.

1 saw the French travelling around in their vehicles, wearing military garb. They were
in the habit of stopping at Nzega, about one kilometre from ¢ nkongoro town on the
road leading towards Cyangugu. They liked to find out the cthnicity of people by
asking: “Hutu or Tutsi?” while touching the person on the nose. When they were told
that someone was Hutu, they would reply: “The Tutsis are gomng to cut yvour throats.™

In this context, it is not surprising that the survivors in Murambi and elsewhere in
Zone Turquoise chose to leave Gikongoro for Maraba in Butare when they were
finally given a choice in August 1994,
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“SURVIVAL IN EXTREME SOLITUDE”

Life for survivors, in Gikongoro and elsewhere, 1s a protracted battle to overcome —or
at least to come to terms with—the hurt in their hearts, the incomprehension in their
minds and a deep sense of alienation. linmense personal losses are compounded by
the virtual destruction of their wider community. Every single survivor interviewed by
African Rights for this book and for many other publications, speaks of being
overwhelmed by loneliness, living with a permanent sense of emptiness. The death of
immediate family members, relatives in the extended family, friends, classmates,
colleagues and familiar faces cvokes painful memories. It also raises profound
questions about their own survival, their society and surroundings, about God,
religion, life and death.

They are constanily mourmning the immense human toll, but their other grievances are
broad-ranging, and they cut deep. The theft of property and the destruction of their
houses threw most of them, especially those in rural communities, into sudden
poverty and took away the anchor of a family home. Fear of encountering former
neighbours can still be a powerful deterrent in cultivating inherited land, Justice is
seen as a requisite for genume healing, but survivors who seck to bring perpetrators to
justice feel targeted, and sometimes intimidated into silence, particularly in
Gikongoro,

Unlike other victims of state-orchestrated genocidal violence, survivors in Rwanda
live in unique circumstances in that they must mingle with, and dwell next door to,
the people who so recently sought to eradicate them. This introduces layers of
complexity and sensitivity in their lives which are not easy to comprehend or
discntangle. The genocide has made it impossible for survivors to sociahze within the
communities to which they previously belonged. They live among so many who
either participated in the killings, are related to the perpetrators or who are unwilling
to denounce them and to tell the survivors how their relatives died and where their
bodies were discarded.

“My Life After the Genocide Gets Worse as Time Passes”

Given the enormity of the tragedy that has befallen them. it is inevitable. and
understandable, that most of them find it difficult to sum up the consequences of the
genocide. They often paused before they said anything: others replied that they did
not know where to begin. But most agree that with time, the breadth and depth of their
bereavement becomes even more apparent. Adults, as well as youngsters, say that
with the passage of years, their tenacity, resilience and morale is crumbling, not
improving.

Hildegarde Kabagwira identified 1solation and poverty among the most important
consequences of the genocide.
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T am decply affected by the fact that we were abandoned, that we didn’t have anyvone
to go to for help. Personally, my lile after the genocide gels worse as time passes,
nstead of getting better,

Déo Nsengiyumva agrees.

In the years since the genocide, the lives of survivors have deteriorated considerably.
Even those who tried to rebuild their lives are far from where they were before the
genocide.

Emmanuel Hangari’s two-year-uld son is his link to the future. Of the people who
were part of his past, there is hardly anyone left.

Of a family of more than ten. only my little sister and I are left. My father had two
wives and the children of the second were all killed.

The fabric of his life is dominated by a profound feeling of loneliness, out of which
comes a deep sense of insecurity.

Post-genocide life has been very tough for me. Instead of getting better, from time to
time my life is getting worse. The hardest part about the genocide for me is the
overwhelming msecurity that | cannot articulate, | feel terribly alone. It's because I no
longer felt safe that T went to live in the complex of homes for survivors.

Simon Mutangana said he did not know “how to explain the life of a SUrvIvor in
Gikongoro because it is so terrible.”

Between my wifc and myself, we lost about 150 members of our extended family in
Murambi. Two of our children, two daughters aged six and four, died at Murambi;
only the child my wife was carrying on her back survived. Two of my braothers were
also killed in Murambi_

His wife, Annonciata Muhayimana, fecls the genocide robbed her of her family. as
well as another source of solace— her faith. She tumed away from her former church
because she could not find there sympathetic and understanding leadership.

During the period that followed the genocide, 1 didn't go back to church to pray. |
didn’t even pray at home. 1 had given up on everything. Before the genocide, I was a
follower of the Episcopal Church and now I am a Pentecostal Christian. At that lime,
I couldn’t follow the pastors’ sermons and my heart was stil] very fragile. The pastors
clamed that the genocide of the Tutsis was caused by their superiority complex and
their arrogance! 1 could not stand such teachings. Personally, the genocide turned my
life upside down because il took my children, my brothers, sisters and friends.




«Others Have Families They Can Turn to”

1t would be difficult to overestimate the importance of social networks in sustaining
individuals in countries like Rwanda where State provision for health and social
services is limited and employment opportunities are scarce. For most people
Africa, the cxtended family is an economic lifeline, as well as the most essential and
reliable form of social security. The death of most of the people they knew and grew
up with has deprived survivors of the support networks that are indispensable in any
society. When they look for jobs, fall ill, need to borrow money or require assistance
in finding a home or a place in school for their children and dependants, most have
no-one to turn to. The absence of family is a tragedy with incalculable consequences.
The family is not only a pool of people bound together by ties of blood, love,
3 affection and familiarity, but it 15 also a source of practical assistance and protection.
! In a society that remains overwhelmingly rural, it is also an essential source of labour.

Marie Mujawimana admitted that she has tried to end her life a number of times and 1s
more focused on dying than on hving.

[ live alone, with no children, no grandchildren, nothing. Nothing at all now. I'm
alone at home and have no-one to tum to for help in my everyday chores. 1 live like
the maid who must do evervilung. The families near me send me a child mn the
evemings to spend the night with me; but that’s just to keep me company for the mght.
Sometimes [ regret that 1 survived the genocide. | bave made numerous swicide
attempts. There are so many problems that | can’t count them all. We have been left
to die of sorrow.

Not a day goes by, said Alphonsine Mukaremera, “that T don’t think about my family,
friends and the people who lived near us who didn’t make 1£.”

Their bereavement 1s brought home to the survivors on social occasions, Because
people interacted as units— cither as couples or as families—it 1s not casy to re-invent
oneself to socialize on one’s own, or to find joy in gatherings which simply underline
the extent to which family and frniends are no longer there. Déo finds that weekends,
Christmas, New Year, birthdays and especially weddings, are often filled with
empliness.

The genocide decimated my family, close and distant. All my belongings were erther
taken away or damaged. At home, 'm with my wife, my two children and my little
sister who farms.

During festive occasions, instead of being happy, we ind ourselves jsolated and
feeling sad. For me, 1t 15 particularly at times like these that I notice the void created
by the penocide; when 1 [eel that the people T loved most are not here. We think not
only about their absence, but particularly about the manner in which they left us. Asa

result, the celebration no longer has meaning for me.

Emmanuel decided not to get married in Gikongoro and instead went to Nyanza in
Butare.

I couldn’t hind anyone to perform the ceremony here in Gikongoro. At least in
MNyanza there were some acquaintances of my aunt on my father’s side.
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One of the most tragic outcomes of the bloadshed at M urambi, and maore generally of
the genocide, is the extent to which future generations were extinguished. Knowing
how testing he finds his own sttuation, Simon Just cannot imagine the bleak outlook
for people who have lost all their offspring.

You find old women who are completely alone in this world, without children or
grandchildren. At leas we, who are still young and have strength, can make 2 living.

One of the women Simen might have had in mind is Bélie Mukandamage who has
been a widow since 1960, but said that she “only felt the effects afier the 1994
genocide.” Helped by her famly, she was able 1o bring up and educate her children.
The youngest had completed secondary school and his siblings earned their living,
one through trade and another by driving a taxi mota. Her children gave her what she
needed and she had every reason to look forward to a comfortable old age.

Just when | was beginning to fecl the reljef of leaning on my children, the genocide
took them from me, How can L today, cope with being a widow? My youngest son
had just gotten married and his wife, cight monihs pregnant, was killed. We live from
day to day.

Vital Twagirayezu, 59, is fortunate in that most of his nine children, who waited out
the genocide at the home of their Hutu matemal grandparen ts, were still alive in July
1994. But he can’t put out of his mind his last words with his 18-vear-old daughter,
Francine Uwihoreye, who had accompanied him to Murambi. A French Caritas
worker at the bishopric, where Vital was an employee, evacuated him the day before
the massacres. Rut his daughter chose to remain behind because, he said, “she didn't
know which one of us mi ght survive,”

Before leaving she told me this: “Go. If you die, perhaps 1 will live. And if we are
exterminated here, then maybe you will live " My daughter’s words stil] haunt me
and I regret the fact that 1 lefi her in the camp that day.

The following might, Vital heard the “roar of gunfire until dawn.” His daughter was
among the victims. And from the bishopric, he saw the bulldozer pass by on its way 1o
Murambi to bury the bodies. When Vital’s thoughts tum to Francine, as they so often
do, he thinks of her as someone who had Lt up his life and filled him with fatherly
pride.

Out of all those 1 Tost during the genocide, my daughter is the one who is most ofien
on my mind. I loved her so much; she had grown up and she was going to do me the
honour of having & dowry for her marriage.

Many who expericnced the genocide as children have had to grow up and begin their
own families without the help and guidance of elder kin. Julienne Umugwaneza was
16 when most of her family died at Murambi, but was reumted with her two younger
sisters in Maraba. Two weeks later, their materna) uncle took them with him to Kigal
They lived there unti] 1997, but aware of the pressure on the family who had taken in
many other orphans, they retumned to Gikongoro, Eventually, Julienne set up home
with a soldier in Gasarenda and had three children with him: they later separated. The
oldest of her children is aged eight. In addition to her own children, Julienne s
looking afier her two sisters who are attending secondary school. Their fees are paid
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by the FARG, but she must meet all their expenses and tries to do so from the Income
from her family’s fields.

I must, somechow, guarantee their education because there is no left from our family
to help out. These are troubles 1 share with many other genocide survivors. We s,
for better or worse, ensure our own survival in extreme solitude. Others have families
they can turn to n times of need, but we are condemned to live this way,

The range of problems experienced by widows means that they talk little of their true
grict at the passing of their husbands. Most live with the added sorrow of the death of
children, parents, or, in some cases, entire families. Without the benefit of being able
to depend on close relations, their problems appear insunmountable. Poor women
living in rural areas like Gikongoro are especially affected,

The abruptness of the genocide means that most widows had little preparation for the
multiple roles they were suddenly called upon to play and the help they had to provide
for their children, or the survivors of their own families and in-laws. For women
living i rural areas, used Lo seeing their husbands handle their money, deal with focal
officials and bureaucracy in general, the genocide has brought about a radical shift in
their entire life.

Hildegarde must contend simultaneously with the death of her husband and mournng
the three children she did not have the chance to see grow up, as well as the emotional
needs of her son, Darius, bom in September 1994

I have many family responsibilities which T used to share with my hushand but which
[ must now take on alone. I can’t put into words what [ feel about losing my husband,
I feel I'm carrying a huge weight, but T don’t know how to explain it, It’s hard to put
into words. It is not just for my husband, but also for my children. T will never be able
to understand or reconcile mysclf with the death of my children.

My hushand’s family has left me to fend for mysclf. There arc members of his Family
who were oulside the country during the genocide, but no-one has ever even come to
see the son he left behind. We sometimes meet in the street, but Darius, my S0,
doesn’t even recognize them,

The mmperative of answering their children’s constant questions about what happencd
to their fathers and siblings, and why, makes it impossible for widows (o shut the door
to the past. Hildegarde repeatedly finds herself vainly trying to make 12-year-old
Darius comprehend the circumstances in which his father died,

My child never knew his father, nor his older brothers and gister, other than mn a
photo. Since he saw the photo. he always tells me that he knew he had brothers and
he asks where they have gone. When he sees my brother’s children he asks why they
have a father when he doesn’t. When [ told him they were killed during the genocide,
he didn’t understand.

“My son asks me why God let his father and older brothers and sister die:
“What had they done?” he asks me.”
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He asks a lot of questions. He even asks about how other members of the family, like
his aunts. died because he has heard other children saying that they are going to their
aunt’s home,

Hildegarde is glad that her brother is nearby and can provide her son not only with
affection, but with the disci plme that she feels he needs.

Somctimes he also takes advantage of my weakness and tries to be disobedient, and
then I have to call on my brother to play the part of his father. Children sometimes
need discipline from their fathers. Without it. they might tum into delinguents. When
he asks me lots of questions about his father and brothers I make him slow down
because I feel overwhelmed and 1 don’t have the answers o give him. I try to let him
know everything that happened. But either he doesn’t want (o understand, or he just
can't.

For young women in particular, the sudden death of husbands in the prime of life was
50 unexpected that nothing had prepared them for it, psychologically or economically.
Al the age 24, Valérie Mukamana lost a partner whom she feels she can never replace.
In his absence, she has become the head of 4 lamily and the sole bread-winner. But
with her new responsibilitics comes chronic anxiety about the future.

The conseguences of the genocide are manifold. The greatest burden to me is the fact
that T became a widow at such an carly age. I'm alone with no backing from any
relatives whatsoever. Being a widow torments me: I have no internal security. Can
you imagine a life without a partner, nor a sister or a brother? Becoming a widow has
changed my life dramatically after the genocide. When 1 stil] had my husband, I never
worried about the heavy family responsibilities; he dealt with thase. Today, when 1
getill, 1 start thinking: “How will we make it during my illness?" | wonder who will
step in to help with our everyday needs? 1 don't ever think of remarrving: I'm stil]
haunted by the beautiful memories of my husband. I also don’t want my child to be
raised by someone who’s not his own father.

Like Hildegarde, Valérie is faced with a constant barrage of questions from her son
which keeps the genocide at the forefront of her mind,

My child is already in primary school. Ever since he started school, he’s been asking
questions about his father; his name, where he went... T told him everything and he
pretends to understand. But the next day he'll ask the VETY Sarme questions.

With the death of her hushand, Anastase Ruzindana, Bernadette Mukamugenzi had no
choice but to find work quickly. Ironically, her job as a “mother” at the SOS
children’s home, which she started in November 1994, is the reason why she cannot
hve with her only surviving son, Patrick.

My daughter, Jocelyn, who was five, and my son, Eric, five, were killed. Patrick, my
only remaining child today. lives with my little sister because here, mothers aren't
allowed to live with their children. I started work when he was just eight months old.
Until just recently, he didn’t see me as his mother and I can see why: he haso’t had
his mother by his side since his childhood, This whole situation makes me really sad.
IHfind myself faced with a dilemma that T don’t know how to resolve. If I leave work,
who will look after my child now or in the future? 11 | stay in my job, I deprive him of
the crucial presence of his mother in his life. T feel ternible that T don’t live with my
child, and that he must get by without the affection of his moiher, one of the only
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family members left to him. For the moment, my mind goes around in circles. But 1
think I need to just take things as they come.

g Though Bernadette’s son has no memories of the massacre at Murambi, its

d A : : MRS .
Iz consequences for his family life have an acute psychological impact on him.
-,1 Patrick thinks that both his parents died and often asks me if 1 knew them. 1 don’t

= Lnow where he heard such untrue things; perhaps because he doesn’t see cither of

: them. When we are together, | try to make him understand that 'm his mother and
then he staris to believe it. He often tells me that it breaks his heart to hear the others
have someone to call mum and dad while he doesn’t have any. In his exercises with a
psychologist, his drawings were of murderers killing his dad. He always asks me to
show him his father’s photo.

“The Biggest Problem is Poverty”

Like rural populations in poor countrics the world over, poverty defines the lives of
Rwandese people living in the rural regions, and they comprise the overwhelming
majority of the population. For survivors, this common lack of financial resources 13
compounded by the virtual annihilation of their families, ill health from the injunes
they sustained in 1994, psychological distress, social isolation, the destruction of their
homes, the slaughter of their livestock and the theft of their belongings.

In a genocide which targeted men in their prime in particular, and which left so many
of the survivors physically handicapped, the cconomic implications of the
disappearance of this agricultural labour force is central to understanding the enduring
poverty of survivors in the countryside.

The demise of Marie Mujawimana's family began in 1963, when some relatives were
Lilled and others went into exile. Most of the others, including all her children save
one daughter, died i 1994, One brother returned from exile but, living in Umutara,
they hardly see each other. Health problems proh bit her from seeking paid labour and
anxiecty discourages her from working the land of her late husband.

The higgest problem is poverly. [ lead a miserable life. | have no family, neither on
my side nor on that of my husband’s.

Our house was destroyed and | can't set foot in il anymore; so | can’t go and cultivate
my husband’s plot of land. | have been living in a house which belongs to the State
and I"ve heen asked to give it hack. I've started renting another. FARG paid my rent
for four months. After that, T don’t know where I'll go. The rent is 1,000 francs per
month. Even if 1 can rent it myself, it leaks because the roof tiles are [ull of holes.
When it rains, T get as wet as 1f I were outside.

Given the aim of genocide—the physical clunination of a people—the planners in
1994 encouraged the Hutu people to erase any and cvery trace of Tutsis in Rwanda.
Among other destructive acts, this mvolved the demolition of their homes and
husinesses. But in urging people to tear them down, there was, of course, another
motive, that is the promise of economic rewards as a bribe to engage as much of the
population as possible mn the massacres. And no reward was as valuable, n rural
Rwanda, as the prospect of usurping the land of Tutsis. The houses were first stripped
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bare of belongings, then parts of the structure were carted off, such as tiles, windows
and doors, after which most were either totally, or partially, destroyed. “Here n
Gikongoro”, said Emmanuel H angarl, “it’s rare to find a Tutsi house: they were all
razed to the ground even before their owners were killed.”

For a long time afterwards, most survivors in the countryside lived in makeshift
camps, including Emmanuel who stayed in a camp set up in Gikongoro by the Insh
NGO, Trocaire. Afterwards, many occupied the houses of Hutu refu gees abroad. The
occupation of their houses was the subject of intense and bitter controversy for many
years. But both nationally and internationally, homelessness was represented as a
problem which affected the refugees who fled Rwanda in the aftermath of the
genocide; the arguments rarely took into account the situation of survivors.

‘The fact that her former home no longer exists is hard for Bernadette Mukamugenzi 1o
accept. But what hurts her the most is seeing the evidence that parts of it were used to
improve the houses of the people responstble for the genocide.

“The bricks from the walls of our house were used to build those of our
executioners.™

I still sce them today, but I am powerless to react the way T would like to.

Over the past decade, houses have been constructed for survivors, both by the
government and a range of international NGOs. But it is evident from the testimonies
below, and from Afirican Rights ' research and visits around the country, the condition
of these houses is a constant source of anxiety. Vital is unemployed and on top of that,
he and his family are crowded into accommodation that he considers unsatisfactory.

We live in an estate where the houses aren’t sturdy at all; we think that one day
they’ll collapse. We only have one room; there’s no annex. And when it rains, it
serves both as a bedroom and kitchen. It gets full of smoke and my walls have tumed
black because of the wood smoke from the cooking.

Deo 1s working and has a young family, but had few kind words to say about the state
of the structures in the compound built for survivors where he lives.

They were built in adobe style with a dirt surface that has started to disintegrate, the
doors inside do not close, and they do not meet up correctly.

Féhicité Nyiranzage did not stay there for long because she found the location too far
from her fields.

1 didn’t have any means and my five children had been killed: 1 had only one
daughter left. My daughter and T don’t know how to do anything except to farm the
land. Tdecided to retumn to my home.

She 1s among the few fortunate to be again living in her former residence.

An NGO helped me to rebuild my house which had been completely torn down by
the killers. 1also used the money that | had received as compensation for my cattle.
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With only her daughter to share her hife, she has lost much of her mouvation to
persevere at farming.

Although my will to work is gone from time to time, my daughter can still farm the
ficlds

“I Haven’t Been Able to Continue with my Studies”

Many survivors, both children and their parents or guardians, sce education as the
only hope for a brighter and more productive future, the best chanee to give meaning
and order to their hives. Many are prepared to attend classes although they are hungry
or lack any of the necessary equipment, cluding notebooks and pens. Families often
make considerable sacrifices to finance the education of their children; some young
orphans have even left school themselves in order to pay the fees of their younger
siblings.

Making sure that her son, aged twelve, has options in life and the confidence to
pursue those choices i1s Hildegarde's priority. She herself had completed secondary
school before 1994 and did not have the means to go for further studies. She worked
asa wvet,

I tell myself that my child mustn’t go down the same road. I do my best to help him
study because that is the only assurance for the future.

She was not employed at the time of the interview, and the obligation of paying
25,000 Francs per term for her son was weighing on her mind.

For young survivors, attending school invariably means overcoming crippling
cconomic problems, disability or ill-health and facing up to haunting memories,
prejudice, and lonelingss. Sometimes the obstacles are msurmountable. Grice
Mukantarindwa was only 19 when she decided to go to Murambi alone. Her parents
and seven of her siblings were killed 1n their home. From Murambi, she went to
Maraba and in Qctober 1994 travelled to Kigali to live with her father’s cousin. She
has one brother left, but she sees little of him as he 1s a soldier and lives i a military
camp.

| haven’t been able to persevere in my studies. 1 get chronic headaches and 1 cannot
concentrate. The doctors have told me T can’t go on with my studics. The machete
blow has affected my head.

| tried to take some very short courses in catering and tounsm, but T can’t get a job
because [ don’t speak French or English. [ thought about leaming Englich, but T can’t
get any funding. The FARG won’t pay for that type of course.

Francine Mutuyimana, then 11 and now 24, had been living with her maternal uncle
and his family prior to 1994, She misses their love, reflected in the fact that they cared
enough to invest in her education. Her stepfather was only willing to fund her untl
her fifth year of secondary school. With her aunt’s help, she went to Kigah and
learned to sew She also obtained papers to show her status as a sarvivor and
approached the FTARG for assistance.

159

Midrgllreyy s Fayppr s rfda1 ey 2era1 0 sa11 052 TR0 s M Mo 1005007 T0 MCO% 7407509 MJEITEFPEPTI¥vY 1S 91T e I & FSYTaAaYsSrITe




Some of the committee members said my mother’s husband was sufficiently well off
to pay my school fees.

Having to abandon her dreams and ambitions is a constant reminder of the effects of
the genocide.

The genocide took away people who were so dear to me. I was hwing with my uncle,
Munderere. They were like my parents. They gave me dignity and an edycation. It
was a good, united family who loved me like their own child. Losing them has had
huge repercussions on my life. 1 was even diagnosed as fraumatized, but for the
moment I'm okay. They told me that 1 would spend my nights recounting stories from
the massacres in Murambi. When 1 compare my life from before the genocide and
afterwards, it makes me ill. With pravers, I'm able to cope. Today. the burden of the
genocide doesn’t feel as heavy as it used to, particularly from a moral perspective.
Obviously, | still have painful memories, but I'm holding it together.

Julienne Umugwaneza sacrificed her own education for the sake of her younger
sisters. Now, their fees are paid by FARG, but she must meet all their other expenscs
and tries to do so from the income of her family’s fields.

1 ended my schooling so | could dedicate myself to the future of my younger sisters.
1 had done the first year at secondary school in 1995 and T did well. But I couldn’t
continue because at that ime FARG hadn’t been set up. | don’t want my younges
sisters to miss out on their education as 1 did. Two of them are in sccondary school
and their fees are paid by the FARG which also gives them some of their school
materials. The youngest is in the sixth year at primary school. For everything else, 1
gct by on the income from my family’s fields,

Lucky to find a caring guardian, Didacienne was able to complete secondary school
and has a job which allows her to meet her basic needs. She regrets that her salary
does not allow her to pursue further education, but she considers herself fortunate
compared to other survivors.

| can't bear to hear others saying that they are going to see their parents as it makes
me think of mine. 1 often think of all that they were and all that they would have been
for me. And yet 1 had the luck to live with a good guardian afier the genocide.

FARG provided all of her school fees, but the payments were often late and she, along
with other survivors were then excluded from classes.

When that happened, | thought immediately of my parents who would have paid the
fees on ime.

When she looks at other genocide orphans her age, Didacienne counts her blessings.

Many have become cleaners; others are prostitutes in order to find money and are
dying of AIDS.

But she is also ambitious and aware of the “long road to travel.”

I would like to go on to higher education, but 1 don’t have the money and FARG 13
not in a position to pay for a large number of students.
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«] Don’t Know if I Have AIDS”

i

Rape was widespread during the 1994 genocide in Rwanda? Some women were
pregnant when raped and others became pregnant as a result. Many of them were
subject to repeated assaults. Moreover, rape was invariably one element 1n a
succession of traumatic episodes, including other forms of abuse, terror, betrayal,
bereavement and displacement. Rapists frequently insisted that they were “saving”
women by taking them as “wives.” Some killers considered rape a prefound torture
and left women alive so they would endure pain and humiliation.

bl bbbt o

: Delphine, Léocadie and Rosette® were all sexually violated in the environs of
Murambi and now lead uniquely troubled lives. As intended by the men who raped
them, they often feel as though survival is its own form of torture, especially with the
prospect that they may have contracted HIV/AIDS. They are deeply traumatized and
they may well be clinically depressed.

Tt is hard for 28 year-old Delphine to convey the horror and extreme humihation of
being raped while heavily pregnant and in the presence of both her husband and her
father-in-law. Like other victims of genocide rape, Delphine is aware that she may
have contracted HIV/AIDS. but she is hesitant to take the test. Preoccupied with the
need to secure a home of her own and employment, she is in the dark about her HIV
status.

I had prolonged periods that came far too close together. 1 went for treatment but 1t
didn’t help. | was told 10 go to a hospital in Kagali, the CHE. but T couldn’t get a
ticket to travel there. T don't know if T have AIDS; [ haven™t been tested.

My sewing machines were all snatched up during the genocide. Afterwards, 1 got
some temporary work and bought another, but because [ was renting a house, at one
point T couldn’t pay the rent and the Jandlord seized my machine. He has since died,
but 1 don't know where to find it anymore. 1 haven’t been able to bring to justice the
people who raped me, but 1 denounced those who massacred the Tutsis in Murambi.
Ohne was condemned to death, but T don’t know the fate of the others.

When one of the five men who raped her pounded his massue mto Léocadie’s leg, all
she asked of God was to let her die. But, she said: “Here 1 am, still alive.” Being here
involves coping with a permanent injury to her leg.

Each day 1 go to the hospital for my leg to be treated, There is a doctor who told me
that 1 must do this regularly to avoid paralysis.

1 have never really wanted to recount this story. I used to ask mysell> “What good

does it do?’ The men who violated me have not been prosecuted because | don't
know who they are.

But she later decided to speak out.

W See Rwanda: Broken Bodies, Torn Spirits; Living With Genocide, Rape and HIVIAIDS, Afrcan
Rights, 2004.
3 Al three names are pseudonymis,
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“I feel I should speak so that the horrors of what happened in and around
Murambi are communicated to humanity.”

[éocadie’s reluctance to know if she is HIV positive stems mainly from the sense of
powerlessness she feels in relation to all aspects of her life, and particularly with
regard to HIV/AIDS.

Right up to the present minute I'm reluctant to get tested for HIV/ATDS. T wonder
what would happen to me if T found myself to be HI V-positive? That’s what makes
me stay as I am. 1 feel strong. Except for my leg, which sometimes hurts me. [ have
never had any illnesses that makes me think that 1 rnight be infected.

The mdignity of the rape has changed her attitude to men.

Mere than anything, they dishonoured me, That's why I have never wanted to
remarry, | hale men.

Rosette feels ill at ease about the circumstances in which her two children were
concerved and born. She was raped before the genocide, and had her first child as a
result. The second child was conceived during the genocide after she had been taken
by force by a militiaman who is now in prison, accused of genocide crimes.

This history makes me feel quite sick now. Imagine living with. and having a child,
with a génocidaire, It's very painful for me, but unfortunately 1 can’t tum back the
clock,

Saying that she had become “mentally unstable”™ after the genocide, she remembers
little about the father of her second child.

I'm told that 1 lived with a man, the father of my younger child. but I don’t recall
anything about it and don’t know how it happened,

We live by farming and with the help of my older brother. I feel like I am incapable
of doing anything: I still have problems with my head because of the beatings.

Rosette 1s undergoing treatment paid for by the FARG and hopes that the Fund will be
able to send her to South Africa for more intensive care.

For about a month, Yvette lived with a man who offered her protection in exchange
for sexual favours. Her husband, a fellow survivor, knows the choices she faced and

has given her the understandin g she needed.

My only luck 15 that my husband has heen gentle with me. He has been able to bear
everything I lived through during the genocide.,
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“I Haven’t Been Able to Bury Anyone in My Family”

For thousands of survivors, Rwanda has become 1 country of nameless mass graves
into which the bodies of their loved ones fell in heaps. The failure to find the remains
of relatives makes it difficult to grieve them properly. They have been burned, washed

Emmanuel Hangari provided a proper burial for only two members of his family—
his father and his younger brother, Rusatira. Because he has not recovered the bodies
of the others, he kept hoping, for many years, that he would find them alive. Only
recently has he come to accept the fact of their death. !

%% down rivers, dumped and then eaten by dogs and crows, left to rot in toilets or buried
3 anonymously in mass graves. At the same time, and for inany years, survivors in the
g countryside kept stumbling upon skulls and bones. This lack of respect for the dead is
3 an additional source of psychological distress. Not knowing where or how their
parents, children, husbands, wives, siblings, grandparents and other relatives were
2 killed makes it impossible to close their relationship with the person who has passed
3 away. Survivors who were not with their families when they died find it hard to
: accept their death. As a result, looking for their remains takes on an added urgency.

Déo found only the remains of a paternal aunt and wishes that he could give her a
more calm resting place.

The grave in which we put her bones, near the Gasaks primary school, is very poorly
maimtained. There is no monument and children play on top of the tomb during recess
because it’s located next to their playing fields.

Hildegarde was at {irst confused by the conflicting accounts about the exact
circumstances in which her husband, Kalisa, dicd. She and her in-laws were getting
ready to disiter what they believed was his body, in a latrine in Cyanika when the
bourgmestre of commune Karama, without warning them, had all the bodies in
Cyanika dug up. He invited Hildegarde and her in-laws to attend the ceremony

The body of Kalisa was put amongst the others and | couldn’t identify him so he was
buried in a communal grave with the oihers. That at least is what T iry to believe, as 1
don’t know for sure that his was amongst those bodics. That upset me a lot as I would
have liked to have a good memorial for him, which would have been also a gesture in
honour of the members of my family who were victims of the genocide,

It 15 too painful, understandably, for Hildegarde, to visit the remains which have been
preserved and are part of the memorial at Murambi.

I don’t like going to memonial ceremonies for the victims, especially not in Murambi, |

because when [ sce the bones of children, I tell myself that they are my children and |
cry a lot. Even just seeing photos of children at Gisozi or children playing makes me |

cry.

Bemadette similarly struggles with the anonymuly of so many bones: any of them
could belong to her late relatives.

Whenever ! see bones, | always imagine that L am seeing those of my own relatives,
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Didacienne’s parents, two younger brothers. a younger sister and her grandparents
died at Murambs. Her grandparents and sister were felled in front of her. She is
haunted by the fact that she has not been able to give any of them a dignified burial.

The people who were killed at Murambi were tossed in mass STAVES. SO0MmMe were
tound and buned; the others are still on the hills surrounding the school in Murambi.
No-one 15 sure they have buried their own relatives, but they tried to believe it to
avold torment. Personally, 1 condemn myself for not having buried my parcnts,
brothers and sisters. It is the one thing that I could have offered them and T have not
been able to do it. Sometimes, when I'm in bed, | dream of what happened to my
family, my [riends and cousins, | see my family again as they were before the
genocide... I often lose myself in thought and ask why God permitted such a horror,
Even today, 1 don’t understand it and have not been able to reconcile myself to the
genocide.

“We Are Still Living in Fear: We Really Need Justice”

The scale, speed and brutality with which genocide was accomplished in Rwanda—a
country lacking in the modemn infrastructure and technology of mass death—is a
tragic monument to the ability of a State to divide its people, severing bonds which
had intertwined people and communities for decades. In part, the killing machine
owed its efficiency to the direct involvement or tacit collusion of the victims
relatives, friends, neighbours and colleagues of its victims. The intimate nature of the
violence is perhaps its most shocking aspect. But it was vital to the success of the
genocide that the killers were closely acquainted with their victims. This betrayal has
robbed survivors of any sense of security. Their ability to trust even those closest to
them has, in many cases, been permanently destroyed. In Rwanda, survivors live next
door to the men and women who might have exposed them, refused them a helping
hand, tried to kill them or whose relatives tortured and then killed their loved ones.
These umique circumstances make it difficult to establish trust and the sense of
security necessary for confidence in the justice system.

With their overpowering sense of grievance, only justice holds out the prospect of a
measure of relief. Their preoccupation with justice is broad and their bitterness at its
limitations affects cvery aspect of their being. Given the degree of popular
participation in killing, raping and looting, the decimation of the Tutsi community, the
ties of blood and friendship between those who killed and those who could testify
against them, the exodus abroad of the planners, justice for the most part remains
elusive, particularly in Gikongoro where Tutsis were almost totally eliminated, and
the few survivors are, for the most part, destitute.

Both nationally and internationally, impunity for state-sponsored violence against
Tutsis was 1dentified as a major factor behind the genocide, the reason why
prosecutions were seen as deemed cssential to future peace. However, given the
unprecedented degree of popular participation in the killings, it was clear that no
Justice system has ever been so overburdened. And so in light of the huge and serious
challenges which Rwanda has faced since the end of the genocide—political,
economic and social—there have been long delays in the administration of Justice.
But what has caused particular anger among survivors is the initiation of a programme
n early 2003 1o release thousands of individuals.
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The perception of the lack of justice goes along way to explain why Falienne simisisd
up the lives of survivors in Gikongoro as “full of sorrow and pain.”

We have really lost hope in the justice system. Inadequate sentences arc handed down
and the génocidaires are freed. We don’t go to the courts to complain anymore
because that only exposes us even more. When you do, you find yourself in front of
people who look at you with a menacing stare when they are the ones that you are
supposed to address your grievances to. Quite a number of Gikongoro génocidaires
are arrested, put in prison for a month and released without even being tried.

=

3:_ Given how few they are, she emphasized the powerlessness of the survivors in
2 ensuring that perpetrators are arrested and prosecuted.

% We expect gacaca to produce some results, but we don’t have much hope. We have
doubis about the elected inyangamugaye® and there arc very few Tutsis lefi in our
3 region.

There are no more than ten survivors. So how can we influence anything? Duning the
elections for gacaca, survivors put themselves forward as candidates, but therc was
no way they could have been elected,

Simon also questioned the integrity of the eacaca judges, on whom the effectiveness
and {inal outcome of trials rely.

Justice in Gikongoro is really problematic and at the moment the decisions are made
over our heads. The génocidaires give money and are set free without even facing
trial. We made a big fuss to get some of the cases reviewed, but it was all in vain.
Lastly, there are a lot of génocidaires who are unjustly set free. In the gacaca
hearings, sometimes no-one comes, other times people come but no-one gives any
information. The number of survivors in this region is so small that when they go to
the gacaca trials, people can get at them very easily to make them lose their courage.
The imvangamugayo, who are responsible for passing judgment, are often themselves
under suspicion for what they did in 1994, Some took the victim's POSSESSI0N:,
Others have blood on their hands and the families of their vietims. still awalt justice
[rom these courts. But what justice can they, or their families, deliver?

In July 2006, Simon leamned from a visiting British journalist”, Jon Swamn of the
Sunday Trmes, that Emmanuel Nteziryayo, the bourgmestre of his commune,
Mudasomwa, was living in the UK. As detailed carlier, it was the turmoil in
Mudasomwa which triggered the exodus to Murambi. Simon gave him this message
for the British government and public.

We would be extremely relieved to learn that Nteziryayo has been arrested We are
very surpnised that countries in the West who are pushing for justice in Rwanda, and
who know what happened here, allow people like Nteziryayo 1o stay in their
COuntries.

* Mesning “men with infegnty”, these are the elected judges for the gocaca systems: Thousands were
relicved of their functions after damning evidence emerged about their own role in the genocide,

" Nieziryayo was arrested in the UK on 28 December 2006 and is awaiting hearmgs for extradition w
the LK.
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When they returned to Gikongoro, Simon and his wife, Annonciata, mitially lived in
Nzega, Gikongoro town, as they did not feel safe in Mudasomwa. They are settled
there now. But as Annonciata made clear, they are still not at ease.

If a thirty year refationship was destroved in a moment, how can trust and unity be
established in a little over ten vears? And especially when the people ltving all around
us don’t want to ¢xpose the reality of the genocide and won't help us when it comes
to justice.

Seraphine Mutegaraba, also from Mudasomwa, was the head of her local gacaca m
mid-2006. She was thinking of resigning her position

Here the people are not talking. And this makes me feel very discouraged. The key
planners should be in prison. Unfortunately, the leading architects of the genocide,
not only in Mudasomwa but elsewhere 1n Gikongors, men like Karamage,
Kamodoka, Biniga®, Ndabarinze and of course Nieziryavo, are all at iberty abroad,
This 1s very disheartening for everyone involved in gacaca here in Mudasomwa,

Hildegarde has no expectations when it COmes 1o justice.

As for the effects of the genocide, 1 sense them anew in the quest for justice. In this
domain, the results are very negative. In general, there is not much Jjustice, but in the
case of Gikongoro, there is a toral absence of justice,

S0 much so, she added, that she has put the pursuit of justice aside.

We have brought many accusations, we have a sufficient number of witness
statements, but for the moment we have stopped cverything because we are not
secing any results, I've testified against many génocidaires in Gikongoro, including
Bucyibaruta, Martin, alias Majambere, Gallican and others. The last two were freed
and Bucyibaruta lives in France.

“We are extremely demoralised by the injustice surrounding the genocide.”

1 ask myself this question: “What did the victims of the genocide do to he treated thig
way?” We don't think that we will see any changes taking place. I am sure that each
survivor is asking the same question. We feel hopeless. T don't see any sense in life—
I believe that if 1 didn’t have my child T would have put an end to my life. My
powerlessness in the face of the situation overwhelms me and I don’t know if I can
cope with it in the long term.

The frustration of seeing genocide suspects go free without due process makes Déo
despair. Because the genocide in Gikongoro was so comprehensive, the killers enjoy
mmpunity, he added, due to the success of their mission.

What troubles and gricves me is that the people who killed our loved ones are
liberated at anytime and anywhere, without trials. For cxample, 1 know that
Murwanashyaka killed Tutsis and wore their skulls on his belt. He was freed even
though he admitted that he could not name the Tulsis he killed because there were <o

“Damicn Biniga was the depuly-préfet in charge of the sous-préfecture of Munini in Gikongora in
1994, He began the massacres carly in his region and fent a hand in the Killings elsewhere m
Gikongoro, as well in Butare,
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many. Shouldn’t he be in the [irst category targeted by the presidential communigue?
Why was he freed? It's the same for a number of génocidaires from Gikongoro. Many

killers from Gikongoro are still free.

As only a steadfast commitment to shining a light on the truth can bridge the divide
hetween him and his neighbours, Déo has little hope of seeing harmony in Gikongoro.

I didn’t dare return to live in our family’s home, How can I live close to someone
whao, even today, doesa’t want to talk to me about the genocide? Our secunty
situation is very precarious. Those we have identified as génocidaires and their
families harass and insult us everywhere we go, saying that we are accusing them far
nothing because they will surely be released.

“In certain parts of Gikongoro, the entire Tutsi community was decimated.
There is no-one left to accuse the perpetrators.”
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Suzanne Uwamurera sees the pursuit of justice as an obligation to the victims, a way
of ensuring that they are remembered.

What shocks me the most since the end of the genocide is that our loved ones have
alrcady been forgotten; they have not been given justice. And we as survivors also
need 1o see justice. We fight for it every single day, but in vain. In Gikongoro, the
génocidaires are being released without due process when they haven’t even admitted
to their crimes.

Vital for one is wary of his surroundings and sceptical about gacaca.

Living side by side with our tormentors means we have a lot of problems. There is no
frust. We live in mutnal suspicion of one another. The people who assassinated my
brother's children have run away. With the gacaca trials going on, Idon’t feel secure.
And nor do other survivors and those willing to speak up.

Because she was only 11 in 1994, Didacienne was too young to deal with the issue of
justice. The people she saw killing her parents and siblings were arrested on the
testimony of other people. Now that she is older, she is holding back for other

rcasons.

| misht be assassinated. just like some of the survivors and witnesses in Gikongoro. I
also want to avoid plunging again into the history of the genocide so that I'm nol
traumatized by bad memories. If I testify against the perpetrators, 1 will have to
reopen old wounds, 1 feel guite sensitive and worry about developing mental

problems.

Constantly looking over his shoulder has undermined Emmanuel’s capacity to speak
out and provide vital information to influence convictions. Yet, as ime passes, scelng
perpetiators go unpunished renews his trauma,

All those who have been imprisoned in connection with the Murambi massacres think
that I'm the causc of their imprisonment. For example, when a certain Martin
Hategekimana, known as Majyambere, was {reed, he wrote i a newspaper thal we
had been imprisoning people for nothing. When | got to work that morning, everyonc
was reading that newspaper and fooked at me suspiciously.
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There is no hope for the future here in G ikongoro, The survivors are massacred and
we are now reluctant lo give evidence. Tt is we who are scared of the génocidaires,
and who no loneer have the courage 10 denounce them, instead of them being
ashamed about what they have done to us, [t makes us very sad. They have influcnce
at all levels in the country and we are obliged 10 bend to their will. In the days to
corme yvou will find us traumatized. not only by what we lived through vesterday, but
by what 15 going on today.

What comes across clearly in all the festimonies s the extent to which nnpunity for

genocide crimes and the insecurity that is the backdrop of their lives are closely

intertwined.
The génocidaires have been freed. Their presence scares me a great deal and torures
me psychologically, 1 cannot handle it. The survivor has become a burden
everywhere he goes and is the object of mistrust, We can’t have confidence in the
ndividuals who took our loved ones from ws. They constitute obstacles for us in
everything we do. With me it's even worse, they hold a gnudge against me because |
had the executioners from these areas imprisoned. The justice meted out in
Gikongoro came in for strong criticism even before the rcleases began in 2003,

Uncertainty is a permanent feature of Valéric Mukamunana’s life.

We still hve alongside the families of the génocidaires who look at us with AngTy £yCcs
because their relatives are in detention because of us. When we pass by their homes,
they hurl insults afler us, saying that we’re going to try and get even more people
Jailed. When we reach the end of a day, we aren’t sure that we'll still make it to the
next. We live with this constant uncertainty.

Bemadette Mukamugenzi is similarly isolated.

I don’t get on well with the inhabitants of my area because | denounced their parents,
their brothers or their friends.

Euphrasie Nyiranzikwesa, in her mid-seventies, has been left to face old age alone—
her husband, children and grandchildren all died in 1994; they were either killed at
Murambi or on their way there. She nsed to live in Mudasomwa. She and three other
elderly women stayed in the home of a man who, she said. “left us in his house while
he went to kill other Tutsis”. She is worried by prisoner releases associated with the
gacaca trials and, although she “has nothing left to save,” she expressed concern for
the younger generation.

When I see what's happening with gacaca, 1 wonder if we will ever see justice: So
many of the invangamugayo were involved, directly or mndirectly, in the genocide,
They tell thesc of us in the countryside, without any ambiguity, that the only
consequence of gacaca is the release of Hutus imprisoned for the crime of genocide,
and that they will wipe us out, once and for all.

Euphrasie lives on her own, and relies on younger genocide widows who live close to
her to bring her water and wood. She has no idea who built her house and complained
of the shoddy work that made the roof leaky and the foundation unstable. The fracts
that were left around as a wamning were very much on her mind at the time.
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They put tracts in all the houses saying that sooner or later, we will all be killed. They
don’t even think about the fact that we can’t read. The co-ordinator of our sector
refused to histen to us. Afterwards, they threw stones on our roofs. For now, we feel a
bit more secure after SG[d[chEnlurvcncd_ Fesidents who have accused genocide
suspects have been poisoned. And so now no one wants to speak. In my area, the
geénocidaires have completely won; | have no idea what gacaca is gomng lo achicve.
We will see.

There are several reasons why Brigitte Mukamana feels a special responsibility to
testify about Murambi. She herself was protected by her Hutu husband, a soldier, and
because she lived in cellule Murambi itself and never left her house, she has a unique
first-hand account of the horrors visited up the refugees there. Her determination to
speak out has wreaked havoc on her life, including in her marriage.
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My husband and | separated seven years ago. We had disagreements because he
didn’t want me to testily about what took place during the genocide.

After the separation, her husband returned to his commune of Mudasomwa. And the
people living in the vicinity of Murambi, she said, made it clear that they did not want
her in thewr omdst.

They began to harass me and to chase me out of the house we had been renting. Since
then, I’ve been wandering all over the place as T had no fixed home. I'm mysell from
commune Rwamiko [also in Gikongoro).

“But I couldn’t go back home without fu]ﬁliinﬁ; my duty to reveal the truth about
the massacres which took place in Gikongoro.”

I'm perpetually worried about my security. I don’t even know where | can g0 and ask
for a drink of water. This 15 something I share in common with the other survivors of
Gikongoro. I live in the house of a Hutu man who recently came back from exile: the
doors inside the house don’t close properly.

Livmg close to a relative of the owner is its own source of insecurity.

His nephew 18 a member of the local defence force™ He is always telling me that he
will set me on fire with petrol. I don’t close my eyes at night: 1 worry that he will take
advantage of a moment when I'm asleep and put his plan into action.

But the nephew 1s not the only person she must guard against.

My neighbours and 1 live in a state of mutual mistrust. We have had clashes because
I'm the reason why some of their relatives, who took part in the genocide, were
imprisoned. T don’t have confidence in them, and they don’t have confidence in me, [
don’t want to be taken by surprise while I’m sleep, so I stay awake at night.

Brigitte said that she had discussed her problems with a wide range of local officials
m Gikongoro, but despite promises, nothing had yet been done for her. She lives with
her three children, a son and two daughters. One of her daughters has developed
mental problems and the other daughter is a single parent with two children,

* Local defence forees are responsible for neighbourhood policing
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In Gikongoro, survivors live from one day to the next, especially of late when the
perpetrators are on edge about eacacs.

She is grateful for the overall secunty n the country for the past decade, “which has
at least enabled us to start recovering from the material losses of the genocide.™ She
sees gacaca as a forum for learning more about what happened, but knows there 1s 2
price to pay.

T'want gacaca 10 tell us the truth about the genocide. aboul how our loved ones died
and what happened to their corpses. But T think I'm dreaming here because already
those who provide information have becn persccuted and some have been poisoned.
We don’t know what to do about the threats which are made againsl survivors and
witnesses,

“We Don’t Think About the Future”

For the most part, survivors in the countryside, like most of those interviewed for this
book, live from one day to the next. The genocide 1tself], the circumstances in which
they have lived since then, and the need to conserve their energy in order to meet the
demands of their daily lives make it virtually 1mpossible to conceive of a future.
Béhe Mukandamage looks to God for help.

We don’t think about the future, which is, without any doubt, full of uncertainties,
Our hearts are {ull of somow all the time. If God wishes, he will give us the strength
Lo cany on, otherwise we can't bear this lile of despair, sadness and burdens that are
too heavy to bear:

Bélie ltves with her daughter, Fugénie Mushimiyimana, in a housing complex built
for the survivors. When she can, she tends her fields. But her daughter has not yet
fully recovered from injuries to her head and is unable to help her mother with the
work. They are otherwise dependent on Bélie's son, Ele.

Hildegarde lives only in the present and takes life one day at a time. The pain of the
past mhibits her from setting foot in the place of her birth. She shields herself from
considering the future, where all she is certain of is that her anguish will deepen.
Caring for her child is what gives her life purpose.

Before the genocide, T had a comfortable life with my husband and three children. My
husband and 1 both had jobs that provided for the needs of the family. Qur children
went to good schools and dide’t want for anything. Now, my child envies other
children from better-off families. I live close to my brother who is in a good financial
position. He often celebrates his children’s birthdays and my own child wants to live
like his cousins, even though we don’t have the same means as them.

I stay away from celchrations and T don’t £0 to pray in church since the end of the
genocide. My son isn’t even baptized, whereas before all our children were. All the
same, 1 let him go to mass with his cousins. | find the prayers and the partios
distasteful_ T think that is comes from despair. T don’t visualize a future for myscll any
more, nor one for the survivors in gencral. We live with a feehng of mtense insecurity
and we don’t think of the future because no-one reassures us. They say that
unhappiness cases with time, but with us it is the opposite; 1t increases much more
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with time, Sometimes [ am sorry that I survived and [ curse the place where [ was
bom and raised. I have no desire to return to Gikongoro. Even if there was something
of major importance, I don’t know if I could go back there.

Emmanuel Gakwindi’s distress about the future is palpable.

After the genocide, life was very hard. We had lost our loved ones and our
belongings. Frankly, I wondered why I was still alive. | didn't have the strength to
look for work. Imagine going and searching for water and firewood yoursell when
you used to have children who would do that. When I look back, 1 feel an
overwhelming sense of sorrow. The people who killed our loved ones are free and
unpunished. Few have been judged and sentenced in court. When ¥ou accuse
someone in court, the next day they’re freed and come to mock VOLL
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Here, we also have problems with security, The people who were freed, after they had
pleaded guilty tell us, that they can still kill us, and that they won't serve more than
two years in prison. The worst of it is that what they say is the bitter truth. It's we
who live in trepidation, instead of the assassins who killed our familics, According to
a Rwandese proverb, insigazi isigarira byinshi, which means that they who live
through horrible times don’t just survive to tell their tale, but also face many tests.
When | see what is happening around me since the genocide, | wish that I hadn't
survived.
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OUT OF THE RUINS
Preventing Genocide and Nurturing Tolerance

The massacre site at Murambi is now being preserved as a national memorial to the
victims of the genocide in Rwanda, and a genocide prevention centre is to be
established there. The presence of the remains of the thousands of men, women and
children who lost their lives there is a persistent and graphic testimony to the
atrocities which took place in Murambi. Yet the existence of this physical memorial
should not be understood as indicative of a consensus among people who live there
today about the nature of the massacre and its origins. The reluctance of some
members to accept that the bones which lie at Murambi are those of genocide victims
15 itself an affront to their memory and indicates a residual attach ment to the set of
beliefs which brought about the genocide. Tragically, the story of Murambi is not vet
over; it continues both in the pain of survivors and in the denials from individuals
complicit in or sympathetic to its aims. There is as yet no well established answer to
the question of how 1o promote tolerance and deter future bloodshed. But what does
scem clear from the example of the 1994 genocide itself, is that selective
representations of the past can be exploited to divide communities.

Conscious that the memory of the genocide in Murambi is already a source of tension
and dispute, African Rights has tried to involve people from diverse sectors of the
local community in recounting the killings of April-July 1994 and m discussing their
legacy and the issue of how they should be remembered. For this reason, in this
section, we include reflections from a small number of local residents on the decision
to turn the massacre site into a memorial to the victims™ Their reactions are a
reminder that the genocide is not an isolated event in the minds of many of Rwandese
who lived through it, but is ntimately connected with the political developments
which preceded or followed it. For survivors, understandably, it constitutes an
incomparable trauma. By mcluding the views of the local community, some of them
bitter about their own poverty-stricken lives—about hardship, war and exile—it is
cvident that, directly or indirectly, genocidal politics have had negative consequences
for all the people of (ikongoro and throughout Rwanda. This is the case both for
many of those who were complicit in the genocide, and by extension for their
families, including children, as well as for many bystanders. By placing references to
this wider experience of suffering alongside the details of the 1994 massacres in
Murambi, it becomes possible to make a clear distinction between violent mcidents in
the post genocide period and the planned mass slaughter of April-July 1994.

¥ We have used pseudonvms to protect confidentiality of contributors to this section because
frequently, rather than recounting personal experiences as others have done, they express stong
opinlons.
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A Residue of Denial

43-year-old Thomas had to leave his home in Femera, Gikongoro in June 1994
because of threats to his life from “people who wanted to kill me because they
thought I was an accomplice of the Tutsis.” He has now returned to live and work in
Remera sector, but is troubled by the silence of local residents about the massacres in
Murambi and what it suggests about their present attitudes.
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When T came back, I asked about the Tutsis who had lived nearby. People told me
they were killed at Murambi by soldiers. When 1 tried to find out the reason why
they’d fled there, they said that they didn’t know anything about it. As an educated
person, | interpret their reply as a form of self-defence, an attempt to put a lid on the
truth. Before killing the Tutsis, officials pointed them out as the enemies of the Hutus.
That’s how the genocide unfolded.

This ethnic ideology, which it will take a lot of time and effort to uproot, has been
used like a political weapon. At the moment, people are influenced by secret
campaigns to persuade them not to reveal the history of the massacres. People are still
hostages of the perpetrators of the genocide who want to mask their own
responsibility.

Marie-Chnstine, the mother of one child, is a 29-year-old farmer from Remera. She is
among those who remain convinced that people died in Murambi as a result of
fighting,

[f someone asks me about the genocide, I'd say that people killed each other, that is
Tutsis were in conflict with Hutus. Our officials used to say that the Tutsis wanted to
rule over the Hutus.

I'm not in a position to confirm whether only Tutsis died at Murambi. The fighting
took place at might. The authorities foreed us to leave our homes before the massacre.
They told us that the Tutsis had a plan to wipe us out. I cannot tell you how the Tutsis
who lived here died. They were at Murambi and that’s where they died. However, a
survivor, an old woman who had married a Hutu, accuses the people who live near
her of complicity in their deaths. All I can say is that people first went to the Parish of
Gikongoro. Finally, officials and soldiers finished them off in Murambi. But I don't
really know what happened 10 them there.

Kamanzi, now deccased, 1ok food to his sister who was married 10 a Tutsi. No-one
else from our area ever cared to set fool in Murambi. The authorities told us that the
camp housed enemies who were preparing to strike us, We saw the soldiers who were
watching to make sure no-one could get out of there. And when they forced us to
move away from the vicinity, we didn’t hesitate. We were already convinced that the
Tutsis were going to kill us.

Since the massacre [ still haven’t been to where the bones are kept. I'm reluctant to
g0 there, and so are the other people who live around here. We wonder why the
remamns of the victims haven't been buried. 1 g2¢ to Murambi when there are
Presidents coming there. Our councillor ask us to go and welcome them. We came
back without seeing the bones,

Before 1999, local residents were hesitant to go there. They used to say that the
SUPVIVOTS were going to take revenge. After 2001, people began going there during
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the annual commemoration, but with some hesitation. They are apprehensive in case
the people who testify point a fimger at them.

Though Mathilde, a farmer, lived in scetor Remera, she argued that she was not “in a
position to speak about the genocide.”

I didn’t belong to either of the belligerent parties. 1 say that because owr local
authorities told us that our country was at war with the inkotanyi. They added that the
Tutsis were their accomplices, 1 have no idea it this 1s comrect or not since | never
went to the front to confirm what they were telling us. Some of the people living
around here did go to the front to fight the Tutsis, but I didn’1

Everyone lived at peace in our sector—Hutus, Tutsis and Twa. S0 1 was very
surprised to suddenly hear, from October 1990 onwards, that Tutsis were in fact our
adversaries. This campaign intensified even more after Habyarimana’s death, so
much 5o that it led to the flight of Tutsis to Murambi. But once they left, | had no
more news about them, except what we were told by Semakwavu and some soldiers.

Sebastien, 63, lived in cellule Murambi itself, but claims ignorance of what took place
there 1 1994, only a few metres away, and has never since set foot there.

The war which brought about the highest rate of killings was that of 1994, especially
here in Murambi. | have been told that the Tutsis at Murambi were killed by soldicrs.
I myself heard the gunfire. I'm told that there were a lot of Tutsis there, but | never
went there because | had a fracture in my leg. Since there, | have not been there
either,

Epiphanie returned to her birthplace in Gikongoro in May 1994, flecing the advance
of the RPF i Bugescra, where she was then living. When she reached home, the
massacre at Murambi was over. But Epiphanie, a widow living in Remera with her
four children, found that her paternal aunt, who had married a Tutsi, and her children
were among the victims. She tried to find out how her aunt met her death.

I approached the people who live there to find out exactly who the perpetrators of the
massacre in Murambi were. Unfortunately, their response shed no light upon the story
and left out the participation of civilians. This 15 a summary of what they said:
“Refugees were killed by soldiers during the night.” So T decided to push a bit further.
Recently, T was able to pursue the case because I heard that a detainee had pleaded
guilty to the murder of my aunt and her children.

Another resident of Remera, however, is reluctant to agree with the definition of
genocide. 59-year-old Bemard commented:

I can’t confirm that only Tutsis were killed in Murambi. T here were also Hutus who
were wiped out in several places. According to the news communicated to us, some
of them were killed by soldiers of the RPF. Their cases have not been exposed. That
18 why 1 don’t want to go to Murambi although 1 live in the vicinity of the site. There
are also Hutus who were killed following differences they had with their neighbours,

I can’t tell you about the massacres that took place in Murambi although 1 live a few
metres from the site and from the place where there was a terrible roadblock. During
that period, | spent most of my time in the health centre. And when | went home; it
was evening, time to 2o and eat. So 1 took no interest in what happened. No-one
accuses me. I behaved well during the genocide and so did my wile. Some members
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of my family are in prison; they are going to respond personally to the charges against
them.

A farmer and father of four from Remera, Gilbert denounced local residents for
pointing out the identity of the victims during the genocide and he stands ready to
testity in the gacaca courts.

I know there are people in my sector who won't be happy about my testimonies. A lot
of people who have been persuaded by the speeches which deny the genocide have no
interest in genocide commemoration. Apart from survivors, only those residents
living close by take part, urged to go by appeals from local officials. But these
appeals are addressed to them a few days before 7 April. Sometimes we are asked to
g0 when a foreign dignitary is coming, especially the president of some country.

A widow and farmer from Remera, Giséle has four children. She was concerned about
the tendency of people in the community to misrepresent the killings in Murambi and
the impact this might have upon survivors who lost their loved ones there. While she
feels unable to explain fully what occurred during the genocide, she is aware that the
majority of the victims were Tutsis and is critical of others in her community who
“cover up the truth” by avoiding mention of the ethnicity of the victims or who argue
that “people killed each other in Murambi.”

Right afer the genocide, people were hesitant about getting  involved in
commemoration activities. We saw Murambi as a clear cxample of the evidence
about the massacres of Tutsis. So Hutus preferred to let the survivors and authorities
go there on their own. Also, we were still afraid of the government in place. We
considered it to be a Tutsi government which was going to take revenge. This makes
complete sense because, when there were Tutsis in Murambi, the civilian and military
authoritics told us that the people who were massacred in Murambi were encmies of
the Hutus, imyenzi who wanted to kill us.

Most of the male residents took part in the massacres. But ever yone claims to be
innocent, knowing that il a neighbour doesn’t accuse him or her, no onc else will
come forward. The killers worked under the cover of night and thought that no-one
except their fellow killers would be in a position to expose them.

Thomas offered an explanation for why misunderstandings about the genocide persist
among ordinary people.

Educated people can’t deny the genocide. They do so when they have their own
interests 1o defend. The same is true of the international community. But people are
sometimes victims of the information that they receive. When they are manipulated
by an ideology that promotes segregation, they act accordingly, trapped in a conflict
which has been provoked by individuals seeking power,

In my wview, Muramhi will he respecied, even honoured, by all Rwandese citizens
when they all have a common understanding about the genocide. I's serious when
you address a peasant to find out if he understands the genocide and he replies to you
i these words; “People killed each other: it was the war between Hutus and Tutsis,™
Such responses show us that people don’t consider themselves brothers. They see
each other as enemies, making 11 casier to create an atmosphere of hatred which then
leads o conflict,
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Defining Genocide

Some ol those interviewed supgested that grievances about personal or collective
experiences after the genocide were related to a reluctance to acknowledge the extent
or nature of the atrocities at Murambi, Recommending a programme of civic
education, Gilbert also pointed out some people do not distinguish between the
genocide and other crimes.

I know some people don't take part in the commemoration because they confuse the
genocide with other crimes such as the killings which took place in Kibeho® duning
the confrontations between the RPF and the occupants of the camp.

Bemnard put forward an entirely different mterpretation of the term genocide, based
upon a personal injustice.

I don’t disagree that genocide took place in Rwanda. The clearest example 15 the
murder of my daughter and her husband who were shot in 2002 by soldiers here in
Kabeza. I consider that to be genocide. My son-in law had refused 4 room 1o a soldier
who wanted to have sex with a prostitute. There weren’t any judicial proceedmgs.

Bernard suggested that a programme should be established to raise popular awareness
of genocide and clarify its meaning.

We need people to give us good reasons for telling the truth. The truth will be
revealed when we're capable of understanding what genocide is. Even now people
understand this word differently. For example, those who lived through the war in the
Congo only listen to others who, like them, became refugees m the Congo.

Giséle 1s uncertain about the relevance of the genocide for herself and her family.

I don’t feel the genocide has anything to do with me. I didn’t kill anyone; nor did my
husband. 1 know that Tutsis were killed in Murambi, but T don’t know at whose
hands. They often say that soldiers and interahamwe were responsible and that people
were foreed to go there.

One of the measures which will help to resolve conflict is neutral civie education, The
State must be in a position to reply to all the questions that we ask ourselves. Until
now, the residents of Gikongoro know that the Hutu refugees who were at Kibeho
were killed by the RPF. We consider that to he a genocide. 1 was living in the camp.
People had all kinds of weapons. They were the ones who stopped us from going
back to our propertics. They promised us that they were going to chase away the
inkotanyi who were going 1o take power. It was this resistance that led the RPF to
chase us away by force. A lot of people lost their lives there. Even now a lot of
people make the excuse that the history of Kibeho was a genocide of the Hutus. They
tell us that there are other places where Hutus were killed. Unti] the government takes
measures to say what happened and to give a clear and mmpartial response, the
population will remain silent.

*In April 1995 the RPA moved in with a show of force to close the camps which had been established
i Kibeho under Zone Turquoise and which were home to a substantial number of imerahamwe in
addrtion 10 thousands of familics. The confrontation developed into a bloody showdown as the armed
men in the camps fought back, and many people were killed
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Adéle feels torn by her loyalties to both survivors and other members of the
community. She said that while she and her three children were targeted in the
genocide by her in-laws, this has not allowed her to benefit from assistance for
survivors from FARG. Moreover, one of her sons is suspected of mvolvement in the
senocide. She reserves judgment on his case, saying she is “neutral” but argued that
there have been some false accusations of genocide made against individuals. She put
forth a number of sugoestions.
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We perceive the consequences of the genocide as a misfortune caused to us by the
curent government. The peouple who ran away to the Congo after the genocide don't
: have the same point of view as those who stayed in Rwanda. The latter are also
i divided by their experiences after the genocide. There are some who cling onto the
events at Kibeho. There are even people around here who whisper and talk about 1t
secretly.

The government must reach out to all Rwandese through civic education. And it
should include a lot of points including essentially the real causes of the genocide and
the consequences of this horror,

Paul, a civil servant, said that the genocide in Gikongoro town “unravelled in front of
my eyes, from start to finish.” He marvels at the degree of economic recovery since
1994 when Bwanda, he said, “was like a carcass.”™

Rwanda now has new infrastructure in many arcas. But material rehabilitation 15 easy
when the finances are available. The real hurdle for REwanda is more on the human
side. Moral rehabilitation must be given special attention because 1t demands
enormous bravery as well as patience.

Moral rehabilitation is a challenge for Rwanda, in particular with regard to memory
because nol everyone agrees on what happened. The political leadership and civil
society should make it possible for the population to talk openly about the evils they
lived through. That way we can address the reasons which are stopping people from
petting involved in the ceremonies that pay homage to the victims of the genocide.

The physical presence of large numbers of people at commemoration events, brought
about through the efforts of officials, 15 “not enough to conclude that things are going
in the right direction.”

The most important thing 15 to ensure that the Rwandese have the same point of view
about 1994, what came before and after.

The survivors remember publicly, Bul there are others who, without any doubt, bury
deep in their heart, the events they lived through from 1990 onwards, including the
life they lived after 94 outside thetr homeland. There 15 sUll a climate of suspicion.
Whether they were planned or opportunistic, nobody can deny that there were acts of
vengeance following the genocide. Some declare a double genocide. Others dechne to
use the word genccrde, preferring instead the word massacre or many other terms.

The sensiization aboul memory needs 1o target the local population. In place of
ordering the population to go to Murambi or elsewhere once a year to remember, the
sttes must be in their hearts. In any case, the people who died at cach place are well
known in their residential areas. The strategy of talking about the genocide in
different residential localiies will allow ws to know about other events which
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happened durmg that time, That will give us a detailed list of all the things to be
remembered, and this in tumn can help us in taking new measures to reconstruct the
couniry.

Florence, an official in sector Remera. is ealled upon every year 1o urge the residents
of her sector to go to Murambi during the annual commemoration. Bui she finds 1t a
battle to attract genuine interest, and concluded that “the message does not really sink
in.” She attributed the failure to several rEa50Ns.

Frstly, the authorities who should inform the population don’t have a well developed
plan, so what they say differs from place to place, Take me for cxample. [ have no
idea about the objectives of the site at Murambi. As an educated person, I can anly
praisc the fact that the building is here because it shows respect to the spirits of those
whao died here, Ordinary people give even less importance to memorial sites because
they are not sufficiently informed about them. Some believe that the memorial s; les
are exclusively reserved for Tutsis,

Sccondly, certain individuals secrei] ¥ contact people and try to minimize the
genocide by calling up certain events, such as the events at Kibeho. the misery of the
refugee camps, cases of vengeance cle . Their ideas leave a bigger impression as
they talk of cvents which are not ofien spoken about and which, for this Very reason,
£ain even grealer importance in their eyes.

Moving Forward

Several people who argued that their own experiences of violence in the post-
genocide period were not being acknowledged also called for more cducation and
discussion of the genocide and other human rights abuses. Adéle summed up these
views with her suggestion that it is necessary 1o imtiate a wide-ranging discussion and
to allow people to articulate their views in order to help them deepen their knowledge.

It would help if people can come into our communities and talk to us about the
impaortance of remembering the victims of the genocide. They should also talk about
all the consequences of the genocide. People should also take advantage of the
opportunity to make their views heard. It's vital to debate all these points. The
genocide was perpetrated in our communities, near our homes. Everyone knows
someone who lived nearby who was a vietim, So we're going to give some weight to
the genocide sites once we have the same view about what happened.

This emphasis on the need for civic education and access to information is something
which people from very different backgrounds seem to share. The views of the current
residents of Murambi echo, in this respect, the words of a former, much respected,
native of Gikongore, Fr. Modeste Mungwarareha. Sadly Fr. Modeste died in 1999,
His entire extended family, which he estimated as up to 400 people, including many
-women and small children, were killed in Gikongoro during the genocide, some of
them at Murambi. Nevertheless, in an interview before his death, he spoke of his
belief that forgiveness 1s necessary and that reconciliation is possible. He argued that
It is especially important for the victim to forgive so as not to be driven by the
perpetrators into a tangled and destructive web of hatred. Having survived the
massacres of 1959 and 1963 in his native Gikongoro, he forgave just as many others
did.
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In 1959, I was cight years old. I saw everything that happened. People were killed,
houses were burnt, cows were slaughtered and there was looting, Then, a whistle was
blowmn, everything stopped and we were told: “Reconcile ™

What was mussing in the aftermath of the 1963 killings was any attempt to administer
justice., Fr. Modeste was emphatic that only justice can lead to reconciliation and he
argued that progress towards this goal will depend upon the actions of the
perpetrators:

The road to reconstruction lies through justice, which will shed light on everything
that remains hidden. We must never forget all our familics who perished on the hills.
Justice must also pursue every individual who knows anything ahout the events of the
genocide for he has a duty to reveal what he knows. The solution to the problem, both
for those who have lost their loved ones and for those who have been involved in the
killings, will come through justice. Justice is the path to reconciliation and
reconstruction and should be seen as a mark of respect for all those who suffered a
horrific death,
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i Along with the struggle for justice, Fr. Modeste belicved it was essential that
survivors of the genocide remember, and encourage others to remember, the crimes of
the 1994 genocide. His thoughts on the preservation of the memory of the genocide,
still apply:

The survivors of the genocide have a duty to recall, and to ensure that others recall,
that a great number of people were killed whose only crime was that they were Tutsi,
that they had been born Tutsi. All this pain is bottled up in the hearts of the survivors.
Keeping silent is not going to help us to rebuild our country.

The reason why they should not forget and should keep the memories alive in the
hearts of others has nothing to do with perpetuating feelings of hatred and vengeance.
Far from 1t. The purpose is rather to educate the hearts and minds of every citizen of
Rwanda. The genocide was engendered by racist ideas and teaching. These racist

! teachings were published in books; they influenced people who read them, and

| ordinary people were told about them at public meetings in their commune or
sector... Whilst condemming the atrocitics, one must not lose sight of the fact that
they were committed by people no different from the rest of us. If we are no better
than they are, we are also capable of changing and of acting as they did. If all this is
written down it will be like a “road sign” which dirccts travellers on their way
through the dangerous twisls and tums of life.

Every Rwandese who was in the country at the time has his own story to tell of the
path he trod and the events he saw with his own eyes. Writing down these personal
histories for the benefit of others, helps to guard against any repeat whilst, at the same
time, helpmg people put behind them the horror of the bloodbath they lived through.

It 15 in this spirit, and with the same aspirations, that “Go. If You Die, Perhaps [ Will
Live”: A Collective Account of Death and Survival in Murambi, Gikongoro, April-
July J994 was written.

The distortion of history is a familiar tool of politics and it is one that was employed
to fragic effect to launch the 1994 genocide in Rwanda. But silence about the past is
also destructive. At the forefront of the aims of this book; has been a determination to
piece together what happened to the victims of the massacre in their final days and
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hours. Due to the courage of the few survivors, the men women and children who
died have left a mark on history—this constitutes an act of deflance against their

kallers,

Recalling their individual experiences, the participants in  this project have
reconstructed m detail the history of the genocide in Murambi. They have recorded
the build up 1o the camage and the strategies of the militia They have exposed the
architects and perpetrators of the killings. They have also evoked the absolute horror
of the massacres. In so doing, they may help to challenge one-sided, schematic or
Opposing accounts of the events from prevailing. This is a shared achieve nent, and
one of substantial benefit to Rwanda’s people now and for generations to come.

It 1s possible that, through participation in building this account, interviewees will
gain a stronger sense of the reality that their remembrances are pieces in a
complicated puzzle—one that will never entirely be complete. In the minds of s0mme
contributors the events are not casily detached from those that preceded them and
from what followed next. Opinions wavered; fear and confusion were shared by
people from all communities. Concrete actions produced a stark horror which can not
be crased, but history tells us it could have been avoided.

The recent decision by the Government of Rwanda to establish a genocide education
and prevention centre on the site of the memorial at Murambi is io be welcomed. It is
particularly appropriate that the sjte previously intended as a school should be
reclaimed as a place of learning and reflection. Yet this in itself js a reminder that the
losses of the genocide were also losses for villages, regions and the entire country.
Instead of a school, serving the community, Murambi became a wasteland of
unfulfilled skills, ideas, talents and energies.

Gikongoro is an especially tough environment in which to nurture social and
economic reconstruction. Human toil on steep hill farms makes for a harsh existence,
and in these circumstances collaboration and mutual assistance are perpetually called
for. Decades of a politics of hatred has severed communities and Jed 1o their
destruction. Developing a collective vision of the past is essential for people in
Murambi, and indeed in a'l of Rwanda, to create a better future.
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A PARTTAL CENSUS OF THE VICTIMS OF THE
GENOCIDE AT MURAMBI
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282 Uzarnukunds 35 E 6l Dhusengimans & F
183 Valérie 23 F 8 hashime i2 F
10 Dashime It E
d. Sector Kameger 7l Lrushiminina 12 E
T2 Pruslini mana 4 ]
First Name Lage Name Age Sen T3 Feanneme Dushirmimana ] F
1 Alplwonsine 4 F T4 Clave Farmiga 55 Lt
T Annociatia A F 75 Faghazha 52 M
1 Avppalanmaric 32 E T6Panked Fashaho 14 RY
4 Bel I M TT Verdianne Fashalio 16 3
3 Hirraguieha | M T8 Child of Rukundo 5 ]
ACallixne M s Gaceyeye 20 Bl
T Charlome 15 F Lt Ciakuru 3 F
EChristing El F Rl desn Gakwavy Iz M
BCollene 45 E £ Blatrice Gakwaya i F
10 Consalie EL F §3 Félicien CGakways 50 M
11 Dangel 20 M £ Jeannine Gakwaya 1% F
12 30 2 ] B3 Juwvénal Ceakwaywa 42 ol
13 Emmamg] 35 1] a5 Gaperi & HE ]
14 Félicig 18 F B? Gapiriyoka [
T3 Feliciné 23 F BE Vivianie Gapirivoko 20 %]
Lo Felicine 5 F il Liagana 14 |
|'T Fadéle i) o 1] (Fagana 3 F
18 Frangoas 1 M 21 Craxaragi 21 Lt
19 Jean Basca 15 M 52 Gasparnd Casasira 39 M
20 Jenn Rosco 2% M 43 Emmanie] Ginshugi dy M
21 Je2nnc ¥ F 04 Innacen Crashuyi 29 M
31 Jowéphine 25 F 4 Thacienne Gachugi E
23 Julienne 1] F Rl Gashwiriri I M
24 Manassé 18 g o7 Jean (ialern a2 M
23 Marie 3 F U8 Vibdarne Liatamng I8 M
28 Mariz Claime i F gu Ciasoya 4 F
27 Médiatrice 15 F 1on Grisagara 4 M
ZE Picrse I8 LE ] 1] Pierrs ﬁimmngumbe il 1%
29 Prigea 15 E 102 Veénar Habimana fr.z. LX)
30 Radie 4 F 103 Charles Hahineza 12 I
31 Rose 13 F e Jean Claude Habyarimanu 1 M
32 Roserte 3 F 105 il Hagumamaharo 14 M
33 Biméon 20 M 06 Hakizxa 12 M
M Viviane 34 F 107 Danicl Hikizimana f M
35 Alviry Mukazine 48 F 102 Ernimanae] Hukizimana |6 M
36 Annociatta Ahishakiye 18 F 105 brmacent Harerimana 11 M
37 Akingencye ] F L Havuga 30 [
38 Madelcine Akomunkima 53 M 11 Agnes Icyimpaye 33 F
39 Akurmwami 35 F 13 Iradukunds 1 F
40 Appohinnire & M 113 Iyakaremve 0 M
4l Ayirwanda a0 F 114 Consolde Iyakaremye 30 I
A2 lulie Bajeneza 17 M 1E5 Mathiea fyakaremye 35 X
43 Ndephionac Behé | F 14 Bermadene lzakiriea El I
A4 Chil of Kayihura 5 F n7 Kabagwirn 12 I
45 Child of Munyandekwe 3 F 118 Fathe Kabigwnn a0 I
46 Child of Miagezera 3 F 115 Mane Kabagwirz g0 F
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| 20 Vérantic Kabageiza kL F 193 Bernadete Kiremye 35 F
121 Kabandana 10 M 194 Kiramba 2% M
122 Frida Fabashongore 0 M 195 Felicizn Kumubin i M
123 Bonilace Kabayira 50 e 194 Fowitondz 12 F
124 Ignace Kabera 30 Lo 197 Kwizern 9 M
125 Ciécile Kajeguhakwa 11 F [k Mukahatsinda B2 E
126 Kaliza 15 B 99 Jeanne Mukabera * iy
[27 Kalisa 3 n T Vénantie Mukabirnsa 3 ix
| 28 Cllaude Eoalesa 1 M el Mukabiziraguteba 4 F
1 29 Emmanz=l K.alisa 5 %] 202 Vénpantie Mukaburczs i) I ,
150 Famananga 50 M 203 Meclaniz Mukabushaku L5 F
131 Felicine Kamanyand 25 F 204 Mukabutera 15 M
132 Hosarie Karanzi i) F 205 Wakitic Mukaburern b5} F
133 Evéline Kampare 47 3 206 Mukatvasha &l F
[ Agnes Kampirwa bg F 07 Suzanne BMukagakuba 48 F
F35 Agnes Kampundu 15 E g Mukagakwanya 26 B
£33 Kamukama 3 F 209 Julierte Mukagasars 34 3
137 Buth Kamuknmn 45 F X0 Mukagasraba 37 F
L35 Félicng Eamuyunds 30 ™M 1 Mukugatase 1 F
139 Kamuzima 9 F 212 Catherine Mukugatarc 45 F
140 Wénantie Kanakues Al E 213 Daplose Mukugatore 50 F
1 a1 Frncis Kanamugins 45 M 214 Juscphine Mukahigiro 45 F
132 ﬁlphuu:ﬂwz Eangabe 40 F 215 Verene Mukzhigwm & F
3 143 Emmanuel Kangabe 43 M 214 Mukakabaka 50 F
: 144 Faibe Karyamituwa 17 F 217 Agarhe Mukakabera k1] F
: 145 Jeanneits Kanyarmurse 23 3 218 Judith Mukakabera 2] F
146 Jeanne Kamyanueresz 30 F 219 Metanie Mukskanimba F
14T Cindgoure Kamyamurera fifl A ] 220 Agathe Mukskalisa E
14E Kanyanja 7 F 211 Frangoiss Mukakalisa k
(£ Kanyemera 41 Ll 2XX Thacienne Mukahakirimsns F
(1) Kanyemera 29 M 113 Ancilla Mukamabana T
5] Ignace Kamyoni 42 b 234 Mukamana F
152 Dornthée Eariyunda 6l F 23 pukamana I
L5353 Claver KiLTJmIﬂd 55 B 2% Elina Mlukamuna F
154 Eric Foaramage x M 27 Jeanneite Mukarmana F
155 Félicien Karanganwi 37 % 174 Miélanie Muikamana F
13t Fawsrin Karangwa 14 M 2249 Fohe Mubkarmarmgiika ¥
157 Easremar ginga 34 M 230 Mukamihigs F
158 Charles Karemern 33 M 231 Mikampabuka F
159 Eliane Farcrangabo 1a F 232 Frida Mukamgpabuka F
160 Innacent Karera £ M 2313 Félicing Mukamgrindi F
Il feanne Karesa i3 F 234 Zdria Mukamubanda F
162 Piene Koarera B M 235 Mane Rose Mukamuodenge F
Hx! Karerangabo 30 L 245 Therese Mukamugema F
Tl Animwscialic Karerangabo X2 F 2317 Fanth Mukamukrza F
165 Emmanuel Karerangabo i} he IHE Consulee Mukamurigy F
iy feric Foarcrangabo ! il L34 Foacphine Mukamurge F
167 Manhe Farerangabo 13 F T Vestine Mukamurago F
|68 Piem: Boarerangabo 15 M 2] Viviane Mukamurge F
|85 Boeiface Kalinds 18 | 242 Anaxlazic Bukamurima I
| 0 Ermrmsanust Kaluxka 15 it} MMICanselée Plukamuwvara F
171 Jaseph Kalinda 14 M 244 Joseph Mukamwara F
172 Pascal Kalinda 12 F 245 Spéeiase Mukiondamiza F
| T3 Callixes Keafiza 40 %) 2368 Fibrie Mukandekwe F
14 Earugands A7 M 247 Mukandon F
175 Vinanhe Kasomo 24 ol 248 Mukandan F
176 Dew Kayibanda 12 M 249 Mukandon F
137 Kayiwgi 55 n 250 Lavrence Mukanera F
176 Claver Fayihura m M 251 Edulzda Mukangango F
175 Rgdne Fayibiara I3 M 252 Epdcinse Mukangangza F
180 Frangois Kayihura an M 353 5peciose Mukangange F
18] Innegent Kagibura & M 254 Marthe Mukangens F
152 Mofse Kayalra 2 b 253% Ancilla. Mukankaka F
1 B3 Athanase Kayitana 5 M 26 Angeline Mukankaks E
L &4 Kayiresi B3 F 137 Marianoe Mukankaka F
185 Fayines 4l F 258 Mélanie Blukankaka F
| 84 Espéranee BLayibid 10 F 159 Mubankundive F
| &7 Blazungs 7 i 260 Consolee dukankuss F
|88 Eibaya 4 M 261 Espémnce Mukankusi I
189 Kl 1 % 242 Photbe Pukinkusi F
|90 Jeaam Eibwa 15 %] 63 Munnk wirg 12 F
190 Child of Munganymka  Kibwa 2 M 264 Marie Mukansanga 38 F
193 Child of Munyensangn Kibwa 2 ri 245 Mukanlzewahira 35 =
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266 Félicid
267 Jostpia
i daséplsing
269 Francine
2T Fralide
27F Verdne
272 Marip
F7} Fralide
274 Eemisa
275 Margueriaie
270 Vicéeie
X

278 Elion
278 Collene
R0 EMvame
28 Dowmitifle
28: Fetrie
283

284 Abvim
2E3 Héline
286 Agnesia
287 Marie
253

28E Tudith
290 Marths
280 Epidie
292 Evelme
203 Marie
91

03 Feanne
296 Clandine
rar

29y

040

3Kl

300 Jgnace
2

0% Aduys
ECiL]

305 Martin
it

307 Elsezer
e

g

D Damascine
A

312 Alphonse
313 Vincent
314

3 5 Chrisuine
il

I

38

318 Child of Munganyinka

kel

32

22

323

3 e

325 Viviae
ite

327

328 Emmanuel
329-Espézance
3

331 Martin
332 05ay

333 Fausum
334 demnne
135 Emmanuel
136 Daniel
3T

338 Emmanoel

Mukantembe
Mukanymnges
Mukanyangez|
Mukzmvargzy
Mukanyanigury
Mukanvanwayy
Mukanyengs
Mukarzmen
Mukanabiz
Mukarogaba
Mukajugaha
Mukanpeivizs
Mukurugwiza
Mukarndhgig
Mukaruzazars
Mukarushems
Mukarataha
Mukarutesi
Mukanites
Mukiarariga
Mukaruzign
Mukarwasa
Mukarwena
Mukaraegn
Mukarwivepura
Mukagakindi
Mukasakind:
Mukasherma
Muk:esine
Mukawers
Mukayirings
Ml
Macwche
Macweke
Mangwete
Mamirarnm
Maringo MNuazinda
Mlarangori
Mbaraga
Mbarushimens
Mtanfigir
Mbonimana
Mparakazi
Mudaheranwa
Mirdakikwa
Mugabao
Mugabanake
Mugabwambiere
Muhawenimana
Muhimpundy
Mulirwa
Mujawaycen
Mukamana
Mukamana
Mukandags
Mukantambive
Mukazhyaka
Mukeshimana
Mukcshiman
Mukeshingana
Mukiza
Mukundws
Mungnnvinka
Munganyinka
Mumandamulsa
Muneandamaica
Mumyandekve
Muzrvandinda
Munyembinds
Munvaricra
Munyemana
Punyengabe
Munyengabe
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202

339 Evarisze
340

M Alphonsioe
322 Maunce
FHICEile
344 Spdcipee
35

346 doséphine
7

348 Jonas
Ho

350 Espérance
35l

352

355 Mavier
LT

335

356 Théeuene
33T Anastasic
358

359

i Claudens
L1

362

365 Julienne
B

Kl

366 Maneie
367 Anasizee
368 Julienne
M

370 Esther
371 Félirirg
L)

i73

iT4 Thigise
173

176

377

378 Xavérine
379V indne
J50

381 Cyprien
182 Peping
3R3

384 Viérdng
i85

36 Viviane
387 Jeanne
388

I8

390 Chantal
18| Charkoare
332

393

394

395

Fog Dherning
397

398

i)

400 Jean

Al

a0z

43

aid

A5 Boniface
Al innacent
407

A8 Fehcien
40

A1

211

Murvenzanga
Mieragijimana
Murangim
Musrebwanimam
Murckanare
Murek:ete
Muringn Miarinda
Mirorankwere
Mum-auush?.-ah
Muzabyimana
Musaniwabo
Mucayidire
Muslzime
Musdimivirmang
Muvanga
Mwambari
Mwigicing
Mwiiersa
Mymabadage
MNyrabakeznbo
Myirabashyis
Myimabaziga
Nymrabarungy
Nyirabizoviinamna
Nyvimbizimana
MNyimbudor
Myirahukara
MNuirabukar
Myirabuturg
Myrrabwnje
Nyirmdur
Myiraparwa
Myiragarwakazi
Nyiragiceri
Myiragumirinrs
Nvimnjangwe
Nyirakatian
Myirakagunshe
Nyrrakamann
Nyirakidaga
Myiramaganda
MNylmmana
Nyirumashinge
Myiramatalang
Myrrmatama
Nyiramayonda
Nyirmirima
Myrramondg
Nyirandinkabandi
MNymancra
Myiranem
Myiraneza
Nyirangza
Nyirank wire
MNymramaukiza
Nyiransdoda
Myrmrunmonado
Makahonye
Melahavuriye
Fadagije
Mdagije
Milakars
Nyiramvisang
MNdnmnge
Neatimana
MNdayisiha
Ndayizaba
Midayizalba
Mgzbire
HNgamije
Nezarmbe
Mgrinehusn
Mgwaga
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412 Xavier
413 Boniface
414 fuhienne
415 Saraten
a1

417

418 Felwate
419 Emrmanue]
420 Innocent
421 JoiEl

421 Damicn
423 D]
424 Emmanuci
425 Fidéle
426 Jaseph
427 Silas

228 Dhisind
Lkt

Ay

431 Davad
432 Cypricn
435 Simon
434 Ladising
435 Damascdne
236 Joan

43T Plerre

434

430 Iean

A4 Ermmmagige]
441

442

443

S

43 Colletis
4445 Esther
447 Ezéchizl
A8 Adiienase
449

A50 Havier
A5k Frangoeg
452 Hikarmn
433

454 Enock
435 Ezra

456 Bamuel
AST Cyrilhe
A58 Alphonss
459

260 Onesphord
4nl

462 Jean

A3

A

4a5

A6 Samuel
467

46X Manyenoa
469 Celestin
&0 Vinecent
471

472 Artennase
473 Philippe
474

475 leinme
476

AT izl
478 Emmanue!
479 Vikestle
250 Honiface
48]

452 Darmen
483 Fulél:
4H4 limoph

Mawipe
NgraiTijg
Mikuze
Miyigirimbabaz
Niyemugzabo
Mivansnba
Mivanrces
Mkundimana
Myundinana
Pkupdimiag
Mkuranziza
Ikurunziza
Whurunzira
Meahimana
Msabimana
Mzabamana
MNsengimana
Meengiyumva
Mshimiyirmani
Mizbarm
Miakinsiman
Muakirutimana
Muakarutumana
Meazinda
Miaginda
Myabazaza
Myabyenda
Myamurinda
Myandwi
Mywmzurundi
Myarisaza
Myarifwa
Myazing
Myinawumuntu
Myiramasham
M yirirnana
Myirinkindi
Mrahandor
Nnhilc{_fckﬂ
Mzeyimana
Rudasingwa
Fuhrgira
Fukaur=
Kukiras
Rukeribuga
Ratayisire
Rutayisie
Farrebuka - Kibava
Fwabuhungy
Rwayibche
Hwapegurm
Sagihobe
Sakipdi
Saruharakasugwiea
Sebakigs
Sehasaza
Sebarungu
Sebera

Selera
Hﬂ&ll{_‘;lbﬂ
Sehugegera
Sebutanbin
Sedubembe
Befira

Repore
Sernmana
Sermana
Semana
Semvumba
Sendataze
Semwmiza
Seroanla
Heromla
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433

ARG

487

483 Enic

A5Y Jacgues

490 Jeanne

49[

A9 Sndcnise

403 Child of Mukarusagara
494 Child af Muagoecra
495

A Iz

9T Cassien

498

A9 Juliere

L1114

bl

502

505 Chikd of Gahoeayine
504 Jean Fierre

505 Jeansune

506 Judith

0T Chikd of Munyens=nga
SR Child of Myiramarabara
S Child of Myiramizimo
S10Child of Mkurunziza
311 Child of Mkurunzeea
S12Child of Magezera
313 Child of Myamurinda
S04 Child of Myamurinda
313 Chald of Myamurind
L6 HEM e

S0 7 Clhndeme

518 Vianncy

519 Unknown Baby

520 Mame unknown

521 Unknown Buby

5317

521

514

535

526 Charles

N

A28

229 Angelue

M

531

333

A Cenle

334 Jeanne

535 Jeannetic

S36

33T Clantal

38 Colleste

3 Consalee

540 Vergne

31

#42 Maric

343

544

545

346 Frule

54T Julienne

348 Joséphine

40

30

Eerudodi
Eikubwaba
Sindavigaya
Sindayigaya
Sindayigaya
Sendayigaya
Silaki

Taby

Toto

Fotar
Tumashimine
Twagmanduor

I wagirimana
L.'hag,aze
Ukwitegeise
Uirulisa
Lmutasiwase
Umwanayezn
Gahagavire

Child of Gashanga
Child of Gashenga
Child of Kanyo

Child of Ruhingisa
Roaabuhuniru
Rw:lhulumgu

Baby of Munganyinka

Litamuinzs
Lihwamahoro
Lwamahare
Vlsweamahara
Uwamathoro - Firina
Ulwamariva
Uhwamariyn
Lrwimana
Lhwimana
Llwmiarm
Lwimana
Llwirnana
Uwiirmane
Llwaneea
Uhanmeza
Uhwinera
Lwimng e
Uwiragive
Liwimeye
Lwizeye

Llw 1rEyimana
Uwizeyimana
Lizamukunda
Uzamushioka
Lemnuslaka
Yarsonevo
Laninka
Lrimwabagab

¢ hector K

First Name

| Axnis

T Apnie

Last Mame
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4 Anmasiase
3 Anastagie
4 Amathalic
7 Anatode
HoAnne Marke
Banne hare
18 B
10 B
E2 Claudine
13 laudine
|4 Eitimanaic]
15 Emmanuella
i Ewgine
17 Evgdrie
15 Fedicin
19 bl
2015
I Hlacqueline
212 Jagquss
13 )can
24 lzznne
25 beanncie
6 beanmine
27 Magetlan
28 Magnifique
2% Mathiea
30 Marlulde
5 Michel
3 Michel e
11 Maodeste
34 Modesta
3 Mol
36 Madlla
37 Rpsalie
JE Roscline
19 Rogeoe
Al Buse Mary
41 Rosing
47 Hose
A3 Roseue
24 Rosenne
45 Séraphm
46 Scraphine
47 .‘Elirzphm{:
48 Séraphine
A0 Thirése
30 Thercsae
51 Triphine
S Trephune
53 Veénant
3 Veémanhe
A5 Méndmnd
96 VErene
57 Yestine
't \.":lrglnw.
59 Viviane
G0 Wivine
61 Kaveer
42
63
G4
a4
ahVincent
67
G
itk
T
7

Ciasagire
Akimana
Gahonpayire

]
Keza
Mahmo

Kanzabe
Lmwiza

.-’l.ll.iﬂhnl"i_w
Ayinkarmive
Balwma
Bitirabamwe
Himwenyimana
Hicamahire
Hilete
Bucyana
Euhtndin
Bubinyari
Bizreggya
Taitera. .|
Callixie
Camifle
Dukuzemaiiva
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204

&1
k2
g1
44 Ladislas
83
fie
17
kb
Es)
£ H
Gl
42 Edimend
a3
94 Mannszt
w5
Oh
T Catherine
b
]
100 Evarisie
1o
102 Vinuste
103 Elévanie
104
15
18
147
105 Fanecs
109 Fales
110 Sylvesire
I
L2
| 15 Liaétan
114
N
1EG
Iz
14
e
120
121
122 Annocialia
123 Datna
124 [evota
125
126 Alphonsin
127 Leb<ram
128 Dhative
129 |réne
M vVEnnnsi=
131 Madeleine
132 Mgl
135 Beatrice
134
135
116 Recine
117 Barthe
38 Léa
133
1411
141 Yimomigue
14T Witranagus
143 Valene
T Julsenins
145 Julewne
144
147 Vst
148 Faith
149 Alphonsne

Erusabarmana
Cianlvirrea

Ciahire
Gahagia
Chakum

Crapusi

Clasana
Giashumba
Lanjera

Garese

Lrntets

Gangva
Hadvirnana
Hakinshun
Habvazimeana
Fabrrigatowa
Havugiman
Havugimana
J||:-_;|.'I:-i|r
lvamuremye
Fahananira
K.abera

Kagahi
Eazom
Kapayire
Kajangwes
Kianpire
Kangeya
Kangawnge
Blamgi
Karekein
Karekezi
karcken
Karckeri
Kirenger
Karinganine
Kavnankore
Kayitnne
Kitwa

Kibramn [nickname)
Kitwana [nicknarme)
Komezmshuly
Pukahapire
Mukagasana
Mukagnsarabwe
Mukagasaralive
Muksgasarzhwe
Mukagaiarabwe
Mukapaiare
Mukagalera
Mukamizanimm
Mukakahayiza
Mukakabayiza
Mukakabera
Hukzknn:lng,a
Mukanganso
Pukakaliza
Mukakaroba
Mukamana
Mukamana
Mukamana
Mukamana
Mukampagzazche
Mukampunga
ht PR
Mukmmugeing
hMukumuszonesa
Mukarmsan
Mukamuvara
Mukantanga
Mukandera
Mikanoenri

MMukankinda
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150 Alphomsine
131 Charlotie
152 Lilianne
153

[54 Géndvidve
155 Médinrice
| 346

157

158

159

16l Cancessa
161

61 Andidciata
143 PErron e
164 Thacienne
165 Agnés
Lty

167 Anasmise
168 Anasolie
163

170

171 Félicing
172

173

(|

173

176

177 Mikus:

s 8

179 Alice
18l Rosere
141

152

183 Frida

124

Fia

186 Inéne
PET Tulicae
188

189 Giloriosa
9 Sylvia
191

16 Tedla

193

1% ¥incent
P Amedré
194 Cliarfes
I8 Ihégied
198

i

200

20
I Venarsae
203

20 Béathe
205 Tharine
2l

T

208

A

210 Aznes
211 Fraviane
312

213

14 Alphonss
243 Xnvier
i

)

et

219 Emmanuel
220 Afphonse
32

ey

Mukanyindo
Mukankurinziza
Mukankurunziza
Mukansanga
Mukanitalan
Mukancahana
Mukantagands
Mukanewari
Mukaranan
Mukaremery
Pukarubuga
Mukarangwa
Mukarurangws
Mukarushamza
Mukarusherma
Mukaruresi
Mukarwess
Mukasakind;
Mukasakinei
Mukasanga
Mukashyaka
Miskayizanga
Mazibin (nicknams)
Matokon
Maluinja
Mahirwe
Masuperi
Mathins
Mavibobss {neckmame)
Mrbabazi
Mbabazi
Mhbegeri
Mpagarche

M windskwe
Muliaweninuin
Mukamans
Mukamani
Mukamuvam
Mukaranzo
Mukeshimana
Mukeshimmann
Mukeshimana
Mluksshimana
Mukiza
Mukamen
Munyakayanza
Munyiknyvanca
Munyakayanzn
Murrearmpama
bMisnyampera
Munvandekwe
Munyaneia
Munyaneza
Munyanziza
Muragwencea
Muragwenezs
Murekatene
Mluoringdz
Murisy
Muremban
Mugabvimana
M iezalrimana
Mushimiyimana
ttughunba
Mushyondor
Miagemena
Mistahaci
Mutama
Muton:
Muvira
Murirmikugziaha
Musungy
Wyaralnidayar

1%
k1]

30
I
g4 |
g

19

z'ﬂ

4

333-.1—.".1--.11'-.:—|-.-.-r~.-.x-.1~n-r-

ZLZE

]

205

223

124

2135

226 Vinantis
237

228

128 Magdeleine
2:in

231

23X Védanda
133 Lea

234 Vigmine
135

236

7

238 Valantine
239 Valérie
246k Brjgse
241

243 Vimnie
245 Vénantie
24 Richard
245 Elidrer
246 Thaams
247 aphross
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3hs Xawérine 22 F 68 Koagau 62 E
T Yandercye 14 r 09 Vinantiy Kagaju o ¥
70 Jeaps: Kagoyire 1] F

h.  Sector Rususa 71 Frédizic Ksjisha 4 ™

T2 Vianney Kalizs @ M

First Mame Last Name Age Sex 73 Kamsanyana 24 F

| Ementhe 25 F 74 Emmarniss| Kamban g M

2 Fébranie 24 F 75 Kampets 34 M

3 Gidrald 14 M 6 Patricae Kampomong 40 F

4 Mariotis 0 F 7T Anastasie Kand=zi 50 E

5 Minin 4 W T Marcella Kanaabe (1] F

& Paceal ] M n Kanshara 10 F

T Fébronic Mdushakive 14 F &l Karambiz f hd
EVincen Bacamumihigo 47 M 21 Karanganwa 26 M

] Hahigiroca i Kt 42 Polchérie Foamurenzi 62 F
13 Calbetie Bambanzs 4 F B3 Kawera I F
i Bampire i ' £4 Kayigirwa 7 3
|2 Mantin Binama 15 M 85 Alcade Kayihuea 19 M
13 Birumuhire 2 " B Bara Eaviranganwa i E
14 B Errimana 8 M 87 Clawding Kiyitesi 5 F
15 Cébestin Bizemureniv 24 M 2e Kavuku 49 M
It Bamane 19 Ll Hi Kayemba 14 ]
13 Paul Bucyvana 47 M an Ketury [ F
18 Annstase Hugringo L L2 | aj Krhamura q LY
19 Claver Bugirumiura 12 M 2 Belvicirte Karivues i ™M
20 Bupagarn 4 b 93 Damien Kuhaimana 4 M
i) Bushokoru 1% L) 84 Fruda Kubwiimeanmm q F
I Meadiairicoe Byukisenge L F &5 Kowisaha k] ¥
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Gt Kwizem 2 M 1 6% Manassé panimaguba 21 M

97 Clauding Kwizera B F | 70 Charles Marishavy 14 M

SF Prerve Kwizern 4 M 1 Mrsigara 12 bt

M Germaine Mukahakema 50 F 172 Mutyo i |

2] PO Francine Mukabutera i3 F VT3 Alexis Mudenms 22 M
: 101 Christine Mukagalwands 44 F 174 Gratien Mugemans 9 M
f 102 dulienne Mukagashig 36 F 173 Alphange Mugsnn 37 !
. 1 Mukagashiriba Pl E 176 Vianney Mugeser 4 M
i 10 Flav ianne Mukagusiraba 17 F 177 bustin Muhammyankaka a4 M
i 105 Véncoade Mukaligive ai F 178 Bufitre Tmhs M
L0 Mukakajgnpwe 4 M 175 Claudine Muhire I7 E

107 Beatnce Pukakalisa 33 M 150 Euphrasi= Mujakazi G2 F

10% Léaacic Mukakazenga 36 F 151 Génédreusc Pukara 67 F

i Mukakunenyi R t LB2 Anaclel lukuas 44 M

| 10 Jascpha Bukakizima 23 F 143 Mukeshimana 1% F

1 M.mana iz F 184 Mubkeshimana f F

117 Anpelique héukamani 1 F 183 Mulisa 3R E

113 Cthévine Mukamana 37 F 156 Munderens 4 14

114 Marcune pdukamanan T3 F 187 Munganvinka 33 F

113 Espétance Mukamazern 33 F 188 Costasie Murngznyinka &9 F

| 14 Sophie M ukatninani 2 B 129 Munyanpesa 4 M
117 Mukamuganga 1 E 190 James Mumyangeys 50 ]
L1E Mukamugerma EY) F 191 Augustin Munvanziia 4 M
(13 Mukanmugensi 5 F 192 Aunyemana ] kL
1 120 Enphrasic Mukamugenzi 3z F 193 Theogtne Mumyemina 18 (]
121 pukamuhire 35 M 194 Vaanney Munyengabe 30 b
122 Lanpubde Bukamuhozi ik F 195 fumyeragwes Rusaist 18 M
123 Léomncic Mukamuorenzi (5] F [5G Vénuste Munyeshyzka E} i
e | Mukamurera 19 ¥ 197 Viateur Murangi 34 M

125 Annacizita Mulrmurera 0 E 154 Murangwa ril F

126 Danive bukamurera i k 199 Bomfride Murekatete 1w F
127 Drorine Mlukamurern F 200 burinda [ bl
| 2% Seraphine Mukarurign 13 F 20 Innacenl Murindabigw dl M
1 2% Banitride Mukamusoni 40 F 12 [ematien Murwanashyaka 4 h

130 Ediasa PAukamusoni 43 F 203 Musabyimuaa 7 F

131 Marguerite Mukamusoni 19 r 204 Fortunés Musakyimana 8 ¥

132 Ganlence plukamusara 62 F 205 Vesting M zsabyimana 14 E
! 133 Jaséphine Mukamuvara ] E W0 Musangamfur L M
134 Jascplune Mukamryango i F 207 Cyriaque Musenka 2 Ll

L35 Donntille Mukamuyenz: S F 208 Mughimiymna imehs F
136 Verdianne fMukandamage X F 208 Cyrills Busarikare 3 M

' 137 Cérile Mukssdanza 38 F 110 Clauding Mutesi 3 3
138 Mukandayisaba [ F il Mutunzi il M
139 Mukandayisenga 1] F i fem Mutunzi 3 M
Lan Pukanera 2 F 213 bAuvnrs 19 M
141 Frolde Mukanyznga an F 114 Muyango 24 [ X]
142 Bukankakn 41 &) 215 Thienests Muzungu 5 b
143 lukankundiye 4 F 216 Anastase Mwangabanha 45 M

144 Mukansangi 48 F 2T R Myimhagene: 36 F

145 Anaslasie Mukansabanas 4 F 2k Foibe Mywabahakwa o8 F

Tdi Mukanmaan kl F 219 Myirahahire Smiis. F

147 beznne plukaniwari ] F 120 Madcianne Myrabazungu 0l F

14% Lrarive Mukanyang 4 F 271 Eapérance Mylizacwondi 51 E

4% Claadene Mukanyandwi 5 F 2 My rrababimana 14 F
130 Thsacianne Mulkarsega 15 F 223 Frangoise lyrrhabimana B L2

15EVirgime Mukaragi 40 F 134 Mymajvamiens I r

152 Venérande Mukarusangws 40 F 15 ufistie Myirzkamandwa 41 F

153 Philoméne Mukarusing 1] F IIeBéam Myirarmani 18 E

| 54 Spécioss Pukumutabana L F 2] Myiramanenge L) F

1535 Jeanne Plukarures: 3 F 2% Myimatams 45 E

| 5t Besinnestte Muskarunei 20 I 229 Géraldine Myirambabazi 2 ¥

157 Jubienne Mukarutesi a0 F 230 Myimambebn 3 r

| 5k Pascasie Muykaruzamba 3z F 13 Myiramuhizg r) r

|58 Concewsa Mukansemerd 1 I 231 Myirankserds 62 F

100 Mukasticma k! F 233 Anne Marse Wyirankesha 3t F

161 Patncie b wkasiterma 2¥ k 134 pugmes Nyrankura bl )

|62 Mukashyaka 13 E £35 Nyirancahn A% I

163 Anpdligue ukcaslivaka Fy F 6 MNyranTwar 12 F

L0 A toanne e Mukashiyaks o F 23T Thiréss Myranzage ) F

165 Prodenciene fukaaine ] F LR Anastsie Hyirarukwiavu (0] r

h 160y A dorysie Mukayimanga 24 F 239 Cnstasie Myirmshensa Gd r

1467 Craslasss padanm 449 F 140 Myirasng ] I

L% Limasmaclée Maclamu a7 i 4 Marthe Myimagababiven fudh E
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24T Charles
243

244

45

246 Wianney
247 Viénusic
298

229

250

23] Sybvestre
252 Enmronniiec |
I33 Andire
T34 Verdmnae
255

256 Paul

Pl

158

259 Fascal
Jal darthe
26T Anlanens
26T Augustin
I3

64

265 Justay
266 Fringois
IhT

268

65 Wellars
T

271 Enic

172 Frangois
XTI Viénam
T34 Gierald
275 Catléring
T

277 Emmamue|
208 Juseph
279 Joseph
280 Theagéne
288

282

2RI Muscisse
284 5yivesine
285

IE6

2ET Marcel
28K

250

90

290 Callixie
251

293 Pivrre
204 Vital

295

200

297 Egide
FOE Veénanl
190

300 hoseph
01

303 Claude
303 Bosco
304 Wedasie
305 Martin
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a7

308 Révetien
o9
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314 Josué
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Miundnziza
‘Wkurunziza
MEurunriza
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Miust
Myiramanyov
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Maablmana
Tdzabimana
Msnbimana
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MNgankimana
Meanzumnana
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Meamruraamss
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Murngimana
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Tshimiyimana
Melimivinana
Mshimiyimana
Tshuruhusha
Maipamazale
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Mk mutimana
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Miakiutsmana
Mtakirunimana Rusais:
Mraumpahiz
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Mtezimana
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326 Anasiase
3

328 Amahilis
329 Aparole
A0 Alexie

it d

P Darmitien
Vinusie
Théancae
Intiooent

for el L g
Pl L dgd Lad
A O N Jw

el e

37 Jogeph
W38 Modess
338 Fidele
340 Dhoymimague
3d1 Alphonss
32X Vincent
34 iMamn
a4d

345 Selamani
Sl

347 Lawzent
348 Jean

349 Samucl
350 Emmanuel
351 Pacrice
352 Claver
351 Anasiase
354 Innocent
355 Frédéric
356 Dmiacien
357

358 Léonidas
359 Carpaphore
360 Elissa
3al

562 Alexn
367 Beriin
304 Damascéne
565 Védasme
366 Vidaste
36T Aloys
E1ik

369

370 Félicien
370 Martin
I Vinnney
31

3 Frangaz
375 Claver
376

iTT

378

im

SH0

IRl

8T Rise

381 Tharease?
384 Jacinthe
iR5

Rt

387 Alphonse

Myiribambe
Myirenmabae
Mzabandora
Mzagibwami
MNzamurambaho
TMrammibae
Meyisenza
Mreyinmna
Rubyogo
Rucarmibege
Rugenerandsiwe
Rupirangons
Rukabumba
Rukundoe
Fukumbs
Rudunds
Rumeneiha
Rusmangamae:
Fumanganwa
Fusumbabahrry
Fautaveare
Rutazrinda
Rutazinda
Rurazinda
Rambahezi
wabadhi
Iwagasore
Rowakisarama
Roaanyonga
Roavarika
Reanbasia
Kaubaluka
Faubabarka
Ryumuiabe
Sabuhoro
Rafan

Lakindda
Cehacuzi
Sebarinda
Sebarungu
Kebudandi
Sembecba
Cemrima
Serwevy
Senkeye
Lemrahuga
Sibomana
Sibomana
Cibmana
Cibamana
Bibowmana
Sitwumana
Simbyariyimuna
Hinayobye
Sinayohyc
Lindayigaya
Sindayigaya
Sindayigaya
Sindikuhwzho
Sindikiboatn
Sinvigenga
Tangishaka
Terebura
Tuymenge
Tuyishime
Tuwishime
Tuyeeere
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Twagirayer
Twagim:pcm
Twagirunana
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Twaginemukizs
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3E8 Magdeleine Ugirashebuja 67 F 25 Julius Mhbabazi 23 F
380 Belancilke Ugiriwabu 7 F 26 Kararmuka 54 M
390 beanoe Unuhire 5 F 27 Léncadie Myirabitiiaweho 54 E
£ Urumararungu I F 2EMagdeleine Makanziga 36 F
392 Limutes: 9 F 20 Maris bukamuyanga el F
397 Himee Umutoni 4 F 30 Mans biyirabuka 56 F
304 Vianney Llrayenera 24 &l 3 Mbareshimana i3 %}
345 Usizovenimana 15 F 32 Mukabusera 41 F
¥ Lrwamahsre 3 3 33 dMukangoza o F
307 Qe Uhwarmalioro 14 F ja Mukasine i2 F
308 Unmariya 7 F 35 Mukasine 7 F
Wiranie Lsamangu kL %8 i tukandoh My F
ACH) Uwamwizs k4 F 37 Murckatats 0 F
401 Mamn Llwera [} Mt if PMusani 23 2]
a2 [wimana 14 F 39 Mgamije 25 M
A3 [Fwimina 42 M A0 Micodime Kabwana 2 M
4 Uwimana B E 41 Mymrandamuisa 45 M
405 Emmanucl Uwimana 15 M A3 0denme Mukamans ] F
406 Evéline Lhaimana 44 F 41 Prerre Mitivuguruewa 17 B
407 bacqueline Lwimana a F 44 Rnsane
A0S Lowise Lwimana 44 F 45 Huhumatlsza 33 b
409 Uwangabure 14 F 4G5amuc] BAulipdahaba 47 B
410 Uwiragiye 6 F 4T5eth Bayisingire 2zl F
411 Ppericie Uwiragiye 34 F 48 Son of Mkusi I dth M
A7 Viateur Uwiringiyimuna 3 2] 49 Twagiraysz 1o M
413 Uwitije 3 F A0 Thwamativa n F
414 Angelique Uwitije 3 F 51 Vinnmey Higiro 1] M
A15Mane Uwitonze q F 52 Mavéra Myirababusiu TE F
418 Uwizeye 5 F
417 Lhwizeyimana 4 F
418 Uwizevimana 5 ]
A% Uhwizcyimana T F
a0 Uwizeyimana 8 F
471 Uwizeyimana 9 F
427 Giorem Uwizeyimana 5 F
423 Jacqueline Lhwiimey noana & F
424 Vesline Lhwizcyimana 4 F
425 Martin Yaramba ET] M
£26 Zirikana ] M
427 Vingens Firaguru 46 2]
Kibuye Préfecture
1. Gishyita Commune
a. Sector Bisesero
First Mams Last Mame Agpe Hex
1 Barmayika Ir M
2 Aimable 12 F
A Askrmar Musabyimana 24 ]
ACElemin MNdwaniye 58 M
SCharkes Rwamanywi A M
G knudene I F
TClaver Mdahimana ] ]
Elyprecn Murgzmana T 21
2 Eclimird ay M
10Elierer Eoarnbanda 58 M
1| Emenithe 2 F
I2Ephrem {aasagnru 57 ]
13 Eric HMdwanmye [ p
14 Erina Mukankundiye A0 F
15Eugéne Binwangari 4 M
16 Eadchixd Ruhupgrsha 35 M
| TFekicind 5 F
[2Fuita Mpazimpa T F
1% Frangms Muzhimitma 164 F
0 Giatembo 41 M
21 Esmcar 15 1]
22 Jarues Miyitegeka 1% F
I Jean-Damascene Nieriryayo 26 M
d Jeanmwrie Mukamuhizi 14 F
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